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Dear Shareholder
The 2012 financial year saw the Suncorp Group continue to deliver 
against its strategy and strengthen its competitive position.
Suncorp is now three years into a strategic transformation under 
Group CEO Patrick Snowball and his executive team. Operating 
under its ‘One Company. Many Brands’ business model, the Group 
is now beginning to realise its scale advantages in claims, pricing 
and access to a customer base of around nine million. Each of its 
core businesses has been refocused in their markets and a non-
operating holding company structure introduced to improve capital 
transparency and management.
The Building Blocks program has been successfully executed, 
contributing to a 3% improvement in the underlying insurance 
margin and providing a solid foundation for future business 
growth that will be supported through a range of simplification 
initiatives announced in May 2012. These initiatives will further 
streamline and focus our policy systems, legal entity structures 
and technology platforms.
The transformation of Suncorp should be seen in the context of the 
challenges that have faced the Australian financial services sector over 
the past three years with global and domestic economic uncertainty, 
volatile investment markets and weak asset growth. In addition, the 
insurance sector has withstood an unprecedented sequence of natural 
hazard events and substantially increased reinsurance costs.
The Group’s results for the financial year to 30 June 2012 demonstrate 
we are moving in the right direction and should provide further 
confidence in our ability to deliver future growth plans. Net profit after 
tax was $724 million, a significant improvement on the prior year. The 
General Insurance profit after tax was $493 million. While adverse 
natural hazard experience and increased reinsurance costs impacted 
this result, underlying business performance was positive across all 
metrics. Gross written premium for the year increased 9.3% to  
$7.96 billion with strong contributions from all product lines.
Over the course of the year, Suncorp supported hundreds of 
thousands of business, home and motor insurance customers 
whose property was damaged by poor weather or other claims 
events. Unfortunately, many of our customers are incurring 
preventable costs year after year because of inadequate mitigation 
or poor planning decisions. This lack of foresight and investment, 
particularly in regions identified as high risk, is contributing to 
premiums already driven higher by the abnormal incidence of severe 

events in recent years. We will continue to take a leadership role  
in lobbying governments at all levels on this important issue.
Suncorp Bank reported net profit after tax of $26 million. In the Core 
Bank, profit after tax was $289 million, up 11.6%. The Core Bank aims 
to become a genuine alternative to the Majors with a growing direct 
footprint and improved broker flows. The Non-core Bank incurred a 
loss after tax of $263 million, which included increased impairment 
charges flowing from the impact of economic uncertainty on the market 
for assets held in this portfolio. Over the year, the non-core portfolio 
reduced from $7.3 billion to $4.5 billion with the residual portfolio now 
one quarter the size it was when placed into run-off in 2009.
Suncorp Life made substantial progress against its strategy to 
grow intermediated and direct distribution channels. Profit after 
tax of $251 million was up 68.5% with underlying profit after tax 
of $146 million, up 11.5% after adjusting for divested businesses.
The underlying trends in the Company’s three main businesses 
are encouraging and the Board expects this positive momentum 
to continue. Accordingly, it has approved the payment of a final 
dividend of 20 cents per share, along with a special dividend of 
15 cents per share. This brings the total dividend payout for the 
2011/12 year to 55 cents per share, fully franked.
Both payments will be made on 1 October 2012.
The Board has also decided to increase the target ordinary 
dividend payout ratio to 60% to 80% of full year cash earnings. 
This means shareholders can expect in the future to receive a 
larger percentage of the Group’s earnings in the form of ordinary 
dividends and benefit from our substantial franking credits. 
If, after the payment of ordinary dividends, there is capital that is 
identified as surplus to the ongoing needs of the business, then 
the Board’s policy is that this should be returned to shareholders 
in the form of special dividends or share buy backs.
The Company very much appreciates the support of its 
shareholders during these tough years and I would like to thank 
you on behalf of the Board.

Dr Ziggy Switkowski
Chairman 
22 August 2012

Chairman’s Report



2   SUNCORP GROUP LIMITED

Directors’ Report 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2012

The directors present their report together with the financial  
report of the Suncorp Group, being Suncorp Group Limited  
(the Company) and its subsidiaries for the financial year ended  
30 June 2012 and the auditor’s report thereon.

1. DireCtorS
The directors of the Company at any time during or since the end 
of the financial year are set out below. All non-executive directors 
are members of the Nomination Committee.

ilana r atlaS
BJuris (Hons) (WAust), LLB (Hons) (WAust), LLM (Syd)

Age 57
Non-executive director
Chairman Remuneration Committee and 
Member Risk Committee

Director since January 2011. Ms Atlas is a director of Coca-Cola 
Amatil Limited and Westfield Holdings Limited, Chairman of  
Bell Shakespeare, and is also Pro-Chancellor of the Australian 
National University.

Ms Atlas is an experienced financial services and legal executive 
and has most recently held senior management positions at 
Westpac Banking Corporation including Group Executive People, 
and Group Secretary and General Counsel. Prior to joining 
Westpac, Ms Atlas was a partner at Mallesons Stephen Jaques, 
practising as a corporate lawyer, holding a number of managerial 
roles in the firm including Managing Partner and Executive Partner, 
People and Information.

LISTED COMPANy DIRECTORSHIPS HELD SINCE 1 JULy 2009

Company name appointed Resigned

Coca-Cola Amatil Limited 24.02.11
Suncorp-Metway Limited 01.01.11
Westfield Holdings Limited 25.05.11

William J Bartlett 
FCA, CPA, FCMA, CA (SA)

Age 63
Non-executive director
Chairman Audit Committee and Member Risk 
and Remuneration Committees

Director since December 2010 and director of Suncorp-Metway 
Limited since July 2003. Mr Bartlett is a director of Reinsurance 
Group of America Inc., GWA International Limited and Abacus 
Property Group. He has over 35 years’ experience in accounting 
and was a partner of Ernst & young in Australia for 23 years, 
retiring on 30 June 2003.

Mr Bartlett also has extensive experience in the actuarial, 
insurance and financial services sectors through membership of 
many industry and regulatory advisory bodies including the Life 
Insurance Actuarial Standards Board (1994–2007). He is Chairman 
of the Council of Governors of the Cerebral Palsy Foundation.

LISTED COMPANy DIRECTORSHIPS HELD SINCE 1 JULy 2009

Company name appointed Resigned

Abacus Property Group 14.02.07
GWA International Limited 21.02.07
Reinsurance Group  
of America Inc. (NySE)

26.05.04

Suncorp-Metway Limited 01.07.03

miChael a Cameron
FCPA, FCA, FAICD

Age 52
Non-executive director 

Director since April 2012. Mr Cameron is the 
CEO and Managing Director of The GPT Group 

and has over 30 years’ experience in finance and business. 
Mr Cameron is a Fellow of each of the Australian Institute of 
Chartered Accountants, CPA Australia and the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors.

His past experience includes roles at Barclays Bank and 10 years 
with Lend Lease where he held a number of senior positions 
including Group Chief Accountant and Chief Financial Officer of MLC 
Limited. Following the acquisition of MLC by the National Australia 

Bank, Mr Cameron was appointed Chief Financial Officer and then 
Chief Operating Officer of the NAB Wealth Management Division.

Mr Cameron joined the Commonwealth Bank of Australia in 2002 
and was appointed to the role of Group Chief Financial Officer 
in early 2003. In 2006 he was appointed to the position of Group 
Executive of the Retail Bank Division.

Mr Cameron was Chief Financial Officer at St. George Bank Limited 
from mid-2007 until the sale to Westpac in December 2008.

LISTED COMPANy DIRECTORSHIPS HELD SINCE 1 JULy 2009

Company name appointed Resigned

GPT Management Holdings 
Limited (The GPT Group)

01.05.09

Suncorp-Metway Limited 16.04.12

auDette e exel
BA, LLB (Hons)

Age 49
Non-executive director 

Director since June 2012. Ms Exel is a founder 
of the ISIS Group and Chief Executive Officer 

of its Australian company, ISIS (Asia Pacific) Pty Limited. She 
is also Vice Chairman of the Board of The Steamship Mutual 
Underwriting Association Trustees (Bermuda) Limited.

Before establishing the ISIS Group, Ms Exel was Managing 
Director of Bermuda Commercial Bank (1993–1996), Chairman of 
the Bermuda Stock Exchange (1995–1996) and was on the Board 
of Bermuda’s central financial services regulator (1999–2005).

Prior to joining Bermuda Commercial Bank, Ms Exel practised as a 
lawyer specialising in international finance. She began her career 
with Allen, Allen and Hemsley in Sydney, Australia before joining 
the English firm of Linklaters & Paines in their Hong Kong office. 
She is called to the Bars of New South Wales, Australia; England 
and Wales; and Bermuda.

LISTED COMPANy DIRECTORSHIPS HELD SINCE 1 JULy 2009

Company name appointed Resigned

Suncorp-Metway Limited 27.06.12
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eWouD J KulK 
BEcon, FAICD 

Age 66
Non-executive director
Chairman Risk Committee and Member 
Remuneration Committee 

Director since December 2010 and director of Suncorp-Metway 
Limited since March 2007. Mr Kulk is Chairman of AA Insurance 
Limited (NZ), a director of the Westmead Millennium Institute, a 
member of the NSW Council of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors and a past president of the Insurance Council of Australia. 
He has over 25 years’ experience in the insurance industry.

Mr Kulk was a director of Promina Group Limited at the date of the 
merger with the Suncorp Group. He was Managing Director of the 
Australian General Insurance Group (1994–1998) and was Group 
Director Asia Pacific for Royal & Sun Alliance Insurance Group plc 
from March 1998 until his retirement in September 2003.

LISTED COMPANy DIRECTORSHIPS HELD SINCE 1 JULy 2009

Company name appointed Resigned

Suncorp-Metway Limited 20.03.07

Dr DouglaS F mCtaggart 
BEcon (Hons), MA, PhD, DUniv

Age 59 
Non-executive director
Member Audit Committee 

Director since April 2012. Dr McTaggart is 
currently a director of Telesso Technologies Limited, a Councillor 
on the National Competition Council and a member of the 
COAG Reform Council. In March 2012 he was appointed to the 
Queensland Government Independent Commission of Audit and 
Chairman of the Public Service Commission. He has also served 
in other advisory roles to government as well as holding positions 
on, including chairing, various industry representative bodies. 

Dr McTaggart was Chief Executive of QIC Limited for 14 years until 
his retirement in June 2012. Prior to joining QIC he was the Under 
Treasurer and Under Secretary of the Queensland Department of 
Treasury and had a distinguished academic career including the roles 
of Professor of Economics and Associate Dean at Bond University.

LISTED COMPANy DIRECTORSHIPS HELD SINCE 1 JULy 2009

Company name appointed Resigned

Suncorp-Metway Limited 16.04.12
Telesso Technologies Limited 01.11.07

geoFFrey t riCKettS 
LLB (Hons)

Age 66
Non-executive director
Member Audit Committee

Director since December 2010 and director 
of Suncorp-Metway Limited since March 2007. Mr Ricketts is 
Chairman of Todd Corporation Limited (NZ), a director of Lion 
Pty Limited (formerly Lion Nathan National Foods Pty Limited), 
Heartland New Zealand Limited and Heartland Building Society 
(NZ). Mr Ricketts is also a director of the Centre for Independent 
Studies Limited, a lawyer and a consultant for Russell McVeagh, 
Solicitors (NZ) and was a partner in that firm from 1973 until 2000.

Mr Ricketts was a director of Promina Group Limited at the date of 
merger with the Suncorp Group. He was formerly Chairman of Royal 
& Sun Alliance’s New Zealand (R&SA NZ) operations having been a 
non-executive director of R&SA NZ for over ten years.

LISTED COMPANy DIRECTORSHIPS HELD SINCE 1 JULy 2009

Company name appointed Resigned

Heartland New Zealand Limited (NZX) 05.01.11
Lion Nathan Limited 13.06.88 Delisted 28.10.09
Spotless Group Limited 08.07.96 16.08.12
Suncorp-Metway Limited 20.03.07
Taylors Group Limited (NZX) 13.01.92 18.12.09

PatriCK J r SnoWBall
MA, Hon. LL.D

Age 62
Managing Director and Group Chief  
Executive Officer (group Ceo)

Managing Director since December 2010 and 
Managing Director of Suncorp-Metway Limited since joining 
the Group on 1 September 2009. Mr Snowball is an experienced 
financial services executive with extensive knowledge of the 
insurance industry, having overseen businesses in Australia, the 
United Kingdom, Ireland, Canada and Asia. 

Under Mr Snowball’s leadership, Suncorp has refocused its strategy, 
simplified its company structure and business operations to make 
the Group more efficient and delivered a Building Blocks program 
that has both completed the integration of the Suncorp and Promina 
businesses and secured the financial benefits of that acquisition. 

Prior to joining Suncorp, Mr Snowball was a member of the 
executive teams at both Norwich Union plc and Aviva plc, the 
world’s fifth largest insurance group and the largest insurance 
provider in the United Kingdom that was created through the 
merger of Norwich Union and CGU plc. From 2005 to 2007, he was 
Group Executive Director, Aviva United Kingdom and responsible 
for general insurance, life risk and life risk investment businesses. 
Mr Snowball worked with the Towergate group of companies in 
both a deputy chairman and chairman’s roles and served as a  
non-executive director of Jardine Lloyd Thompson plc. 

He was a member of the Financial Services Authority (UK) 
Practitioner Panel, representing Life and General Insurance,  
from 2006 to 2008.

LISTED COMPANy DIRECTORSHIPS HELD SINCE 1 JULy 2009

Company name appointed Resigned

Suncorp-Metway Limited 01.09.09



4   SUNCORP GROUP LIMITED

Directors’ Report 
(continued)

Dr Zygmunt e SWitKoWSKi
BSc (Hons), PhD, FAICD, FTSE

Age 64
Non-executive Chairman
Ex-officio member Audit, Risk and  
Remuneration Committees 

Chairman since October 2011, director since December 2010 and 
director of Suncorp-Metway Limited since September 2005. Dr 
Switkowski is Chairman of Opera Australia, a director of Tabcorp 
Holdings Limited, Oil Search Limited and Lynas Corporation Ltd, 
and Chancellor of RMIT University. 

Dr Switkowski is a Fellow of both the Australian Academy of 
Technological Sciences and Engineering and the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors.

Dr Switkowski is the immediate past Chairman of the Australian 
Nuclear Science and Technology Organisation, a former 
Chief Executive Officer of Telstra Corporation Limited, Optus 
Communications Ltd and former Chairman and Managing Director 
of Kodak Australasia Pty Ltd.

LISTED COMPANy DIRECTORSHIPS HELD SINCE 1 JULy 2009

Company name appointed Resigned

Healthscope Limited 19.01.06 12.10.10
Lynas Corporation Ltd 01.02.11
Oil Search Limited 22.11.10
Suncorp-Metway Limited 19.09.05
Tabcorp Holdings Limited 02.10.06

Former non-exeCutive DireCtorS

Paula J DWyer
BComm, FCA, FAICD, FFin

Age 51
Non-executive director from 22 December 2010 to 28 February 2012 
and director of Suncorp-Metway Limited from 26 April 2007 to  
28 February 2012. Chairman Audit Committee to 28 February 2012.

At the date of her resignation Ms Dwyer was Chairman of Tabcorp 
Holdings Limited, a director of Leighton Holdings Limited, a 
member of the Takeovers Panel and Deputy Chairman of the Baker 
IDI Heart and Diabetes Research Institute.

Ms Dwyer’s professional experience was in securities, investment 
banking and chartered accounting, holding senior positions with Ord 
Minnett (now J P Morgan) and PricewaterhouseCoopers. She was 
formerly a director of Promina Group Limited, David Jones Limited, 
Foster’s Group Limited and Astro Japan Property Group Limited.

LISTED COMPANy DIRECTORSHIPS HELD SINCE 1 JULy 2009

Company name appointed Resigned

Astro Japan Property Group Limited 19.02.05 31.12.11
Foster’s Group Limited 09.05.11 16.12.11
Healthscope Limited 10.03.10 12.10.10
Leighton Holdings Limited 01.01.12
Suncorp-Metway Limited 26.04.07 28.02.12
Tabcorp Holdings Limited 30.08.05

Stuart i grimShaW
BCA (Vic, NZ), MBA, PMD (Harvard)

Age 51
Non-executive director from 22 December 2010 and director of 
Suncorp-Metway Limited from 27 January 2010 to 23 August 2011
Member Audit and Risk Committees to 23 August 2011

At the date of his resignation Mr Grimshaw was a director of 
Grays (Australia) Holdings Pty Ltd, a Senior Fellow of the Financial 
Services Institute of Australasia (FINSIA), member of the board of 
the Melbourne Football Club and President of Hockey Australia.

Mr Grimshaw has over 25 years’ experience in the banking and 
financial services industry, both in Australia and abroad. He 
formerly held senior positions at Commonwealth Bank of Australia 
including Chief Financial Officer, Group Executive Premium 
Business and Group Executive Wealth Management. 

While working overseas for the National Australia Bank, Mr 
Grimshaw held the position of Chief Executive Officer for both 
yorkshire and Clydesdale Banks in the UK.

LISTED COMPANy DIRECTORSHIPS HELD SINCE 1 JULy 2009

Company name appointed Resigned

Suncorp-Metway Limited 27.01.10 23.08.11

John D Story
BA, LLB, FAICD

Age 66
Non-executive Chairman 22 December 2010 to 27 October 2011, 
non-executive director of Suncorp-Metway Limited since January 
1995 and Chairman since March 2003 until his retirement in 
October 2011. Ex-officio member Audit, Risk and Remuneration 
Committees during his tenure as Chairman.

Mr Story was a partner of the national law firm Corrs Chambers 
Westgarth for 36 years, retiring on 30 June 2006. Mr Story 
practised in the areas of corporate and commercial law and served 
as Queensland Managing Partner and National Chairman. 

At the date of his retirement, Mr Story was Chairman of Echo 
Entertainment Group Limited, a director of CSR Limited, Chancellor 
of The University of Queensland and a Commissioner of the Public 
Service Commission (Queensland).

LISTED COMPANy DIRECTORSHIPS HELD SINCE 1 JULy 2009

Company name appointed Resigned

CSR Limited 12.04.03 12.07.12
Echo Entertainment Group 17.03.11 08.06.12
Suncorp-Metway Limited 24.01.95 27.10.11
Tabcorp Holdings Limited 29.01.04 08.06.11
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3. DireCtorS’ meetingS 
The number of directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of directors) and number of meetings attended by each of the 
directors of the Company during the financial year ended 30 June 2012 were: 

BoarD oF  
DireCtorS

auDit  
Committee

riSK 
Committee 

remuneration 
Committee 

nomination  
Committee

a B a B a B a B a B

Dr Z E Switkowski 11 11 3 2 5 5 6 6 5 5
P J R Snowball 11 11 4 41 5 41 6 61 - -
I R Atlas 11 11 - - 5 5 6 6 5 5
W J Bartlett 11 11 4 4 3 3 6 5 5 5
M A Cameron 3 3 - - - - - - 2 2
P J Dwyer 7 7 3 3 - - - - 3 3
A E Exel 1 1 - - - - - - - -
S I Grimshaw 2 1 1 - 1 1 - - 2 -
E J Kulk 11 11 - - 5 5 6 6 5 5
Dr D F McTaggart 3 3 - - - - - - 2 2
G T Ricketts 11 11 3 2 - - - - 5 5
J D Story 4 4 1 1 2 2 2 2 2 2

A number of meetings held during the year while the director was a member of the Board or committee.
B number of meetings attended by the director during the year while the director was a member of the Board or committee.
1  The Group CEO attends Audit Committee, Risk Committee and Remuneration Committee meetings at the invitation of those committees.  

There are no management representatives appointed as members of any Board committee.

4. remuneration rePort
The Remuneration Report is set out on page 10 and forms part of the Directors’ Report for the financial year ended 30 June 2012.

5. PrinCiPal aCtivitieS 
The principal activities of the Suncorp Group during the course of the year were the provision of general insurance, banking and life 
insurance and superannuation products and related services to the retail, corporate and commercial sectors in Australia and New Zealand. 

There were no significant changes in the nature of the activities of the Suncorp Group during the year.

2. ComPany SeCretary
Anna C Lenahan BA (Hons), MA (Psych) (Hons), LLB (Hons) was appointed to the position of Group General Counsel and Company Secretary  
in March 2011. Prior to this, Ms Lenahan was a Corporate Partner at the law firm Allens Arthur Robinson.

Clifford R Chuter BBus was appointed to the position of company secretary of Suncorp Group Limited in August 2010 having acted as 
company secretary of Suncorp-Metway Limited since March 1997 following the merger of Metway Bank Limited, the Suncorp Group 
and QIDC. Prior to the merger, Mr Chuter held the role of company secretary with the Suncorp Group for 10 years. Mr Chuter resigned as 
company secretary on 31 October 2011.

Darren C Solomon LLB was appointed joint company secretary in August 2010 having acted as joint company secretary of Suncorp-Metway 
Limited since March 2010 and has over 20 years’ legal and company secretarial experience within banking and financial services.

5.1 sunCoRp gRoup’s objeCtives 
The Suncorp Group continues to focus on building its ‘One Company. 
Many Brands.’ model across Australia and New Zealand and aims to 
demonstrate that working as ‘One Company. Many Brands.’ delivers more 
value to stakeholders than operating as five independent businesses. 

The underlying strategic objectives of the Suncorp Group are to:

•  refine and demonstrate the inherent competitive advantages 
of each business

•  grow the value of Suncorp Group’s ‘strategic assets’ –  
Capital, Cost, Customer and Culture 

•   optimise the role of each business within the portfolio in terms 
of capital creation, investment and growth options  
for the longer term.

The priority for the Suncorp Group over the next three years  
is simplifying the business and continuing to improve returns  
to shareholders.

6. oPerating anD FinanCial revieW 
6.1 oveRview of the sunCoRp gRoup 
In the financial year ended 30 June 2012, the Suncorp Group  
has delivered:

•  improved shareholder returns

•  revenue growth in targeted markets across all business lines

•   reduced operating expenses at a time of significant investment 
in the business; and

•  improved or stable margins.

This outcome has been achieved against a backdrop of a subdued 
domestic economy, volatile investment markets and another year 
of adverse weather experience.

In the financial year ended 30 June 2012, natural hazard costs 
have been $278 million above the Suncorp Group’s expectation, 
Australian Government bond rates have reached near record 
lows, credit spreads have widened, equity markets have declined 
and property values have continued to fall. The Suncorp Group’s 
strength in managing through this period has been demonstrated 
by the consolidated net profit after tax of $728 million, an increase 
of 60% on the prior financial year. 
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Directors’ Report 
(continued)

6. oPerating anD FinanCial revieW (ContinueD)
6.1 oveRview of the sunCoRp gRoup (Continued)
Profit after tax from business lines was $770 million.
The General Insurance net profit after tax was $493 million. 
The result was achieved despite the sequence of natural hazard 
events. The Christmas Day hailstorm in Melbourne, widespread 
flooding across Queensland and Northern New South Wales and 
higher than expected attritional events resulted in natural hazard 
claims being $278 million above allowances. Claims expenses 
have been reduced by the impact of Building Blocks initiatives 
on average repair costs and net releases of $166 million, which 
recognise favourable claims experience and initiatives designed  
to improve the management of long-tail claims. 
Banking net profit after tax was $26 million. The run-off of the 
non-core portfolio progressed ahead of expectations, with total 
lending reducing by $2,842 million. Impairment losses on banking 
loans and advances increased by $80 million to $405 million for 
the financial year. 
Life net profit after tax was $251 million. Substantial progress has 
been achieved against the strategy to grow intermediated and 
direct distribution channels. 
The Suncorp Group’s improved balance sheet and surplus capital 
position has enabled the Board to declare a final dividend of 20 
cents per share and a special dividend of 15 cents per share. Both 
dividends will be fully franked. Dividend payments for the full year 
total 55 cents per share, up from 35 cents per share in the prior 
financial year.

6.2 finanCial position and Capital stRuCtuRe 
The Suncorp Group’s capital base has remained relatively stable in 
recent years with the quality of capital steadily improving due to 
the redemption of lower quality capital instruments.
Over the financial year, the Suncorp Group’s capital requirements 
have increased due to the organic growth of the core business, 
the exposure to equities in the General Insurance shareholder fund 
portfolio and the impact of falling discounts rates on the Suncorp 
Life policyowner liabilities. This has offset the capital released 
from the non-core loan portfolio run-off. 

In addition to supporting growth, the improved quality and 
strength of the capital position has enabled the Suncorp Group to:
•  declare a final dividend of 20 cents per share, bringing the full 

year ordinary dividend to 40 cents per share, an increase of 
14% on the prior year dividend

•  declare a special dividend of 15 cents per share
•  increase the target dividend payout ratio to 60% to 80% of 

cash earnings (from 50% to 70%)
•  maintain a zero discount on the Dividend Reinvestment Plan 

(DRP) for both dividends and neutralise the impact by buying 
shares on-market

•  exchange $72 million of Reset Preference Shares for cash 
consideration in September 2011; and

•  redeem $221 million of subordinated debt in October 2011.
At 30 June 2012, on a regulated entity basis, the Bank’s Capital 
Adequacy Ratio (CAR) is 12.6% (2011: 13.4%). The Bank is well 
positioned to meet the upcoming Basel III regulatory requirements. 
The General Insurance group’s Minimum Capital Requirement 
(mCr) is 1.61 times (2011: 1.67 times) the regulatory minimum. 
Additionally, after allowing for the final ordinary and special 
dividends, $468 million of capital is held by Suncorp Group Limited.
Given the improved capital composition, further certainty around 
future regulatory requirements and the successful placement 
of the 2013 financial year reinsurance program, the Board has 
declared a special dividend of 15 cents per share. This distribution 
recognises the significant progress that has been made in 
transforming and simplifying the Suncorp Group and the strength 
of its balance sheet and additional capital position.

6.3  impaCt of legislation and otheR  
exteRnal RequiRements 

Significant legislative and regulatory changes as well as a number 
of Government enquiries that impact or could impact the Suncorp 
Group’s operations continue to take place in Australia and New 
Zealand. After the severe floods in Australia during late 2010 and 
early 2011, the Queensland Floods Commission of Inquiry released 
its final report in March 2012. The Commission made findings 
in respect of the Wivenhoe Dam operators and insurers as well 
as several recommendations. The recommendations in respect 
of insurers, if adopted, will mean some changes to the claims 
handling process and operations of insurers.

The Federal Government, after consultation with the industry, has 
prescribed a standard definition of ‘flood’ that will apply to home 
building, home contents, home building and contents and strata 
title residence insurance as well as small business insurance 
cover that covers loss or damage to the equipment, stock, 
inventory or premises of a small business.
The Federal House of Representatives Standing Committee on 
Social Policy and Legal Affairs released its report on the operation 
of the insurance industry during disaster events earlier this year. 
The Committee made several recommendations in respect of 
insurers, some of which have already been implemented and some 
of which are the subject of further consultation or consideration. 
All of the recommendations, if implemented, will impose additional 
obligations on general insurers in relation to claims processing, 
internal dispute resolution practices and underwriting liabilities.
The Federal Government continues to work on establishing a 
proposed national catastrophic injury and disability insurance 
scheme. The new national disability insurance scheme will 
provide insurance cover for all Australians in the event of 
significant disability except for disabilities covered under the no 
fault national injury insurance scheme. At this stage the support of 
state and territory governments for the proposed no fault national 
injury insurance scheme is mixed. Any such scheme would be 
expected to comprise a federation of current individual state and 
territory compensation schemes which would provide fully funded 
care and support for all catastrophic injuries on a no fault basis.
The Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (aPra) is in the 
process of finalising the new Life and General Insurance Capital 
framework (lagiC) that will come into effect on 1 January 2013.
APRA has finalised the prudential framework for implementing 
Basel III capital reforms in Australia which will be progressively 
applied from 1 January 2013. The Basel III reforms will strengthen 
the capital framework for authorised deposit-taking institutions 
(aDis) in Australia. 
The Competition and Consumer Act 2010 (previously called the 
Trade Practices Act) has been amended to give the Australian 
Competition and Consumer Commission power to prosecute  
price signalling. 
The national consumer credit lending reforms continue with 
changes to disclosure requirements for consumer credit lenders 
in respect of home loans and credit cards (the home loan and 



ANNUAL REPORT 2011/12   7

credit card key fact sheet) and regulation in respect of reverse 
mortgages, consumer leases, National Credit Code enhancements 
and short-term small amount lending.
The Banking Amendment (Covered Bonds) Act 2011 has been 
passed allowing ADIs to issue covered bonds. The Suncorp Group 
has made a successful issue of bonds following the enactment of 
the legislation.
The Personal Property Securities Act 2009, a national law which 
regulates lending secured over personal property interests, has 
come into effect. 
The Stronger Super reforms are in the process of being 
implemented. The reforms will significantly impact superannuation 
in Australia with key proposals such as the replacement of 
existing default funds by a new low cost simple superannuation 
product called MySuper, and SuperStream reforms that 
are intended to streamline the ‘back office’ operations of 
superannuation funds.
The key legislation to implement the Future of Financial Advice 
reforms (FoFa reforms) has been passed by Federal Parliament 
and came into effect on 1 July 2012 with the financial planning 
industry having until 1 July 2013 to comply. The key FOFA reforms 
include a prospective ban on upfront and trailing commissions 
and like payments for both individual life and group risk cover 
within superannuation from 1 July 2013 and the imposition of the 
statutory ‘best interests’ duty which will require financial advisers 
to act in the best interests of their client and give priority to their 
client’s interests and take reasonable steps to discharge that duty.
APRA continues consultation on the Level 3 supervision of 
conglomerates and expects to finalise and implement the 
proposals by 1 January 2014. 
The national uniform occupational health and safety laws have 
not been fully adopted, with some states and territories delaying 
or refusing to adopt the national laws. Different state-based 
requirements continue to apply to the Suncorp Group’s operations.
The Federal Government has introduced the proposed reforms 
to Australia’s privacy laws into Federal Parliament. The reforms 
include new privacy principles and credit reporting reforms.
All of these prudential, regulatory and other proposals or enquiries 
will or could impact the Suncorp Group’s respective operations in 
banking, general and life insurance.

The outcomes of other Government or regulatory reviews and changes, 
including various workers’ compensation schemes, the taxation system 
and Australia’s clearing and settlement systems and various reforms 
proposed or already implemented for various Federal and State 
judicial systems, could also impact the Suncorp Group’s operations.
The New Zealand regulatory environment is undergoing significant 
change with the introduction or implementation of key pieces 
of legislation for the areas of financial services, securities and 
consumer laws. 
The Insurance (Prudential Supervision) Act 2010 which requires 
virtually all insurers to be licensed by the Reserve Bank of New 
Zealand is now in force. Insurers are required to hold a full licence 
by 7 September 2013.
The Financial Markets Conduct Bill is passing through parliament and 
is intended to implement a new ‘one stop shop’ for securities law.
If enacted, it will replace various existing legislation including the 
New Zealand Securities Act 1978 and the Security Markets Act 1988.
The ASX Corporate Governance Council introduced changes to 
the Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (2nd 
edition) on 30 June 2010. These included new recommendations 
relating to diversity that applied to a listed entity’s first financial 
year commencing on or after 1 January 2011. As an early adopter, 
the Suncorp Group commenced reporting last year on measurable 
objectives to achieve gender diversity.
Progress in gender diversity has seen a 2% increase to women 
in leadership roles to 33% – the target the Suncorp Group set 
to achieve by 30 June 2014, as well as being awarded the Equal 
Opportunity for Women in the Workplace Agency Employer of 
Choice for Women citation for 2012.
Further detail on the Suncorp Group’s diversity program is provided 
in the Corporate Governance Statement.

6.4 Review of pRinCipal businesses 
general insurance profit after tax was $493 million  
(2011: $392 million).
The Insurance Trading Result (itr) was $511 million (2011: $412 million), 
representing an ITR ratio of 7.5% (2011: 6.6%). The increase in ITR 
has been driven by strong premium growth, delivery of the Building 
Blocks program of work and a tight focus on expense management.
Gross Written Premium (gWP) increased 9.3% to $7,955 million. 
Personal lines experienced growth across both Home (up 17.6%) 

and Motor (up 3.2%), with net written units and average premiums 
increasing across both lines. Commercial lines also experienced 
strong growth, with Commercial Insurance GWP increasing by 
11.7%, with growth across the whole portfolio, most notably 
through rate increases in property classes. Compulsory Third Party 
GWP increased 4.3%, with increases in NSW average written 
premium and net written units contributing to the improvement.
Net incurred claims were $5,396 million. Short-tail claims were 
impacted by a number of major weather events, resulting in 
net natural hazard claims being $278 million above the Suncorp 
Group’s allowance. Net reserve releases of $166 million were  
$64 million higher than the long-run expectation due to favourable 
claims experience in long-tail classes.
Total underwriting expenses of $1,664 million have remained 
stable. Investment income on insurance funds increased to  
$718 million due to mark to market gains as a result of falling 
discount rates. Investment income on shareholder funds was 
stable at $222 million. In preparation for upcoming LAGIC 
changes, the Suncorp Group diversified the shareholder funds 
portfolio by introducing exposure to equities and international 
fixed interest credit during the second half of the year.
Banking profit after tax was $26 million (2011: $84 million). 
The Bank continues to maintain separate core and non-core 
lending portfolios. The Bank’s core lending portfolio is focused 
on relationship-based lending and deposit gathering in personal, 
small to medium enterprises and agribusiness banking. The focus 
of the non-core lending portfolio remains on responsible run-off 
of the portfolio to maximise the value of distributable capital 
that can be returned to the Suncorp Group. In 2012 the non-core 
portfolio continued to exceed run-off targets and now represents 
less than 10% of the Bank’s total loan portfolio.
Total banking loans, advances and other receivables increased to 
$49,210 million. Growth in housing loan receivables recovered from 
a slow first quarter to finish the financial year at $33,955 million, 
an increase of 9.6%. This growth is within the Suncorp Group’s 
risk appetite and reflects efforts to build the pipeline through an 
expanded footprint, improved processes, service delivery and a 
simplified product proposition. Business lending decreased by 
12.9% to $13,392 million, with the run-off of the non-core portfolio 
partially offset by an increase in the core business portfolio.
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6. oPerating anD FinanCial revieW (ContinueD)
6.4 Review of pRinCipal businesses (Continued)
The Bank has maintained its strategy of match funding the non-core 
portfolio, taking a conservative approach to refinancing risk through to 
portfolio maturity. The Bank currently holds excess liquid assets over 
prudential requirements which have enabled the comfortable repayment 
of significant funding maturities during the financial year. The Bank is 
also well positioned to meet the impending regulatory changes being 
imposed on the industry to strengthen liquidity reserves.
The Bank’s funding capability was significantly enhanced during the 
financial year by the successful establishment of a covered bond 
program, which will enable the Bank to issue both domestically and in 
offshore markets. The inaugural issue of $1,600 million was undertaken 
in May 2012 with significant investor support. This was a first for a non-
major Australian bank, highlighting the Bank’s funding accessibility.
Net interest income increased 2.0%, in line with growth in average 
lending assets. Ongoing competition for term deposits continued to 
put downward pressure on retail funding margins.
Operating expenses increased 5.1%, supporting higher sales 
volumes, expansion of the Bank’s footprint, investment in the 
Bank’s technology platform and the commencement of the Basel 
II advanced accreditation program. The first phase of the Bank’s 
core system replacement program is now complete, following 
the successful implementation of the Customer Relationship 
Management, Broker Commission and Trade Finance systems.
Impairment losses for the financial year were up 24.6% at  
$405 million. The higher impairment loss charge reflected sector 
weakness in regional and suburban retail shopping centres and for 
long-term land development projects. The Bank actively provisioned 
and wrote down underperforming exposures in these segments 
where recovery was deemed highly unlikely. Total provision for 
impairment at 30 June 2012 was $537 million, representing a 
decrease of 4.8% on the prior financial year. 
life profit after tax was $251 million (2011: $149 million), benefiting 
from the favourable impact of falling yields on policy liabilities. 
The Life Risk business was impacted by adverse experience particularly 
in disability claims and lapses. Life Risk new business sales were 
$111 million, up 6.7%, with growth in both the Independent Financial 
Adviser Australia (iFa) and direct channels. Superannuation new 
business sales were $326 million, down 12.6% in a subdued market. 

Funds Under Administration of $7,111 million was down 7.6%, due 
to investment market volatility driving weak consumer confidence. 
Operating expenses have remained stable with simplification benefits 
offsetting increased investment in the IFA and direct channels.

6.5 signifiCant Changes in the state of affaiRs
The Suncorp Group has continued on its transformation journey 
and has now established a stable and efficient platform for growth. 
The Suncorp Group’s strategy, including its purpose and strategic 
priorities, has been re-articulated and the Group’s strategic assets of 
Capital, Cost, Customer and Culture clearly identified.
The Building Blocks infrastructure programs, which involved 
consolidation of the Suncorp Group’s pricing, claims, finance, 
customer and people systems, have now been delivered and the 
Suncorp Group is realising the benefits.
A merger of the Suncorp Group’s two life insurance companies, 
Asteron Life Limited and Suncorp Life and Superannuation Limited, 
was also executed under Part 9 of the Life Insurance Act.
The Suncorp Group has a significant share of the Queensland home 
insurance market and, to reduce its geographical concentration, 
has entered into a 30%, multi-year, proportional quota share 
arrangement covering this portfolio from 1 July 2012.
As part of the next stage in the transformation journey, the 
Suncorp Group has launched a strategic simplification program that 
seeks to drive greater flexibility, efficiency and agility across the 
organisation, its processes and tools, enabling the Suncorp Group 
to take advantage of future growth opportunities.

6.6 enviRonmental Regulation 
The Building Energy Efficiency Disclosure Act 2010 requires the 
Suncorp Group to obtain a Building Energy Efficiency Certificate for 
any building where it plans to sell or sublease commercial office 
space above 2,000 square metres. 
The National Greenhouse and Energy Act 2007 (NGER) introduced a 
framework for corporations to report greenhouse gas emissions and 
energy consumption and production. The Company reported under 
the NGER scheme for the first time in 2010/11 after reaching the 
reporting threshold, and will continue to report on an annual basis.
The Suncorp Group’s operations are not currently subject to any other 
particular and significant environmental regulation under any law of 
the Commonwealth of Australia or any of its states or territories. The 

Suncorp Group may however become subject to state environmental 
regulation when enforcing securities over land for the recovery of loans.
The Suncorp Group has not incurred any liability (including for 
rectification costs) under any environmental legislation.

7. DiviDenDS 
A fully franked 2012 interim dividend of $257 million (20 cents 
per share) was paid on 2 April 2012. A fully franked 2012 final 
dividend of $257 million (20 cents per share) and a fully franked 
2012 special dividend of $193 million (15 cents per share) has been 
declared by directors.
Further details of dividends provided for or paid are set out in note 
4 to the consolidated financial statements.

8. eventS SuBSequent to rePorting Date 
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the 
financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction or 
event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the 
directors of the Company, to affect significantly the operations of 
the Suncorp Group, the results of those operations, or the state of 
affairs of the Suncorp Group in future financial years.

9. liKely DeveloPmentS
Over the course of the next three years, the Suncorp Group will 
build on the foundations laid by the Building Blocks program and 
progress its simplification program. This program aims to invest in 
modern platforms and systems, reduce the cost of operating and 
maintaining legacy infrastructure, further streamline legal structures 
and transition more of the Suncorp Group’s cost base onto a variable 
footing. The key areas of focus for the program include:
•  the decommissioning of legacy policy systems in general 

insurance and the consolidation of the Suncorp Group’s existing 
general insurance licences

•  improving the core banking platform and building advanced risk 
management capabilities in the Bank; and

•  undertaking an operational excellence program, partnering with 
global partners and focusing on those high value activities that 
give the Suncorp Group a strategic advantage.
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In addition, the Suncorp Group will remain focused on growth 
in its core banking, general insurance and life operations while 
continuing with the run-off of the non-core banking portfolio. 
The Suncorp Group has improved the quality of its capital and the 
focus will now be to broadly maintain current gearing levels. As 
a result, the Suncorp Group will now consider replacing capital 
instruments that are scheduled to mature.
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in this report, at the date 
of signing the directors can make no comment on any likely 
developments in the Suncorp Group’s operations in future financial 
years or the expected results of those operations. 

10. DireCtorS’ intereStS 
The relevant interest of each director in the shares, debentures, 
interests in registered schemes and rights or options over such 
instruments issued by the Company, as notified by the directors to the  
Australian Securities Exchange (aSx) in accordance with section 205G(1) 
of the Corporations Act 2001, at the date of this report is as follows: 

Fully PaiD  
orDinary ShareS

Dr Z E Switkowski  201,599 
I R Atlas  6,370 
W J Bartlett  26,968 
M A Cameron  - 
A E Exel  - 
E J Kulk  20,173 
Dr D F McTaggart  - 
G T Ricketts  24,850 
P J R Snowball 1  987,333 

1  Includes 900,000 shares held by the trustee of the Executive Performance Share Plan. 
Beneficial entitlement to those 900,000 shares remains subject to satisfaction of 
specified performance hurdles.

11. inDemniFiCation anD inSuranCe oF oFFiCerS 
Under the Company’s Constitution, the Company indemnifies each 
person who is or has been a director or officer of the Company. 
The indemnity relates to all liabilities to another party (other 
than the Company or a related body corporate) that may arise in 
connection with the performance of their duties to the Company 
and its subsidiaries, except where the liability arises out of 

conduct involving a lack of good faith. The Constitution stipulates 
that the Company will meet the full amount of such liabilities, 
including costs and expenses incurred in successfully defending 
civil or criminal proceedings or in connection with an application, 
in relation to such proceedings, in which relief is granted under 
the Corporations Act 2001.
The Company has also executed deeds of access, indemnity 
and insurance with directors and secretaries of the Company 
and its subsidiaries and deeds of indemnity and insurance with 
directors of related bodies corporate and joint venture companies. 
Those deeds, which are subject to certain conditions and 
limitations, provide an indemnity to the full extent permitted by 
law for liabilities incurred by that person as an officer, including 
reasonable legal costs incurred in respect of certain legal 
proceedings and an entitlement to directors’ and officers’ liability 
insurance. The deeds containing access rights provide access to 
company books following the cessation of the officer’s position 
with the relevant company. 
During the financial year ended 30 June 2012, the Company paid 
insurance premiums in respect of a directors’ and officers’ liability 
insurance contract. The contract insures each person who is or has 
been a director or executive officer (as defined in the Corporations 
Act 2001) of the Company against certain liabilities arising in the 
course of their duties to the Company and its subsidiaries. The 
directors have not included details of the nature of the liabilities 
covered or the amount of the total premium paid in respect of 
the insurance contract as such disclosure is prohibited under the 
terms of the contract.

12. non-auDit ServiCeS 
During the year KPMG, the Company’s auditor, performed certain 
services in addition to their statutory duties.
The Board has considered the non-audit services provided during the 
year by the auditor and, having received appropriate confirmations 
from the Audit Committee, is satisfied that the provision of those 
non-audit services during the year by the auditor is compatible with, 
and did not compromise, the auditor independence requirements of 
the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:
•  all non-audit services were subject to the corporate 

governance procedures adopted by the Company and have 

been reviewed by the Audit Committee to ensure they do not 
impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and

•  the non-audit services provided do not undermine the general 
principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 
110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, as they did 
not involve reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, 
acting in a management or decision-making capacity for the 
Company, acting as an advocate for the Company or jointly 
sharing risks and rewards.

Details of the amounts paid or due and payable to the auditor 
of the Company, KPMG, and its related practices for non-audit 
services provided during the year are set out below: 

2012 2011

$000 $000

Services other than statutory audit
Audit-related fees (regulatory)

APRA reporting  1,008  649 
Risk management  74  72 
Australian Financial Services Licences  121  108 
Other regulatory compliance services  782  995 

 1,985  1,824 
Audit-related fees (non-regulatory) 

Other assurance services  979  944 
Non-audit related 

Other services  -  65 
Tax fees 

Tax compliance  9  12 
 2,973  2,845 

13. leaD auDitor’S inDePenDenCe DeClaration 
The lead auditor’s independence declaration is set out on page 30 
and forms part of the Directors’ Report for the financial year ended 
30 June 2012.

14. rounDing oFF 
The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 
dated 10 July 1998 and in accordance with that Class Order, 
amounts in the Directors’ Report and consolidated financial report 
have been rounded off to the nearest one million dollars unless 
otherwise stated.
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Remuneration Report 
22 August 2012

Dear Shareholder

The Board is committed to communicating remuneration arrangements simply, clearly and transparently and has again,  
this year, sought to improve the Remuneration Report with these objectives in mind.

The Suncorp Group’s approach to remuneration is based on providing competitive rewards that motivate talented employees  
to deliver superior and sustainable returns for shareholders. This approach is based on five guiding principles:

•  align sustainable performance with reward

•  align effective risk management with reward

•  balance stakeholder interests

•  deliver a competitive advantage by attracting and retaining the right people; and

•  support the Suncorp Group values and culture.

These principles, which are explained in more detail in the Remuneration Report, have guided the Board’s decisions in relation 
to remuneration for the financial year ended 30 June 2012. 

Responsibility for governance of remuneration lies with the Board supported by the Board Remuneration Committee. The objectives 
of this governance are to ensure that the practices and processes are sound and driven by the five guiding principles. 

The Board knows that shareholders want remuneration to be explained as simply as possible within the context of a complex subject. 

The Remuneration Report for the Suncorp Group follows this letter. The Board hopes shareholders find it easy to read and 
contains all the information they require. 

In addition to statutory reporting requirements, a section summarising remuneration for the financial year ended 30 June 2012 
and anticipated changes for the financial year ending 30 June 2013 has been included.

Ziggy Switkowski       ilana atlas
Chairman of the Board       Chair, Remuneration Committee

 

uSing thiS remuneration rePort

1.  remuneration overview – unaudited
1.1.  Remuneration in 2012
1.2.  Remuneration framework reviewed regularly
1.3.  2012 Actual remuneration outcomes

2.  executive remuneration – audited
2.1.  Remuneration governance
2.2.  Executive remuneration strategy and policy and how  

this underpins the Suncorp Group strategy
2.3.  Remuneration framework and how it links to strategic objectives 
2.4.  Remuneration and how it is aligned to risk management
2.5.  Fixed remuneration is reviewed in line with market practice
2.6.  Short-term incentives – targets designed to stretch
2.7.  Long-term incentives
2.8.  Executive remuneration outcomes for 2012
2.9.  Executive remuneration disclosures 
2.10.  Contractual arrangements

3.  non-executive director arrangements – audited
3.1.  Remuneration structure
3.2.  Non-Executive Directors’ Share Plan (NEDSP)
3.3.  Non-executive directors’ retirement benefits
3.4.  Non-executive directors’ remuneration disclosures



ANNUAL REPORT 2011/12   11

remuneration rePort
The Board presents the Suncorp Group’s Remuneration Report for 
2012. This Report forms part of the Directors’ Report and sets out 
remuneration details for the Suncorp Group’s key management 
personnel (KmP). KMP are the people who have authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities 
of the Suncorp Group and they are disclosed in the tables in 
sections 2.8 and 3.4. 

This Remuneration Report is structured as follows:

•  section 1 presents an overview of the remuneration framework 
and developments in 2012

•  section 2 presents the remuneration for the Group CEO and 
Senior executives (defined to be executives reporting to  
the Group CEO who are KMP); and

•  section 3 presents the remuneration for the non-executive 
directors (who are also KMP). 

Sections 2 and 3 have been audited in accordance with section 
308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

1. remuneration overvieW – unauDiteD
The Suncorp Group’s remuneration philosophy is based on 
providing competitive rewards that motivate appropriately 
qualified directors and executives to deliver superior and 
sustainable performance for shareholders. The Board is committed 
to fair and responsible remuneration and to communicating 
remuneration arrangements simply, clearly and transparently. 

1.1 RemuneRation in 2012
INFLUENCES ON REMUNERATION IN 2012

The Suncorp Group has continued to strengthen the business 
during 2012 through the sound execution of its business plans. 
Results in 2012 demonstrate the Group’s strategy is delivering 
increased profits, top-line growth, effective cost control and 
a stronger balance sheet. These results have been achieved 
against a background of continued market dislocation together 
with abnormal adverse weather and natural hazard events. The 
strong underlying financial performance has allowed an enhanced 
dividend yield to shareholders as outlined in section 2.8.

The Suncorp Group’s business transformation aims to deliver 
sustained benefits to key stakeholders. Innovative products 
and efficient claims management have played a key role in 
supporting customers and their communities. Investment in our 
people continues through the delivery of a more flexible work 
environment and a number of programs designed to develop 
leaders and enhance career satisfaction. Effectively managing risk 
in accordance with risk appetite remained prominent in 2012, with 
a focus on building both capability and capacity to enhance the 
outcomes of the Suncorp Group’s risk management framework.

Following the successful delivery of key projects in 2011 such 
as the implementation of the Non-Operating Holding Company 
(NOHC), the Building Blocks Program and improvements in the 
internal management of Suncorp Group capital, 2012 introduced a 
further simplification program to improve efficiencies, and reduce 
costs and complexity in our business. 

EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION GOVERNANCE IN 2012

The remuneration framework was fundamentally revised in 
2011. The Remuneration Committee believes that remuneration 
has a greater capacity to effectively motivate employees if the 
framework remains consistent over a reasonable period of time, 
and so no significant changes to the remuneration framework 
for Senior Executives were recommended in 2012 except for the 
changes to the remuneration of the Group CEO set out below. 

Instead, the Committee’s focus has been on enhancing governance 
practices to ensure effective performance and risk management 
are deeply embedded into remuneration processes by:

•  reviewing the remuneration framework and governance 
practices to ensure they remain sound

•  reinforcing the embedding of incentive deferral reforms 
introduced in 2010 and 2011 (refer to section 2.6); and

•  establishing governance processes for effecting clawback 
provisions (award reduction or forfeiture) in respect of 
executives’ remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee will closely monitor the framework 
to ensure it continues to meet our key goal of aligning employee 
and shareholder interests by rewarding people for delivering 
sustainable, long-term performance. While certain that this 
will evolve in response to new regulations and emerging 
capital requirements, the Committee believes the approach is 
fundamentally sound and will continue to serve us well.

Further details of remuneration governance are in section 2.1.

CHANGES TO THE GROUP CEO’S REMUNERATION 

The Board was pleased that Patrick Snowball, the Group CEO, 
entered into a new contract with the Suncorp Group in August 
2011, moving from a fixed term contract. The Board is confident 
the new arrangements will ensure that Mr Snowball continues 
with the Suncorp Group and completes the current transformation 
plans. The details of Mr Snowball’s new contract were released in 
August 2011 and are contained in section 2.10 of this Report.

As part of the new contractual arrangements, the Board increased 
Mr Snowball’s total remuneration. Part of the remuneration 
arrangements is a long-term incentive for 2013 comprised of a grant 
of performance rights which is subject to shareholder approval at 
the annual general meeting to be held on 25 October 2012.

For additional details on the Group CEO’s remuneration 
arrangements, including details of the proposed long-term 
incentive award, see sections 2.6 and 2.7. 
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1.  remuneration overvieW – unauDiteD 
(ContinueD)

1.2  RemuneRation fRamewoRk  
Reviewed RegulaRly

The Board monitors the reward strategy and framework to ensure 
it continues to be effective in supporting business and regulatory 
requirements and reflects investor feedback and contemporary 
market practice. The remuneration policy is reviewed annually 
and other remuneration governance arrangements are reviewed 
periodically, at least every two years.

1.3 2012 aCtual RemuneRation outComes
FIXED REMUNERATION 

The Board approved fixed remuneration increases for Senior 
Executives effective October 2011, after the Remuneration 
Committee considered independent benchmarking against peer 
comparator groups and assessed individual performance and 
contributions to the Suncorp Group. 

SHORT-TERM INCENTIVES 2012

The short-term incentive (Sti) program rewards employees 
for strong performance outcomes and, together with the risk 
considerations that are integrated within the reward process, 
keeps them focused on the long-term profitability of the Suncorp 
Group. The performance targets within the STI are designed to 
provide stretching performance objectives (see section 2.6). 

The Board takes into account both financial and non-financial 
results for the Group CEO and Senior Executives. The Group CEO’s 
STI depends on the performance of the Suncorp Group as a whole. 
Members of the Senior Leadership Team have key performance 
indicators that are tied to Suncorp Group and their business unit or 

Suncorp Group function goals. The evaluation of performance includes 
non-financial, qualitative criteria including the ability to manage risk, 
service customers, drive change in the organisation, establish strong 
teams and develop new leadership. All Senior Executives are also 
assessed based on how effectively they adhere to and apply the 
Suncorp Group’s strategic principles and values. The alignment of 
Senior Executives to Suncorp Group goals is intentional. It ensures 
that all Senior Executives are focused on the success of the strategy 
encapsulated in ‘One Company. Many Brands’.

Performance is evaluated rigorously to ensure STI outcomes are 
appropriately determined. The 2012 result is largely influenced 
by the weighting and assessment of financial and non-financial 
performance against challenging targets established at the 
beginning of the financial year. Taking all performance factors 
into account, 2012 STI outcomes have been determined by the 
Board as slightly below target. See section 2.8 for an overview of 
performance results and STI outcomes. 

The deferred portion of the 2010 STI for the Group CEO, which 
vested on 31 July 2012, will be received in the 2013 financial year. 

For Senior Executives, no deferred STI vested in 2012.

LONG-TERM INCENTIVES

The long-term incentive (lti) performance hurdles for grants  
with a vesting date in 2012 were not achieved, therefore the 
October 2006 and April 2007 grants were forfeited. 

REMUNERATION RECEIVED By THE GROUP CEO AND SENIOR 
EXECUTIVES IN 2012

Details for 2012 are shown in the following non-statutory table. 
Further details of the terms and conditions of STI and LTI are set 
out in sections 2.6 and 2.7. 

NON-STATUTORy TABLE – UNAUDITED

Australian Accounting Standards (aaSBs) require the calculation 
of remuneration on an accruals basis, including the use of 
sophisticated valuation models for long-term share-based 
incentives. The AASBs require the amortisation of the accounting 
fair value of the LTI over the associated vesting period, based on 
assumptions that may or may not eventuate. 

To provide greater visibility of remuneration in the current year,  
the Board has presented details of the actual remuneration 
received in respect of 2012 in the following unaudited table. 
These figures represent:

•  the actual fixed remuneration received in 2012

•  the actual value of incentives that will be received  
as a result of performance in 2012; and 

•  the actual value of any deferred incentives and  
LTIs that vested in 2012. 

The audited remuneration disclosures in accordance with AASBs 
and the Corporations Act 2001 are presented in section 2.9. 

Deferred STI and LTI awards (‘at-risk’ awards) will crystallise after 
a two-year and three-year period respectively, subject to relevant 
performance and service conditions. 
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REMUNERATION OF THE GROUP CEO AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES IN 2012

RemuneRation eaRned in 20121 past ‘at-Risk’ RemuneRation ReCeived in 20124
futuRe ‘at-Risk’ RemuneRation 

awaRded in 20126

exeCutiveS
FixeD  

remuneration2
2012  

inCentiveS3

DeFerreD  
inCentiveS  

(CaSh) veSteD  
in 2012 % veSting

lti (equity)  
veSteD in 2012 % veSting

aCtual  
remuneration  

reCeiveD  
in 20125

2012  
inCentiveS  

(DeFerreD  
aS CaSh)7

lti (equity)  
granteD  

in 20128

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

executive director 

Group CEO Patrick Snowball9 2,500 1,475 - - - - 3,975 1,475 -

Senior executives 

CEO Commercial Insurance Anthony Day 753 549 - - - - 1,302 296 375

CEO Vero New Zealand Gary Dransfield 536 390 - - - - 926 210 250

CEO Suncorp Bank David Foster 768 553 - - - - 1,321 298 375

CEO Personal Insurance Mark Milliner 803 575 - - - - 1,378 310 390

Group Chief Financial Officer John Nesbitt 885 637 - - - - 1,522 343 416

Group Executive  
Human Resources Amanda Revis 585 429 - - - - 1,014 231 267

CEO Suncorp Business Services Jeff Smith 784 624 - - - - 1,408 336 390

Group Chief Risk Officer Robert Stribling10 624 647 - - - - 1,271 348 300

CEO Suncorp Life Geoff Summerhayes 714 527 - - - - 1,241 284 344

1.  Remuneration earned in 2012 comprises:
  •  fixed remuneration (actual fixed remuneration received, including salary 

sacrificed benefits and employer superannuation); and
  •  incentives which relate to the 2012 performance period that are not deferred.
2.   Fixed remuneration takes into account the fixed remuneration increases granted 

during 2012. 
3.   Incentives for the 2012 year, to be paid in September 2012. For the Group CEO, this 

represents 50% of the total STI for 2012. For Senior Executives this represents 65% 
of the total STI for 2012. 

4.   Past ‘at-risk’ remuneration vested and received comprises LTI and deferred STI 
awarded in previous years that vested during 2012. 

5.  ‘Remuneration earned in 2012’ plus ‘Past ‘at-risk’ remuneration received in 2012’. 
6.   Future ‘at-risk’ remuneration awarded in 2012 comprises the cash value of the deferred 

incentives, excluding the value of any future interest payable on vesting and the face 
value of the LTI awarded in 2012 that may conditionally vest in future years, and is 
not guaranteed.

7.   2012 incentives (deferred as cash) represents the deferred portion of incentives 
awarded for 2012. For the Group CEO, this represents 50% of the total STI for 2012. 
For Senior Executives this represents 35% of the total STI for 2012. These awards 
are subject to potential clawback during the deferral period.

8.   LTI (equity) represents the face value of performance rights granted under the EPSP 
during 2012. For further details of the LTI program, refer to section 2.7. The Group 
CEO’s proposed 2013 Grant (requiring shareholder approval) is not included.

9.   The Group CEO’s deferred 2010 STI of $1,082,747 (includes interest accrued during 
the deferral period) which vested on 31 July 2012 is not included in the table above 
as it was not earned or received in 2012.

10.  Mr Stribling was paid a retention incentive of $300,000 subject to satisfactory 
performance in addition to his STI for 2012. 65% of this incentive will be paid in 
cash at the same time as the cash portion of the STI for 2012 and 35% is deferred 
for two years with the deferred STI for 2012.

 



group Ceo remuneration and 
performance targets

the remuneration Committee
Reviews, applies judgement and, as appropriate, endorses the recommendations made by the Group CEO and submits for Board approval.  

In addition, the Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the Board on the following:

the Board
Reviews, applies judgement and, as appropriate, approves the Remuneration Committee’s recommendations. 

group Ceo
Makes recommendations to the Remuneration Committee on: 

external advisers
Provide independent advice to the Remuneration Committee on:

Remuneration policy structures and frameworks  
for all employees

non-executive director 
remuneration arrangements

senior executive reward 
arrangements for appointments 

and terminations
Remuneration policy and 

frameworks for all employees

the sti performance  
targets and outcomes for  

direct reports

the suncorp group’s sti pool

benchmarking 
data and 
market 

practice

legal and 
regulatory 
issues that 

impact 
remuneration 
arrangements

proposed 
changes  

to the 
remuneration 

policy, 
structures  

and practices

structuring 
alternatives  
for sti and 
 lti plans

individual remuneration 
arrangements for  

direct reports

the suncorp group’s annual 
increase pool for fixed salary
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2. exeCutive remuneration – auDiteD 
2.1 RemuneRation goveRnanCe 
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

While the Board has overall responsibility for executive remuneration 
structure and outcomes, it has appointed a Remuneration Committee 
for advice and recommendations on remuneration-related matters, 
and also takes account of the advice of the Group CEO (for Senior 
Executive remuneration), other members of management and, where 
relevant, independent external advisers. 

The Remuneration Committee, which met six times in 2012: 

•  operates to a Board-approved charter

•  consists of four independent non-executive directors; and

•  is chaired by Ms Ilana Atlas, an independent  
non-executive director with extensive experience  
in human resource management. 

The members of the Remuneration Committee have an extensive 
understanding of risk management and are members of the 
Board’s Risk Committee, one of whom is the Risk Committee 
Chairman. The chair of the Audit Committee is also a member of 
the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee oversees the preparation of this 
Remuneration Report. Further details about the Remuneration 
Committee and the Risk Committee are provided in the Corporate 
Governance Statement, and the Remuneration Committee charter is 
published on the Company’s website at www.suncorpgroup.com.au. 

REMUNERATION GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

The following diagram represents the Suncorp Group’s remuneration governance framework. 

USE OF EXTERNAL REMUNERATION ADVISERS

The Board seeks and considers advice from external advisers in relation to remuneration matters where appropriate. Such external 
advisers report directly to the Remuneration Committee. When external advisers are selected, the Board takes into account potential 
conflicts of interest, and their terms of engagement regulate their access to, and (where required) set out their independence from, the 
Suncorp Group’s management.

The requirement for the services of external advisers to the Remuneration Committee is assessed annually in the context of the issues 
the Committee needs to address. The advice and recommendations of external advisers are used as a guide, but do not serve as a 
substitute for thorough consideration of the issues by each director.
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The Remuneration Committee appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers 
(PwC) as the lead external adviser for remuneration matters 
for 2012. PwC received instructions from, and reported to, the 
Remuneration Committee. During 2012, PwC did not provide 
remuneration recommendations and was not a remuneration 
consultant as defined in the Corporations Act 2001.

The external advisers listed below provided information and 
assistance to management and the Remuneration Committee on a 
range of matters, as an input to the Committee’s recommendations 
and decision-making. During 2012, no remuneration recommendations 
were provided by these advisers and they were not remuneration 
consultants as defined in the Corporations Act 2001.

ServiCeS relating to  
remuneration matterS

external aDviSerS 
ProviDing thiS ServiCe  
to SunCorP grouP in 2012

Provision of information to  
support the changes in the Group 
CEO’s contract

Freehills
Ernst & young

Benchmarking of pay of Senior 
Executives and non-executive 
directors against comparable  
roles at a range of relevant 
comparator groups

Mercer Consulting (Australia)
PwC

Provision of information and 
commentary on global trends in 
executive remuneration

Ernst & young

Performance analysis for LTI awards Mercer Consulting (Australia)
Support in the review of the 
Remuneration Report structure on 
behalf of management

Ernst & young

Provision of support in understanding 
the impact of changes in regulatory 
and legislative environment on 
remuneration

PwC

2.2  exeCutive RemuneRation stRategy  
and poliCy and how this undeRpins  
the sunCoRp gRoup stRategy

REMUNERATION STRATEGy

The Reward Principles establish a framework for integrating and 
managing performance and risk throughout the Suncorp Group. 
These principles: 

•  emanate from a focus on sustainable performance, effective 
risk management, customer focus, strong governance, and the 
need to attract and engage a talented workforce 

•  support the design and implementation of a remuneration 
strategy that gives full effect to regulatory requirements; and

•  support strategic change and foster the overarching Suncorp 
Group strategy ‘One Company. Many Brands.’ by integrating 
relevant non-financial performance measures, and adherence 
to the Suncorp Group’s values. 

REWARD PRINCIPLES

1. ALIGN SUSTAINABLE PERFORMANCE WITH REWARD 

  Reward outcomes are linked to longer term Suncorp Group, 
business unit and individual performance and risk frameworks, 
with high-performing individuals receiving greater allocations 
of variable reward. 

2. ALIGN EFFECTIVE RISk MANAGEMENT WITH REWARD 

  The reward structure provides incentives that specifically take 
risk into account. Variable compensation delivered through STI 
is significantly based on risk-adjusted profitability weightings. 
A separately weighted balanced scorecard category measuring 
risk management is required and behavioural and cultural 
measurements assess adherence to the risk management 
framework, requiring all employees to demonstrate a 
responsibility for managing and mitigating the risks that may 
arise in their business. 

3. BALANCE STAkEHOLDER INTERESTS 

  Reward outcomes strike a balance between employee and 
stakeholder (shareholders, customers, regulatory bodies) 
expectations through the balanced scorecard. 

4. DELIVER A COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGE 

  Developing a high performance team to deliver sustainable 
results requires market-competitive reward structures that 
support the attraction, development and retention of the right 
people. Rewards are internally equitable, take into account 
the Suncorp Group’s diversity practices, and appropriately 
balance fixed reward and benefits with the opportunity to 
earn variable rewards (based on Suncorp Group, business unit 
and individual performance). To support the focus on variable 
rewards, performance is evaluated rigorously to ensure 
incentives are appropriately allocated.

5. SUPPORT THE SUNCORP GROUP VALUES AND CULTURE 

  The Suncorp Group Board has ultimate responsibility and 
accountability for remuneration policy, as well as the principles 
and processes which give effect to that policy. The remuneration 
policy aims to ensure employee remuneration structures are 
equitable and strongly linked to the long-term interests of the 
Suncorp Group. The framework is flexible to accommodate 
the diversity of the businesses providing the Board with 
the appropriate discretion to adjust reward structures to 
accommodate changes to business, financial, regulatory, and 
market conditions. Non-financial and ‘behavioural’ performance 
measures are included in the balanced scorecards for the Group 
CEO and all Senior Executives.

  All employees must demonstrate adherence to the Suncorp 
values in the way they deliver results, on a day-to-day basis.
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Delivery PerFormanCe anD riSK alignment StrategiC Priority

Fixed remuneration
Base remuneration (base salary, 
salary sacrificed benefits, and other 
benefits) plus superannuation

Short-term incentives 
(including deferral)

long-term incentives

Base remuneration is paid in cash.
Superannuation paid at a rate 
of 9% of base remuneration or 
the maximum contribution base1, 
whichever is the lesser.

STI is typically paid in cash.2 
For the Group CEO 50%, and for 
Senior Executives 35%, of the STI is 
deferred as cash for two years and 
is subject to potential clawback at 
the end of the deferral period.

Performance rights granted that 
vest subject to performance hurdles 
being met and potential clawback3.

•  Reward commensurate with the size and complexity of the role, individual 
responsibilities, individual performance, experience and skills. Aligned to 
market median.

•  Increases reflect individual performance and contribution to the Suncorp 
Group taking into consideration market competitiveness. 

•  Superannuation contributions paid according to statutory requirements.

•  Rewards executives for their contribution to the Suncorp Group, business 
unit outcomes and for their individual contribution. 

•   Deferral and potential clawback encourage a longer term focus.
•  The Board’s determination of the Suncorp Group’s STI pool includes 

consideration of risk management through a variety of financial and non-
financial measures.

•  The remuneration governance framework allows the Board to exercise its 
judgement to reduce STI and deferred STI, if, in the Board’s judgement, such 
an adjustment should occur.

•  Rewards executives for their contribution to the creation of long-term 
shareholder value via exposure to Suncorp Group equity. 

•  Focuses executives on achievement of Total Shareholder Return (tSr) 
through the use of an external, objective, relative TSR measure to 
determine outcomes.

•  The remuneration governance framework allows the Board to exercise its 
judgement to reduce LTI if, in the Board’s judgement, such an adjustment 
should occur.

•  Executives cannot hedge equity instruments that are unvested or subject  
to restrictions.

Attract and retain highly engaged 
and enabled talent.

Motivate superior performance 
and link remuneration to annual 
business performance. Deferral to 
encourage longer term focus and 
risk management and alignment 
with shareholders.

Motivate superior performance 
and link remuneration to long-term 
business performance.
Align remuneration with 
shareholder interests.
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2. exeCutive remuneration – auDiteD (ContinueD)
2.3 RemuneRation fRamewoRk and how it links to stRategiC objeCtives
The total remuneration opportunity for executives includes both fixed and ‘at-risk’ components. The ‘at-risk’ component has both 
short-term and long-term incentives, which must satisfy performance and risk-related conditions and both are subject to clawback 
under certain conditions. 

The table below provides a summary of each remuneration component and the link to strategic objectives. 

1. Employer contributions of 9% of ordinary time earnings are paid up to the maximum contribution base, which for the financial year ending 30 June 2012 was $43,820 per quarter. 
2. Typically paid in cash, unless the individual nominates to have all or part of their award paid into superannuation or Suncorp shares (subject to relevant limits).
3. Clawback of LTI is applicable from the October 2010 grant onwards.



 Fixed Remuneration     Target STI (cash)     Target STI (deferred)     LTI

gRoup Ceo senioR exeCutives1

1.  Excluding the Chief Executive Officer, Suncorp Business Services, who has a different 
target STI than other Senior Executives. Refer to section 2.6 for details. 

26%
36%

16%

30%16%

16%

42%

18%
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REMUNERATION POSITIONING POLICy AND COMPARATOR GROUPS 

The total remuneration opportunity for executives is evaluated on 
an annual basis against relevant peer comparator groups including 
the S&P/ASX 100 Index and S&P/ASX 50 Index, and bespoke 
comparator groups. 

The Suncorp Group broadly targets fixed remuneration at the 
market median. 

The ‘at-risk’ component provides the opportunity for total 
remuneration to reach the upper end of the market spectrum for 
outstanding performance. To encourage superior performance 
and achieve that total remuneration opportunity, the proportion of 
‘at-risk’ remuneration (particularly STI) is intentionally positioned 
towards the upper end of the market.

REMUNERATION MIX POLICy

The Suncorp Group’s 2012 remuneration mix at target for the 
Group CEO and Senior Executives is presented below. The majority 
of remuneration for Senior Executives is ‘at risk’, with the Group 
CEO’s remuneration mix more heavily focused on the longer term.

2.4  RemuneRation and how it is aligned  
to Risk management

In determining variable remuneration, the Board ensures that risk 
management is a specific performance goal. 

Compliance with the Suncorp Group Risk Appetite Statement 
is integrated as a central component of overall performance to 
deliver an organisation-wide focus on the prudent management of 
the risks faced by the Suncorp Group. 

The Suncorp Group risk management practices are governed by 
an integrated framework incorporating Suncorp Group policies 
(including the remuneration policy). The performance of each 
business unit is reviewed and measured with reference to how 
risk is managed. Individual adherence to risk management polices 
is also considered.

The Remuneration Committee’s starting point when considering STI 
outcomes is the balanced scorecard STI outcome. The Committee 
then considers additional factors, such as sustainability and quality of 
earnings, before making its final determination of the overall STI pool.

Risk assessment is also included in the balanced scorecard through:

•  a separately weighted risk measure

•  return on eligible capital (a proxy for risk-adjusted return on 
capital) embedded in the financial measures; and 

•  the behavioural and cultural measures which consider 
adherence to the risk management framework. 

Consideration of risk is embedded throughout the remuneration 
framework (refer details included in section 2.3). Specifically, the 
following risk governance arrangements apply to all employees, 
as relevant. 

STI DEFERRAL

A material portion of STI for executives is deferred for two years 
to maintain executive focus on the long-term sustainability of the 
Group. At the end of the deferral period, the deferred STI portion 
may be adjusted (reduced or forfeited) in the event significant 
adverse outcomes are caused by decisions made, or actions taken, 
contrary to the Group’s interests.

CLAWBACK 

Both deferred STI and unvested LTI (from the October 2010 LTI 
grant onwards) are subject to potential clawback based on the 
Board’s judgement.

HEDGING OF UNVESTED AWARDS

Hedging of unvested equity awards is prohibited.

RISK AND FINANCIAL CONTROL PERSONNEL

Remuneration decisions for employees working in risk and financial 
control roles are governed by separate performance and remuneration 
review processes. The performance of employees in these roles is 
assessed independently of their business area. In addition, employees 
working in risk roles typically have a comparatively higher percentage 
of risk-based measures. For 2012, 58% of the balanced scorecard for 
the Group Chief Risk Officer is based on Group Risk measures. 

The Board has discretion to reduce STI and LTI reward outcomes. 
The Board may exercise its judgement in relation to:

•  STI (including deferred STI): at the end of the financial year 
when assessing performance against scorecard objectives 
to determine the STI pool and payments, or at the end of the 
two-year deferral period, when determining if there are any 
issues impacting the initial performance result assessed; and

•  LTI: at any time prior to, or at, the final vesting date of the 
performance rights and will take account of factors such as 
any material misstatements of financial results or individual 
instances of non-compliance with Suncorp Group policies.

2.5  fixed RemuneRation is Reviewed  
in line with maRket pRaCtiCe

Fixed remuneration is reviewed each year in line with the 
Suncorp Group’s remuneration policy, external market and 
competitor practices and other business and role-critical 
factors. The Remuneration Committee assesses management’s 
recommendations based on market practice to ensure fixed 
remuneration is competitive.



PerFormanCe 
oBJeCtiveS anD 
WeightingS BalanCeD SCoreCarD CategorieS 

Suncorp group 
Group CEO: 90%
Senior Executives: 60%

•  Profit and financials: deliver targeted underlying profit after tax; 
improve shareholder returns; transparency of surplus capital and 
the quality of management recommendations/actions for the 
deployment of that capital.

•  Risk management: manage risk levels within agreed parameters and 
maintain the regulator’s assessment of the Suncorp Group’s risk profile. 

•  Customer: improve external confidence in the Suncorp Group and 
achievement of target customer satisfaction. 

•  People: maintain high achievement, an engaged team and meet 
occupational health and safety targets. 

Business unit
Senior Executives: 30%

•  Profit and financials: deliver targeted underlying profit after tax  
and improve shareholder returns.

•  Risk management: drive a positive risk culture and risk governance 
framework and manage risk levels within agreed parameters.

•  Customer: achieve customer retention and advocacy; grow  
customer base.

•  People: maintain a highly engaged team and meet occupational 
health and safety targets.

•  Key business unit strategic deliverables: implementation of key 
strategic projects/initiatives to drive business improvements.

individual 
performance
Group CEO: 10%
Senior Executives: 10%

Suncorp Group values:
•  Honesty, trust, courage, caring, fairness and respect.

1.  Exception: The STI target for the Chief 
Executive Officer, Suncorp Business  
Services is contractually set at 138.3%  
of fixed remuneration.

target Sti max Sti

Group CEO 125% of fixed 
remuneration

150% of fixed 
remuneration

Senior 
Executives 

125%¹ of fixed 
remuneration

187.5% of fixed 
remuneration
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2. exeCutive remuneration – auDiteD (ContinueD) 
2.6  shoRt-teRm inCentives –  

taRgets designed to stRetCh 
The design of the annual STI program rewards executives for 
achieving Suncorp Group, specific business unit and individual 
performance relative to stretch performance targets. 

STI AWARDS DEPEND ON SCORECARD RESULTS

STI awards are impacted by performance against a balanced 
scorecard of financial and non-financial performance objectives. 
Targets are designed to be stretching to deliver sustainable value for 
all stakeholders and are agreed with the Board at the start of each 
financial year. In assessing the actual STI outcome for each individual 
executive, the Board exercises its discretion up or down based on value 
judgements on quality of earnings and other non-financial results.

STI FUNDING POOL

The Board determines the size of the annual STI pool available 
for distribution to all eligible employees, relative to performance 
against key financial and non-financial outcomes. 

The Remuneration Committee takes into account the quality of 
the financial result, including factors such as the current economic 
environment, when recommending the size of the Suncorp Group’s 
STI pool to the Board.

PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT

The diagram below sets out the structure of the 2012 STI program 
and examples of key performance measures included within the 
balanced scorecard.

The Board considers underlying profit after tax to be an appropriate 
reflection of the ongoing profitability of the Suncorp Group. There 
is genuine scope for individual executive performance to impact 
underlying profit outcomes, and so the Board considers this to be an 
effective measure for its STI program. 

In determining underlying profit after tax, a number of adjustments 
to net profit after tax were made as they are deemed to be outside 
normal operating activities. These include investment market 
movements, reserve releases and natural hazards claims above 
long-run expectations and profit or losses on assets disposed. It 
excludes the profit or loss of the Non-core Bank, which is assessed 
on a return of capital basis. Underlying profit after tax has not 
been audited by the external auditors.

The Group CEO assesses each Senior Executive’s performance at 
the end of the financial year against Suncorp Group and business 
unit scorecards, considering actual outcomes relative to the 
agreed targets. Based on this assessment, the Group CEO makes 
a recommendation to the Remuneration Committee for Board 
approval on the amount of STI to award to each Senior Executive. 

Information regarding the category weightings for the Suncorp 
Group and business unit scorecards are shown in section 2.8. 

STI IS DEFERRED AND SUBJECT TO CLAWBACK

For the Group CEO, 50% of STI is deferred as cash while Senior 
Executives have 35% of STI deferred as cash, subject to clawback. 

Interest accrues during the deferral period and is payable on 
vesting. In the event of resignation, redundancy or retirement, 
the deferred incentive portion will remain ‘on foot’ after the 
termination date until the end of the original deferral period.

During the deferral period, the Board considers the long-term impacts 
of decisions made and actions taken during the performance year to 
which the deferred STI applies. In accordance with the risk governance 
framework, significant adverse outcomes may give grounds for the 
Board to apply its discretion to adjust the original deferred incentive 
allocation downwards, including to zero if necessary. 



eligibility of the individual to participate in the lti plan determined  
by the board. 

the face value of lti to be granted is determined (based on 50% of the 
individual’s fixed remuneration for senior executives).

the number of performance rights granted is determined. the number of 
performance rights is equivalent to the face value of the lti divided by 

the volume weighted average price (vwap) of one ordinary share over 
the five days preceding the date of the grant.

offers are made to eligible participants in october.  

shares are purchased by the epsp trustee on market to avoid any dilutionary 
impact that issuing new ordinary shares would have on the share price.

shares are held in trust during the vesting period. 

after vesting, the shares remain held by the epsp trustee until the individual 
applies to the board to remove the shares or until seven years has passed. 
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The Board will consider the following when determining if 
clawback should apply to the deferred STI:

•  significant losses arising as a consequence of poor quality 
business that has, in the opinion of the Board, been 
demonstrated to have been generated:

 − in breach of duly adopted policies and procedures

 −  as a result of the exercise of bad judgement (either at the 
time the business was written, or when a deterioration 
should have been recognised and provided for)

 −  in an environment where policies, procedures or protocols 
were weak or inadequate in each case having regard to 
the role and responsibility of the individual concerned

•  financial misconduct (including embezzlement, fraud or theft)

•  actions resulting in Suncorp Group or business unit financial 
misstatements

•  significant legal, regulatory, and/or policy non-compliance

•  significant issues that impact the Suncorp Group’s standing 
with regulators to conduct business; and

•  any individual act which is deemed to have been significantly 
harmful to the Suncorp Group, the Suncorp Group’s reputation, 
the Suncorp Group’s employees or the Suncorp Group’s 
customers (e.g. ethical misconduct).

In exercising its judgement in relation to the clawback of 
deferred STI, the Board is informed by recommendations from the 
Remuneration, Risk and Audit Committees. 

Deferral was introduced in 2010 for the Group CEO and extended 
to Senior Executives in 2011 as part of a suite of changes to the 
remuneration framework. The substantive changes to remuneration 
arrangements required a balanced assessment of the STI deferral 
provision. The program was intended to underscore the adherence to 
risk appetite and create a link to sustainable performance. Deferral 
allows the Board to look back and assess if any factors (as outlined 
above) have arisen that if known when the award was made would 
have operated to reduce the quantum of awards granted. 

The process was intended to be simple, conveying a meaningful 
value at risk to all participants that would support their active 
engagement in the prudent stewardship of risk activities. 

2.7 long-teRm inCentives
The purpose of LTI is to focus the Group CEO and Senior 
Executives on the Suncorp Group’s long-term business strategy, 
align their interests with those of shareholders and support the 
creation of long-term shareholder value. 

LTI, delivered in the form of performance rights, is offered to the 
Group CEO and Senior Executives as these individuals have a 
direct impact on the Suncorp Group’s long-term performance. 

LTI grants are provided through the Executive Performance Share Plan 
(ePSP). LTI recipients will only derive value from their LTI grants if a 
challenging TSR performance hurdle relative to the pre-determined 
group of peer companies (the Peer Comparator Group) is met.

PERFORMANCE RIGHTS EXPLAINED

A performance right entitles a participant to one fully paid 
ordinary share (or under limited circumstances at the Board’s 
discretion, a cash payment in lieu of an allocation of ordinary 
shares at no cost). This entitlement arises at a set future point in 
time provided specific performance hurdles are met. 

THE ALLOCATION AND EXERCISE OF PERFORMANCE RIGHTS

THE PERFORMANCE HURDLE – TOTAL SHAREHOLDER RETURN

Performance is measured by ranking the Company’s TSR against 
the Peer Comparator Group. TSR (expressed as a percentage) is 
a method of calculating the return shareholders would earn if 
they held a notional number of shares over a period of time. TSR 
measures the percentage change in a company’s share price, 
together with the value of dividends received during the period 
(assuming that all of those dividends are re-invested into new 
shares) and capital returns. TSR will vary over time but the relative 
position reflects the market perception of overall performance 
relative to the Peer Comparator Group. The ranking of the Company’s 
TSR determines the extent to which performance rights vest.

The Peer Comparator Group chosen for relative TSR performance 
assessment is the top 50 companies ranked by market 
capitalisation in the S&P/ASX 100 Index, excluding listed property 
trusts and mining companies. The Remuneration Committee 
believes the chosen group is appropriate in the absence of a 
suitable peer group of direct comparators. 

The relative TSR performance measure is chosen on the basis that it:

•  offers a relevant indicator of measuring changes in 
shareholder value by comparing the Company’s return to 
shareholders against the returns of companies of similar size 
and investment profile

•  provides alignment between shareholder returns and reward 
outcomes for executives; and

•  provides a direct link between executive rewards and 
shareholder return over the long term and minimises the 
impact market cycles may have.

The Board has considered adopting other measures to determine 
the allocation of LTI but has determined that the most appropriate 
measure is relative TSR.

TOTAL SHAREHOLDER RETURN EXTERNALLy MONITORED

TSR performance is monitored by an external party.
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2. exeCutive remuneration – auDiteD (ContinueD)  
2.7 long-teRm inCentives (Continued)
VESTING SCHEDULE 

The extent to which performance rights will vest is subject to the 
Company’s TSR, measured over the relevant period.

The Group CEO and Senior Executives will not derive any 
value from the LTI component of their remuneration unless 
the Company’s TSR performance is greater than the median 
performance of the Peer Comparator Group. 

Performance rights vest in accordance with the LTI vesting 
schedule represented in the table below:

relative tSr  
PerFormanCe outCome

PerCentage oF lti  
aWarD that Will veSt

Below the 50th percentile  
(below median performance)

0%

At the 50th percentile  
(median performance)

50%

Between the 50th and  
75th percentiles

50% plus 2% for each full 1% 
increase in the Company’s ranking 
against the Peer Comparator Group

At or above the 75th percentile 100%

DIVIDENDS

The EPSP trustee manages any dividends received during the 
time that the shares underlying the performance rights are held 
in trust. If a performance right vests and shares are allocated, a 
payment equal to the dividends earned on those shares during the 
performance period is paid (less applicable taxes that have been 
paid by the EPSP trustee with respect to the dividends).

LTI PERFORMANCE PERIOD

The performance period begins on the date the award is made and 
extends for three years (and, for awards made prior to 30 June 
2010, an additional two-year retesting period may apply). 

The Board determined that from 1 July 2010 onwards there 
would be no retesting opportunity. Consequently, for grants made 
after 1 July 2010 (first impacting the October 2010 grant), any 
performance rights which do not vest at the end of the three-year 
performance period will lapse.

GROUP CEO’S 2009 LTI GRANT PERFORMANCE PERIOD

On 1 October 2009 the Group CEO received an award of 900,000 
performance rights (Initial Grant) under the EPSP. The Initial Grant 
included the Group CEO’s maximum LTI entitlement for the 2010, 
2011 and 2012 financial years.

The Group CEO’s performance rights vest in three equal tranches 
of a maximum of 300,000 shares per tranche subject to the 
performance conditions outlined above and will be tested over  
a three to five-year period. The potential vesting dates for the 
Initial Grant are 30 September 2012, 30 September 2013 and  
30 September 2014. 

PROPOSED 2013 LTI GRANT

It is proposed that a new grant of performance rights will be made 
to the Group CEO under the EPSP in October 2012; this will be his 
maximum LTI entitlement for 2013.

The potential vesting date for the 2013 grant is 30 September 
2015. There will be no option to extend the performance period 
beyond this date.

The Board, on the advice of the Remuneration Committee, 
endorsed an award of performance rights with a value of 
$4,000,000. This value takes into account the appropriate level 
of total remuneration, as assessed by reference to a number 
of factors, including the extent to which the total remuneration 
is market competitive. The performance rights will be granted 
following the 2012 Annual General Meeting (if shareholder 
approval is provided). The actual number of shares linked to the 
performance rights to be granted to the Group CEO will depend 
on the share price over the five trading days up to 1 September 
2012. These performance rights will be subject to the performance 
hurdle and vesting schedule described earlier. 

Future LTI allocations will be determined by the Board annually, 
and will be subject to shareholder approval.

HEDGING PROHIBITION

The Suncorp Group securities trading policy prohibits directors, 
employees and contractors from dealing in a financial product 
which operates to limit the economic risk of a holding in the 
Company’s securities (hedging), including unvested EPSP 
performance rights. 

All KMP are reminded of this policy at least twice per year, usually 
in the month prior to the release of the Suncorp Group’s annual 
and half-yearly financial results.

While performance rights remain unvested, the Group CEO and 
Senior Executives do not have an entitlement to the underlying 
shares which are held in the name of the EPSP trustee. During this 
time the underlying shares cannot be accessed by the individual. 

Once performance rights have fully vested, the underlying 
shares can be withdrawn from the EPSP by the executive. Any 
subsequent dealing in those shares is subject to the terms of the 
Suncorp Group securities trading policy.

2.8 exeCutive RemuneRation outComes foR 2012
This section outlines how the 2012 incentive outcomes reflect 
performance outcomes. 

The Suncorp Group’s strategy of ‘One Company. Many Brands.’ 
is supported by a leadership model designed to align the 
organisation with clear and common strategic priorities and 
support the critical behaviours required to deliver incremental 
value. The reward framework reflects the alignment by placing 
a significant weighting in the scorecards on the overall Suncorp 
Group performance. The emphasis on the overall performance 
outcomes intentionally limits the scope for differentiation of STI 
outcomes between the Senior Executives. Any differentiation is 
achieved through the assessment of business unit performance 
and individual behaviours that in 2012 amounted to 40% of the 
relevant Senior Executive’s scorecard.

SUNCORP GROUP PERFORMANCE AND STI 2012 OUTCOMES

In association with the principle of ‘aligning sustainable 
performance with reward’, stretch targets for the Group CEO 
and Senior Executives are based on the expectation of delivering 
continual improvements in relation to external and internal 
benchmark indicators. Performance outcomes are measured based 
on a challenging, robust assessment of achievements against 
stretch targets. In 2012 the Suncorp Group has not achieved 
target financial performance and the value of STI to be delivered 
has therefore been appropriately adjusted, to reflect the level of 
performance achieved. 
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STI PERFORMANCE OUTCOMES FOR THE GROUP CEO IN 2012

The table below outlines the 2012 performance against target for the Group CEO’s scorecard areas. 

 peRfoRmanCe outComes 
RemuneRation 

outComes

ProFit anD FinanCialS 
60%

 PeoPle 
10%

 riSK 
10%

 CuStomerS/ 
StaKeholDerS 

10%
 BehaviourS 

10%

 overall 
PerFormanCe 

outCome 
overall Sti 

outCome

Below target  Below target  At target  Above target  At target Below target Below target

Actual STI outcome for 2012 is represented in the table below for the Group CEO.
aCtual Sti  

aWarDeD target Sti
Sti aWarD aS %  

oF target Sti max Sti
Sti aWarD aS %  
oF maximum Sti

% oF maximum Sti  
aWarD ForFeiteD

amount  
DeFerreD

$000 1 $000 2 $000 3 $000

executive director
Group CEO Patrick Snowball  2,950  3,188  93  3,825  77  23  1,475 

1. The value of STI awarded for 2012 represented is before any deferral.     2. Target STI is set at 125% of fixed remuneration.     3. Maximum STI is set at 150% of fixed remuneration. 

STI PERFORMANCE OUTCOMES FOR SENIOR EXECUTIVES IN 2012

STI awards for Senior Executives are in part determined using the Suncorp Group performance measures. Sixty percent of the award relates to the Suncorp Group performance. 

The Suncorp Group performance outcomes are included in each business unit scorecard that include specific business unit and individual performance measures. 

The similarity in STI outcomes versus target between the Senior Executives is reflective of the significant weighting in the STI scorecards on Group performance,  
reflecting the Suncorp Group’s strategy of ‘One Company. Many Brands.’

Actual STI outcomes for 2012 are represented in the table below for Senior Executives.

aCtual Sti 
aWarDeD target Sti

Sti aWarD aS %  
oF target Sti max Sti

Sti aWarD aS %  
oF maximum Sti

% oF maximum Sti 
aWarD ForFeiteD

amount  
DeFerreD

$000 1 $000 2 $000 3 $000

Senior executives 
CEO Commercial Insurance Anthony Day  845  938  90  1,406  60  40  296 
CEO Vero New Zealand Gary Dransfield  600  688  87  1,031  58  42  210 
CEO Suncorp Bank David Foster  850  963  88  1,444  59  41  298 
CEO Personal Insurance Mark Milliner  885  1,009  88  1,513  58  42  310 
Group Chief Financial Officer John Nesbitt  980  1,125  87  1,688  58  42  343 
Group Executive Human Resources Amanda Revis  660  750  88  1,125  59  41  231 
CEO Suncorp Business Services Jeff Smith  960  1,079  89  1,463  66  34  336 
Group Chief Risk Officer Robert Stribling 4  695  788  88  1,181  59  41  243 
CEO Suncorp Life Geoff Summerhayes  810  900  90  1,350  60  40  284 

1. The value of STI awarded for 2012 represented is before any deferral.     2. Target STI is set at 125% of fixed remuneration for all Senior Executives excluding the Chief Executive Officer, Suncorp Business Services who has a target STI contractually set at 138.3%.
3. Maximum STI for Senior Executives is set at 187.5% of fixed remuneration.     4. Actual STI for Mr Stribling excludes the retention incentive (see section 2.10).
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2.8 exeCutive RemuneRation outComes foR 2012 (Continued)
SUNCORP GROUP PERFORMANCE AND LTI 2012 OUTCOMES

SUNCORP GROUP PERFORMANCE

The table below includes the Suncorp Group’s1 performance over the five financial years to 30 June 2012. It provides an overall view 
of the Suncorp Group’s performance (note the TSR in the table does not relate to the Suncorp Group’s LTI plan which is dependent on 
relative TSR performance against a peer group of ASX-listed companies).

year enDeD 
30 June ProFit For the year

CloSing Share
PriCe2

DiviDenD
P/Share tSr3

$m $ cents %

2012  728  8.09  55  55 
2011  457  8.14  35  63 
2010  789  8.04  35  60 
2009  353  6.70  40  48 
2008  588  13.04  107  82 

1.  The Suncorp Group completed a restructure on 7 January 2011 (implementation of the NOHC). Amounts prior to this restructure relate to Suncorp-Metway Limited, the ultimate 
parent company prior to the restructure.

2. Closing share price at 30 June. 
3.  TSR is based on the closing share price as at 30 June of the relevant year, relative to the share price at the commencement of the period five years prior. For example: For the  

year ended 30 June 2012 the period commenced 1 July 2007. To have achieved a value of 125 at 30 June 2012, this means an initial capital investment of $100 in the Company’s  
shares on 1 July 2007, together with reinvested dividends over the ensuing five-year period, would be worth $125 at 30 June 2012. 

LTI PERFORMANCE OUTCOMES – CURRENT yEAR OUTCOMES

As outlined in section 2.7, the LTI vesting is based on relative TSR performance against the Peer Comparator Group. 

In 2012 the LTI performance hurdle was not met in relation to the 2006 Grant (final vesting) and 2008 Grant (initial vesting) and  
the Senior Executives derived no value in 2012 in relation to these LTI awards. The 2007 and 2009 Grants are due to be tested  
at 30 September 2012. 

The table below outlines the vesting outcome for awards tested in 2012.

awaRds tested in 2012

FinanCial  
year grant maDe

Start oF the  
PerFormanCe PerioD PerFormanCe PerioD tSr outCome veSting outCome

2006 Grant 1 October 2006 1 October 2006 Extended five-year period  
to 30 September 2011 

Suncorp Group ranked  
at the 10th percentile 0%

2008 Grant 1 October 2008 1 October 2008 Initial three-year period  
to 30 September 2011 

Suncorp Group ranked  
at the 24th percentile 0%
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NUMBER AND VALUE OF PERFORMANCE RIGHTS GRANTED, VESTED AND FORFEITED UNDER THE EPSP

Information with respect to the movement of performance rights during 2012 and of current LTI grants held by the Group CEO and Senior Executives as at 30 June 2012 is outlined in the table below.

peRfoRmanCe Rights gRanted faiR value yet to vest maRket value

numBer oF  
orDinary ShareS grant Date

FinanCial year in WhiCh 
grant may FirSt veSt min 1 max 2

at Date  
oF grant 3

aS at  
30 June 2012 4 veSteD in year

ForFeiteD  
in year

$ $ $ $ % %

executive director
Patrick Snowball 300,000 1 October 2009 30 June 2013 - 1,902,000 2,646,000 2,427,000 - -

300,000 1 October 2009 30 June 2014 - 1,968,000 2,646,000 2,427,000 - -
300,000 1 October 2009 30 June 2015 - 2,025,000 2,646,000 2,427,000 - -

Senior executives
Anthony Day 9,543 1 October 2007 30 June 20115 - 139,328 194,200 77,203 - -

13,843 1 October 2008 30 June 20125 - 59,802 133,031 111,990 - -
17,092 1 October 2009 30 June 2013 - 108,363 150,751 138,274 - -
71,585 1 October 2010 30 June 2014 - 380,116 627,800 579,123 - -
47,161 1 October 2011 30 June 2015 - 248,538 376,345 381,532 - - 

Gary Dransfield 20,136 1 October 2009 30 June 2013 - 127,662 177,600 162,900 - -
18,942 1 October 2010 30 June 2014 - 100,582 166,121 153,241 - -
31,441 1 October 2011 30 June 2015 - 165,694 250,899 254,358 - - 

David Foster 23,120 1 October 2006 30 June 20105 - - - - - 100%
763 17 April 2007 30 June 20105 - - - - - 100%

32,740 1 October 2007 30 June 20115 - 478,004 666,259 264,867 - -
64,272 1 October 2008 30 June 20125 - 277,655 617,654 519,960 - -
81,949 1 October 2009 30 June 2013 - 519,557 722,790 662,967 - -
77,092 1 October 2010 30 June 2014 - 409,359 676,097 623,674 - -
47,161 1 October 2011 30 June 2015 - 248,538 376,345 381,532 - - 

Mark Milliner 20,808 1 October 2006 30 June 20105 - - - - - 100%
686 17 April 2007 30 June 20105 - - - - - 100%

35,259 1 October 2007 30 June 20115 - 514,781 717,521 285,245 - -
69,216 1 October 2008 30 June 20125 - 299,013 665,166 559,957 - -
81,949 1 October 2009 30 June 2013 - 519,557 722,790 662,967 - -
82,599 1 October 2010 30 June 2014 - 438,601 724,393 668,226 - -
49,047 1 October 2011 30 June 2015 - 258,478 391,395 396,790 - - 

1  The minimum value of shares yet to vest is nil as the performance criteria or service condition may not be met and consequently the shares may not vest.
2  For equity-settled performance rights, the maximum value yet to vest is determined as the fair value at grant date, assuming all performance criteria are met.  

For cash-settled performance rights, the maximum value of shares yet to vest is determined as the fair value at 30 June 2012, assuming all performance criteria are met.
3  Market value at date of grant is calculated by the number of shares granted multiplied by the closing share price as traded on the ASX on the date of grant.  

Where the date of grant falls on an ASX non-trading day, the closing share price of the preceding trading day is used.
4  Market value as at 30 June 2012 is calculated by the number of shares granted multiplied by the closing share price as traded on ASX on 30 June 2012.
5 Executives elected to extend the performance period by a further two years. 
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peRfoRmanCe Rights gRanted faiR value yet to vest maRket value

numBer oF  
orDinary ShareS grant Date

FinanCial year in WhiCh 
grant may FirSt veSt min 1 max 2

at Date  
oF grant 3

aS at  
30 June 2012 4 veSteD in year

ForFeiteD  
in year

$ $ $ $ % %
John Nesbitt 313,016 3 May 2010 30 June 2013 - 1,859,315 2,851,576 2,532,299 - -

88,105 1 October 2010 30 June 2014 - 467,838 772,681 712,769 - -
52,317 1 October 2011 30 June 2015 - 275,711 417,490 423,245 - - 

Amanda Revis 58,920 1 October 2010 30 June 2014 - 312,865 516,728 476,663 - -
33,641 1 October 2011 30 June 2015 - 177,288 268,455 272,156 - - 

Jeff Smith 37,777 1 October 2007 30 June 20115 - 551,544 768,762 305,616 - -
74,160 1 October 2008 30 June 20125 - 320,371 712,678 599,954 - -
87,803 1 October 2009 30 June 2013 - 556,671 774,422 710,326 - -
82,599 1 October 2010 30 June 2014 - 438,601 724,393 668,226 - -
49,047 1 October 2011 30 June 2015 - 258,478 391,395 396,790 - - 

Robert Stribling 66,079 1 October 2010 30 June 2014 - 278,193 579,513 534,579 - -
37,729 1 October 2011 30 June 2015 - 193,550 301,077 305,228 - - 

Geoff Summerhayes 61,800 1 October 2008 30 June 20125 - 266,976 593,898 499,962 - -
73,169 1 October 2009 30 June 2013 - 463,891 645,351 591,937 - -
68,832 1 October 2010 30 June 2014 - 365,498 603,657 556,851 - -
43,262 1 October 2011 30 June 2015 - 227,991 345,231 349,990 - -

1  The minimum value of shares yet to vest is nil as the performance criteria or service 
condition may not be met and consequently the shares may not vest.

2  For equity-settled performance rights, the maximum value yet to vest is determined 
as the fair value at grant date, assuming all performance criteria are met. For cash-
settled performance rights, the maximum value of shares yet to vest is determined as 
the fair value at 30 June 2012, assuming all performance criteria are met.

3  Market value at date of grant is calculated by the number of shares granted multiplied 
by the closing share price as traded on the ASX on the date of grant. Where the date 
of grant falls on an ASX non-trading day, the closing share price of the preceding 
trading day is used.

4  Market value as at 30 June 2012 is calculated by the number of shares granted 
multiplied by the closing share price as traded on ASX on 30 June 2012.

5 Executives elected to extend the performance period by a further two years. 

2.9 exeCutive RemuneRation disClosuRes
This section provides full details of total remuneration for the Group CEO and Senior Executives for 2012 and 2011, as required under  
the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001. 

The following table includes LTI amounts which did not deliver value during 2012 and 2011 to the Senior Executives. The ‘share-based 
payment’ amount reflects the amount required to be expensed in accordance with AASBs. The fair value of equity-settled performance rights 
is determined at grant date and amortised over the vesting period. The fair value of cash-settled performance rights is remeasured at year 
end, with changes in fair value recognised as an expense. The values realised in subsequent years may differ to the accounting expense 
reported below, depending on the extent to which the performance hurdles are met. 

2. exeCutive remuneration – auDiteD (ContinueD)  
2.8 exeCutive RemuneRation outComes foR 2012 (Continued)
NUMBER AND VALUE OF PERFORMANCE RIGHTS GRANTED, VESTED AND FORFEITED UNDER THE EPSP (CONTINUED)



ANNUAL REPORT 2011/12   25

EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION FOR THE yEARS ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 AND 30 JUNE 2011

shoRt-teRm benefits
post-employment 

benefits long-teRm benefits
Salary  

anD FeeS
CaSh 

inCentiveS
non-monetary 

BeneFitS 1 other 2
SuPerannuation 

BeneFitS
DeFerreD  

inCentiveS3 other 4
termination 

BeneFitS 5
Share-BaSeD 

PaymentS 6
total  

remuneration
PerFormanCe 

relateD
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 %

executive director
Patrick Snowball 
2012  2,500  1,475  84 (13)  -  2,688  -  -  1,531  8,265  68.9 
2011  2,183  990  43 153  9  607  -  -  1,531  5,516  56.7 
Senior executives
Anthony Day
2012  737  549  5 20  16  307  -  -  258  1,892  58.9 
2011  656  455  2 11  16  245  -  -  179  1,564  56.2 
Gary Dransfield
2012  520  390  5 11  16  213  -  -  118  1,273  56.6 
2011 7  62  39  1 8 -  21  -  -  8  139  48.9 
David Foster
2012  752  553  3 (19)  16  310  15  -  491  2,121  63.8 
2011  716  504  1 25  25  271  18  -  464  2,024  61.2 
Mark Milliner
2012  787  575  5 38  16  324  20  -  512  2,277  62.0 
2011  760  556  2 (17)  16  299  21  -  485  2,122  63.1 
John Nesbitt
2012  869  637  8 (28)  16  358  -  -  845  2,705  68.0 
2011  812  611  3 20  19  329  -  -  737  2,531  66.3 
Amanda Revis 
2012  569  429  5 (20)  16  241  -  -  149  1,389  59.0 
2011 8  458  387  2 20  15  208  -  -  78  1,168  57.6 
Jeff Smith
2012  768  624  6 25  16  352  71  -  533  2,395  63.0 
2011  750  614  3 46  26  331  -  -  512  2,282  63.9 
Robert Stribling (retired 30 June 2012)
2012  608  647  9 (17)  16  359  -  -  406  2,028  69.6 
2011  552  436  3 3  50  235  -  -  65  1,344  54.7 
Geoff Summerhayes
2012  698  527  9 (8)  16  295  -  -  356  1,893  62.2 
2011  624  455  3 (1)  51  245  -  -  335  1,712  60.5 

1  Non-monetary benefits represents costs met by the Suncorp Group for airfares and insurances.
2 Other short-term benefits represent annual leave accrued during the year. 
3  The amount of deferred incentives awarded to the Group CEO and Senior Executives 

is recognised in full as there are no performance or service conditions required. The 
deferred incentive remuneration for Mr Snowball in 2012 includes the accelerated 
amortisation for the 2010 and 2011 deferred STI. The amortisation has been 
accelerated as the new contract entered into by Mr Snowball in August 2011 contains 
amended service conditions regarding the 2010 and 2011 deferred STI.

4 Other long-term benefits represent long service leave accrued during the year.
5  Termination benefits are paid in accordance with contractual commitments. Refer to section 2.10.
6  Equity-settled performance rights issued as LTI are expensed to the profit or loss based on their fair value at grant date over the period from grant date to vesting date. For cash-

settled performance rights, the fair value is remeasured at year end with changes in fair value recognised as an expense. The fair value is assessed using a Monte-Carlo model and 
reflects the fact that an individual’s entitlement to the shares is dependent on relative TSR performance. The assumptions underpinning these valuations are set out in note 12 to 
the financial statements. Mr Stribling is the only kMP with cash-settled LTI.

7  Mr Dransfield became a Senior Executive on 23 May 2011. Remuneration disclosed for 2011 relates only to his period in office. 
8  Ms Revis became a Senior Executive on 16 August 2010. Remuneration disclosed for 2011 relates only to her period in office. 
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2. exeCutive remuneration – auDiteD (ContinueD)  
2.10 ContRaCtual aRRangements
gRoup Ceo
Mr Snowball is employed by Suncorp Staff Pty Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Mr Snowball entered into a new  
contract with the Suncorp Group in August 2011. The key terms of this contract are outlined below. 

BeFore 1 SePtemBer 2011 From 1 SePtemBer 2011

Fixed remuneration $2,200,000 $2,550,000

Short-term incentive 
(Sti)

Target 100% of fixed remuneration 125% of fixed remuneration
Maximum 150% of fixed remuneration 150% of fixed remuneration
Deferral 50% of total STI awarded 50% of total STI awarded

long-term incentive  
(lti)

900,000 performance rights  
over three years
Initial Grant of 300,000 performance 
rights in October 2009; performance to 
be tested 30 September 20121

Proposed annual award of performance rights equivalent to 
$4,000,000 maximum value, subject to performance against hurdle 
over a three-year vesting period. New award to be granted after 
the Annual General Meeting (pending shareholder approval) based 
on volume weighted average share price in the 5 trading days 
before 1 September 2012.1

LTI awards for future years will be determined by the Board 
annually, and will be subject to shareholder approval.

1. See section 2.7 for details on the Group CEO’s current LTI arrangements and proposed LTI grant

NOTICE PERIODS

emPloyer-initiateD termination

In cases other than misconduct or other circumstances justifying summary dismissal 12 months
Where individual becomes incapacitated, is of unsound mind or health deteriorates to a certain degree 9 months
For poor performance 3 months
Misconduct or other circumstances justifying summary dismissal None
emPloyee-initiateD termination 6 months

When notice is required, the Suncorp Group may make a payment equal to a proportion of fixed remuneration which corresponds to the 
period for which notice is not given (subject to the Suncorp Group not being prohibited by law from making such a payment).

TREATMENT OF STI ON TERMINATION

emPloyer-initiateD termination

In cases other than 
misconduct or other 
circumstances justifying 
summary dismissal

The Board has the discretion  
to determine:
•  that any cash STI may be received, 

subject to performance.
•  that any deferred STI award will vest 

after the termination date at the end 
of the original deferral period and 
will be subject to potential clawback 
at such time, unless the Board 
exercises its discretion otherwise.

Where individual becomes 
incapacitated, is of unsound 
mind or health deteriorates to 
a certain degree

For poor performance Deferred STI award forfeited.

Misconduct or other 
circumstances justifying 
summary dismissal

emPloyee-initiateD termination

The Board has the discretion to determine:
•  that any cash STI may be received, subject to performance.
•  that any deferred STI award will generally vest after the termination 

date at the end of the original deferral period and will be subject 
to potential clawback at such time, unless the Board exercises its 
discretion otherwise.

The treatment of STI in the event of employee-initiated 
termination stated in the above table was changed as part of 
Mr Snowball’s new contract. Previous contractual arrangements 
required the forfeiture of STI under such circumstances. Where a 
change of control occurs, subject to the satisfaction of applicable 
performance measures, deferred STI and a pro-rata award of 
current year STI may be awarded.
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TREATMENT OF LTI ON TERMINATION

emPloyer-initiateD termination

In cases other than misconduct 
or other circumstances justifying 
summary dismissal

The Board has the discretion to 
determine that any unvested LTI 
performance rights under the 
Initial Grant will continue until the 
relevant vesting dates, subject to 
the performance measures1.

Where individual becomes 
incapacitated, is of unsound  
mind or health deteriorates  
to a certain degree
For poor performance Unvested awards under the Initial 

Grant forfeited.Misconduct or other circumstances 
justifying summary dismissal

emPloyee-initiateD termination

Unvested awards will be forfeited if Mr Snowball terminates the 
agreement on six months’ notice prior to 31 August 20142.

1.  In the case of the Initial Grant of performance rights, the number of performance rights 
that will continue to be available will depend on when the termination of employment 
occurs: after one year of service 300,000 will be available, after two years’ service 
600,000 will be available and after three years’ service 900,000 will be available.

2.  Applicable to the Initial Grant only. 

Where a change of control occurs, subject to the satisfaction of 
applicable performance measures, unvested LTI may vest pro-rata.

senioR exeCutives 
Senior Executives are employed by Suncorp Staff Pty Limited, 
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, under a standard 
employment contract with no fixed term (with the exception of  
Mr Stribling – see below for details). 

NOTICE PERIODS

emPloyer-initiateD termination

Misconduct or other circumstances justifying  
summary dismissal

None

All other cases excluding the above 12 months1

emPloyee-initiateD termination 3 months
reDunDanCy remuneration  
(inCluDing notiCe) 12 months2

1. Exception: Mr Stribling: 3 months
2.  Exceptions: Mr Summerhayes: Greater of 12 months or total benefit under the 

redundancy policy (maximum of 75 weeks including notice). Mr Stribling: None except 
if required by statute. 

The contracts may be terminated at any time provided that the 
notice period is given. The Suncorp Group may make a payment 
in lieu of notice of all or part of any notice period, calculated 
based on an individual’s fixed remuneration less superannuation 
contributions (subject to the Suncorp Group not being prohibited 
by law from making such a payment). Payment on termination will 
include payment of accrued annual leave and, where appropriate, 
long service leave.

TREATMENT OF STI ON TERMINATION

Misconduct or other 
circumstances justifying 
summary dismissal

No cash STI will be awarded and all 
unvested deferral is forfeited.

Resignation, redundancy  
or retirement

The Board has the discretion  
to determine:
•  any cash STI award may be received, 

subject to performance.
•  that any deferred STI award will 

generally vest after the termination 
date at the end of the original deferral 
period and will be subject to potential 
clawback at such time, unless the Board 
exercises its discretion otherwise.

All other cases  
excluding the above

Board discretion

TREATMENT OF LTI ON TERMINATION

Qualifying reason1 The Board has the discretion to determine 
that any unvested LTI performance 
rights will continue until the relevant 
vesting dates and remain subject to the 
performance measures, except that any 
allocation made will be pro-rated to 
reflect the proportion of the performance 
period actually worked, unless otherwise 
determined by the Board.

Non-qualifying reason Unvested awards are forfeited.

1.  Death, total and permanent disablement, retirement, redundancy as a result of a 
restructure within the Suncorp Group, or another reason as determined by the Board.

Where a change of control occurs, subject to the satisfaction of 
applicable performance measures, unvested LTI may vest pro-rata, 
subject to performance.

RETENTION INCENTIVE PAyMENT – ROBERT STRIBLING

Mr Stribling’s two-year fixed term contract ended on 4 January 2012. 
Mr Stribling entered into a new contract with the Suncorp Group 
effective 5 January 2012. The contract expired on 30 June 2012.

As the Board requested that Mr Stribling stay with Suncorp for an 
additional six months, his new contract provided for a retention 
incentive payment of $300,000 to be awarded on completion of 
the contract, subject to an assessment of performance during the 
period from 5 January to 30 June 2012 by the Group CEO. This 
was awarded in full, with 65% paid in cash and 35% deferred 
(refer to section 2.6). If Mr Stribling’s employment had terminated 
prior to 30 June 2012 for any reason other than retrenchment, no 
partial or pro-rata payment would have been made. 



Non-executive directors’ fees

0% 20%

Fees plus SGC paid 2012 Unused portion of shareholder 
approved maximum limit
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3.  non-exeCutive DireCtor  
arrangementS – auDiteD

3.1 RemuneRation stRuCtuRe
REMUNERATION POLICy

Remuneration arrangements for non-executive directors are 
designed to ensure the Suncorp Group can attract and retain 
suitably qualified and experienced directors. Arrangements are 
based on a number of factors, including requirements of the role, 
the size and complexity of the Suncorp Group and market practice.

FEE STRUCTURE

Shareholders have approved a maximum aggregate total 
remuneration limit of $3,500,000 for all non-executive directors. 
The superannuation guarantee contribution (SgC) payments for 
non-executive directors are included in the limit but retirement 
benefits are excluded. The Suncorp Group pays the SGC on behalf 
of all eligible non-executive directors. If a non-executive director 
ceases to be eligible for SGC payments, the equivalent amount is 
paid in fees. 

Non-executive directors receive fixed remuneration only, paid 
as directors’ fees and do not participate in performance-based 
incentive plans. 

The approved non-executive director fee structure for 2012 and 
2013 is set out in the table below. 

role 2012 anD 2013 Fee P.a.1 
$000

Chairman 570
Non-executive director base fee 207
Additional fee for Audit Committee Chairman 50
Additional fee for Audit Committee member 25
Additional fee for Risk Committee Chairman 50
Additional fee for Risk Committee member 25
Additional fee for Remuneration Committee Chairman 40
Additional fee for Remuneration Committee member 20
Additional fee for Chairmanship  
of New Zealand company boards 50
Additional fee for Chairmanship  
of New Zealand Joint Venture 50

1. Fees exclude SGC. 

3.2 non-exeCutive diReCtoRs’ shaRe plan (neDSP)
The NEDSP, established in November 2001 following shareholder 
approval, facilitates the purchase of shares by non-executive 
directors by nominating, on a voluntary basis, a percentage of 
their pre-tax remuneration to be used to purchase the Company’s 
shares on market at pre-determined dates. The purpose of the 
NEDSP is to provide Suncorp Group equity exposure for non-
executive directors.

The shares are fully vested and if acquired prior to 1 July 2009 can 
be held in the NEDSP for up to ten years from the date of purchase 
or until retirement, whichever occurs first. Shares acquired under 
the NEDSP after 1 July 2009 can be held for up to seven years. 

3.3  non-exeCutive diReCtoRs’  
RetiRement benefits

Prior to 2004, shareholders had approved a non-executive 
directors’ retirement plan (Plan) which entitled non-executive 
directors to be paid a retirement benefit based on the highest 
total emoluments paid to a non-executive director during any 
consecutive three-year period. 

In 2004, the Suncorp Group began to phase out retirement benefit 
arrangements in the following manner:

•  ceasing to offer retirement benefits to non-executive directors 
appointed after 30 June 2003

•  non-executive directors in office at 30 June 2003 (Participating 
Directors) remained contractually entitled to a retirement 
benefit. However, those non-executive directors agreed to 
cap their benefit entitlement as at 30 June 2004 and amortise 
their respective benefits entitlement from that date, over the 
period they remain in office, at a rate equivalent to 20% of 
their annual non-executive directors’ fees;

•  Participating Directors remain entitled to receive the greater of:

 –  the amortised balance of their retirement benefit at the 
date they retire from office; or

 –  an amount equal to 25% of the total emoluments they 
received as a non-executive director over the period from 
the date of their appointment as a director to 30 June 
2004 (minimum retirement Benefit).

During the course of the financial year ended 30 June 2009, 
the Minimum Retirement Benefit limit was reached for all 
Participating Directors. Therefore no further amortisation of 
retirement benefits occurred after this date.

The remaining Participating Director in office during the financial 
year retired in October 2011. The amount of retirement benefits 
paid to the Participating Director under the terms of the Plan are 
included in the table in section 3.4.
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3.4 non-exeCutive diReCtoRs’ RemuneRation disClosuRes
Details of non-executive directors’ remuneration for 2012 and 2011 are set out in the table below. 

shoRt-teRm benefits post-employment benefits

Salary anD FeeS non-monetary BeneFitS1 SuPerannuation BeneFitS retirement BeneFitS2 total3

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

non-executive directors in office as at 30 June 2012
Dr Zygmunt Switkowski (Chairman from 27 October 2011)
2012  500  1  16  -  517 
2011  250  1  22  -  273 
Ilana Atlas
2012  266  1  24  -  291 
2011  125  -  11  -  136 
William Bartlett
2012  275  1  25  -  301 
2011  244  1  22  -  267 
Michael Cameron (appointed 16 April 2012)
2012  44  -  4  -  48 
2011  -  -  -  -  - 
Audette Exel (appointed 27 June 2012)
2012  2  -  -  -  2 
2011  -  -  -  -  - 
Ewoud kulk
2012  311  1  45  -  357 
2011  261  1  45  -  307 
Dr Douglas McTaggart (appointed 16 April 2012)
2012  46  -  4  -  50 
2011  -  -  -  -  - 
Geoffrey Ricketts
2012  274  1  25  -  300 
2011  250  1  22  -  273 

non-executive directors retired/resigned during 2012
John Story (Chairman until retirement on 27 October 2011)
2012  184  -  17  241  442 
2011  550  1  50  -  601 
Paula Dwyer (resigned 28 February 2012) 4

2012  195  -  12  -  207 
2011  263  1  15  -  279 
Stuart Grimshaw (resigned 23 August 2011)
2012  43  -  4  -  47 
2011  245  1  22  -  268 

1 The non-executive directors receive a non-monetary benefit in relation to a proportion of the directors’ and officers’ insurance policy premium pro-rated for time in office. The amounts for both the current and prior year are below $1,000 per individual.
2 Represents the value of retirement benefit payments in 2012. There are no further retirement benefits payable to non-executive directors.
3 None of the remuneration paid to non-executive directors is performance-based, refer to section 3.1.
4 Ms Dwyer received an additional payment of $20,000 in 2012 in relation to services provided to an ad hoc committee.
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Lead Auditor’s 
Independence Declaration

This Report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Dr Zygmunt e Switkowski    Patrick J r Snowball
Chairman         Managing Director  
           and Group CEO

22 August 2012

lead auditoR’s independenCe deClaRation undeR 
seCtion 307C of the Corporations aCt 2001 to the 
diReCtoRs of sunCoRp gRoup limited

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the 
audit for the financial year ended 30 June 2012 there have been:

•  no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out 
in the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

•  no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in 
relation to the audit.

KPmg

Paul reid
Partner

Brisbane 
22 August 2012

Liability limited by a scheme approved 
under Professional Standards Legislation.

kPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the kPMG network  
of independent member firms affiliated with kPMG International Cooperative 
(“kPMG International”), a Swiss entity.
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Corporate Governance Statement 

The Board of Directors of Suncorp Group Limited (the Company) 
is responsible for the corporate governance of the Company and 
its subsidiaries (the Suncorp group). This Statement outlines 
the principal corporate governance practices and policies that the 
Board has established to ensure the interests of shareholders are 
protected, and the confidence of the investment market in the 
Company is maintained. 

These practices and policies were in place throughout the 2012 
financial year (unless otherwise stated) and are current as at the 
date of this Statement, which is 22 August 2012. 

In establishing the corporate governance framework, the Board 
has considered various governance standards, including the 
Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (2nd 
edition with 2010 amendments) (recommendations) as 
published by the Australian Securities Exchange (aSx). The 
Recommendations articulate core principles and practices 
that the ASX Corporate Governance Council believes underlie 
good corporate governance and all listed companies are 
required to disclose the extent to which they depart from these 
Recommendations. The Suncorp Group’s corporate governance 
policies, procedures and practices have been developed and 
implemented by the Board and management over many years and 
are consistent with the Recommendations. 

During the financial year ended 30 June 2012 there were  
no departures from the Recommendations which should be 
disclosed to shareholders. 

The Recommendations, and the relevant sections of this 
Statement which address each of the Recommendations,  
are summarised in the following table.

PrinCiPleS anD reCommenDationS relevant SeCtion(S) ComPly?

Principle 1 – lay solid foundations for management and oversight
1.1 Establish and disclose the functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to Senior Executives. Parts 1.1 and 3.1 yes
1.2 Disclose the process for evaluating the performance of Senior Executives. Part 3.2 yes
1.3 Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 1. Parts 1.2, 3.1 and 3.2 yes

Principle 2 – Structure the Board to add value
2.1 A majority of the Board should be independent directors. Part 1.5 yes
2.2 The chairman should be an independent director. Parts 1.3 and 1.5 yes
2.3 The roles of chairman and Chief Executive Officer should not be exercised by the same individual. Part 1.3 yes

2.4 The Board should establish a Nomination Committee consisting of a minimum of three members,  
the majority being independent directors. Part 2.3 yes

2.5 Disclose the process for evaluating the performance of the Board, its committees and  
individual directors. Parts 1.9 and 2.2 yes

2.6 Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 2. Parts 1.3, 1.5, 1.8, 1.9, 
2 and 2.2

yes

Principle 3 – Promote ethical and responsible decision-making
3.1 Establish a code of conduct to guide the Board and Senior Executives as to:

3.1.1  the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the Company’s integrity
3.1.2  the practices necessary to take into account their legal obligations and the reasonable  

expectations of stakeholders, and
3.1.3  the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and investigating reports of  

unethical practices.

Part 5.3 yes

3.2 Establish a policy concerning diversity and disclose the policy or a summary of the policy. Part 5.4 yes
3.3 Disclose the measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity set by the Board. Part 5.4 yes

3.4 Disclose the proportion of women employees in the whole organisation, women in Senior Executive 
positions and women on the Board. Part 5.4 yes

3.5 Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 3. Part 5.3, 5.4 yes

Principle 4 – Safeguard integrity in financial reporting
4.1 The Board should establish an Audit Committee. Part 2 yes
4.2 Structure the Audit Committee so that it:

• consists only of non-executive directors
• consists of a majority of independent directors
• is chaired by an independent chairman, who is not a chairman of the Board; and
• has at least three members.

Part 2.3 yes

4.3 The Audit Committee should have a formal charter. Part 2.1 yes
4.4 Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 4. Parts 2 and 4.4 yes
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PrinCiPleS anD reCommenDationS (ContinueD) relevant SeCtion(S) ComPly?

Principle 5 – make timely and balanced disclosure
5.1 Establish and disclose written policies and procedures designed to ensure accountability at a Senior 

Executive level for compliance with ASX disclosure requirements.
Part 5.5 yes

5.2 Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 5. Part 5.5 yes

Principle 6 – respect the rights of shareholders
6.1 Design and disclose a communications strategy to promote effective communication with shareholders 

and encourage effective participation at general meetings.
Part 5.5 yes

6.2 Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 6. Part 5.5 yes

Principle 7 – recognise and manage risk
7.1 Establish policies for the oversight and management of material business risks and disclose a summary 

of those policies.
Part 4  yes 

7.2 
 

Require management to design and implement the risk management and internal control system to 
manage the Company’s material business risks and report to the Board on whether those risks are being 
managed effectively.

Parts 3.1, 4.1, 4.2 and 
4.3 

yes 
 

7.3 
 

Disclose whether the Board has received assurance from the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief 
Financial Officer that the declaration provided under s295A of the Corporations Act 2001 is founded 
on a sound system of risk management and internal control that is operating effectively in all material 
respects in relation to financial reporting risks.

Part 4.2 
 

yes 
 

7.4 Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 7. Part 4 yes

Principle 8 – remunerate fairly and responsibly
8.1 The Board should establish a Remuneration Committee. Part 2 yes
8.2 Structure the Remuneration Committee so that it:

• consists of a majority of independent directors
• is chaired by an independent chairman, and
• has at least three members.

Parts 2, 2.3 and 5.1 yes

8.3 Distinguish the structure of non-executive directors’ remuneration from that of executive directors and  
Senior Executives.

Part 5.1 yes

8.4 Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 8. Parts 2 and 5.1 yes

Further information is available on the Company’s website at www.suncorpgroup.com.au. 

Part 1. BoarD oF DireCtorS 
1.1 Role of the boaRd 
The Board is accountable to shareholders for the Suncorp Group’s 
performance and has overall responsibility for the Group’s operations. 

The Suncorp Group conducts a diverse and complex range of 
business including general insurance, banking and life insurance, 
which means an important feature of the Board’s work is to 
monitor compliance with the prudential and solvency requirements 
of the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (aPra). 

Therefore, directors of the Company also undertake roles as 
directors of Australian Associated Motor Insurers Limited, 
Australian Alliance Insurance Company Limited, Suncorp 
Insurance Holdings Limited, Suncorp Metway Insurance Limited, 
Suncorp-Metway Limited, GIO General Limited, Suncorp Life & 
Superannuation Limited and Vero Insurance Limited, which are 
all subject to APRA regulation. The directors of the Company also 
undertook roles as directors of Asteron Life Limited (up to and 
including 24 May 2012) which was subject to APRA regulation 
up to the date of the surrender of its life licence on 4 May 2012 
(following the transfer of its life business to Suncorp Life & 
Superannuation Limited).

The Suncorp Group’s operations also extend to New Zealand 
and Mr Geoffrey Ricketts, a director of Suncorp Group Limited, 
was also a director and Chairman of the Group’s major operating 
entities in New Zealand over the course of the year. 
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1.2 Responsibilities of the boaRd 
The Board has adopted a Board Charter, which sets out the 
principles for the operation of the Board of Directors and provides 
a description of the functions and responsibilities of the Board and 
the functions delegated to management. A copy of that charter is 
available on the Company’s website under ‘Governance’. The key 
functions of the Board are summarised below: 

•  approve the strategic direction and related objectives for the 
Suncorp Group 

•  approve annual budgets, dividend policy and dividend payments

•  monitor the Suncorp Group’s financial performance and 
executive management performance in the implementation 
and achievement of strategic and business objectives

•  review and as appropriate approve management proposals 
regarding acquisitions and divestitures of companies, 
businesses and functions

•  review and approve Suncorp Group capital management policies 
and plans, having regard for the various liquidity and capital 
adequacy regulatory requirements applying to the Suncorp Group 

•  monitor the process whereby business risks are identified 
and approve systems and controls to manage those risks and 
monitor compliance 

•  appoint and remove the Group CEO and approve the 
appointment and removal of Senior Executives reporting 
directly to the Group CEO (Senior leadership team) 

•  approve the remuneration arrangements of the Group CEO and 
Senior Leadership Team, including measures of performance, 
and performance targets, and manage succession plans for 
the Group CEO

•  determine and approve the level of authority to be granted to 
the Group CEO in respect of operating and capital expenditure 
and credit facilities 

•  authorise the further delegation of those authorities to 
management by the Group CEO; and 

•  approve major operating and capital expenditure and credit 
facilities in excess of the limits delegated to management. 

1.3 Composition of the boaRd
The Company’s Constitution and Board Charter contain the 
following guidelines on Board composition:

•  the Board shall comprise no more than 13 directors and no 
fewer than seven 

•  a majority of directors must be independent, non-executive 
directors, and 

•  the directors shall appoint, as Chairman of the Board, one of 
the non-executive directors deemed by the Board to  
be independent. 

At the date of this Statement, the Board comprises eight non-
executive, independent directors and one executive director, 
the Group CEO, Patrick Snowball. The names of the directors, 
including details of their qualifications and experience, are set out 
in the Directors’ Report. 

The composition of the Board is subject to review in a number  
of ways, as outlined below: 

•  The Company’s Constitution provides that at every Annual 
General Meeting one third of the directors, excluding the Group 
CEO, shall retire from office but may stand for re-election. 

  Directors offering themselves for re-election are subject to 
a performance assessment, conducted by the Nomination 
Committee at the end of the financial year immediately 
preceding the director’s retirement date. That assessment 
is based largely on the outcomes of the annual Board 
appraisal which includes assessments of individual 
director performance.

  Subject to the outcome of that assessment, the Board then 
confirms to shareholders whether it supports the re-election 
of each retiring director in a statement that accompanies the 
Notice of Meeting.

•  Board composition is reviewed periodically by the Nomination 
Committee, either when a vacancy arises, if it is considered 
that the Board would benefit from the services of a new director 
given the Board’s existing mix of skills and experience, or as part 
of the ongoing process of Board succession planning. 

  The Board considers it important to maintain an appropriate 
mix between long serving directors with established 
knowledge of the Suncorp Group’s businesses and corporate 
history, and new directors who bring new perspectives to 
the role. Over the course of the year, Mr Stuart Grimshaw 
resigned as a director (23 August 2011), Mr John Story 
retired as Chairman and director (27 October 2011), Ms Paula 
Dwyer resigned as a director (28 February 2012), Mr Michael 
Cameron and Dr Douglas McTaggart were each appointed as 
a director (16 April 2012), and Ms Audette Exel was appointed 
as a director (27 June 2012).

  The period of office held by each of the directors as at the 
date of this Statement is as follows:

DireCtor
term in oFFiCe 
(SunCorP grouP)

Dr Zygmunt Switkowski (Chairman) 6 years 11 months
Ms IIana Atlas 1 year 7 months
Mr William Bartlett 9 years 2 months
Mr Michael Cameron 4 months
Ms Audette Exel 2 months
Mr Ewoud Kulk 5 years 5 months
Dr Douglas McTaggart 4 months
Mr Geoffrey Ricketts 5 years 5 months
Mr Patrick Snowball 2 years 11 months

•  A Board appraisal is conducted annually which includes an 
assessment of future requirements in relation to Board composition 
and overall Board performance. The appraisal process for the Board 
is set out in greater detail later in this section.

Once it has been determined by the Nomination Committee that a 
new director is to be appointed, a search is undertaken for suitable 
candidates, based on selection criteria determined by the Board 
and utilising the services of external consultants. Nominations are 
subsequently received and reviewed by the Board. 
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Part 1. BoarD oF DireCtorS (ContinueD)
1.4 meetings of the boaRd
The Board generally meets monthly to consider matters relevant 
to the Suncorp Group’s operations and performance; however, 
additional meetings are also held as required. The Board also 
meets with Senior Executives at least twice a year to consider 
matters of strategic importance to the Suncorp Group. 

Senior Executives are invited to attend meetings where matters 
relevant to their respective business unit are to be considered. 
Immediately following each meeting of directors, the non-
executive directors meet in the absence of the executive director 
and any other management representatives. 

The number of meetings of directors held over the course of the 
year and details of directors’ attendance at those meetings are 
provided in the Directors’ Report.

1.5 diReCtoR independenCe 
As noted in 1.3 above, the Board must comprise a majority of 
non-executive directors who are independent. In line with the 
Recommendations, the Board will consider a director to be 
independent if he or she is not a member of management and is free 
of any interest and any business or other relationship which could, 
or could reasonably be perceived to, materially interfere with the 
director’s ability to act in the best interests of the Company. 

When assessing whether a director has any relationships 
that could affect the director’s independence, the Board 
considers a number of factors which are consistent with the 
Recommendations. The Board takes a qualitative approach to 
materiality and assesses independence on a case-by-case basis by 
reference to each director’s particular circumstances rather than 
applying strict quantitative thresholds.

The following factors and relationships are considered by the 
Board in assessing whether a director is independent: 

•  being a substantial shareholder of the Company or of a 
company that has a substantial shareholding in the Company, 
or being an officer of, or being otherwise associated with, 
either directly or indirectly, a substantial shareholder 

•  being employed in an executive capacity by the Suncorp Group 
within the last three years 

•  being a principal of a material professional adviser or a material 
consultant to the Suncorp Group, within the last three years 

•  being, or being associated with, a material supplier or 
customer of the Suncorp Group 

•  being in a material contractual relationship with the Suncorp 
Group other than as a director of the Company; and 

•  having any other interest or relationship that could materially 
interfere with the director’s ability to act in the best interests 
of the Company and independently of management. 

As at the date of this Statement, the Board considers all of the 
current non-executive directors to be independent. In reaching this 
view, the following matters were taken into consideration:

•  Mr Geoffrey Ricketts was a director until 16 August 2012 of 
Spotless Group Limited, the parent entity of a company that 
provided catering services to the Suncorp Group over the 
course of the year. The contractual arrangements between 
the Company and Spotless Services Australia Limited were in 
place prior to the date Mr Ricketts joined the Suncorp Board.

•  Mr Ricketts also acted as a consultant for Russell McVeagh, 
Solicitors (NZ), which provided legal services to the Suncorp 
Group throughout the year.

The Board does not believe these relationships could affect Mr 
Ricketts’ independence in relation to any matter other than in the 
selection of a service provider. However, the selection of a service 
provider, other than for the provision of audit services or for 
matters of a strategic nature, is the responsibility of management 
and such decisions are made in the ordinary course of business, 
without any reference to any directors or the Board. 

Accordingly, the Board has determined that, with respect to the 
above circumstances, none of the services provided were or are 
deemed material.

1.6 ConfliCts of inteRest
Determinations regarding independence do not change a director’s 
obligations in managing any conflict of interest that may arise 
between their duties as a director of the Company and their other 
interests and duties. 

To ensure that any actual or potential conflict of interest is 
appropriately managed, the following procedures have been 
adopted by the Board: 

•  directors are required to keep the Board advised, on an 
ongoing basis, of any interest that could potentially conflict 
with those of the Suncorp Group; and

•  where the Board believes a conflict exists, the director 
concerned is not to take part in any decision associated with 
the matter, including, as appropriate, not receiving the relevant 
Board papers, not being present at the meeting when the item 
is considered and not being informed of the decision taken.

1.7 induCtion and eduCation
The Company has an induction process for new directors which 
includes meeting with the Group CEO, members of the Senior 
Leadership Team and other senior managers about the nature of 
the business, current issues and the corporate strategy. 

These meetings are held soon after a director’s appointment to  
the Board. 

Ongoing education for directors is provided through regular 
management presentations on certain key functions or business 
activities from across the Suncorp Group. The external auditors 
and industry experts also address the Board from time to time  
on matters relevant to the Suncorp Group’s business or its 
operating environment. 

Most of the topics presented to the Board are determined in 
advance and form part of the annual meeting schedule.
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Also, to ensure directors remain equally informed on all material 
matters impacting on the Suncorp Group’s businesses, copies of 
the agendas and submissions for Board committee meetings are 
provided to all directors, and non-executive directors may attend 
meetings of any committee of which they are not a member. 

1.8  aCCess to infoRmation and  
independent adviCe 

Directors have unrestricted access to Company records and 
receive regular financial and operational reports from senior 
management for consideration at meetings of directors. Also, each 
director has entered into a deed with the Company that provides 
for access to documents, in certain circumstances, following their 
retirement as a director.

In accordance with the terms of its charter, the Board collectively, 
and each director individually, may take, at the Company’s 
expense, such independent professional advice as is considered 
necessary to fulfil their relevant duties and responsibilities. A 
director seeking such advice must obtain the approval of the 
Chairman and such approval may not be unreasonably withheld. 
A copy of any advice received by a director is made available to 
all other members of the Board except where the circumstances 
make that inappropriate. 

1.9 boaRd appRaisal 
A performance appraisal of the Board is conducted annually. 
An independent consultant is engaged to facilitate the process, 
usually every second year, and the Chairman of the Board 
conducts the appraisal every other year. 

However, the same methodology and processes (as summarised 
below) are followed for both internal and external reviews. 

The appraisal includes completion of a questionnaire by, and/
or interviews with, each director and Senior Executive, the main 
objectives being to: 

•  assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole in meeting 
the requirements of its charter

•  assess the performance and contributions of individual 
directors, including the Chairman, in assisting the Board  
to fulfil its role; and 

•  identify Board processes and structures that require improvement. 

The questionnaire results (if applicable) and a summary of the views 
expressed during the interviews in relation to each of the above 
matters, or any other matters that directors believe are relevant, 
are provided to directors in a report prepared by the consultants or 
the Chairman. The Board as a whole discusses the report and any 
recommendations for change or improvement are agreed. 

Progress against each of the recommendations is assessed in 
subsequent Board reviews. In the years when the questionnaire is 
completed by an independent consultant, the results may also be 
benchmarked against other companies. 

Following the interview process, the Chairman may also 
meet with individual directors to discuss any issues that may 
have arisen during the interview stage in relation to that 
director’s performance. 

Since the last performance appraisal of the Board conducted by an 
external consultant in 2011 the Board composition has undergone 
significant change. Consequently, having regard to the number of 
changes to Board membership that have occurred progressively 
over the course of the year and the associated review of the 
Board’s existing mix of skills and experience undertaken by the 
Nomination Committee in selecting the new directors, a further 
Board performance review for the financial year ended 30 June 
2012, which was to be conducted by the Chairman, was deemed 
not necessary.

Part 2.  BoarD CommitteeS anD  
neW ZealanD SuBSiDiarieS 

2.1 boaRd Committees 
In order to provide adequate time for the Board to concentrate on 
strategy, planning and performance enhancement, the Board has 
delegated certain specific duties to its Board committees. To this 
end, four Board committees have been established to assist and 
support the Board in the conduct of its duties and obligations. 

The committees form an important part of the Suncorp Group’s 
overall governance structure and therefore non-executive directors 
may attend meetings of any committee of which they are not a 
member. Each committee has its own Board-approved charter 
which defines the relevant committee’s roles and responsibilities. 
Copies of the charters are available on the Company’s website at 
www.suncorpgroup.com.au.

The number of committee meetings held over the year and details 
of directors’ attendance at those meetings are provided in the 
Directors’ Report.

2.2 boaRd Committee appRaisals
The performance of the Audit, Risk and Remuneration committees 
are subject to an annual assessment of their effectiveness in 
meeting the requirements of their charters. The assessments are 
based on the results of questionnaires/checklists completed by 
each committee. The results are collated and a report submitted 
to the Board for consideration. On the basis of that assessment, 
committee membership and structure is confirmed or amended. 

Assessments of the Audit, Risk and Remuneration Committees 
were conducted in accordance with the above process for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2012. The performance of the 
Nomination Committee is reviewed as part of the Board appraisal, 
on the basis that all non-executive directors are members of the 
Nomination Committee.
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Part 2.  BoarD CommitteeS anD neW ZealanD SuBSiDiarieS (ContinueD)
2.3 Composition of boaRd Committees
Committee memBerS anD ComPoSition role

audit The members of the Audit Committee are:

•  Mr G Ricketts (appointed 28 October 2011)

•  Mr W Bartlett (appointed Chairman 29 March 2012) 

•  Dr D McTaggart (appointed 13 June 2012)

Dr Z Switkowski is an ex-officio member of the Audit Committee.

Mr S Grimshaw (resigned 23 August 2011)

Ms P Dwyer (resigned 28 February 2012)

At the date of this Statement, the qualifications of the members of the 
Audit Committee satisfy the requirements of the ASX guidelines. Details  
of those qualifications are provided in the Directors’ Report. 

At all times throughout the reporting period, the members of the Audit 
Committee were all non-executive directors. 

However, the Group CEO, Group Chief Financial Officer (group CFo), 
and the internal and external auditor are invited to meetings at the Audit 
Committee’s discretion. 

The Audit Committee also holds discussions with the auditors in the 
absence of management on a regular basis.

The primary role of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its statutory and fiduciary responsibilities with respect to 
oversight of the Suncorp Group’s financial and operational control environment. 

Specific issues addressed by the Audit Committee throughout the year, in accordance with its charter, included: 

•  reviewing statutory reports and returns for lodgement with APRA 

•  reviewing half-year and annual financial statements and reports prior to consideration by the Board 

•  reviewing and assessing reports from management, the Appointed Actuary (general insurance) and the Appointed Actuary  
(life insurance), the Reviewing Actuary and the external auditors in relation to matters impacting on the half-year and annual 
financial statements 

•  audit planning – reviewing and approving audit plans as submitted by both internal and external auditors and agreeing areas of audit 
emphasis and audit approach

•  reviewing the provision of non-audit services by the external auditor to assess whether there is any potential impact on the auditor’s 
independence; and 

•  reviewing internal and external audit reports and where weaknesses in controls or procedures have been identified, assessing 
whether remedial action taken by management is adequate and appropriate.

risk The members of the Risk Committee are: 

•  Mr E Kulk (Chairman)

•  Ms I Atlas

•  Mr W Bartlett (appointed 28 October 2011)

Dr Z Switkowski is an ex-officio member of the Risk Committee.

Mr S Grimshaw (resigned 23 August 2011)

The Group CEO, the Group CFO and the Group Chief Risk Officer  
(group Cro) are invited to meetings at the Risk Committee’s discretion. 

The role of the Risk Committee is to provide the Board with oversight across the Suncorp Group for all categories of risk, through the 
identification, assessment and management of risk and monitoring adherence to internal risk management policies and procedures.

Specific issues addressed and activities undertaken by the Risk Committee throughout the year, in accordance with its charter, included:

•  review and approve the Suncorp Group’s Risk Management Framework

•  review and confirm the Suncorp Group’s risk appetite

•  review Line of Business risk reports and assess performance against risk appetite

•  review and approve stress test scenarios

•  oversight of the risk appetite, business planning and capital management development process

•  review and approve Suncorp Group policy framework and policy suite; and

•  review and approve risk management strategies and reinsurance management strategies as required by APRA.

remuneration The members of the Remuneration Committee are:

• Ms I Atlas (Chairman)

• Mr W Bartlett 

• Mr E Kulk 

Dr Z Switkowski is an ex-officio member of the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on: 

•  the individual remuneration arrangements of the Group CEO, executives and person(s) or category of persons that may be specified by APRA 

•  the size of the annual bonus/incentive pools

•  the remuneration of non-executive directors; and

•  the remuneration structure of the categories of persons covered by the Company’s remuneration policy. 
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2.4 new Zealand subsidiaRies 
The Suncorp Group’s major operating entities in New Zealand 
include Vero Insurance New Zealand Limited (vero nZ) and 
Asteron Life Limited (asteron life). Governance oversight of 
these companies is provided through the respective board of 
directors, which in the case of Vero NZ and Asteron Life, comprise 
independent non-executive directors, including Mr Geoffrey 
Ricketts, a director of the Company. Mr Ricketts is the Chairman of 
the board of each of the above companies. 

Part 3. Senior exeCutiveS
3.1 funCtions delegated to management
The Board has delegated the following functions to management: 

•  development of corporate strategies and business plans in 
consultation with directors and implementing the corporate 
strategies approved by the Board 

•  making recommendations to the Board on significant strategic 
and business initiatives

•  making recommendations to the Board or relevant Board 
committee on appointments to senior management roles

•  development and maintenance of succession plans for senior 
management roles

•  development of an annual budget for consideration by the 
Board and then to conduct the Suncorp Group’s business 
activities within the approved budget limits

•  development and maintenance of risk management systems and 
frameworks as approved by the Board or Risk Committee; and

•  managing the business in accordance with regulatory and 
legislative requirements and within the Suncorp Group’s 
approved policy and procedures framework.

3.2 senioR exeCutive peRfoRmanCe assessment
A system of balanced scorecards is used to establish performance 
measures and to monitor the performance of Senior Executives 
(including the Group CEO, the Senior Leadership Team and their 
direct reports) against those measures.

The performance measures contained in the scorecards are a 
mixture of financial and non-financial indicators and risk-related 
measures that align with the Suncorp Group and Business Unit 
business plans approved by the Board, and reflect the individual 
executive’s overall accountabilities and responsibilities.

The Suncorp Group’s performance management system also 
requires leaders to balance the scorecard result with the manner 
in which the results were obtained, as the overall performance of 
each Senior Executive is assessed having regard to the corporate 
values and the general manner in which the Senior Executive is 
seen to be supporting the desired corporate culture.

At the end of the financial year, the Group CEO conducts an 
assessment of the performance of each Senior Leadership 
Team member, relative to the balanced scorecard measures and 
peer group performance, in the context of industry and market 
conditions. Those assessments are submitted to the Remuneration 
Committee for review prior to submission to the Board as part of 
the remuneration review process.

The Group CEO’s performance is subject to assessment by the Board 
at the end of the financial year. The Chairman then communicates 
the review outcomes as agreed by the Board to the Group CEO.

The Senior Executive performance assessments for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2012 were conducted in accordance with the 
arrangements described above.

3.3  senioR exeCutive induCtion  
and eduCation pRoCesses

When a new employee is appointed to a Senior Executive role 
within the Suncorp Group, they receive information and training  
on the Suncorp Group’s key policies, practices and procedures as 
well as information relevant to the role they will be performing 
and the management and business structure within which they 
will be operating. 

Committee memBerS anD ComPoSition role

nomination The Nomination Committee comprises all the non-executive directors. 

Dr Z Switkowski is the Chairman of the Committee.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for: 

•  reviewing Board composition

•  recommending the appointment of directors

•  approving appointments to Board committees

•  planning Board succession; and 

•  approving the Board performance evaluation process.
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3.3  senioR exeCutive induCtion and eduCation 

pRoCesses (Continued)
Persons appointed to Senior Executive roles, whether they are 
new or existing employees, are expected to have the qualifications 
and industry experience necessary to perform properly the 
particular duties and responsibilities of their role and to maintain 
those qualifications and expertise while they remain in that role. 
This is also a requirement under the APRA prudential standards 
which apply to all of the Suncorp Group’s major operating entities. 

Under the APRA Fit and Proper Prudential Standard, the Group 
must maintain a Fitness and Propriety Policy, designed to assist 
in managing risks associated with the appointment of persons 
to roles that have a significant impact on the sound and prudent 
management of the Suncorp Group. 

Under the Group’s Fitness and Propriety Policy, all Senior 
Executives and directors are subject to a formal assessment 
process at the time of appointment and on an annual basis 
thereafter, to confirm they possess and have maintained the 
necessary skills, knowledge and expertise to undertake and fulfil 
the particular duties and responsibilities of the position they hold 
within the APRA-regulated entity.

The Suncorp Group supports Senior Executives and other 
employees in maintaining and enhancing their industry  
and business knowledge and expertise, and associated 
professional qualifications.

Part 4. riSK management 
4.1 enteRpRise Risk management fRamewoRk
Risk within the Suncorp Group is defined as any threat to the 
achievement of the Suncorp Group’s objectives.

The Suncorp Group has adopted a risk management framework, 
incorporating the risk governance frameworks, policies, processes 
and practices which govern the monitoring, management, control 
and reporting of risks inherent within the business operations. The 
risk management framework is approved by the Risk Committee, 
and reviewed and updated on an annual basis.

4.1.1 REGULATORS

The Suncorp Group is a diversified financial services conglomerate, 
operating within the general insurance, banking and wealth 
management sectors and is therefore subject to APRA’s prudential 
regulation framework. Accordingly, prudential requirements such 
as maintaining Board-approved risk management strategies and 
reinsurance management strategies form part of the risk management 
framework. Also, many of the Group’s legal entities hold an Australian 
Financial Services Licence regulated by the Australian Securities 
and Investments Commission (ASIC) as part of the authorisation 
required for the provision of financial products or services.

4.1.2 RISK APPETITE 

Risk appetite represents the nature and level of risk that the Board 
is willing to accept in the pursuit of strategic objectives. 

The Board recognises the importance of risk appetite as a key 
component of setting the strategic direction of the Company; 
however, it is also acknowledged that risk appetite is not 
something fixed and rigid. Rather, it is dynamic, evolving through 
time, and responding to a number of different drivers. These 
drivers include: capital strength; underlying performance of the 
business; staff capability and capacity; culture; systems capability; 
competitor behaviour; and macro-economic forces.

Critically linked to capital management, risk appetite is set at 
both the Suncorp Group and Line of Business levels, with risk 
articulated in the form of: 

•  quantitative measures: such as appetite and tolerance for 
volatility in capital and earnings, which are measures that relate 
directly to business plans, risk limits and stress test scenarios

•  qualitative considerations: which underpin the way risk is 
managed across the Group; and

•  zero tolerance: areas where the Board has no appetite for risk.

When approving the Suncorp Group risk appetite, the Board considers:

•  the competing requirements and constraints imposed by key 
stakeholders and the current risk profile of the Group

•  the strategic direction of the Suncorp Group and the future 
capital needs based on these strategies; and

•  the potential impact of significant and plausible stress 
scenarios to the Group’s overall financial position.

Risk Appetite Statements have been further developed during 
the year with each Line of Business adopting a Statement that 
builds on the Group Risk Appetite Statement and provides 
tangible statements of risk preference. The Business Unit Line of 
Business Risk Appetite Statements were approved by the Board in 
conjunction with Business Plans in May 2012.

4.1.3 RISK CATEGORISATION AND POLICy SETTING

The universe of risks managed by the Group includes strategic, 
compliance, credit, market, balance sheet, liquidity, insurance and 
operational risk. Policies, procedures, limits and other controls are 
in place either at the Group or Line of Business level to manage 
these risks and align them with the Group’s risk appetite, as 
depicted in the following table.
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CounterParty riSK

The risk that a borrower or counterparty will not meet its obligations in accordance with agreed terms. Counterparty risk arises in Banking through lending and trading counterparties. In General Insurance and Life,  
counterparty risk arises as a result of receivables due from policyowners and intermediaries, the placement of reinsurance programs with counterparties and investment in financial instruments.
Counterparty Risk Management Policy Bank Credit Risk Management Policy Investment Mandates (General Insurance and Life)
Bank Netting Policy Intra-Group Transactions and Exposures Policy Dealings with Related Entities Policy

marKet riSK

The risk of unfavourable changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity prices, credit spreads, market volatilities and liquidity. Market risk arises from exposures to interest rates and foreign exchange rates in trading and non-trading 
activities in Banking. Market risk in General Insurance and Life arises from the risk of adverse movements in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity prices, credit spreads and prices of other financial contracts, including derivatives.
Traded Market Risk Policy (Bank) Investment Mandates (General Insurance and Life) Foreign Exchange Policy

aSSet anD liaBility riSK

The risk to earnings and capital from mismatches between assets and liabilities with varying maturity and repricing profiles and from mismatches in term. Asset and Liability risk arises at a Group level from the structure and 
characteristics of assets and liabilities and in the mismatch of their repricing dates.
Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book Policy (Bank) Investment Mandates (General Insurance and Life) Bank Securitisation Policy
Bank Covered Bonds Policy

liquiDity riSK

The risk that the Suncorp Group will be unable to service its cash flow obligations today or in the future. In Banking, liquidity risk arises from mismatches in the cash flows of financial transactions or the inability of financial 
markets to absorb the transactions of the Bank. In General Insurance and Life, liquidity risk arises from the requirement to make claim payments in a timely manner.
Group Liquidity Management Policy Investment Mandates (General Insurance and Life) Bank Liquidity Policy

inSuranCe riSK

The risk of financial loss and the inability to meet liabilities due to inadequate or inappropriate insurance product design, pricing, underwriting, concentration risk, reserving, claims management or reinsurance management. 
Insurance risk arises in General Insurance and Life due to risks relating to the uncertainty of cash flows from insurance contracts.
Insurance Risk Policy (General Insurance) Reinsurance Programmes (General Insurance and Life) Investment Mandates (General Insurance and Life)

oPerational riSK

The risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from external events. These include internal and external fraud, system failure, natural disasters, business interruption, risks associated 
with business practices, vendors, suppliers, service providers, employment practices and workplace safety.
Operational Risk Policy Business Continuity Policy Financial Crimes Policy 
Procurement Policy Outsourcing Policy Information Management and Security Policy

Project and Portfolio Management Policy Product Approval Policy Human Resource Policies

Delegation of Authority Policy Health and Safety Policies Sanctions Policy

ComPlianCe riSK

The risk of legal or regulatory sanctions, financial loss or reputational damage the Suncorp Group may suffer as a result of its failure to comply with all applicable laws, regulations, codes of conduct and good practice standards.
Compliance Policy Breach and Regulatory Management Policy Fit and Proper Policy
Privacy Policy Conflicts of Interest Policy Whistleblower Policy

StrategiC riSK

The risk of loss arising from uncertainty about the future operating environment, including reputation, industry, economic and regulatory environment, branding, crisis management, alliances and suppliers. Strategic risks relate to 
the Group’s business strategy and tactical initiatives that are articulated in business plans.
Mergers and Acquisitions Policy Strategic risk assessments within Business Plans Risk Appetite Statements
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4.1 enteRpRise Risk management fRamewoRk 
(Continued)
4.1.4 RISK COMMITTEE STRUCTURES 

Within the enterprise risk management framework, an accountabilities 
model clearly establishes roles and responsibilities for managing 
risk. The Management Risk Committees are an important part of the 
accountabilities model with a number of committees in place. These 
committees comprise executive representation from both Group 
and Line of Business as appropriate. A subset of these committees 
operate with Board Risk Committee-approved charters, delegations 
and limits. Current key management committees include:

•  Group Asset and Liability Committee 

•  Bank Credit Risk Committee 

•  Bank Asset and Liability Committee 

•  Bank Operational Risk Committee

•  Suncorp Life Asset and Liability Committee 

•  Suncorp Life Operational Risk Committee

•  Suncorp Life Breach Committee

•  General Insurance Asset and Liability Committee 

•  General Insurance Risk and Governance Committee 

•  General Insurance Breach Committee

•  Crisis Management Team

•  Vero New Zealand Asset and Liability Committee 

•  Vero New Zealand Risk and Governance Committee 

4.2 inteRnal ContRol fRamewoRk
As part of the risk management framework, internal controls 
have been implemented across the Suncorp Group to ensure 
appropriate risk identification, assessment, control, management, 
monitoring and reporting. This section outlines some of the key 
elements of those internal controls.

4.2.1 COMPLIANCE

The Suncorp Group Compliance Policy mandates the Suncorp 
Group will conduct its business in compliance with all laws, 
rules, regulations, standards and codes, internal policies and 
procedures. To ensure this occurs, senior management completes 
a monthly automated due diligence questionnaire to report the 
Suncorp Group’s regulatory and operational compliance status, 
including both actual and potential breaches. All matters identified 
within the due diligence report are retained on each subsequent 
monthly report until the matter is resolved to the satisfaction of 
management, a Board committee, or the Board itself, depending 
on the circumstances.

Policies and procedures have been developed to also ensure open 
communications between the Suncorp Group and its primary 
regulators occur in a timely manner including the reference of 
all material correspondence between the Suncorp Group and 
regulators to the Board or relevant Board committee.

4.2.2 RISK COMMITTEE REPORTING 

The Risk Committee engages in a quarterly conversation with 
management to assess current and emerging risks, identified 
through the Line of Business and Group risk reporting process. 
Each Line of Business also reports to the Risk Committee on the 
performance of its business against target dimensions, as contained 
in Risk Appetite Statements, and updated stress testing scenario 
results are provided to the Risk Committee on a six-monthly basis. 
Matters are referred to the Board by the Risk Committee from time 
to time for consideration and approval in accordance with delegated 
authorities and regulatory requirements.

4.2.3 FINANCIAL REPORTING 

The Board receives reports on a monthly basis from management 
on the financial performance of each business unit and the Suncorp 
Group, including details of all key financial and business results 
reported against budget, with regular updates on yearly forecasts. 

When the Board considers the statutory financial statements and 
reports for the Suncorp Group in February and August each year, 
written certifications regarding the integrity of those financial 
statements and the Suncorp Group’s risk management and internal 
compliance and control systems are provided by the Group CEO, 
Group CFO and Group CRO.

For the financial year ended 30 June 2012, the Group CEO,  
Group CFO and Group CRO have provided:

•  a declaration regarding the integrity of the financial 
statements of the Suncorp Group; and 

•  assurance that the Suncorp Group’s risk management and 
internal compliance and control systems are operating 
effectively in all material respects. 

These certifications meet the requirements of section 295A of the 
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). 

The certifications provided by the Group CEO, Group CFO and 
Group CRO are based on responses provided by Senior Executives 
and management representatives to a management certification 
questionnaire, which is designed to provide an assurance to 
directors on matters that may impact the financial statements of 
Group companies.
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4.2.4 APRA DECLARATIONS

In accordance with APRA regulations, each regulated entity is 
required to submit to APRA on an annual basis a risk management 
declaration, confirming the adequacy of the regulated entity’s risk 
management systems.

The risk management declarations, approved by the Board, are based 
on reports considered and reviews conducted by the Risk Committee 
during the course of the year and on the representations provided to 
the Board by management in regard to the adequacy of the Suncorp 
Group’s risk management systems for each category of risk.

4.3 Risk management aCCountabilities
4.3.1 THREE LINES OF DEFENCE 

Accountabilities for risk management within the Suncorp Group 
are based upon the Three Lines of Defence model.

4.3.2 SPECIFIC ACCOUNTABILITIES

The role of the risk Committee is to oversee the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the risk management frameworks and processes 
within the Group. The Risk Committee has delegated authority 
from the Board to approve and oversee the processes used to 
identify, evaluate and manage risk. At its discretion, the Risk 
Committee may make recommendations to the Board, including 
recommendations on the Group’s risk appetite. 

group Ceo – the Board has delegated to the Group CEO 
authorities and limits for key risks facing the Suncorp Group 
and the authority to commit and make operational and capital 
expenditures. The Group CEO has discretion to delegate these 
authorities and limits to management. 

The Senior leadership team, comprising the Group CEO, Line 
of Business CEOs and Senior Executives, provides executive 
oversight and direction-setting across the Group, taking risk 
considerations into account. 

The group Cro, a member of the Senior Leadership Team, is 
responsible for promoting and supporting risk considerations 
with the Senior Leadership Team. The Group CRO is charged with 
overall accountability for the Risk Management Framework and 
the overall risk management capability. The Group CRO reports to 
the Group CEO. 

management – Line of Business CEOs and Senior Executives 
have a mandate and an obligation to manage risk in accordance 
with the Board-approved Risk Appetite Statements and more 
broadly in accordance with the Suncorp Group’s risk policies.

Chief risk officers, have formal lines of accountability to both 
their Line of Business CEO and the Group CRO which create 
greater ownership, understanding and awareness of risk.

internal audit provides independent testing and verification of 
the efficacy of corporate standards and business unit compliance, 
validates the overall risk framework and provides assurance that 
the risk management process is functioning as designed. Internal 
Audit provides reports to both the Audit Committee and the Risk 
Committee and under the Internal Audit Charter adopted by the 
Audit Committee, members of the internal audit department have 
full, free and unrestricted access to all Suncorp Group activities, 
records, property and personnel. The internal audit function is 
independent of the external auditor.

4.4 exteRnal audit 
EXTERNAL AUDITOR ENGAGEMENT

The Audit Committee is responsible for recommending to the 
Board the appointment and removal of the external auditor and 
for determining the terms of engagement. The Suncorp Group’s 
external audit engagements were last put to tender in April 2002 
and the Audit, Business Risk and Compliance Committee (as the 
Audit Committee was called at the time) was responsible for the 
oversight and administration of the tender process including:

•  determining the tender/selection process to be followed and 
identifying key issues to be addressed

•  selecting the firms invited to tender

•  making presentations to the tendering firms

•  receiving and assessing presentations from the tendering 
firms; and

•  making a recommendation to the Board.

At the date of this report, the Suncorp Group’s auditor is KPMG. 
KPMG have a partner rotation policy that requires the signing and 
engagement partner to change every five years in accordance with 
the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. The Board has 
endorsed that rotation policy.
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4.4 exteRnal audit (Continued)
EXTERNAL AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE

The external auditor provides a written report to each Audit 
Committee meeting, on audit and non-audit services provided 
to the Suncorp Group over the period since the last report to the 
committee and the fees charged for those services.

These reports also confirm that the auditor has maintained their 
independence in relation to the Suncorp Group having regard to 
relevant policies, professional rules and statutory requirements. 

ATTENDANCE AT ANNUAL GENERAL MEETINGS

The Suncorp Group’s external auditor is required to attend the 
Company’s Annual General Meetings (AGMs) and shareholders are 
made aware at each AGM that the auditor is available to address 
questions relevant to the conduct of the audit and the preparation 
and content of the auditor’s report. 

Part 5. PoliCieS
goveRnanCe poliCies of geneRal appliCation 
thRoughout the sunCoRp gRoup
5.1 RemuneRation 
The remuneration policies and structures in place for employees, 
management and directors over the reporting period, including 
full details of directors’ and executives’ benefits and interests, are 
explained in the Remuneration Report (part of the Directors’ Report). 

5.2 dealings in Company seCuRities 
The Board has adopted a securities trading policy that prohibits 
directors and ‘prescribed persons’ from trading in Suncorp 
securities at any time while in possession of price-sensitive 
information and for a 30-day period prior to: 

•  the release of the Company’s half-year and annual results  
to the ASX

•  the AGM, and

•  any major announcements. 

Directors and prescribed persons of the Suncorp Group or  
their Associates:

(a)  must not engage in short-term trading of Suncorp securities

(b)  must not use Suncorp securities as collateral in any financial 
transaction; including 

 –  entering into a margin lending arrangement in respect  
of Suncorp securities, and 

 –  transferring Suncorp securities into an existing margin 
loan account,

  unless a waiver has been granted by the Chairman or Group 
CEO upon such terms and conditions as the person granting 
the waiver sees fit 

(c)  must not enter into a transaction that is designed to limit the 
economic risk of a holding in unvested Suncorp securities (i.e. 
a hedging transaction).

The following approvals must be obtained before a director or 
officer may trade in Suncorp securities: 

•  all directors (including the executive director) must advise the 
Chairman of the Board 

•  the Chairman must advise the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee, and 

•  prescribed persons must advise the Group CEO. 

The granting of approval to trade in Suncorp securities is coordinated 
by the Company Secretary who is also responsible for reporting all 
transactions by directors and Senior Executives to the Board. 

In accordance with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001 
and the ASX Listing Rules, the Company advises the ASX of any 
transaction conducted by directors in the securities of the Company. 

The securities trading policy is made available to employees 
through the Company’s internal compliance and governance 
intranet sites and a formal advice on the terms of that policy is 
issued to all prescribed persons at least twice a year, usually in 
the month prior to the release of the Company’s annual and half-
year financial results.

A copy of the Suncorp Group securities trading policy is available 
on the Company’s website at www.suncorpgroup.com.au under 
‘Governance’. 

5.3 Code of ConduCt 
A code of conduct has been adopted by the Suncorp Group and is 
available on the Company’s website at www.suncorpgroup.com.au 
under ‘Corporate Governance’. 

The Suncorp Code of Conduct outlines the standards of behaviour 
that are expected of all directors, executives, management and 
employees and describes the values that underpin the way we 
conduct our business. 

In addition to the Suncorp Code of Conduct, the Group’s main 
business activities are also subject to a number of industry codes 
such as the General Insurance Code of Practice and the Banking 
Code of Conduct. 

There are also a number of internal policies in place as part of a 
compliance framework to monitor and encourage adherence with 
the Suncorp Code of Conduct and industry codes. The key related 
policies are:

•  Conflicts of Interest Policy

•  Whistleblower Policy, and 

•  Securities Trading Policy.

The Company monitors compliance with the Code and its various 
other policies using an internal due diligence system, as described 
earlier in this Statement under ‘Internal Control Framework’. 
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5.4 diveRsity
The Suncorp Group policy on diversity is contained within its Equal 
Employment Opportunity and Diversity Policy, a summary of which 
is available on the Company’s website at www.suncorpgroup.com.
au under ‘Corporate Governance’.

In support of the above Policy, the Board has approved a Diversity 
Strategy for 2011/14, with the objective of achieving a workforce 
that is representative of the macro-employment base, the 
customers with whom the Group interacts, and the communities 
within which it operates.

The Diversity Strategy 2011/14 outlines a range of initiatives 
to achieve greater diversity within the organisation, including 
measurable objectives to attain gender diversity in leadership 
positions. The implementation of the policy is overseen by a 
Diversity Council, led by the Group CEO.

The Suncorp Group has made good progress since the launch 
of the 2011/2014 Group Diversity Strategy. To ensure continued 
progress against the diversity strategy objectives the Suncorp 
Group has:

•  established a Diversity Council with senior leaders from 
across the Group, chaired by the Group CEO

•  embedded diversity into all policies and processes such as 
recruitment, performance management, pay equity,  
training and reward and recognition

•  provided best practice flexible leave policies, including 13 
weeks paid parental leave, to help employees manage work 
and personal commitments

•  provided tools and support for managers and employees for 
successful flexible work arrangements

•  assisted people in returning to work after parental leave, 
achieving a greater than 90% return to work rate

•  obtained an understanding of the needs of employees through 
engagement surveys

•  provided education for leaders around unconscious bias and 
its impact in the workplace 

•  conducted regular reviews of pay equity and immediately 
rectified any identified issues

•  provided specific development programs targeted at  
female leaders

•  ensured ongoing Board review of progress against  
diversity objectives.

The Suncorp Group’s objective is to increase the representation 
of women in senior leadership roles (combination of Business 
and Strategic Leaders) to 33% by 2014. This objective, already 
achieved two years ahead of the strategic plan timeframes, 
reflects a 2% increase since June 2011 in the proportion of 
women in senior leadership roles and will continue to be an area 
of gender diversity focus to ensure the objective is sustained.

In recognition of the progress made against gender diversity 
objectives, the Suncorp Group was awarded the 2012 Equal 
Opportunity for Women in the Workplace Agency (EOWA) 
Employer of Choice citation. 

As of 30 June 2012, the proportion of women employed by the 
Suncorp Group was:

Board of Directors 22% 
Senior Leaders 33%
Workforce 57%

5.5  asx Continuous disClosuRe  
and shaReholdeR CommuniCation

Continuous disclosure – the Company has policies and 
procedures in place to ensure all shareholders and investors have 
equal access to the Company’s information, and that all price-
sensitive information in relation to the Company’s listed securities 
is disclosed to the ASX in accordance with the continuous 
disclosure requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the  
ASX Listing Rules. 

The Executive General Manager Group Finance and Corporate 
Affairs has primary responsibility for all communications with 
the ASX and all Company announcements are available via the 
Company’s website following release to the ASX. A copy of the 
Company’s disclosure policy is available on the Company’s website 
at www.suncorpgroup.com.au under ‘Governance’.

Shareholder communication – the Group is committed to:

•  keeping its shareholders and the investment market fully 
informed on all matters that are relevant or material to its 
financial performance, and 

•  avoiding the disclosure of material information to anyone on a 
selective basis.

Information is disseminated primarily through timely 
announcements to the ASX. Those announcements are published 
on our website immediately following release by the ASX, 
enabling access to the broader investment community.

Direct communication with shareholders regarding the Suncorp 
Group’s performance also occurs on a regular basis through the 
distribution of annual reports (on request) in September each 
year, and also through letters from the Chairman and Group CEO 
following the release of the full year and half-year results in 
August and February respectively, and following the AGM.

Shareholders can elect to receive all such communications 
through the post or in electronic format and can also lodge 
direct votes and proxy votes online through the website of the 
Company’s share registrar, Link Market Services Limited. Details 
are in the AGM documents issued to shareholders. 

The AGM, which is usually held in October each year, and is webcast 
live, allows shareholders to address the Board and management 
directly on matters regarding the Suncorp Group’s performance.
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Consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income
for the financial year  
ended 30 June 2012

ConSoliDateD NOTE 2012 2011

$m $m

revenue
Insurance premium income  8,355  7,874 
Reinsurance and other recoveries income  1,917  4,786 
Banking interest income  4,025  4,401 
Investment revenue 9.1  1,183  1,358 
Other income 9.2  554  614 
total revenue  16,034  19,033 

expenses
General Insurance claims expense  (7,122)  (9,331)
Life insurance claims expense and movement in policyowner liabilities  (314)  (862)
Outwards reinsurance premium expense  (946)  (1,001)
Interest expense  (3,146)  (3,532)
Fees and commissions expense  (535)  (485)
Operating expenses 10  (2,601)  (2,654)
Impairment expense on Banking loans, advances and other receivables 7.5.2  (405)  (325)
Loss on sale of subsidiaries -  (109)
Outside beneficial interests in managed funds  (2)  (32)
total expenses  (15,071)  (18,331)

Profit before income tax  963  702 
Income tax expense 11.1  (235)  (245)
Profit for the financial year  728  457 

other comprehensive income 
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges 22  (66)  60 
Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets 22  (60)  31 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 22  10  (39)
Actuarial (losses) on defined benefit plans 13.3  (51)  (11)
Income tax benefit (expense) on other comprehensive income 11.3.2  53  (21)
other comprehensive income net of income tax  (114)  20 

total comprehensive income for the financial year  614  477 
Profit for the financial year attributable to:
Owners of the Company  724  453 
Non-controlling interests  4  4 
Profit for the financial year  728  457 

total comprehensive income for the financial year attributable to:
Owners of the Company  610  473 
Non-controlling interests  4  4 
total comprehensive income for the financial year  614  477 

Cents Cents

earnings per share:
Basic earnings per share 3 56.68 35.56 
Diluted earnings per share 3 55.74 35.56 

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement 
of financial position
as at 30 June 2012

ConSoliDateD NOTE 2012 2011

$m $m

assets
Cash and cash equivalents  866  1,271 
Receivables due from other banks  154  226 
Trading securities 7.2  4,787  4,952 
Derivatives 14  393  166 
Investment securities 15.2  24,881  24,014 
Banking loans, advances and other receivables 7.4  49,180  48,639 
General Insurance assets 6.5  7,688  8,054 
Life assets 8.5  721  671 
Property, plant and equipment 16  216  351 
Deferred tax assets 11.3.1  181  148 
Other assets 17  731  686 
Goodwill and intangible assets 18  6,264  6,310 
total assets  96,062  95,488 

liabilities
Deposits and short-term borrowings 7.6  40,708  38,858 
Derivatives 14  2,406  2,580 
Payables due to other banks  41  31 
Payables and other liabilities 19  2,602  2,224 
Current tax liabilities 11.2  51  145 
General Insurance liabilities 6.6  14,835  14,831 
Life liabilities 8.6  5,786  6,183 
Managed funds units on issue  1  701 
Securitisation liabilities 7.7  3,800  3,532 
Debt issues 7.8  9,569  10,031 
Subordinated notes 20  1,374  1,524 
Preference shares 7.10  762  830 
total liabilities  81,935  81,470 
net assets  14,127  14,018 

equity
Share capital 21  12,672  12,662 
Reserves 22  (55)  33 
Retained profits  1,493  1,306 
total equity attributable to owners of the Company  14,110  14,001 
Non-controlling interests  17  17 
total equity  14,127  14,018 

The consolidated statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement 
of changes in equity
for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2012

ConSoliDateD equity attRibutable to owneRs of the Company

note
shaRe 

Capital ReseRves
Retained 

pRofits total

non-
ContRolling 

inteRests total equity

$m $m $m $m $m $m

Balance as at 1 July 2010  12,618  74  1,241  13,933  20  13,953 
Profit for the financial year - -  453  453  4  457 
Total other comprehensive income -  28  (8)  20 -  20 

total comprehensive income -  28  445  473  4  477 

Transactions with owners,  
recorded directly in equity

Issue of ordinary shares 21  42 - -  42 -  42 
Dividends paid 4 - -  (444)  (444)  (4)  (448)
Share-based payments 21  11 - -  11 -  11 
Treasury share movements 21  (9) - -  (9) -  (9)
Transfers -  (69)  69 - - -
Other movements - -  (5)  (5)  (3)  (8)

Balance as at 30 June 2011  12,662  33  1,306  14,001  17  14,018 
Profit for the financial year - -  724  724  4  728 
Total other comprehensive income -  (78)  (36)  (114) -  (114)

total comprehensive income -  (78)  688  610  4  614 

Transactions with owners,  
recorded directly in equity

Dividends paid 4 - -  (511)  (511)  (4)  (515)
Share-based payments 21  11 - -  11 -  11 
Treasury share movements 21 (1) - - (1) - (1)
Transfers -  (10)  10 - - -

Balance as at 30 June 2012  12,672  (55)  1,493  14,110  17  14,127 

The consolidated statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement 
of cash flows
for the financial year  
ended 30 June 2012

ConSoliDateD NOTE 2012 2011

$m $m

Cash flows from operating activities
Premiums received 9,217 8,672 
Claims paid (8,735) (7,680)
Interest received 4,810 5,246 
Interest paid (3,146) (3,483)
Reinsurance and other recoveries received 2,994 2,128 
Outwards reinsurance premiums paid (1,024) (1,082)
Other operating income received 637 969 
Dividends received 98 66 
Operating expenses paid (3,430) (3,832)
Income tax paid (311) (176)
Net decrease (increase) in operating assets
Trading securities 216 3,278 
Banking loans, advances and other receivables (896) 2,188 
Net increase in operating liabilities
Deposits and short-term borrowings 1,850 4,760 
net cash from operating activities 24.1 2,280 11,054 

Cash flows (used in) investing activities
Proceeds from sale of investment securities  39,683  25,555 
Payments for purchase of investment securities  (40,273)  (28,219)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible software  103 -
Proceeds from other investing activities -  102 
Payments for other investing activities  (180)  (164)
net cash (used in) investing activities (667) (2,726)

Cash flows (used in) financing activities
Net (decrease) in borrowings  (1,330)  (6,945)
Payment on call of subordinated notes  (174)  (524)
Dividends paid on ordinary shares  (511)  (403)
Payments for reset preference share redemption  (72)  (42)
Payments for other financing activities  (14)  (19)
net cash (used in) financing activities (2,101) (7,933)

net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (488) 395 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  1,466 1,087 
Cash balances disposed during the financial year 29.1.2 - (16)
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held  1  -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 24.2 979 1,466 

The consolidated statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the financial year ended 30 June 2012

1. SunCorP grouP reStruCture 
On 7 January 2011, the Suncorp group, being Suncorp Group 
Limited and its subsidiaries, completed a restructure which 
resulted in a non-operating holding company, Suncorp Group 
Limited (the Company) replacing Suncorp-Metway Limited 
(Sml) as the ultimate parent of the Suncorp Group. Following the 
restructure, the Suncorp Group is comprised of three separate 
lines of business, general insurance, Banking, and life, each 
with their own non-operating holding companies. The three lines 
of business and corporate activities (Corporate) collectively 
form the four business areas of the Suncorp Group. SML became 
a subsidiary of the Company following the restructure and is 
included in the Banking business area.

The restructure was effected by a scheme of arrangement 
which was approved by SML shareholders on 15 December 
2010. Approval was also obtained from the Federal Treasurer, 
the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA) and 
the Supreme Court of Queensland. On restructure, ordinary 
shareholders of SML, with the exception of a small number of 
ineligible foreign shareholders, obtained one ordinary share in the 
Company for each ordinary share they held in SML prior to the 
implementation of the restructure. 

The Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 30 June 2011 are presented as a continuation of the 
consolidated SML financial statements. 

2. BaSiS oF PreParation
The Company is a public company domiciled in Australia. Its 
registered office is at Level 18, 36 Wickham Terrace, Brisbane,  
Qld 4000. 

The consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 
30 June 2012 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries and were 
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 22 August 2012. 

Suncorp Group is a for-profit entity and its consolidated financial 
statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis 
unless the application of fair value measurements are required by 
relevant accounting standards. An exception exists regarding the 
measurement of defined benefit superannuation scheme surplus 
(deficit) which is described in note 34.1.19.

Significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of 
these consolidated financial statements are set out in note 34. 
There have been no changes to the recognition and measurement 
accounting policies during the year.

The Suncorp Group’s risk management objectives and structure 
including the management of exposures arising from financial 
instruments are detailed in note 35.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in 
Australian dollars which is the Company’s functional and 
presentation currency and the functional currency of the majority 
of subsidiaries. 

As the Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 
98/100 dated 10 July 1998, all financial information presented in 
Australian dollars has been rounded to the nearest one million 
dollars unless otherwise stated.

Where necessary, comparatives have been restated to conform to 
changes in presentation in the current year. 

2.1 statement of ComplianCe
The consolidated financial statements are general purpose 
financial statements which have been prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) (including 
Australian Interpretations) adopted by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001. The 
consolidated financial statements comply with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and interpretations issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

2.2 use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of accounting policies and the 
amounts reported in the financial statements. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. Estimates and underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Where revisions are made to 
accounting estimates, any financial impact is recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised.

Significant estimates, judgements and assumptions are discussed 
in the following notes:

•  General Insurance – liability adequacy test (refer note 6.6.1(b))

•  General Insurance – outstanding claims liabilities, assets 
arising from reinsurance contracts and other recoveries (refer 
note 6.6.2(c))

•  Banking – specific and collective provisions for impairment 
(refer note 34.1.16(a))

•  Life – net policy liabilities (refer note 8.7)

•  impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets  
(refer note 18.1); and

•  valuation of financial instruments and fair value hierarchy 
disclosures (refer note 25). 
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3. earningS Per Share (ePS)
ConSoliDateD 2012 2011 

$m $m

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company (basic)  724  453 
Interest expense on convertible preference shares  41  - 
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company (diluted)  765  453 

no of shares No of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic)  1,277,409,855  1,273,729,887 
Effect of conversion of convertible preference shares  94,021,565  - 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)  1,371,431,420  1,273,729,887 

4. DiviDenDS
ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

 ¢ per share $m  ¢ per share $m

Dividend payments on ordinary shares
2011 final dividend (2011: 2010 final dividend) 20 255 20 254 
2012 interim dividend (2011: 2011 interim dividend) 20 256 15 190 
total dividends on ordinary shares 40 511  35  444 

Dividends not recognised in the statement  
of financial position 1

Dividends declared since balance date
2012 final dividend (2011: 2011 final dividend) 2 20 256 20 255 
2012 special dividend 2 15 192  -  - 

35 448 20 255 

$m $m

Dividend franking account
Amount of franking credit available for use in subsequent 
financial years

752 740 

Notes: 1  The impact on the dividend franking account for the final and special dividends declared are expected to reduce the franking account balance by $193 million  
(2011: $110 million). There are no other income tax consequences for dividends not recognised in the statement of financial position. 

   2  The total 2012 final and special dividends declared but not recognised in the statement of financial position is estimated based on the total number of ordinary shares on 
issue net of treasury shares as at 30 June 2012. The actual amount recognised in the consolidated financial statements for the year ending 30 June 2013 will be based on 
the actual number of ordinary shares on issue net of treasury shares on the record date.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the financial year ended 30 June 2012 (continued)

5. Segment rePorting
Operating segments are identified based on separate financial information which is regularly reviewed by the Group Chief Executive 
Officer and his immediate executive team, representing the Suncorp Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker (CoDm), in assessing 
performance and determining the allocation of resources. The Suncorp Group’s operating segments are determined based on their 
business activities as described in note 5.1 below.

5.1 opeRating segments
The Suncorp Group comprises the following operating segments:

Segment BuSineSS area BuSineSS aCtivitieS

Personal Insurance 
(Personal)

General Insurance Provision of personal insurance products to customers in Australia including home and 
contents insurance, motor insurance, boat insurance and travel insurance.

Commercial Insurance 
(Commercial)

General Insurance Provision of commercial insurance products to customers in Australia including commercial 
motor insurance, commercial property insurance, marine insurance, industrial special risks 
insurance, public liability and professional indemnity insurance, workers’ compensation 
insurance and compulsory third party insurance.

General Insurance  
– New Zealand (GI NZ)

General Insurance Provision of general insurance products to customers in New Zealand including home and 
contents insurance, marine insurance, business insurance, rural insurance, construction 
and engineering insurance, travel insurance, public liability and professional indemnity, and 
directors’ and officers’ liability. 

Banking Banking Provision of personal and commercial banking, agribusiness, property and equipment finance, 
home, personal and small business loans, savings and transaction accounts and foreign 
exchange and treasury products and services in Australia. 

Life Life Provision of life insurance products, superannuation administration services, financial planning 
and funds administration services in Australia and New Zealand.

Corporate Corporate Investment of the Suncorp Group’s capital, Suncorp Group business strategy activities 
(including business combinations and divestments) and Suncorp Group shared services. 

While profit or loss information is reviewed by the CODM at an 
operating segment level, assets and liabilities information are 
reviewed by the CODM at a business area level. Business areas 
are equivalent to operating segments except for the Personal 
Insurance, Commercial Insurance and General Insurance New 
Zealand operating segments which are aggregated as the General 
Insurance business area.

Segment results presented are measured on a consistent basis  
to how they are reported to the CODM:

•  Revenues and expenses occurring between segments are 
subject to contractual agreements between the legal entities 
comprising each segment. 

•  Inter-segment transactions which are eliminated on 
consolidation are reported on a gross basis except for 
operating expenses incurred by one segment on behalf of 
another which are recharged on a cost-recovery basis that are 
presented on a net basis (post allocation basis). 

•  Intra-group dividends are presented net of eliminations. 

•  Consolidated gain or loss on sale of subsidiaries and 
joint ventures and any amortisation of material business 
combination acquired intangible assets are allocated to the 
Corporate segment regardless of whether the related assets 
and liabilities are included in the Corporate segment assets 
and liabilities.

•  Depreciation and amortisation expense relating to the 
Corporate segment’s property, plant and equipment and non-
business combination acquired intangible assets are allocated 
to other segments based on their utilisation. 

•  Goodwill is allocated to each operating segment on a 
consistent basis to goodwill impairment testing (note 18.1). 
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5.1 opeRating segments (Continued)
BuSineSS areaS general inSuranCe BanKing liFe CorPorate
opeRating segments peRsonal CommeRCial gi nZ total banking life CoRpoRate total 

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

2012
Revenue from external customers  5,348  3,415  1,678  10,441  4,202  1,356  69  16,068 
Inter-segment revenue - - - -  26  7  7  40 
total segment revenue  5,348  3,415  1,678  10,441  4,228  1,363  76  16,108 

Segment profit (loss) before income tax  206  421  43  670  39  323  (71)  961 
Segment income tax expense (59) (108) (10)  (177) (13) (72) 27  (235)
Segment profit (loss) after income tax  147  313  33  493  26  251  (44)  726 

other segment disclosures
Interest revenue  168  385  24  577  4,025  80  37  4,719 
Interest expense  (43)  (23) -  (66)  (3,097) -  (7)  (3,170)
Depreciation and amortisation expense  (40)  (36)  (4)  (80)  (40)  (4)  (127)  (251)
Impairment expense on Banking loans, advances and other receivables - - - -  (405) - -  (405)
Share of profits of associates and joint ventures  7 - -  7 - - -  7 
Business area assets  25,019  62,429  10,445  14,828  112,721 
Business area liabilities  17,271  59,453  7,723  596  85,043 

2011
Revenue from external customers  5,828  3,601  3,195  12,624  4,545  1,844  19  19,032 
Inter-segment revenue  2  3 -  5  65  9  1  80 
total segment revenue  5,830  3,604  3,195  12,629  4,610  1,853  20  19,112 

Segment profit (loss) before income tax  93  558  (88)  563  145  223  (239)  692 
Segment income tax expense (28) (169) 26  (171) (61) (74) 60  (246)
Segment profit (loss) after income tax  65  389  (62)  392  84  149  (179)  446 

other segment disclosures
Interest revenue  187  407  26  620  4,404  49  16  5,089 
Interest expense  (58)  (31) -  (89)  (3,494)  (3) -  (3,586)
Depreciation and amortisation expense  (31)  (35)  (15)  (81)  (42)  (8)  (149)  (280)
Impairment expense on Banking loans, advances and other receivables - - - -  (325) - -  (325)
Share of profits of associates and joint ventures  4 - -  4 - - -  4 
Business area assets  24,683  61,131  9,593  14,527  109,934 
Business area liabilities  17,005  57,991  7,120  424  82,540 



52   SUNCORP GROUP LIMITED

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the financial year ended 30 June 2012 (continued)

5. Segment rePorting (ContinueD)
5.2 ReConCiliation of RepoRtable segment Revenues, pRofit befoRe inCome tax, assets and liabilities

Revenue pRofit befoRe inCome tax

ConSoliDateD 2012 2011 2012 2011

$m $m $m $m

Segment total  16,108  19,112  961  692 
Elimination of intragroup investment revenue  (65)  (50)  (65)  (50)
Other consolidation eliminations  (9)  (29)  67  60 
Consolidated total  16,034  19,033  963  702 

assets liabilities

$m $m $m $m

Business area total  112,721  109,934  85,043  82,540 
Elimination of investment in subsidiaries  (13,527)  (13,253) - -
Elimination of intragroup investments  (1,699)  (244)  (1,691)  (222)
Elimination of other intragroup balances  (1,145)  (746)  (1,143)  (629)
Other consolidation eliminations and reclassifications  (288)  (203)  (274)  (219)
Consolidated total  96,062  95,488  81,935  81,470 

5.3 geogRaphiCal segments 
While some business activities take place in New Zealand, the Suncorp Group operates predominantly in one geographical segment 
being Australia. Revenue from external customers and non-current assets in New Zealand are not material to the Suncorp Group.

5.4 majoR CustomeRs
The Suncorp Group is not reliant on any external individual customer for 10% or more of the Suncorp Group’s revenue.

5.5 Results by business aRea
A summary of revenue and expenses by business area and a summary of assets and liabilities by business area are presented in notes 
5.5.1 and 5.5.2. These disclosures are an extension to the operating segment information presented above and are prepared on the same 
basis as described in note 5.1. Inclusion of results by business area in addition to the operating segment information presented above is 
beneficial in understanding the nature and financial effects of the business activities of the Suncorp Group, which consists of a General 
Insurance Group, a Banking Group, a Life Group and a Corporate Group.
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5.5.1 summaRy of Revenue and expenses by business aRea
NOTE 2012 2011

geneRal 
insuRanCe banking life CoRpoRate 

geneRal 
insuRanCe banking life CoRpoRate 

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

revenue
Insurance premium income  7,584 -  771 -  7,083 -  791 - 
Reinsurance and other recoveries income  1,726 -  191 -  4,581 -  205 - 
Banking interest income -  4,025 - - -  4,404 - - 
Investment revenue  941  17  252  37  740  10  636  19 
Other income  190  186  149  39  225  196  221  1 
total revenue 5.1, 5.2  10,441  4,228  1,363  76  12,629  4,610  1,853  20 

expenses
General Insurance claims expense  (7,122) - - -  (9,331) - - - 
Life insurance claims expense and 
movement in policyowner liabilities

- -  (314) - - -  (862) - 

Outwards reinsurance premium expense  (780) -  (166) -  (806) -  (195) - 
Interest expense  (66)  (3,097) -  (7)  (89)  (3,494)  (3) - 
Fees and commissions expense  (309)  (90)  (156)  (1)  (290)  (78)  (148) - 
Operating expenses  (1,494)  (597)  (365)  (139)  (1,550)  (568)  (391)  (150)
Impairment expense on Banking loans,  
advances and other receivables

-  (405) - - -  (325) - - 

Loss on sale of subsidiaries - - - - - - -  (109)
Outside beneficial interests in managed funds - -  (39) - - -  (31) - 
total expenses  (9,771)  (4,189)  (1,040)  (147)  (12,066)  (4,465)  (1,630)  (259)

Profit (loss) before income tax 5.1, 5.2  670  39  323  (71)  563  145  223  (239)
Income tax expense 5.1  (177)  (13)  (72)  27  (171)  (61)  (74)  60 
Profit (loss) for the financial year 5.1  493  26  251  (44) 392 84 149 (179)
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5. Segment rePorting (ContinueD)
5.5.2 summaRy of assets and liabilities by business aRea

NOTE 2012 2011
geneRal 

insuRanCe banking life CoRpoRate 
geneRal 

insuRanCe banking life CoRpoRate 

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

assets
Cash and cash equivalents  113  549  828  212  195  345  665  72 
Receivables due from other banks -  154 - - -  226 - - 
Trading securities 7.2 -  4,787 - - -  4,952 - - 
Derivatives 6.3, 7.3, 8.3  50  424  10 -  23  233  4 - 
Investment securities 6.4, 7.2, 8.4, 15.1  11,477  6,308  8,191  14,132  10,782  5,742  7,520  13,824 
Banking loans, advances  
and other receivables 7.4 -  49,210 - - -  48,694 - - 
General Insurance assets 6.5  7,688 - - -  8,054 - - - 
Life assets 8.5 - -  721 - - -  671 - 
Due from Group entities  128  144 - - -  159 -  49 
Property, plant and equipment  24 -  4  188  18  69  5  259 
Deferred tax assets -  241 -  120 -  182 -  105 
Other assets  323  350  19  62  343  265  21  144 
Goodwill and intangible assets  5,216  262  672  114  5,268  264  707  74 
total assets  25,019  62,429  10,445  14,828  24,683  61,131  9,593  14,527 

liabilities
Deposits and short-term borrowings 7.6 -  41,544 - - -  39,247 - - 
Derivatives 6.3, 7.3, 8.3  124  2,369  4 -  90  2,583 - - 
Payables due to other banks -  41 - - -  31 - - 
Payables and other liabilities  1,457  634  225  325  1,141  669  173  280 
Current tax liabilities 11.2 - - -  51  1 - -  144 
Due to Group entities - -  52  220  167 -  31 - 
General Insurance liabilities 6.6  14,835 - - -  14,831 - - - 
Life liabilities 8.6 - -  5,786 - - -  6,183 - 
Deferred tax liabilities  132 -  48 -  81 -  60 - 
Managed funds units on issue  15 -  1,608 -  16 -  673 - 
Securitisation liabilities 7.7 -  3,839 - - -  3,634 - - 
Debt issues 7.8 -  9,598 - - -  10,151 - - 
Subordinated notes 6.7, 7.9  708  666 - -  678  846 - - 
Preference shares 7.10 -  762 - - -  830 - - 
total liabilities  17,271  59,453  7,723  596  17,005  57,991  7,120  424 
net assets  7,748  2,976  2,722  14,232  7,678  3,140  2,473  14,103 
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6. general inSuranCe – SPeCiFiC DiSCloSureS
6.1 geneRal insuRanCe – ContRibution to pRofit 
general inSuranCe 2012 2011

$m $m

net earned premium
Direct premium income  7,584  7,083 
Outwards reinsurance premium expense  (780)  (806)

 6,804  6,277 

net incurred claims 
Claims expense  (7,122)  (9,331)
Reinsurance and other recoveries revenue  1,726  4,581 

 (5,396)  (4,750)

underwriting expenses
Acquisition costs  (931)  (923)
Liability adequacy test deficiency  (21)  (35)
Other underwriting expenses  (712)  (711)

 (1,664)  (1,669)
Reinsurance commission revenue  49  46 
underwriting result  (207)  (96)

investment revenue – insurance funds
Investment income on insurance funds  718  508 
insurance trading result  511  412 
Investment income on shareholder funds  222  232 
Investment expense  (19)  (26)
Fee for service and other income  141  179 
Non-banking interest expense  (66)  (89)
Other expenses  (119)  (145)

 159  151 
general insurance business area profit before tax  670  563 
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6. general inSuranCe – SPeCiFiC DiSCloSureS (ContinueD)
6.2 geneRal insuRanCe – net inCuRRed Claims
general inSuranCe 2012 2011

 CuRRent yeaR pRioR yeaR total  CuRRent yeaR pRioR yeaR total

$m $m $m $m $m $m

Direct business
Gross claims incurred and related expenses

Undiscounted  6,660  (221)  6,439  10,570  (1,063)  9,507 
Discount and discount movement  (178)  866  688  (518)  315  (203)

Gross claims incurred discounted  6,482  645  7,127  10,052  (748)  9,304 
Reinsurance and other recoveries

Undiscounted  (1,213)  (333)  (1,546)  (5,167)  381  (4,786)
Discount and discount movement  30  (215)  (185)  254  (34)  220 

Reinsurance and other recoveries discounted  (1,183)  (548)  (1,731)  (4,913)  347  (4,566)
Total direct business  5,299  97  5,396  5,139  (401)  4,738 
Net inwards reinsurance business  -  12 
net incurred claims  5,396  4,750 

The $97 million increase (2011: $401 million decrease) in prior year net provisions on the net incurred claims for 2012, is primarily due to decreases in the discount rate applied to outstanding payments.  
The sensitivity of net profit to changes in claims assumptions, experience and risk margins is set out in note 6.6.2(e).

6.3 geneRal insuRanCe – deRivatives
general inSuranCe 2012 2011

 notional value 

 faiR value 

 notional value 

 faiR value 

 asset  liability  asset  liability 

$m $m $m $m $m $m

Exchange rate-related contracts
Forward foreign exchange contracts  219  6  -  -  -  - 
Cross currency swaps  291  -  (72)  291  -  (88)

 510  6  (72)  291  -  (88)

Interest rate-related contracts 
Interest rate swaps  2,013  44  (52)  1,675  22  - 
Interest rate swaptions  -  -  -  384  1 (1)
Interest rate futures  749  -  -  1,321  -  - 
Interest rate options  50  -  -  47  - (1)

 2,812  44  (52)  3,427  23  (2)

Equity contracts
Equity futures  58  -  -  -  -  - 
total derivative exposures – current  3,380  50  (124)  3,718  23  (90)
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6.4 geneRal insuRanCe – investment seCuRities
general inSuranCe 2012 2011

$m $m

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
Interest-bearing securities

Debentures and corporate bonds  6,026  7,057 
Government and semi-government securities  4,004  2,674 
Other interest-bearing securities  908  965 

 10,938  10,696 
Unit trusts  539  86 
total investment securities – current  11,477  10,782 

6.5 geneRal insuRanCe – assets
ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

$m $m

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
Premiums outstanding  2,137  1,864 
Reinsurance and other recoveries

Expected undiscounted outstanding reinsurance and other recoveries  3,862  5,050 
Discount to present value  (206)  (390)

Reinsurance and other recoveries  3,656  4,660 
Other receivables  239  358 

Financial assets at amortised cost
Investment receivables  145  34 

Deferred insurance assets
Deferred acquisition costs  512  452 
Deferred reinsurance assets  845  562 
Other deferred expenses  154  124 

total general insurance assets  7,688  8,054 
Current  5,494  5,385 
Non-current  2,194  2,669 
total general insurance assets  7,688  8,054 
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6. general inSuranCe – SPeCiFiC DiSCloSureS (ContinueD)
6.6 geneRal insuRanCe – liabilities
ConSoliDateD NOTE 2012 2011

$m $m

Unearned premium liabilities 6.6.1  4,226  3,854 
Outstanding claims liabilities 6.6.2  10,609  10,977 
total general insurance liabilities  14,835  14,831 

Current  8,269  8,062 
Non-current  6,566  6,769 
total general insurance liabilities  14,835  14,831 

6.6.1 uneaRned pRemium liabilities
(A) RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENT

ConSoliDateD  2012  2011

$m $m

Balance at the beginning of the financial year  3,854  3,670 
Premiums written during the financial year  7,955  7,272 
Premiums earned during the financial year  (7,584)  (7,083)
Foreign currency exchange movement  1  (5)
Balance at the end of the financial year  4,226  3,854 

(B) LIABILITy ADEQUACy TEST

The liability adequacy test (lat) is used to assess the sufficiency of the unearned premium liability to cover all expected future cash flows relating to future claims against in-force insurance contracts.  
The LAT is carried out on each portfolio of contracts subject to broadly similar risks and are managed together as a single portfolio, being Australian Personal Insurance, Australian Commercial Insurance  
and New Zealand General Insurance. The following table details the value of the expected future cash flows arising from in-force contracts: 

ConSoliDateD  2012  2011

$m $m

Central estimate of present value of expected future cash flows arising from future claims  3,156 2,934 
Risk margin  66 68 
Present value of expected future cash inflows arising from reinsurance recoveries on future claims  (165) (154)
Expected present value of future cash flows for future claims including risk margin  3,057 2,848 

 %  % 

Risk margin 2.3% 2.8%
Probability of adequacy 57 – 64% 57 – 64%
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6.6.1  uneaRned pRemium liabilities 
(Continued)

(B) LIABILITy ADEQUACy TEST (CONTINUED)

Future claims costs are calculated at present value of the 
expected cash flows relating to future claims and includes a risk 
margin to reflect inherent uncertainty in the central estimate 
for each portfolio of contracts. The test is based on prospective 
information and consequently is heavily dependent  
on assumptions and judgements.

The probability of adequacy adopted for the LAT differs from 
the 90% probability of adequacy adopted in determining the 
outstanding claims liabilities (refer note 6.6.2(d)). The reason for 
this difference is that the former is in effect an impairment test 
used only to test the sufficiency of net premium liabilities whereas 
the latter is a measurement accounting policy used in determining 
the carrying value of the outstanding claims liabilities. 

The process used to determine the risk margin is discussed in 
note 6.6.2(d). 

As at 30 June 2012, the LAT resulted in a deficit for the Australian 
Commercial Insurance portfolio and a surplus for the Australian 
Personal Insurance and New Zealand General Insurance 
portfolios. As at 30 June 2011, the LAT resulted in a surplus for all 
portfolios except for the New Zealand General Insurance portfolio. 
Consequently, a $21 million (2011: $35 million) write-down of 
deferred acquisition costs was recognised in the financial year. 

The deficit for the respective portfolios was determined as follows:

ConSoliDateD  2012  2011

Ci 1 nZ 2

$m $m

Central estimate of present value of expected future cash flows arising from future claims  1,120  290 
Risk margin  23  7 
Present value of expected future cash inflows arising from reinsurance recoveries on future claims  (67)  - 

 1,076  297 

Unearned premium liability  1,366  347 
Related intangible asset  (6)  - 
Related deferred acquisition costs  (194)  (70)
Related reinsurance assets  (111)  (15)

 1,055  262 
lat deficiency  21  35 

Notes: 1 Australian Commercial Insurance portfolio

   2 New Zealand General Insurance portfolio
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6. general inSuranCe – SPeCiFiC DiSCloSureS (ContinueD)
6.6.2 outstanding Claims liabilities
ConSoliDateD  2012  2011

$m $m

Gross central estimate – undiscounted  10,003  11,014 
Risk margin  1,204  1,247 
Claims handling expenses  384  396 

 11,591  12,657 
Discount to present value  (982)  (1,680)
gross outstanding claims liabilities – discounted  10,609  10,977 

 %  % 
Overall net risk margin applied  17.2  18.4 
Probability of adequacy of the risk margin (approximately)  90  90 

(A) RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENT IN DISCOUNTED OUTSTANDING CLAIMS LIABILITIES

ConSoliDateD  2012  2011

$m $m

Net outstanding claims liabilities at the beginning of the financial year  6,317  6,335 

Prior periods
Claims payments  (1,877)  (1,678)
Discount unwind  201  194 
Margin release on prior periods  (255)  (208)
Incurred claims due to changes in assumptions and experience  (202)  (383)
Change in discount rate  345  (3)

Current period
Incurred claims  5,309  5,145 
Claims payments  (2,885)  (3,077)
Net foreign exchange difference  -  (8)

Net outstanding claims liabilities at the end of the financial year  6,953  6,317 
Reinsurance and other recoveries on outstanding claims liabilities  3,656  4,660 
gross outstanding claims liabilities (discounted)  
at the end of the financial year

 10,609  10,977 
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6.6.2 outstanding Claims liabilities (Continued)
(B) CLAIMS DEVELOPMENT TABLE

The following table shows the development of the estimated undiscounted outstanding claims relative to the ultimate expected claims for the 10 most recent accident years.

aCCident yeaR 2012

ConSoliDateD Prior 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 total
$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Estimate of ultimate claims cost:
At end of accident year  1,020  1,044  1,172  1,209  1,246  1,290  1,294  1,332  1,324  1,309 
One year later  994  1,060  1,063  1,119  1,180  1,151  1,281  1,231  1,219 
Two years later  931  924  938  1,038  1,074  1,115  1,172  1,147 
Three years later  827  834  899  963  1,043  1,070  1,152 
Four years later  721  764  847  910  994  1,011 
Five years later  667  723  820  878  966 
Six years later  643  727  813  886 
Seven years later  649  697  816 
Eight years later  673  691 
Nine years later  667 

Current estimate of cumulative claims cost  667  691  816  886  966  1,011  1,152  1,147  1,219  1,309 
Cumulative payments  (624)  (629)  (704)  (744)  (761)  (707)  (647)  (416)  (231)  (68)
Outstanding claims liabilities – undiscounted  700  43  62  112  142  205  304  505  731  988  1,241  5,033 
Discount to present value  (201)  (4)  (7)  (12)  (14)  (18)  (24)  (37)  (52)  (75)  (112)  (556)
Outstanding claims – long-tail  499  39  55  100  128  187  280  468  679  913  1,129  4,477 
Outstanding claims – short-tail  1,212 
Claims handling expense  258 
Risk margin  1,006 
Total net outstanding claims liabilities  6,953 
Reinsurance and other recoveries on outstanding claims liabilities  3,656 
total gross outstanding claims liabilities  10,609 

The claims development table discloses amounts net of reinsurance and third party recoveries to give the most meaningful insight into the impact on profit or loss. Short-tail claims are disclosed separately as 
they are generally subject to less uncertainty since they are normally reported soon after the incident and are generally settled within 12 months following the reported incident. 
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6.  general inSuranCe – SPeCiFiC DiSCloSureS 
(ContinueD)

6.6.2  outstanding Claims liabilities 
(Continued)

(C)  ESTIMATION OF OUTSTANDING CLAIMS LIABILITIES  
AND ASSETS ARISING FROM REINSURANCE CONTRACTS 
AND OTHER RECOVERIES

The Suncorp Group’s estimation of its claims liabilities includes 
the expected future cost of claims notified to the Suncorp Group as 
at balance date as well as claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) 
and claims incurred but not enough reported (IBNER). Projected 
payments are discounted to present value and an estimate of 
direct expenses expected to be incurred in settling these claims is 
determined. The impact of inflation on future expenditure is also 
taken into consideration. An additional risk margin is then applied to 
allow for the inherent uncertainty in the estimation process.

The Suncorp Group takes all reasonable steps to ensure that it 
has appropriate information regarding its claims exposures with 
estimates and judgements continually being evaluated and updated 
based on historical experience and other factors. However, given the 
uncertainty in the estimation process, it is likely that the final outcome 
will prove to be different from the original liability established.

The estimation of claims IBNR and claims IBNER are generally 
subject to a greater degree of uncertainty with claims often not 
being adequately reported until many years after the events giving 
rise to the claims have happened. For this reason, long-tail classes 
of business will typically display greater variations between initial 
estimates and final outcomes.

Estimation of assets arising from reinsurance and other recoveries 
are also computed using the above methods. The recoverability 
of these assets is assessed on a periodic basis, taking into 
consideration factors such as counterparty and credit risk.

(D) ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS AND METHODS 

The estimation of the outstanding claims liabilities is based on multiple actuarial techniques that analyse experience, trends and other 
relevant factors utilising the Suncorp Group’s specific data, relevant industry data and general economic data. Methods undertaken to 
determine claims liability will vary according to the class of business. The Suncorp Group currently divides its General Insurance business 
into two classes: Personal and Commercial.

The use of multiple actuarial methods assists in providing a greater understanding of the trends inherent in the past data. The projections 
obtained from various methods also assist in setting the range of possible outcomes. The most appropriate method or a blend of methods is 
selected, taking into account the characteristics of the class of business and the extent of the development of each past accident period.

ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS

The following key assumptions have been made in determining the outstanding claims liabilities:

2012 2011

peRsonal CommeRCial peRsonal CommeRCial

aust nZ aust nZ Aust NZ Aust NZ

Weighted average term to settlement (years)  0.6  1.4  4.6  2.1  0.6  0.4  4.9  1.6 
Economic inflation rate 4.0% 1.8% 4.0% 2.1% 4.1% 3.0% 4.5% 3.0%
Superimposed inflation rate n/a n/a 2.5% 1.9% n/a n/a 2.7% 1.9%
Discount rate 2.6% 3.0% 2.9% 2.8% 4.8% 2.9% 5.1% 3.8%
Claims handling expense ratio 6.0% 4.8% 4.3% 6.6% 9.2% 5.2% 4.3% 5.4%
Risk margin 9.0% 16.3% 18.8% 27.0% 12.8% 10.4% 19.2% 20.3%

Weighted average term to settlement – The weighted average term to settlement is calculated separately by class of business and is 
based on historic settlement patterns.

Economic and superimposed inflation – Claims inflation is incorporated into the resulting projected payments to allow for both expected 
levels of economic inflation and superimposed inflation. Economic inflation is based on economic indicators such as the consumer price 
index and/or increases in average weekly earnings. Superimposed inflation reflects the tendency for some costs, such as court awards, 
to increase at levels in excess of economic inflation. Inflation assumptions are set at a class of business level and reflect past experience 
and future expectations.

Discount rate – Projected payments are discounted at a risk-free rate to allow for the time value of money. Discount rates are derived from 
market yields on Commonwealth Government securities in Australia and the 10-year government stock rate in New Zealand at the balance date.

Claims handling expense ratio – The future claims handling ratio is calculated with reference to past experience of claims handling costs 
as a percentage of past payments.

Risk margin – A risk margin is added to allow for the uncertainty relating to the actuarial models and assumptions used, the quality  
of the underlying data used in the models, the general insurance environment and the impact of legislative reform. 

The overall risk margin is determined after analysing the relative uncertainty of the outstanding claims estimate for each class of 
business and the diversification between classes and geographical locations.

The assumptions regarding uncertainty for each class of business are applied to the net central estimates, and the results are 
aggregated, allowing for diversification, in order to arrive at an overall position which is intended to have an approximate probability  
of sufficiency of 90% across the Suncorp Group (2011: 90%).
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6.6.2 outstanding Claims liabilities (Continued)
(E) IMPACT OF CHANGES IN KEy VARIABLES

The Suncorp Group conducts sensitivity analyses to quantify the exposure to the risk of changes in the key underlying assumptions. A sensitivity analysis is conducted on each variable while holding all other 
variables constant. The tables below describe how a change in each assumption will affect the profit before tax. A change in each assumption will have no impact to equity reserves.

2012 2011

movement in vaRiable
pRofit (loss) 

befoRe tax
pRofit (loss) 

befoRe tax 

$m $m

Weighted average term to settlement (years) + 0.5 years  (106)  (52)
– 0.5 years  106  52 

Inflation rate +1%  (217)  (191)
–1%  206  181 

Discount rate +1%  204  178 
–1%  (227)  (195)

Claims handling expense ratio +1%  (53)  (47)
–1%  53  47 

Risk margin +1%  (56)  (50)
–1%  56  50 

6.7 geneRal insuRanCe – suboRdinated notes
general inSuranCe 2012 2011

due date first call $m $m

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Fixed rate notes  September 2024  September 2014  136  130 

 September 2025  September 2015  118  118 
 October 2026  October 2016  107  99 

 June 2027  June 2017  218  202 
Floating rate notes  September 2024  September 2014  52  52 

 September 2025  September 2015  77  77 
total subordinated notes (unsecured) – non-current  708  678 

The above subordinated notes are issued by Suncorp Metway Insurance Limited, Vero Insurance Limited and Suncorp Insurance Funding 2007 Limited. Payments of principal and interest on the notes have 
priority over the issuing entity’s dividend payments only. In the event of the winding-up of the issuing entity, the rights of the note holders will rank in preference only to the rights of its ordinary shareholders.
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6. general inSuranCe – SPeCiFiC DiSCloSureS (ContinueD)
6.8 geneRal insuRanCe – minimum Capital RequiRement (mCR)
All General Insurance entities that conduct insurance businesses in Australia are authorised by APRA and are subject to a minimum capital 
requirement (MCR). The MCR is the minimum level of capital that the regulator deems must be held to meet policyholder obligations. 
Licensed general insurance entities within the Suncorp Group use the standardised framework for calculating the MCR in accordance with 
the relevant prudential standards. In compliance with these standards, general insurers hold regulatory capital in excess of their MCR.

The regulatory capital position of the General Insurance business area1 at the end of the financial year was:

general inSuranCe 2012 2011 

$m $m

tier 1 capital
Share capital 7,812 8,016 
Reserves (66)  (69)
Retained profits (174) (433)
Insurance liabilities in excess of liability valuation 787 737 
Less: Tax effect of excess insurance liabilities (236) (221)

8,123 8,030 

Less:
Goodwill and other intangible assets (5,217) (5,268)
Other Tier 1 deductions (1) (6)
Total deductions from Tier 1 capital (5,218) (5,274)
Total Tier 1 capital 2,905 2,756 

tier 2 capital
Subordinated notes 764 769 
Total Tier 2 capital 764 769 
aPra capital base 3,669 3,525 
total minimum capital requirement (mCr) 2,277 2,110 
mCr coverage ratio (times)  1.61  1.67 

Note: 1 As represented by the Level 2 insurance group as defined by APRA Prudential standard GPS 001 Definitions.
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7. BanKing – SPeCiFiC DiSCloSureS
7.1 banking – ContRibution to pRofit 
BanKing 2012 2011

$m $m

net interest income 
Interest income  4,025  4,404 
Interest expense  (3,097)  (3,494)

 928  910 

net banking fee and commission income
Fee and commission income  186  196 
Fee and commission expense  (90)  (78)

 96  118 

investment and other revenue
Net profits on derivatives and other financial instruments  15  10 
Other income  2  - 

 17  10 
Non-interest income  113  128 
total income from Banking activities  1,041  1,038 

operating expenses
Operating expenses  (597)  (568)
Impairment losses on loans and advances  (405)  (325)
Banking business area profit before tax  39  145 

The components of interest income and expense that relate to financial assets or liabilities carried at fair value through profit and loss 
are those related to trading assets of $196 million (2011: $296 million) and liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss of 
$25 million (2011: $21 million) respectively.
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7. BanKing – SPeCiFiC DiSCloSureS (ContinueD)
7.2 banking – tRading and investment seCuRities
BanKing 2012 2011

$m $m

trading securities – current
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Interest-bearing securities: Bank bills, certificates of deposits  
and other negotiable securities  4,787  4,952 

Interest income of $196 million (2011: $296 million) and net losses of $nil (2011: $1 million) on financial assets carried at fair value 
through profit or loss were recognised for the financial year. Consolidated net gains (losses) of $nil (2011: $1 million) on financial assets 
held for trading are recognised in profit or loss.

BanKing 2012 2011

$m $m

investment securities 
Available-for-sale financial assets
Interest-bearing securities  2,522  5,731 
Unit trusts  14  11 

 2,536  5,742 

Held-to-maturity investments
Interest-bearing securities  3,772  - 
total investment securities  6,308  5,742 

Current  14  212 
Non-current  6,294  5,530 
total investment securities  6,308  5,742 

During the financial year ended 30 June 2012, $2,967 million (2011: $nil) of available-for-sale financial assets were reclassified to held-
to-maturity investments as a result of a change in intention to hold these investments to maturity.
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7.3 banking – deRivatives
BanKing 2012 2011

 notional value 

 faiR value 

 notional value 

 faiR value 

 asset   liability  asset  liability 

$m $m $m $m $m $m

Exchange rate-related contracts
Forward foreign exchange contracts  4,628  11  (81)  5,117  19  (58)
Cross currency swaps  6,979  72  (1,822)  8,853  88  (2,306)
Currency options  17  -  -  27  -  - 

 11,624  83  (1,903)  13,997  107  (2,364)

Interest rate-related contracts 
Forward rate agreements  100  -  -  1,000  -  - 
Interest rate swaps  61,583  337  (465)  45,607  124  (218)
Interest rate futures  2,811  4 (1)  2,905  2 (1)
Interest rate options  182  -  -  240  -  - 

 64,676  341  (466)  49,752  126  (219)
total derivative exposures – current  76,300  424  (2,369)  63,749  233  (2,583)

7.4 banking loans, advanCes and otheR ReCeivables
ConSoliDateD NOTE  2012  2011 

$m $m

Financial assets at amortised cost
Banking
Housing loans 1  33,955  30,994 
Consumer loans  482  558 
Business loans  13,392  15,373 
Other lending 2  1,918  2,333 

 49,747  49,258 
Provision for impairment 7.5.1  (537)  (564)

 49,210  48,694 

Consolidated
General Insurance and Life loans with Banking  (30)  (55)
total Banking loans, advances and other receivables  49,180  48,639 

Current  7,350  9,162 
Non-current  41,830  39,477 
total Banking loans, advances and other receivables  49,180  48,639 

Notes: 1 Includes securitised housing loan balances of $4,178 million  (2011: $3,980 million) which has an equivalent securitised liability.

   2 Includes $1,890 million (2011: $2,274 million) of collateral representing credit support to secure the Bank’s liability position, as part of the standard International Swaps and Derivatives Association agreement used by the Bank.
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7. BanKing – SPeCiFiC DiSCloSureS (ContinueD)
7.4 banking loans, advanCes and otheR ReCeivables (Continued)
(A) FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES

Included in business loans are the following finance lease receivables:

ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

$m $m

gross investment in finance lease receivables:
Less than one year  203  403 
Between one and five years  298  392 
More than five years  -  3 

 501  798 
Unearned future income on finance leases  (60)  (83)
net investment in finance lease receivables  441  715 
net investment in finance lease receivables

Less than one year  195  387 
Between one and five years  246  327 
More than five years  -  1 

 441  715 

7.5 banking – pRovision foR impaiRment on banking loans, advanCes and otheR ReCeivables
7.5.1  ReConCiliation of pRovision foR impaiRment on banking loans, advanCes and  

otheR ReCeivables
ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

$m $m

Collective provision
Balance at the beginning of the financial year  177  201 
Credit against impairment losses  (32)  (24)
Balance at the end of the financial year  145  177 

Specific provision
Balance at the beginning of the financial year  387  471 
Charge against impairment losses  406  329 
Impaired assets written off  (255)  (252)
Unwind of discount  (146)  (161)
Balance at the end of the financial year  392  387 
total provisions  537  564 
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7.5.2 impaiRment expense on banking loans, advanCes and otheR ReCeivables
ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

$m $m

Decrease in collective provision for impairment  (32)  (24)
Increase in specific provision for impairment  406  329 
Bad debts written off  39  25 
Bad debts recovered  (8)  (5)
total impairment expense  405  325 

7.6 banking – deposits and shoRt-teRm boRRowings
ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

$m $m

Banking
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Call deposits  10,098  9,520 
Term deposits  19,960  18,393 
Short-term securities issued  7,466  7,296 
Offshore borrowings  305  198 

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss
Offshore borrowings  3,715  3,840 

41,544 39,247

Consolidated
General Insurance, Life and Corporate call deposits with Banking at amortised cost  (836)  (389)
total deposits and short-term borrowings (unsecured) – current  40,708  38,858 

Interest expense of $25 million (2011: $21 million) on financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss was recognised in 
the financial year.

Fair value movement from changes in credit risk of financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss of $nil (2011: $nil) 
was recognised for the financial year and cumulatively. The contractual amount payable at maturity of these liabilities is $3,714 million 
(2011: $3,874 million). 

Consolidated net gains (losses) of $nil (2011: $1 million) on financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are 
recognised in profit or loss.
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7. BanKing – SPeCiFiC DiSCloSureS (ContinueD)
7.7 banking – seCuRitisation liabilities
ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

$m $m

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Banking
Notes issued  3,839  3,634 

Consolidated
General Insurance and Life investments in Banking’s securitisation liabilities  (39)  (102)
total securitisation liabilities (secured)  3,800  3,532 

Current  1,021  915 
Non-current  2,779  2,617 
total securitisation liabilities (secured)  3,800  3,532 

The Suncorp Group conducts a loan securitisation program whereby housing mortgage loans are packaged and sold to the securitisation vehicles known as the Apollo Trusts (Trusts). The Trusts fund their 
purchase of the loans by issuing floating-rate pass-through debt securities. These are represented as securitisation liabilities of the Suncorp Group.

The Suncorp Group does not stand behind the capital value or the performance of the securities or the assets of the Trusts; and it does not guarantee the payment of interest or the repayment of principal  
due on the securities. The loans subject to the securitisation program have been pledged as security for the securities issued by the Trusts. The Suncorp Group is not obliged to support any losses that may  
be suffered by the investors and does not intend to provide such support.

7.8 banking – debt issues
ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

$m $m

Borrowings at amortised cost
Banking
Offshore borrowings  4,334  5,333 
Domestic borrowings  3,666  4,818 
Total unsecured debt issues  8,000  10,151 

Domestic covered bonds issued  1,598  - 
Total secured debt issues  1,598  - 

 9,598  10,151 

Consolidated
General Insurance and Life investments in Banking’s debt securities 

Domestic borrowings  (29)  (120)
total debt issues  9,569  10,031 

Current  3,072  2,522 
Non-current  6,497  7,509 
total debt issues  9,569  10,031 

Covered bonds issued are guaranteed by the Covered Bond Guarantor and are secured over a covered pool which consists of $2,139 million of loans, advances and other receivables. The Covered Bond 
Guarantor can take possession of the cover pool under certain Title Perfection Events, as detailed in clause 6.1 of the Mortgage Sale Deed.
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7.9 banking – suboRdinated notes
BanKing 2012 2011

Due date First call $m $m

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Fixed rate notes (USD)  June 2013  Not applicable  104  99 
Fixed rate notes (GBP)  October 2017  October 2012  392  400 
Fixed rate notes (EUR)  October 2011  October 2011  -  177 
Perpetual floating rate notes (AUD)  170  170 
total subordinated notes (unsecured)  666  846 

Current  496  177 
Non-current  170  669 
total subordinated notes (unsecured)  666  846 

Banking subordinated notes are issued by SML. Payments of principal and interest on the notes have priority over SML dividend 
payments only. In the event of the winding-up of SML, the rights of the note holders will rank in preference only to the rights of its 
preference and ordinary shareholders.

7.10 banking – pRefeRenCe shaRes
ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

no. of shares  $m No. of shares  $m 

Convertible preference shares each fully paid  7,350,000  732  7,350,000  728 
Reset preference shares each fully paid  304,063  30  1,022,582  102 
total preference shares  7,654,063  762  8,372,582  830 

Current  732  102 
Non-current  30  728 
total preference shares  762  830 

7.10 banking – pRefeRenCe shaRes (Continued)
Preference shares are issued by SML. Holders of preference 
shares are entitled to vote in limited circumstances in which 
case shareholders will have the same rights as to the manner of 
attendance and to voting as SML ordinary shareholders with one 
vote per preference share. The limited circumstances are set out 
in the Information Memorandum/Prospectus.

In the event of the winding-up of SML, preference shareholders rank 
above SML ordinary shareholders but after depositors, creditors 
and subordinated note holders and are entitled to the proceeds of 
liquidation only to the extent of the issue price of the shares.

(A) RESET PREFERENCE SHARES 

The reset preference shares (rPS) are perpetual, paying fixed non-
cumulative dividends with certain terms periodically reset. Holders 
have an option on each reset date to request the preference 
shares be exchanged. Once a holder’s exchange request is 
received, SML has the option to elect to exchange for cash or SML 
ordinary shares of approximately equal value to the original issue 
price of the preference shares, or to have the preference shares 
acquired by a third party with proceeds delivered to the holder. It 
is SML’s current intention to exchange the relevant RPS for cash 
consideration rather than exchanging the RPS for SML ordinary 
shares (subject to APRA approval).
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(C) PREFERENCE SHARE DIVIDENDS PAID

ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

 ¢ per share $m Date paid  ¢ per share $m Date paid

Recognised as interest expense
reset preference shares 
Period from March to September 255  3 14 September 2011 255  4 14 September 2010
Period from September to March 210  1 14 march 2012 251  4 14 March 2011

 4  8 

Convertible preference shares 
September quarter 145  11 14 September 2011 142  10 14 September 2010
December quarter 141  10 14 December 2011 140  10 14 December 2010
March quarter 134  10 14 march 2012 143  11 14 March 2011
June quarter 136  10 14 June 2012 144  11 14 June 2011

 41  42 

7.11 banking – Capital adequaCy
APRA’s risk-based approach requires eligible capital held by banks 
to be divided by total risk-weighted exposures, with the resultant 
ratio being used as a measure of a bank’s capital adequacy. 

Tier 1 capital comprises the highest quality components of capital 
and can be split into Fundamental Tier 1 capital and Residual 
Tier 1 capital. Fundamental Tier 1 capital is the strongest form 
of capital such as ordinary share capital, reserves and retained 
profits. Residual Tier 1 capital comprises instruments such as 
perpetual non-cumulative preference shares and other capital 
instruments that can include features such as fixed terms, and 
step-ups in dividends or interest.

Tier 2 capital includes other components that, to varying degrees, 
fall short of the quality of Tier 1 capital but nonetheless contribute 
to the overall strength of a bank as a going concern. Upper Tier 
2 capital comprises components of capital that are permanent in 
nature and include some forms of hybrid instruments. Lower Tier 2 
capital comprises hybrid instruments that are not permanent.

For capital adequacy purposes, the capital base is defined as the 
sum of Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital after all specified deductions and 
adjustments. Eligible Tier 2 capital cannot exceed the level of Tier 
1 capital. Lower Tier 2 capital after all specified deductions and 
adjustments cannot exceed 50% of net Tier 1 capital.

The measurement of risk-weighted exposures is based on:

•  credit risk associated with on-balance sheet and off-balance 
sheet exposures, and securitisation exposures

• market risk arising from trading activities; and

• operational risk associated with the banking activities.

7. BanKing – SPeCiFiC DiSCloSureS (ContinueD)
7.10 banking – pRefeRenCe shaRes (Continued)
(A) RESET PREFERENCE SHARES (CONTINUED)

Holders of the RPS are entitled to receive a dividend as calculated 
by the formula set out in the Information Memorandum dated 16 
August 2001. Such dividends are at the discretion of the directors 
and only payable if the restrictions as set out in the Information 
Memorandum are complied with. The dividends are expected to 
be fully franked.

RPS reset on 14 September 2011 with 718,519 exchange requests 
received and exchanged for $72 million in cash. The Suncorp 
Group restructure in the prior financial year was a Control Event 
as defined in the RPS terms, triggering an option for holders to 
request exchange. 418,046 exchange requests were received 
and exchanged for $42 million in cash on 23 March 2011. The 
exchanged RPS were cancelled on the respective exchange dates. 
The next reset date is 14 September 2016.

(B) CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES

The convertible preference shares (CPS) are fully paid preference 
shares issued by SML which will mandatorily convert into a 
variable number of the Company’s ordinary shares on 14 June 
2013 (subject to certain requirements being met). In addition, SML 
must convert the CPS into a variable number of the Company’s 
ordinary shares or redeem the CPS for cash within 35 days of the 
occurrence of an Acquisition Event (subject to certain conditions 
being met). The CPS Prospectus dated 14 May 2008 was amended 
to substitute the Company as the issuer of ordinary shares upon 
conversion of the CPS as a result of the execution of the CPS Deed 
Poll from the Suncorp Group Restructure. 

Holders of the CPS are entitled to receive floating rate quarterly 
non-cumulative preferred dividends calculated by the formula 
set out in the Prospectus and which are subject to payment tests 
also documented in the Prospectus. Such dividends are at the 
discretion of the directors and only payable if the restrictions, as 
set out in the Prospectus, are complied with. The dividends are 
expected to be fully franked.
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For calculation of minimum prudential capital requirements, the Banking business area has adopted the Standardised Approaches.  
The Banking capital adequacy position is set out below:

BanKing 2012 2011

 $m  $m 

tier 1
Fundamental Tier 1 
Ordinary share capital  2,189  1,789 
Retained profits  517  902 

 2,706  2,691 

Residual Tier 1
Reset preference shares  30  102 
Convertible preference shares  735  736 
Preference shares not eligible for inclusion in Tier 1  -  (15)

 765  823 

Tier 1 deductions 
Goodwill and other intangibles arising on acquisition  (27)  (29)
Tier 1 deductions for investments in subsidiaries, capital support  (13)  (18)
Other Tier 1 deductions  (244)  (176)

 (284)  (223)
total tier 1 capital  3,187  3,291 

tier 2
Upper Tier 2
APRA general reserve for credit losses  221  248 
Perpetual subordinated notes  170  170 
Asset revaluation reserves  -  17 
Preference shares not eligible for inclusion in Tier 1  -  15 

 391  450 

Lower Tier 2
Subordinated notes  614  883 

Tier 2 deductions for investments in subsidiaries, capital support  (13)  (18)
total tier 2 capital  992  1,315 
Capital base  4,179  4,606 

total assessed risk  33,050  34,365 

risk-weighted capital ratios %   %   

Tier 1  9.6  9.6 
Tier 2  3.0  3.8 
total risk-weighted capital ratio  12.6  13.4 
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8. liFe – SPeCiFiC DiSCloSureS
8.1 life – ContRibution to pRofit 
liFe 2012 2011

 $m  $m 

income
Premiums received or receivable  1,643  1,292 
Premiums recognised as a change in gross policy liabilities  (872)  (501)
Premium income  771  791 
Outwards reinsurance premium expense  (166)  (195)

 605  596 
Investment income  252  636 
Fees from trust and fiduciary activities  60  104 
Other income  89  117 

 1,006  1,453 

expenses
Claims paid or payable  (1,700)  (1,316)
Claims recognised as a change in gross policy liabilities  1,149  782 
Claims expense  (551)  (534)
Reinsurance recoveries revenue  191  205 

 (360)  (329)
Policy acquisition expenses 

commission  (83)  (81)
other  (122)  (90)

Policy maintenance expenses 
commission  (73)  (67)
other  (149)  (116)

Investment management expenses  (43)  (19)
Other operating expenses  (51)  (166)
Decrease (increase) in net insurance contract liabilities  280  (79)
(Increase) in net investment contract liabilities  (60)  (270)
Decrease in unvested policyowner benefits  17  21 
Outside beneficial interests in managed funds  (39)  (31)
Non-banking interest expense  -  (3)

 (683)  (1,230)
life business area profit before tax  323  223 
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8.2 souRCes of life business opeRating pRofit
liFe 2012 2011

life insuRanCe 
ContRaCts 

investment 
linked ContRaCts

otheR life 
investment 

ContRaCts 

total 
statutoRy 

funds

life 
insuRanCe 
ContRaCts 

investment 
linked 

ContRaCts

otheR life 
investment 
ContRaCts 

total 
statutoRy 

funds

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

2012
Shareholders’ operating profit  
after tax in the statutory funds
Represented by:

Investment earnings on shareholders’ retained profits and capital  45  4  1  50  66  4  1  71 
Emergence of shareholders’ planned profits  76  -  -  76  94  -  -  94 
Experience profit (loss)  44  -  -  44  (39)  -  -  (39)
Reversal of capitalised loss  (4)  -  -  (4)  2  -  -  2 
Management services profit  -  5  -  5  -  8  -  8 

 161  9  1  171  123  12  1  136 

Cumulative losses carried forward at the end  
of the financial year

 38  -  -  38  24  -  -  24 

Life Act policyowners’ operating profit after tax  
in the statutory funds
Represented by:

Investment earnings on retained profits  11  -  -  11  26  -  -  26 
Emergence of policyowner planned profits  72  -  -  72  63  -  -  63 
Experience (loss) profit  (3)  -  -  (3)  4  -  -  4 
Revaluation of capitalised losses  (9)  -  -  (9)  -  -  -  - 

 71  -  -  71  93  -  -  93 

A policyowner is one who holds a policy with the Life companies (refer definition in note 8.7.1). The shareholder represents the Life companies’ interest in the statutory funds. A statutory fund is a fund of a 
life company that relates solely to the life insurance business of that life company as defined by the Life Insurance Act 1995 (Life Act).
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8. liFe – SPeCiFiC DiSCloSureS (ContinueD)
8.3 life – deRivatives
liFe 2012 2011

 notional value 

 faiR value 

 notional value 

 faiR value 

 asset   liability  asset   liability 

$m $m $m $m $m $m

Exchange rate-related contracts
Forward foreign exchange contracts  279  7  -  260  3  - 
Interest rate-related contracts 
Interest rate swaps  269  2  (4)  292  1  - 
Interest rate futures  (104)  -  -  (123)  -  - 
Interest rate options  7  -  -  (19)  -  - 

 172  2  (4)  150  1  - 
Equity contracts
Equity futures  88  1  -  26  -  - 
total derivative exposures – current  539  10  (4)  436  4  - 

8.4 life – investment seCuRities
liFe 2012 2011

$m $m

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Interest-bearing securities

Debentures and corporate bonds  2,064  1,783 
Government and semi-government securities  562  706 
Discounted securities  1,709  59 
Other interest-bearing securities  25  - 

 4,360  2,548 
Equity securities  2,184  1,339 
Property trusts  220  292 
Unit trusts  1,405  3,268 
Other  22  73 
total investment securities – current  8,191  7,520 
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8.5 life assets 
ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

 $m  $m 

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
Gross policy liabilities ceded under reinsurance  443  339 
Other receivables  87  103 

Financial assets at amortised cost
Other receivables  176  211 

Deferred insurance assets
Life deferred insurance assets  15  18 

total life assets  721  671 

Current  349  345 
Non-current  372  326 
total life assets  721  671 

8.6 life liabilities
ConSoliDateD NOTE 2012 2011

 $m  $m 

Gross policy liabilities
Investment contract policy liabilities  3,387  3,663 
Insurance contract policy liabilities 8.7.3  1,837  1,958 

8.6.1  5,224  5,621 
Unvested policyowner benefits 8.6.2  366  383 
Outstanding claims liabilities  186  167 
Unearned premium liabilities  10  12 
total life liabilities  5,786  6,183 

Current  772  521 
Non-current  5,014  5,662 
total life liabilities  5,786  6,183 
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8. liFe – SPeCiFiC DiSCloSureS (ContinueD)
8.6.1 gRoss life poliCy liabilities
ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

investment 
ContRaCts

insuRanCe 
ContRaCts

total poliCy 
liabilities

investment 
ContRaCts

insuRanCe 
ContRaCts

total poliCy 
liabilities

 $m  $m  $m  $m  $m  $m 

Policy liabilities
Policy liabilities at the beginning of financial year  3,663  1,958  5,621  3,672  1,911  5,583 

Movement in policy liabilities reflected in profit or loss  60  (177)  (117)  270  92  362 
Contributions and premiums recognised in policy liabilities  369  503  872  358  143  501 
Withdrawals and claims expense recognised in policy liabilities  (700)  (449)  (1,149)  (596)  (186)  (782)
Fee expense recognised as a change in policy liabilities  (8)  -  (8)  (31)  -  (31)
Foreign currency exchange movement  3  2  5  (10)  (2)  (12)

Policy liabilities at the end of financial year  3,387  1,837  5,224  3,663  1,958  5,621 

Liabilities ceded under insurance contracts are included in insurance contract policy liabilities with the corresponding asset disclosed in note 8.5.

8.6.2 unvested poliCyowneR benefits

ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

 $m  $m 

Unvested policyowner benefits at the beginning of financial year  383  404 
(Decrease) in unvested policyowner benefits  (17)  (21)
unvested policyowner benefits at the end of financial year  366  383 
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Actuarial reports with an effective date of 30 June 2012 were prepared in relation to policy liabilities and solvency reserves. All reports 
indicated that the Appointed Actuaries are satisfied as to the accuracy of the data upon which policy liabilities have been determined. 
The actuarial report for SLSL was prepared by Mr Rob Desoisa, Appointed Actuary B Sc (Hons), FIAA, and the actuarial report for ALLNZ 
was prepared by Mr Daniel Wong, Appointed Actuary MMgt FIAA FNZSA.

The methods and profit carriers for the major policy types of life insurance contracts are as follows:

BuSineSS tyPe methoD
liFe ComPany

ProFit CarrierSlSl allnZ

individual
Conventional  Projection ✓ ✓ Participating business – bonuses 

Non-participating business  
– expected claim payments

Investment account Projection ✓ n/a Interest credits
Accidental cash back Projection ✓ n/a Expected payments
Allocated pension Projection ✓ n/a Interest credits
Lump sum risk Projection ✓ ✓ Expected premium payments  
Disability income risk Projection ✓ ✓ Expected claim payments
Annuity Projection ✓ ✓ Annuity payments

group
Investment account Projection ✓ n/a Interest credits
Disability income risk Projection ✓ ✓ Expected claim payments
Lump sum risk Projection ✓ ✓ Expected claim payments

Under the projection method, estimates of policy cash flows (premiums, benefits, expenses and profit margins to be released in future 
periods) are projected into the future. The projected profit margins are expressed as a percentage of the relevant profit carrier. The policy 
liability is calculated as the net present value of these projected cash flows. Under the accumulation method for risk business, the policy 
liability is equal to the sum of reserves for incurred but not reported claims, unearned premiums and open disability income claims.

8.7.2 aCtuaRial assumptions, judgements and estimates used in CalCulating poliCy liabilities
The following table sets out key factors affecting the determination of the policy liabilities and the critical assumptions and judgements made. 

Each of the Life companies has a different mix of business, which has arisen over many years under different products, different 
underwriting standards and sold to different segments of the market. Experience for each of the Life companies, in relation to factors 
such as mortality, morbidity and lapse rates is examined in detail on at least an annual basis, with assumptions set having regard to 
the observed experience, the volume of internal data upon which to make inferences and other relevant factors for the life company in 
question. This may lead to different assumptions for each life company.

8.7 life – net poliCy liabilities
8.7.1 life liability estimation pRoCess
The Suncorp Group conducts its life insurance business in Australia 
through Suncorp Life & Superannuation Limited (SlSl) and in New 
Zealand through Asteron Life Limited (New Zealand) (allnZ). 
Prior to 1 January 2012, the Suncorp Group also conducted its life 
business in Australia through Asteron Life Limited (Australia) (all). 
ALL transferred its life insurance business to SLSL on 1 January 
2012 pursuant to a scheme under Part 9 of the Life Insurance Act 
1995 approved by the Federal Court of Australia. SLSL, ALL, and 
ALLNZ are collectively referred to as the Life companies.

Policy liabilities in Australia have been calculated in accordance 
with APRA Prudential Standard LPS 1.04 Valuation of Policy 
Liabilities issued under section 230A(1) of the Life Act. Policy 
liabilities in New Zealand have been calculated in accordance with 
Professional Standard Number 3, Determination of Life Insurance 
Policy Liabilities issued by the New Zealand Society of Actuaries.

For life insurance contracts, policy liabilities are calculated in a way 
which allows for the proper and timely release of profits over the 
life of the business as services are provided to policyowners and 
premiums are received. The release of profits is based on a profit 
carrier. For life investment contracts, policy liabilities are calculated as 
the fair value of liabilities in accordance with accounting standards.  

Life insurance contract liabilities are determined using statistical or 
mathematical methods, which are expected to give approximately 
the same results as if an individual liability was calculated for each 
contract. The computations are made by suitably qualified personnel 
on the basis of recognised actuarial methods, with due regard to 
relevant actuarial principles and standards. The methodology takes 
into account the risks and uncertainties of the particular classes of 
life insurance business written.
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8. liFe – SPeCiFiC DiSCloSureS (ContinueD)
8.7.2 aCtuaRial assumptions, judgements and estimates used in CalCulating poliCy liabilities (Continued)
aSSumPtion BaSiS oF aSSumPtion SigniFiCant ChangeS SinCe 2011

Investment earnings – 
participating business

Assumed earning rates are determined having regard to the asset mix of the investment portfolio backing the benefits, the assumed earning rates 
for each sector, market conditions at the valuation date and tax on investment earnings appropriate to the class of business and asset sector. See 
rates for each company in the following table.

No change in approach.

Investment earnings –  
non-participating business

All non-participating businesses use an investment earnings and discount rate assumption of the risk-free rate. This has been determined from 
the government bond curve. See rates for each company in the following table.

For ALLNZ, this was previously determined 
from the swap rate curve. No change in 
approach for Australia.

Maintenance expenses Per policy expense rates are based upon expected costs to service existing contracts in the period following the reporting date. Expense rates vary 
by product line and class of business. No change in approach.

Inflation
The inflation rate assumed takes into account the difference between the long-term government bonds and indexed government bonds. 
Australia 2.5% (2011: 3.0%), New Zealand 2.5% (2011: 2.5%).

Decreased by 0.5% for Australia.

Benefit indexation Where future benefits increase in line with inflation, the relevant country’s assumed inflation rate is used. None

Voluntary discontinuance Rates are based upon recent internal investigations. Rates may vary by product, class of business, policy value, age and duration in force. 
Allowance is also made for cash withdrawals. See rates for each life company in the following table.

Moderate increases for risk business  
having regard to recent experience.

Surrender values Surrender values are determined by applying the surrender bases current at the reporting date. None

Rates of taxation The rates of taxation assumed are based on current income tax legislation applicable to the type of product. None

Mortality –  
individual risk products

For both Australia and New Zealand, mortality rates for risk products have been determined using standard mortality tables which were 
developed by the Australian and New Zealand actuarial bodies. None

Mortality – annuitants Mortality rates for annuitants have been determined using the standard table IM/IF80 with adjustments for assumed future age-related improvements. 
Tables IM/IF80 were developed by the Institute of Actuaries and Faculty of Actuaries based on UK annuitant lives experience from 1979 to 1982. None

Morbidity – lump sum

Morbidity rates on lump sum Total and Permanent Disablement (TPD) policies have been based on industry and population experience with 
adjustments to reflect experience.
For trauma policies, assumed incidence rates are based on Australian/New Zealand population statistics with adjustments to reflect experience 
and policy conditions.

Moderate increases to trauma and TPD 
assumptions for risk business having regard 
to recent experience.

Disability –  income Morbidity rates on income policies have been determined using the IAD89-93 table with adjustments to reflect experience.  IAD89-93 was 
developed by the Institute of Actuaries of Australia based on Australian industry experience from 1989 to 1993.  

Moderate increases to incidence rates,  
and moderate decreases to termination  
rates having regard to recent experience.

Group lump sum Claim rates are set as a proportion of premiums net of commission, stamp duty and GST (where applicable). None

Group disability income 
Claim rates are set as a proportion of premiums net of commission, stamp duty and GST (where applicable). For SLSL, claim termination rates are 
determined using CIDA85 with adjustments to reflect SLSL’s experience. 
For ALLNZ, claim termination rates are determined using IAD89-93 with adjustments to reflect ALLNZ’s experience.

None

Future supportable bonuses  
and interest credits to 
participating policies

Future bonus rates and interest credits assumed are those supported by the value of assets supporting the participating policies and the assumed 
future experience, including allowance for the shareholder’s right to participate in distributions.
Distributions are split between policyowners and shareholders with the valuation allowing for shareholders to share in distributions at the 
maximum allowable rate of 20%.

No change in approach.
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8.7.2 aCtuaRial assumptions, judgements and estimates used in CalCulating poliCy liabilities (Continued)
slsl all allnZ

aSSumPtion 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

% % % % % %

Investment earnings pre-tax for participating business 4.3 – 5.3 6.5 – 7.6 n/a 6.9 – 7.4 5.0 6.7
Investment earnings pre-tax for non-participating business 2.3 – 4.4 4.7 – 6.1 n/a 4.7 – 5.7 2.5 – 4.9 2.9 – 6.4
Voluntary discontinuance 3 – 30 4 – 30 n/a 3 – 32 4 – 20 4 – 20
Mortality – individual risk products adjustment 59 – 170 70 – 170 n/a 59 – 68 70 – 110 70 – 110
Mortality – annuitants 60 60 n/a 60 66 67
Future improvements in mortality – annuitants 97.3 97.3 n/a 97.3 97.5 97.5

8.7.3 insuRanCe ContRaCt poliCy liabilities
ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

CuRRent basis 4 pRevious basis 5 pRevious basis 6

 $m  $m  $m 

insurance contract policy liabilities
Best estimate liability 
Value of future policy benefits 1  5,450  5,202  4,354 
Value of future expenses  2,587  2,677  2,084 
Value of unrecouped acquisition expenses  (213)  (213)  (177)
Balance of future premiums  (8,059)  (8,210)  (6,395)

 (235)  (544)  (134)
value of future profits 
Policyowner bonuses 2  366  530  558 
Shareholder profit margins  1,181  1,313  1,085 

 1,547  1,843  1,643 
total value of declared bonuses 3  82  82  110 
total net policy liabilities  1,394  1,381  1,619 
Life insurance reinsurance ceded  443  443  339 
gross insurance contract liabilities  1,837  1,824  1,958 

Policy liabilities subject to capital guarantee  1,395  12  1,345 

Notes: 1  Future policy benefits include bonuses credited to policyowners in prior periods but exclude current period bonuses and future bonuses. Where business is valued by other than projection techniques, future policy benefits include the account balance.

   2 Future bonuses exclude current period bonuses.

   3 Current year declared bonuses valued in accordance with the actuarial standards.

   4  Based on actuarial methods and assumptions relevant at the current reporting date, on current in-force business as at 30 June 2012.

   5  Based on actuarial methods and assumptions relevant at the previous reporting date, on current in-force business as at 30 June 2012.

   6  Based on actuarial methods and assumptions relevant at the previous reporting date, on current in-force business as at 30 June 2011.
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For life insurance contracts which are accounted for under LPS 1.04, amounts recognised in the current period are unlikely to be sensitive 
to changes in variables even if those changes may have an impact on future profit margins, except in cases where the product is in loss 
recognition or goes into loss recognition.

The following table illustrates the impact in the current period of changes in key assumptions as at 30 June 2012. The change in liability 
and profit (loss) are shown net and gross of reinsurance. 

Change in inSuranCe  
ContraCt liaBility ProFit (loSS) aFter tax

vaRiable Change 1
net of 

ReinsuRanCe 
gRoss of 

ReinsuRanCe 
net of 

ReinsuRanCe 
gRoss of 

ReinsuRanCe 

 $m  $m  $m  $m 

Maintenance expense  + 10% increase  2  2 (1) (1)
Mortality and lump sum morbidity  + 10% increase  (5)  (5)  3  4 
Morbidity – disability income  + 10% increase in 

incidence and decrease  
in recovery rates 

 124  250  (87)  (175)

Discontinuance rates  + 10% increase  5  7  (3)  (5)

Note: 1 Sensitivity changes are relative to current best estimate assumptions.

The following table illustrates the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions from 30 June 2011 to 30 June 2012. Part of the effect of the 
change in variables below may have been absorbed in to profit margins.

Future ProFit PoliCy liaBilitieS
assumption CategoRy inCRease (deCRease)  inCRease (deCRease) 

 $m  $m 

Discount rates (risk business) 1  5  (135)
Discount rates (participating business)  (43)  10 
Mortality and morbidity  (21)  - 
Morbidity income  (21)  - 
Lapse and surrender rates  (50)  - 
Maintenance expenses  (5) (1)

Note: 1 Effects for risk business is shown gross of tax.

8. liFe – SPeCiFiC DiSCloSureS (ContinueD)
8.7.4 sensitivity analysis
The Suncorp Group conducts sensitivity analyses to quantify the 
exposure to risk of changes in the key underlying variables that 
affect profits. The valuations included in the reported results and 
the Life companies’ best estimate of future performance, are 
calculated using certain assumptions about these variables. The 
movement in any key variable will impact the performance and net 
assets of the Life companies and as such represents a risk.

variaBle imPaCt oF movement in unDerlying variaBle

Maintenance 
expense

An increase in the level or inflationary growth of 
expenses over assumed levels would decrease profit 
and shareholder equity.

Mortality, TPD 
and Trauma rates

For lump sum risk business other than lifetime 
annuities, greater mortality, TPD or trauma rates 
would lead to higher levels of claims occurring, 
increasing associated claims cost and therefore 
reducing profit and shareholder equity. For lifetime 
annuities greater mortality rates would lead to a 
shorter duration of regular payments, and therefore 
increasing profit and shareholder equity.

Morbidity 
rates (disability 
income)

The cost of health-related claims depends on both 
the incidence of policyowners becoming disabled 
and the duration for which they remain disabled. 
Higher than expected incidence and longer durations 
would increase claim costs, reducing profit and 
shareholders’ equity.

Discontinuance An increase in discontinuance rates at earlier 
durations has a negative effect, reducing profit and 
shareholder equity, as it affects the ability to recover 
acquisition expenses and commissions.
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8.8 life – Capital and solvenCy RequiRements
Life insurance companies are required to hold prudential reserves, 
over and above their life insurance contract and investment 
contract liabilities, as a buffer against adverse experience and poor 
investment returns. This involves the monitoring of two aspects of 
each life statutory fund – solvency and capital adequacy.

The purpose of the solvency requirement is to ensure, as far 
as practicable, that at any time the Life companies will be able 
to meet all existing liabilities as they become due. The capital 
adequacy requirement is a separate requirement (usually higher) 
that must be satisfied for the Life companies to be allowed to 
make distributions to its shareholders and to operate without 
regulatory intervention. 

Capital adequacy requirements for the Australian life insurer are 
specified in the Life Act and LPS 3.04 Capital Adequacy Standard 
with the Suncorp Group’s Australian life company holding a target 
surplus of capital in excess of this prescribed minimum. In the 
absence of New Zealand regulatory requirements relating to 
capital adequacy, the Suncorp Group determines the minimum 
capital requirements for its New Zealand life company according 
to the business and operational needs.

The methodology and bases for determining Australian solvency 
requirements is in accordance with LPS 2.04 Solvency Standard, 
as required under the Life Act. For New Zealand, this amount has 
been calculated in accordance with Solvency Standard for Life 
Insurance Business issued by the Reserve Bank of New Zealand, 
as required under the Insurance (Prudential Supervision) Act 2010. 

The Appointed Actuaries have confirmed that the available assets of 
each life statutory fund have exceeded the capital adequacy (for the 
Suncorp Group’s Australian life company) and the solvency reserve 
required at all times during the year. For detailed solvency information 
on a statutory fund basis, users of this financial report should refer to 
the financial statements prepared by the Life companies.

8.8 life – Capital and solvenCy RequiRements (Continued)
liFe 2012 2011

 $m  $m 

Solvency requirement  7,450  7,445 
Assets available for solvency reserve  946  994 
Solvency reserve 5.8% 6.3%
Coverage of solvency reserve (times)  2.5  2.3 

Sensitivity tests are performed on a quarterly basis to ascertain the ability of the statutory funds to withstand various adverse asset 
shock scenarios.

8.9 life – managed assets and tRustee aCtivities
Arrangements are in place to ensure activities relating to asset management and trusteeship and mortgage investments are managed 
separately from the Life operations of the Suncorp Group.

Companies within the Suncorp Group are used to manage assets of subsidiaries, superannuation schemes and unit trusts of the Suncorp 
Group as well as external clients. Companies within the Suncorp Group also undertake trustee activities. The funds under administration 
by trustee companies are listed in the table below: 

truStee / FunD manager 2012 2011

 $m  $m 

Asteron Retirement Investment Limited and Asteron Trust Services Limited 1  245  299 
Suncorp Portfolio Services Limited 2  5,660  5,996 

Notes:  1  Trustee and manager for a number of wholesale, superannuation and investment funds. The assets and liabilities of these trusts and funds are not consolidated in the 
financial statements as the Suncorp Group does not control these entities.  

   2 Trustee for various internal and external superannuation funds.

SunCorP grouP anD CorPorate DiSCloSureS
9. revenue
9.1 investment Revenue

ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

 $m  $m 

Interest income  729  707 
Trust distributions  352  249 
Dividends  98  66 
Changes in fair value of General Insurance financial assets  249  56 
Changes in fair value of Life financial assets  (276)  250 
Net gains on derivative and other financial instruments  16  12 
Rental income from investment property  15  18 
total investment revenue  1,183  1,358 
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9. revenue (ContinueD)
9.2 otheR inCome
ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

 $m  $m 

Fees and commissions  307  262 
Fees from trust and fiduciary activities  177  242 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  69  - 
Other revenue  1  110 
total other income  554  614 

10. oPerating exPenSeS
ConSoliDateD NOTE 2012 2011

 $m  $m 

Staff expenses
Wages, salaries, share-based payments and other staff costs 1  1,487  1,468 
Defined contribution superannuation expenses  91  93 

 1,578  1,561 
occupancy and equipment expenses
Operating lease rentals  146  147 
Other  49  52 

 195  199 

information technology and communication  229  207 

Depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation 16  84  93 
Amortisation 18  167  187 

 251  280 

other expenses
Advertising and promotion expenses  209  199 
Consultancy and legal expenses  99  53 
Other  40  155 

 348  407 
total operating expenses  2,601  2,654 

Note: 1 Includes $22,657 thousand (2011: $17,104  thousand) relating to equity-settled share-based payment transactions. 
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11. inCome tax
11.1 inCome tax expense

ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

 $m  $m 

Profit before tax  963  702 
Income tax using the domestic corporation tax rate of 30% (2011: 30%)  289  211 

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (1)  - 
Increase in income tax expense due to:

Non-assessable income  (9)  - 
Non-deductible expenses  17  15 
Imputation gross-up on dividends received  2  11 
Statutory funds  (10)  10 
Income tax offsets and credits  (9)  (37)
Amortisation of acquisition intangible assets  7  7 
Other items  (20)  7 

 266  224 
(Over) under provision in prior financial years  (31)  21 
income tax expense on profit before tax  235  245 

income tax expense recognised in profit consists of:
Current tax expense
Current year  243  337 
Adjustments for prior financial years  (26)  (25)

 217  312 
Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences  18  (67)
total income tax expense  235  245 

INCOME TAX OF LIFE COMPANIES

Income tax expense includes an expense of $80 million (2011: $73 million) attributable to the Life companies’ statutory funds.  
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11. inCome tax (ContinueD)
11.1 inCome tax expense (Continued)
AUSTRALIA

For Australia, the income tax expense is partly determined on a product basis and partly determined on a profit basis. The income tax 
expense has been determined after aggregating various classes of business, each with different tax rates. The statutory rates of taxation 
applicable to the taxable income of significant classes of business are as follows:

2012 2011

 %  % 

applicable tax rates for classes of business
Complying superannuation business 1 15 15
Ordinary class of business 30 30
Shareholder funds 30 30

Note: 1 Includes Virtual Pooled Superannuation Trust (VPST).

NEW ZEALAND

In New Zealand, a corporate tax rate of 28% (2011: 30%) applies for all classes of business. 

11.2 CuRRent tax liabilities
ConSoliDateD 2012 2011 2012 2011

CuRRent tax ReCeivable1 CuRRent tax liability

 $m  $m  $m  $m 

Current tax receivable (liability) relating to:
Australian tax consolidated group  -  -  (50)  (144)
Entities outside of the Australian tax consolidated group:

New Zealand subsidiaries 11 9  -  - 
Other - - (1)  (1)

Balance at the end of the financial year 11 9  (51)  (145)

Note: 1 Current tax receivables are included in other assets in note 17.
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11.3 defeRRed tax assets and liabilities
11.3.1 ReCognised defeRRed tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

ConSoliDateD  2012  2011  2012  2011  2012  2011 
defeRRed tax assets defeRRed tax liabilities net

 $m  $m  $m  $m  $m  $m 

Property, plant and equipment  26  23  -  -  26  23 
Intangible assets  1  -  (178)  (206)  (177)  (206)
Employee benefits  67  55  -  -  67  55 
Provisions  292  289  -  (2)  292  287 
Other items  87  85  (114)  (96)  (27)  (11)
Tax assets (liabilities)  473  452  (292)  (304)  181  148 
Set-off of tax  (292)  (304)  292  304  -  - 
net tax assets  181  148  -  -  181  148 

Movement in deferred tax balances during the financial year:

ConSoliDateD  2012  2011  2012  2011 
defeRRed tax assets defeRRed tax liabilities

 $m  $m  $m  $m 

Balance at the beginning of the financial year  452  447  (304)  (346)
(Charged) credited to profit or loss  (26)  27  8  40 
Credited (charged) to equity  42  (23)  11  2 
Reclassification  5  -  (5)  - 
Acquisition (disposal) of subsidiaries  -  1  (2)  - 
Balance at the end of the financial year  473  452  (292)  (304)

There are no unrecognised deferred tax assets and liabilities.

11.3.2 defeRRed tax ReCognised diReCtly in equity
ConSoliDateD  2012  2011 

 $m  $m 

Deferred tax recognised directly in equity
Relating to cash flow hedges  (20)  15 
Relating to available-for-sale financial assets  (18)  9 
Relating to actuarial losses on defined benefit plans  (15)  - 
Relating to other items  -  (3)

 (53)  21 
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11. inCome tax (ContinueD)
11.4 tax Consolidation
The Company is the head company of a tax consolidated group 
comprising of all Australian wholly-owned entities within the 
Suncorp Group. In the opinion of the directors, this limits the joint 
and several liability of the wholly-owned subsidiaries in the case 
of default by the head company of the tax consolidated group. 
Under the tax funding agreement, the wholly-owned entities fully 
compensate the Company for any current tax payable assumed. 

12. Share-BaSeD PaymentS
The Suncorp Group operates a number of employee share plans. 
Shares required for the share plans are acquired by a special 
purpose trustee and/or custodial companies in ordinary trading on 
the Australian Securities Exchange. 

Features of the plans currently in operation are:

Share PlanS
exeCutive PerFormanCe 
Share Plan (ePSP)

exemPt emPloyee Share 
Plan (eeSP)

DeFerreD emPloyee Share 
Plan (DeSP)

non-exeCutive DireCtorS 
Share Plan (neDSP)

Method of 
settlement

Equity-settled. Cash-settled 
in limited circumstances as 
elected by the Board.

Equity-settled Equity-settled Equity-settled

Eligible plan 
participant

Executives Employees not part of  
the EPSP.

Employees can elect  
to participate.

Non-executive directors  
or their associates as 
approved by the Board can 
elect to participate.

Basis of share 
grant / issue

Value of shares granted 
(offered) is determined by the 
Board based on the executive’s 
level of remuneration and 
individual performance.

Market value of shares up to 
$1,000 per employee per year 
may be granted by the Board 
based on the Suncorp Group’s 
overall performance.

Employees to fund the 
acquisition of shares to be 
held under this Plan from their 
pre-tax remuneration up to a 
maximum value of $5,000.

Non-executive directors 
nominate a percentage of their 
pre-tax remuneration up to a 
maximum of $5,000 per annum 
to fund the acquisition of 
shares on market. 
Shares acquired are held in 
the Plan for a maximum of 
seven years from the date of 
acquisition.

Vesting Subject to satisfaction of 
performance criteria over the 
performance period.

Fully vested, not subject to 
forfeiture.

As the acquisition of shares is funded through the participating 
employee’s or non-executive director’s remuneration, the shares are 
fully vested at the date of acquisition.

Performance 
criteria

Refer to note 12.1.1. None None None

Minimum  
holding period

None after shares are vested. Earlier of three years or upon 
cessation of employment.

Earlier of one year or upon 
cessation of employment.

None

Plan  
maximum limit

Shares can only be granted or issued under the plans if the number to be granted or issued will not exceed 5% of total shares  
on issue of the Company when aggregated with the number of shares granted or issued during the previous five years for all 
share plans operated by the Company.

Dividend 
entitlements

Vested shares carry full 
entitlement to dividend from 
the grant date (less any taxes 
paid by the Plan Trustee in 
respect of such dividends).

Full entitlement from when 
the shares are allocated to the 
participating employee and 
held in the Plan.

Full entitlement to dividend from when the shares are acquired 
and held in the Plan.

Voting rights Voting rights are held by  
the Plan Trustee until shares 
are vested.

Participating employees have 
the right to vote from when 
the shares are allocated to 
them in the Plan.

Participating employees and non-executive directors have  
the right to vote from when the shares are acquired and held  
in the Plan.
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12.1.2 shaRes gRanted undeR the epsp 
The fair value of services received in return for deferred ordinary 
shares granted is measured by reference to the fair value of 
the shares granted. The estimate of the fair value of the shares 
is measured based on a Monte Carlo simulation pricing model 
and reflects the fact that vesting of the shares is dependent on 
meeting performance criteria based on TSR. The vesting of the 
shares is also subject to non-market conditions but these are not 
taken into account in the grant date fair value measurement of the 
services received.

Inputs into the model include expected volatility which is based on 
the historic volatility of the Company’s share price and a risk-free 
interest rate based on Australian Government bonds.

12.1 exeCutive peRfoRmanCe shaRe plan
12.1.1 epsp peRfoRmanCe CRiteRia
grant Date 1 oCtoBer 2006 – 3 may 2010 From 1 oCtoBer 2010

Performance criteria The criteria is based on total shareholder returns (TSR) achieved by the Company over a performance period compared 
to the TSR of a comparator group.

Comparator group Top 50 Industrial companies in the S&P/ASX 100, 
excluding listed property trusts.

Top 50 Industrial companies in the S&P/ASX 100, 
excluding mining companies and listed property trusts.

Performance results  
and vesting rules

Shares granted under this plan will vest and are allocated based on the Company’s TSR performance results:

Company peRfoRmanCe (tsR peRCentile Ranking) % of shaRes available foR vesting 

< 50th percentile Nil
50th percentile 50%
> 50th but < 75th percentile an additional 2% of the shares will vest for each 1% 

increase (on a straight line basis) in the Company’s  
TSR ranking above the 50th percentile

75th percentile or above 100%

Initial performance period The initial performance period commences on the grant date and ends on the initial vesting date which is generally 
three years after the grant date. 

At initial vesting date The executive has the right to elect to receive an 
allocation of shares, based on the performance result 
described above, or extend the performance period a 
further two years. If the executive elects to accept the 
year three performance result, any shares subject to that 
same offer that are not allocated are forfeited.

Shares are vested and allocated based on the performance 
result described above. Any shares offered that are not 
allocated are forfeited. No extension of performance period 
is permitted.

During the extended 
performance period (Period 
from the initial vesting date 
to  the end of the extended 
performance period (generally 
at the end of year five))

Performance measurements are undertaken during the 
extended performance period on a six monthly basis. 
Executives electing to extend the performance period 
waive their right to make any further election in regard to 
acceptance of a performance result (and therefore cannot 
have shares allocated) until the end of year five. The 
executives’ entitlement to an allocation of shares at the 
end of year five will be based on the highest performance 
measurement result recorded at any of the prescribed 
performance measurement points over the extended 
performance period. Shares not allocated at the end of 
the extended performance period are forfeited.

Not applicable
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12. Share-BaSeD PaymentS (ContinueD)
12.1.2 shaRes gRanted undeR the epsp (Continued)
Details of the deferred ordinary shares granted under the EPSP as long-term incentives and the inputs for measurement of grant date fair value are detailed below:

2012 2011

gRant date
faiR value 

at gRant date

inputs foR measuRement of gRant date faiR value

numbeR of 
shaRes unvested

numbeR of 
shaRes unvestedshaRe pRiCe expeCted volatility vesting peRiod dividend yield

Risk-fRee 
inteRest Rate 

1 October 2006 $12.41 $21.94 17% 3 years 4.9% 5.80% -  337,813 
1 April 2007 $11.41 $20.80 19% 2.5 years 5.0% 6.20% -  165,371 
17 April 2007 $7.79 $20.57 19% 3 years n/a 6.00% -  11,138 
1 October 2007 $14.60 $20.35 19% 5 years 5.1% 6.44%  756,619  776,615 
1 October 2008 $4.32 $9.61 31% 3 years 7.2% 5.24%  1,495,123  1,530,320 
1 October 2009 $6.34 $8.82 47% 3 years 5.6% 5.17%  1,687,163  1,758,515 
1 October 2009 $6.56 $8.82 47% 4 years 5.6% 5.17%  300,000  300,000 
1 October 2009 $6.75 $8.82 47% 5 years 5.6% 5.17%  300,000  300,000 
3 May 2010 $5.94 $9.11 34% 3 years 4.6% 5.35%  313,016  313,016 
1 October 2010 $5.31 $8.77 29% 3 years 4.1% 4.87%  1,584,788  1,672,413 
8 June 2011 $4.13 $8.09 22% 2.3 years 4.1% 4.87%  95,403  108,062 
1 October 2011 $5.27 $7.98 27% 3 years 4.2% 3.62%  1,164,193 -

 7,696,305  7,273,263 

The movement in the number of shares granted under the EPSP is as follows:

2012 2011

numbeR of shaRes numbeR of shaRes

Outstanding at the beginning of the financial year  7,273,263  6,018,557 
Granted during the financial year  1,181,135  1,862,432 
Vested and allocated during the financial year  (17,671)  (34,899)
Forfeited during the financial year  (740,422)  (572,827)
Outstanding at the end of the financial year  7,696,305  7,273,263 

12.2 otheR shaRe plans
For the DESP and NEDSP, shares are acquired and funded through the participating employee’s or non-executive director’s remuneration. These have a nil profit or loss impact for the Suncorp Group.  
Shares are acquired at various times during the financial year. The fair value of these shares is the market value of the shares on the date they were acquired. Other details are as follows: 

ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

Total number of shares acquired through DESP and NEDSP  222,188  179,606 
Fair value $1,748 thousand $1,559 thousand
Amounts received from employees and non-executive directors $1,748 thousand $1,559 thousand

The Suncorp Group granted to each eligible employee ordinary shares of the Company to the value of $750 (2011: $500) under the EESP for the financial year. These shares are acquired on-market for 
allocation to employees by the share plan in October 2012 (2011: October 2011).
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13. DeFineD BeneFit FunD oBligationS 
Certain subsidiaries of the Company sponsor defined benefit 
superannuation plans for employees of the Suncorp Group. Each 
superannuation fund provides benefits to members on retirement, 
death or disability. All defined benefit funds are now closed to 
new members, with new employees now being given membership 
to a defined contribution fund.

The objective of funding is to ensure that the benefit entitlements 
of members and other beneficiaries are fully funded by the time 
they become payable. To achieve this objective, the actuaries use 
the Projected Unit Cost method to annually determine the present 
value of the defined benefit obligations. 

The following table shows the net position recognised in relation 
to defined benefit funds as at balance date. 

The Suncorp Group intends to contribute $3 million to the defined 
benefit funds in the financial year ending 30 June 2013 in line with 
the actuaries’ latest recommendations.

ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

suRplus (defiCit)
net suRplus 

(defiCit) suRplus (defiCit)
net suRplus 

(defiCit)

 $m  $m  $m  $m  $m  $m 

Defined benefit funds
australia
Suncorp Defined Benefit Fund  -  (16)  (16)  2  -  2 
AAMI Staff Superannuation Fund  -  -  -  1  -  1 
new Zealand
Vero and Asteron New Zealand Staff Pension Scheme  -  (32)  (32)  -  (19)  (19)
RIG Superannuation Fund  -  (5)  (5)  -  (4)  (4)
Commercial Union General Insurance  
Staff Pension Scheme  -  (2)  (2)  - (1) (1)
Guardian Assurance Superannuation Fund  -  (4)  (4)  1  -  1 
total (deficit) surplus  -  (59)  (59)  4  (24)  (20)

13.1 pRinCipal aCtuaRial assumptions and employeR ContRibutions
ConSoliDateD 2012 2011 2012 2011

austRalia new Zealand

% % % %

Employer contribution rate 1  16.9  14.9  0-20  0-20 
Discount rate at 30 June  3.0  5.0  2.5  3.7 
Expected return on fund assets at 30 June 2  6.9  6.9  5.7  5.7 
Future salary increases  4.0  4.0  3.5  4.0 

Note:  1  Not all funds are contributing for members as recommended in the Actuarial Review. The Actuarial Review is completed under the actuarial standards issued by the New 
Zealand Society of Actuaries Practice Standard PS2 and is different to the basis of valuation required under the Australian Accounting Standards.

   2  The expected return on assets assumption is determined by weighting the expected long-term return for each asset class by the target allocation of assets to each asset 
class and allowing for the correlations of the investment returns between asset classes. The returns used for each asset class are net of investment tax and investment fees. 

13.2 histoRiC summaRy
ConSoliDateD 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

 $m  $m  $m  $m  $m 

Present value of defined benefit obligations  (185)  (160)  (167)  (169)  (192)
Fair value of assets held by the funds  140  149  159  154  198 
(Deficit) surplus  (45)  (11)  (8)  (15)  6 

Experience (losses) gains arising on fund liabilities  (2)  (2) -  4  (11)
Experience (losses) gains arising on fund assets  (12) - 11 (35) (30)



92   SUNCORP GROUP LIMITED

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the financial year ended 30 June 2012 (continued)

13. DeFineD BeneFit FunD oBligationS (ContinueD)
13.3 CuRRent finanCial summaRy
ConSoliDateD NOTE 2012 2011

 $m  $m 

Fair value of fund assets 140 149 
Present value of defined benefit (DB) obligations – funded - (93)
Present value of defined benefit (DB) obligations – partly funded (185) (67)
Adjustment for contributions tax (14) (9)
net liability recognised in the statement of financial position (59) (20)

Consisting of:
Fund surplus recognised in Other assets 17 - 4 
Fund deficit recognised in Payables and other liabilities 19 (59) (24)

(59) (20)

ConSoliDateD 2012 2011 2012 2011
faiR value of fund assets pResent value of db obligations

 $m  $m  $m  $m 

reconciliation of movements
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 149 159 (160) (167)
Benefits paid (18) (20) 18 20 
Contributions 10 5 - - 
Expected return on fund assets recognised in profit or loss 9 10 - - 
Current service and interest costs recognised in profit or loss - - (11) (10)
Actuarial (losses) recognised in other comprehensive 
income

(12) (2) (30) (9)

Foreign currency exchange movement 2 (3) (2) 6 
Balance at the end of the financial year 140 149 (185) (160)



ANNUAL REPORT 2011/12   93

13.3 CuRRent finanCial summaRy (Continued)
ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

 $m  $m 

expected return on fund assets, current service and interest costs are recognised  
in profit or loss and included in the statement of comprehensive income as
Other income 1 2 
Operating expense (3) (2)
Actuarial losses on defined benefit plans (2) - 

recognised in other comprehensive income
Actuarial losses 42 11 
Contributions tax 9 - 

51 11 

Cumulative actuarial losses recognised in other comprehensive income 62 11 
actual return on fund assets (4) (1)

 %  % 

major categories of funds assets as a percentage of total fund assets:
Cash and Fixed Income 39 37 
Equities 54 56 
Property 2 2 
Other 5 5 
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14. DerivativeS
ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

 notional value 

 faiR value 

 notional value 

 faiR value 

 asset   liability  asset   liability 

$m $m $m $m $m $m

Exchange rate-related contracts
Forward foreign exchange contracts  5,126  24  (81)  5,377  22  (58)
Cross currency swaps  6,688  -  (1,822)  9,144  -  (2,306)
Currency options  17  -  -  27  -  - 

 11,831  24  (1,903)  14,548  22  (2,364)
Interest rate-related contracts 
Forward rate agreements  100  -  -  1,000  -  - 
Interest rate swaps  63,407  364  (502)  47,116  141  (213)
Interest rate swaptions  -  -  -  384  1 (1)
Interest rate futures  3,456  4 (1)  4,103  2 (1)
Interest rate options  239  -  -  268  - (1)

 67,202  368  (503)  52,871  144  (216)
Equity contracts
Equity futures  146  1  -  26  -  - 
total derivative exposures – current  79,179  393  (2,406)  67,445  166  (2,580)

A description of how the Suncorp Group uses derivatives can be found in note 35.7.

15. inveStment SeCuritieS
15.1 CoRpoRate – investment seCuRities
CorPorate 2012 2011

$m $m

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Interest-bearing securities  377  571 
Unit trusts  228  - 

Investments at cost
Shares in subsidiaries  13,527  13,253 
total investment securities  14,132  13,824 

Current  605  571 
Non-current  13,527  13,253 
total investment securities  14,132  13,824 
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15.2 Consolidated – investment seCuRities
ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

$m $m

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Interest-bearing securities  14,697  14,172 
Equity securities  2,176  1,327 
Property trusts  220  292 
Unit trusts  1,472  2,419 
Other  22  73 

 18,587  18,283 

Available-for-sale financial assets
Interest-bearing securities  2,522  5,731 

Held-to-maturity investments
Interest-bearing securities  3,772  - 
total investment securities  24,881  24,014 

Current  18,587  18,484 
Non-current  6,294  5,530 
total investment securities  24,881  24,014 

During the financial year ended 30 June 2012, $2,967 million (2011: $nil) of available-for-sale financial assets were reclassified to held-
to-maturity investments as a result of change in intention to hold these investments to maturity.
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16. ProPerty, Plant anD equiPment
ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

land and 
buildings

leasehold 
impRovements

plant and 
equipment total

land and 
buildings

leasehold 
impRovements

plant and 
equipment total

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Gross carrying amount  7  291  528  826  122  302  552  976 
Less: accumulated depreciation  
and impairment losses 

 (4)  (191)  (415)  (610)  (22)  (197)  (406)  (625)

Balance at the end of the financial year  3  100  113  216  100  105  146  351 

movements 
Balance at the beginning of the financial year  100  105  146  351  100  112  146  358 
Additions  -  1  59  60  1  5  99  105 
Disposals/write-offs  (96)  (5)  (9)  (110)  - (1)  (15)  (16)
Depreciation (1)  (26)  (57)  (84) (1)  (31)  (61)  (93)
Transfers between classes  -  25  (25)  -  -  20  (20)  - 
Foreign currency exchange movement  -  - (1) (1)  -  -  (3)  (3)
Balance at the end of the financial year  3  100  113  216  100  105  146  351 

As at 30 June 2011, $33 million of property, plant and equipment relating to the Suncorp Centre was classified as held for sale. This property was sold during the financial year ended 30 June 2012 as part of 
the Brisbane real estate consolidation project, resulting in a gain on disposal before tax of $29 million. The property was included in the Corporate operating segment.

The Suncorp Group also sold its investment in the joint venture asset, Polaris Data Centre, during the financial year ended 30 June 2012. Land and buildings of $69 million was derecognised, resulting in a gain 
on disposal before tax of $34 million. The joint venture asset was included in the Banking operating segment.

The gain on disposal of the Suncorp Centre and the Polaris Data Centre joint venture asset are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income category of ‘other income’.

17. other aSSetS
ConSoliDateD NOTE 2012 2011

$m $m

Accrued income  253  309 
Investment property carried at fair value 17.1  127  137 
Investments in associates and joint venture entities 17.2  61  60 
Development property 17.3  36  37 
Surplus on defined benefit funds 13  -  4 
Other assets  254  139 
total other assets  731  686 

Current  507  417 
Non-current  224  269 
total other assets  731  686 
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17.1 investment pRopeRty
Investment property comprises a number of commercial properties 
held for short-term rentals and long-term leases to third parties 
and premises held for capital appreciation. Each of the long-term 
leases contains an initial non-cancellable period of 30 years. 
Subsequent renewals are negotiated with the lessee. 

An investment property with fair value of $31 million was 
classified as held for sale as at 30 June 2012 and was 
subsequently sold on 13 August 2012. The fair value is 
represented by the purchase price specified in the sales contract, 
and a decrease in the fair value of investment property of  
$1 million was recognised in profit or loss. The investment 
property was included in the General Insurance business area.

Valuations for investment properties not classified as held for 
sale are based on independent assessments made by a member 
of the Australian Property Institute. A $10 million decrease (2011: 
$7 million decrease) in the fair value of investment property was 
recognised in the profit or loss. 

The Suncorp Group has entered into lease securitisation and 
defeasance transactions under which the Suncorp Group has 
agreed not to sell or create a charge over investment properties 
with a fair value of $96 million (2011: $105 million) without the 
consent of the other parties to the transaction.

17.2 investment in assoCiates and joint ventuRe entities
ConSoliDateD 2012 2011 2012 2011

assoCiates joint ventuRe entities

$m $m $m $m

Summary of financial information  
of equity accounted investees
Total assets  2  4  99  94 
Total liabilities  -  -  58  60 
Revenues  -  6  139  125 
Expenses  -  6  125  118 
Share of net profit recognised  -  -  7  4 

There are no material lease commitments, other commitments or contingent liabilities of the associates or joint venture entities.

17.3 investment in joint ventuRe opeRations and assets
ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

 owneRship inteRest 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITy % %

Joint venture operations
National Transport Insurance Facilitation of insurance arrangements 50 50

Joint venture assets
Polaris Data Centre Property investment  - 50
Spring farm residential development Property development 50 50

The Suncorp Group has sold its investment in the Polaris Data Centre joint venture asset during the financial year ended 30 June 2012. 
Details of the disposal can be found in note 16.

Share of joint venture assets included in the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows: 

ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

$m $m

Other assets – development property  36  37 
Property, plant and equipment  -  69 
total joint venture assets  36  106 

Suncorp Group’s joint venture partner for the Spring farm residential development has a drawdown facility and the development property 
is pledged as security. Suncorp Group is a guarantor for this drawdown facility and has a contingent liability limited to its interest in the 
joint venture asset (2011: $nil).

There are no material commitments related to the joint venture assets. 
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18. gooDWill anD intangiBle aSSetS
ConSoliDateD

goodwill bRands

CustomeR 
ContRaCts 
and otheR 

Relationships

outstanding 
Claims liability 

intangible softwaRe total

$m $m $m $m $m $m

2012
Gross carrying amount  5,302  655  1,247  187  631  8,022 
Less: accumulated amortisation and impairment losses  (266)  (138)  (708)  (134)  (512)  (1,758)
Balance at the end of the financial year  5,036  517  539  53  119  6,264 

movements in intangible assets
Balance at the beginning of the financial year  5,006  539  614  65  86  6,310 
Acquisitions  31  2  8  -  81  122 
Amortisation -  (24)  (83)  (12)  (48)  (167)
Foreign currency exchange movement  2  -  -  -  -  2 
Impairment  (3)  -  -  -  -  (3)
Balance at the end of the financial year  5,036  517  539  53  119  6,264 

maximum remaining useful life  indefinite  45 years  25 years  15 years  7 years 

2011
Gross carrying amount  5,266  653  1,239  187  563  7,908 
Less: accumulated amortisation and impairment losses  (260)  (114)  (625)  (122)  (477)  (1,598)
Balance at the end of the financial year  5,006  539  614  65  86  6,310 

movements in intangible assets
Balance at the beginning of the financial year  5,147  568  736  83  93  6,627 
Acquisitions  10  -  -  -  48  58 
Amortisation  -  (24)  (96)  (18)  (49)  (187)
Foreign currency exchange movement  (8)  -  -  -  -  (8)
Disposals  (143)  (5)  (26)  -  (6)  (180)
Balance at the end of the financial year  5,006  539  614  65  86  6,310 

maximum remaining useful life  Indefinite  46 years  26 years  16 years  5 years 

All intangible assets except goodwill have finite useful lives. 
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18.1 impaiRment tests foR Cash-geneRating units Containing goodwill
For the purpose of the annual impairment test, goodwill is allocated to significant cash-generating units (CGU) which represent the 
Suncorp Group’s operating segments. The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each CGU is then compared to its recoverable 
amount. The accounting policy relating to impairment testing for CGU containing goodwill is included in note 34.1.16(b).

ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

$m $m

the following Cgus have significant carrying amounts of goodwill
General Insurance –

Commercial Insurance  1,790  1,759 
Personal Insurance  2,377  2,377 
New Zealand  243  241 

Life  372  372 
Banking  254  257 

 5,036  5,006 

The recoverable amount of each CGU is based on its value in 
use. The values assigned to the key assumptions represent 
management’s assessment of future trends in the industry and are 
based on both external and internal sources of data. 

(A) VALUE IN USE FOR EACH GENERAL INSURANCE AND BANK CGUS

Value in use for each of the three General Insurance and Banking 
CGUs was determined by discounting the future cash flows 
generated from the continuing use of units and was based on 
the following key assumptions, for which the values have been 
obtained on the basis of past experience: 

•	  Post-tax cash flows projected from the financial forecasts 
prepared by the business units covering a five-year period 
from 1 July 2012 (2011: five-year period from 1 July 2011). 
Cash flows beyond the next five-years (2011: five-years) are 
extrapolated using a constant growth rate of 3.0% (2011: 
3.0%), which does not exceed the long-term average growth 
rate for the industry. 

•	 	Post-tax discount rates ranging from 9.3% to 11.7% (2011: 
9.6% to 11.7%), representing each CGU’s cost of capital based 
on a weighted average of risk-based capital. This is equivalent 
to 12.4% to 15.5% (2011: 12.6% to 15.6%) on a pre-tax basis.
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18. gooDWill anD intangiBle aSSetS (ContinueD)
18.1 impaiRment tests foR Cash-geneRating units Containing goodwill (Continued)
(A) VALUE IN USE FOR EACH GENERAL INSURANCE AND BANK CGUS (CONTINUED)

The following table summarises the key assumptions used in the value in use calculations. For each assumption by CGU,  
the trigger point denotes when the carrying value of the respective CGU would exceed its recoverable amount while holding  
all other variables, including the carrying value of the CGU, constant. 

general inSuranCe anD BanK CguS

disCount Rate teRminal gRowth Rate
RetuRn on gi  

teChniCal ReseRves RetuRn on gi shaReholdeR funds
aveRage gRowth in  

net eaRned pRemium

assumed tRiggeR point assumed tRiggeR point assumed tRiggeR point assumed tRiggeR point assumed tRiggeR point

% % % % % % % % % %

2012
General Insurance - 

Commercial Insurance  9.3  9.8  3.0  2.2  3.4  2.8  8.0  6.4  6.1  4.9 
Personal Insurance  9.3  15.5  3.0  <0  3.4  <0  8.0  <0  3.2  <0 
New Zealand  9.4  10.0  3.0  2.1  3.3  2.0  5.3  4.0  6.9  5.7 

Banking  11.7  14.8  3.0  <0  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a 

2011
General Insurance - 

Commercial Insurance  9.6  12.1  3.0  < 0  6.4  2.6  6.6  < 0  6.2  < 0 
Personal Insurance  9.6  13.3  3.0  < 0  6.4  < 0  6.6  < 0  5.3  < 0 
Vero New Zealand  9.6  10.8  3.0  1.2  5.5  1.2  6.0  2.3  5.5  < 0 

Banking  11.7  13.0  3.0  1.1  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a 

n/a = assumption not relevant to this CGU or trigger point unlikely to be reached.
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liFe Cgu 2012 2011
austRalia new Zealand austRalia new Zealand

% % % %

investment return for underlying asset classes
Risk-free rate (at 10 years)  3.1  3.4  5.3  5.1 
Cash  4.0  3.9  6.0  5.3 
Fixed interest  4.1  4.0  6.1  5.7 
Australian equities  
(includes allowance for franking credits)

 8.2  8.0  10.4  9.8 

International equities  7.2  7.0  9.4  8.8 
Property  5.6  6.0  7.8  7.8 
Investment returns (net of tax)  2.9  3.2  4.2  4.6 

inflation
Benefit indexation  2.5  2.5  2.5  2.5 
Expenses inflation  3.0  2.5  3.0  2.5 
risk discount rate  7.1  7.4  9.3  9.1 

Applying the value in use amount and a multiple of seven times one-year’s new sales exceeds the current carrying value of the Life CGU. 

The following key assumption changes would result in the carrying value of the Life CGU exceeding the recoverable amount (appraisal 
value) while holding all other variables, including the carrying value, constant:

•	 	an increase in interest rates by 80 basis points (2011: 80 basis points) (impacts the discount rate and investment returns assumptions) 

•	 	an increase in the discontinuance rates assumptions by 5.6% (2011: 3.5%); or 

•	 	an increase in claims expense assumptions by 6.4% (2011: 2.5%).

19. PayaBleS anD other liaBilitieS 
ConSoliDateD NOTE 2012 2011

$m $m

Accrued interest payable  500  512 
Amounts due to reinsurers  857  659 
Trade creditors and accrued expenses  613  612 
Investment settlements  160  8 
Excess of defined benefit obligations over plan assets 13  59  24 
Employee benefits and related on-costs liabilities  316  278 
Other liabilities  97  131 
total payables and other liabilities  2,602  2,224 

Current  2,362  2,065 
Non-current  240  159 
total payables and other liabilities  2,602  2,224 

18.1 impaiRment tests foR Cash-geneRating 
units Containing goodwill (Continued)

(B) LIFE CGU

The recoverable amount of the Life CGU has been determined by 
reference to an appraisal value which comprises the traditional 
embedded value of the Life portfolios and other relevant 
businesses and adds a component for the value of future new 
business. The embedded value of the Life companies and the 
value of one year’s new business were assessed as at 30 June 
2012 using discounted cash flow techniques. The value of the 
businesses other than the Life companies within the Life CGU was 
also assessed as at 30 June 2012. Key assumptions in the value in 
use calculations include the risk-adjusted discount rates and the 
multiple applied to the value of one-year’s sales.

The following table summarises the key economic assumptions 
used for valuing in-force business and the value of one-year’s new 
business which are based on long-term best estimate assumptions.
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19. PayaBleS anD other liaBilitieS  (ContinueD)
The following assumptions were adopted in measuring present values of long service leave employee benefits which are included under employee benefits and related on-costs liabilities below:

ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

Weighted average rate of increases in annual employee benefits to settlement of the liabilities 3.5% 3.5%
Weighted average discount rate 2.53% – 2.55% 4.88% – 4.93%
Weighted average term to settlement of liabilities 2 – 4 years 3 – 4 years

20. SuBorDinateD noteS
ConSoliDateD NOTE 2012 2011

$m $m

General Insurance subordinated notes 6.7  708  678 
Banking subordinated notes 7.9  666  846 

 1,374  1,524 

21. Share CaPital
ConSoliDateD

issued Capital
shaRe-based 

payments tReasuRy shaRes total shaRe Capital

 $m  $m  $m  $m 

Balance as at 30 June 2010  12,675  53  (110)  12,618 
Shares issued  42 - -  42 
Share-based payments -  11 -  11 
Treasury share movements - -  (9)  (9)

Balance as at 30 June 2011  12,717  64  (119)  12,662 
Shares issued - - - -
Share-based payments -  11 -  11 
Treasury share movements - - (1) (1)
Balance as at 30 June 2012  12,717  75  (120)  12,672 

ORDINARy SHARES

Reconciliation of number of ordinary shares on issue:

ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

number Number

Balance at the beginning of the financial year  1,286,600,980  1,281,390,524 
Issued under the dividend reinvestment plan for:

Interim dividend allotted at $8.05 (2011: $8.06) per share  -  5,210,456 
Balance at the end of the financial year  1,286,600,980  1,286,600,980 
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ORDINARy SHARES (CONTINUED)

Under the Dividend Reinvestment Plan, 5,287,890 ordinary shares 
were allotted on 2 April 2012 for the 2012 interim dividend; 
5,594,173 ordinary shares were allotted on 3 October 2011 for the 
2011 final dividend; and 5,944,385 ordinary shares were allotted 
on 1 October 2010 for the 2010 final dividend. Shares for these 
allotments were acquired on market for delivery to shareholders 
and resulted in no issue of new shares.

The Company does not have authorised capital or par value in 
respect of its issued shares. All issued shares are fully paid.

Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as 
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share 
at shareholders’ meetings.  

In the event of winding-up of the Company, ordinary shareholders 
rank after all other shareholders and creditors and are fully 
entitled to any proceeds on liquidation.

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN

All eligible shareholders can elect to participate in the dividend 
reinvestment plan to reinvest all or part of their dividends, with no 
brokerage or transaction costs.

SHARE-BASED PAyMENTS

Share-based payments represent the cumulative expense and 
other adjustments recognised in share capital relating to equity-
settled share-based payment transactions. 

22. reServeS
ConSoliDateD NOTE

equity 
ReseRve 

foR CRedit 
losses 

hedging 
ReseRve 

assets 
available-

foR-sale 
ReseRve 

foReign 
CuRRenCy 

tRanslation 
ReseRve 

total 
ReseRves

 $m  $m  $m  $m  $m 

Balance as at 30 June 2010 226  (106)  15  (61)  74 
Transfer to retained profits (69) - - -  (69)
Amount recognised in equity -  46  50 -  96 
Amount transferred from equity to profit or loss -  14  (19) -  (5)
Income tax 11.3.2 -  (15)  (9) -  (24)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations - - -  (39)  (39)

Balance as at 30 June 2011 157 (61) 37 (100) 33 
Transfer to retained profits (10) - - -  (10)
Amount recognised in equity -  (61)  (53) -  (114)
Amount transferred from equity to profit or loss -  (5)  (7) -  (12)
Income tax 11.3.2 -  20  18 -  38 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations - - -  10  10 
Balance as at 30 June 2012 147 (107) (5) (90) (55)
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22. reServeS (ContinueD)
EQUITy RESERVE FOR CREDIT LOSSES

The equity reserve for credit losses is a reserve created from 
retained earnings to cover the difference between the Bank’s term 
expected loss and the collective provision raised. 

HEDGING RESERVE

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the 
cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging 
instruments related to hedged transactions.

ASSETS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE RESERVE

The assets available-for-sale reserve represents the cumulative 
net change in the fair value of available-for-sale assets until the 
asset is derecognised or impaired.

FOREIGN CURRENCy TRANSLATION RESERVE

The foreign currency translation reserve consists of all foreign 
exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign operations that have a functional currency 
other than Australian dollars.

23. grouP CaPital management
The capital management strategy of the Suncorp Group is to 
optimise shareholder value by managing the level, mix and use 
of capital resources. The main objectives are to ensure there 
are sufficient capital resources to maintain the business and 
operational requirements, retain sufficient capital to exceed 
externally imposed capital requirements, support the Suncorp 
Group’s credit rating, and ensure the Suncorp Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. The Suncorp Group uses a range 
of instruments and methodologies to effectively manage capital 
including share issues, dividend policies and hybrid capital.

The Suncorp Group’s capital policy is to hold additional capital 
above operating targets in Suncorp Group Limited, being the 
ultimate parent entity of the Suncorp Group. Capital policy is 
reviewed regularly and where appropriate, adjustments are 
made to internal capital targets to reflect changes in economic 
conditions and risk characteristics of the Suncorp Group’s 
activities. The Suncorp Group’s capital position is monitored on a 
continuous basis. 

The Suncorp Group and its insurance and banking entities are 
subject to, and are in compliance with, externally imposed capital 
requirements set and monitored by APRA during the current and 
prior financial years. 

APRA also requires regulated entities to maintain internal capital 
targets. The Suncorp Group’s policy is to hold regulatory capital 
levels in excess of APRA requirements. The target capital for the 
General Insurance business is based on a multiple of the various 
minimum capital requirement (MCR) components. For the Banking 
business the capital target is a ratio representing total capital 
as a percentage of total risk weighted assets. The Life business 
capital target is an amalgamation of target capital for statutory 
funds, minimum capital required for shareholder funds and for 
investment management entities; the greater of 0.25 per cent of 
funds under management, or net tangible asset requirements. 
Further details on the capital requirements applicable to General 
Insurance, Banking and Life can be found in notes 6.8, 7.11, and 
8.8 respectively.

Capital requirements are measured at three levels of consolidation 
within the Suncorp Group. Each of the licensed general insurers, 
authorised deposit-taking institution and life insurance funds is 
a Level 1 reporting entity. Certain banking entities which meet 
the APRA definition of extended licensed entities (ELE) are also 
reported as Level 1. The Level 2 General Insurance group consists 
of Suncorp Insurance Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries. The 
Level 2 Banking group consists of Suncorp-Metway Limited and its 
banking subsidiaries which include banking entities that are not 
ELE. The Level 3 Conglomerate consists of Suncorp Group Limited 
and its subsidiaries. 

Within the Suncorp Group, regulatory capital is divided into Tier 1 
and Tier 2 capital:

•	  Tier 1 Capital consists primarily of shareholders’ equity plus 
other capital instruments considered acceptable by APRA, less 
goodwill and other prescribed deductions. 

•	 	Tier 2 Capital is comprised primarily of hybrid and debt 
instruments considered acceptable by APRA less any 
prescribed deductions. In line with APRA’s capital adequacy 
measurement rules, perpetual floating rate notes are included 
in upper Tier 2 capital. The term subordinated notes are 
included in lower Tier 2 capital and the value recognised as 
regulatory capital is reduced by 20% for each of their last five 
years to maturity.

Regulated capital will differ from the statutory capital disclosed in 
the consolidated statement of financial position.

The following table demonstrates the distribution of regulatory 
capital across the Suncorp Group.
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aS at 30 June 2012
geneRal 

insuRanCe banking 5 life 
CoRpoRate and 
Consolidation gRoup 6

 $m  $m  $m  $m  $m 

tier 1
Ordinary share capital - - -  12,717  12,717 
Subsidiary share capital  7,812  3,412  2,299  (13,523) -
Reserves and non-controlling interests  (66)  (987)  246  737  (70)
Retained profits 1  (174)  518  140  580  1,064 
Preference shares -  765 - -  765 
Insurance liabilities in excess of liability valuation  551 - - -  551 
Less:

Goodwill and brands  (5,213)  (262)  (671) -  (6,146)
Software assets  (4)  (3) -  (114)  (121)
Other intangible assets -  (75) - -  (75)
Deferred tax asset -  (159) -  61  (98)
Other required deductions 2 (1)  (8) -  10  1 

Total Tier 1 capital  2,905  3,201  2,014  468  8,588 

tier 2
APRA general reserve for credit losses -  221 - -  221 
Subordinated notes  764  784 - -  1,548 
Total Tier 2 capital  764  1,005  -  -  1,769 
total capital base  3,669  4,206  2,014  468  10,357 

represented by:
Capital in regulated entities  3,648  4,179  2,010 -  9,837 
Capital in unregulated entities 3  21  27  4  468  520 

 3,669  4,206  2,014  468  10,357 
target capital base 4  3,301  4,131  1,952  181  9,565 

Notes: 1  For Banking and domestic General Insurance, this represents the business line retained profits determined using the APRA  
calculation. New Zealand General Insurance retained profits are on a statutory basis. APRA requires accrual of expected dividends in the  
Bank and General Insurance current year profits. To allow for consistency across the Group, expected dividends are also included for Life. 

   2 Other required deductions includes funding transactions of capital nature.

   3 Capital in unregulated entities includes capital in authorised non-operating holding companies. 

   4 APRA requires entities to have internal capital targets.

   5 Amounts disclosed represent the business area. They do not align with the regulatory reporting group used in the Banking capital adequacy.

   6 Represents the Suncorp Group position net of all consolidation eliminations.
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23. grouP CaPital management (ContinueD)
AS AT 30 JUNE 2011

geneRal 
insuRanCe banking5 life 

CoRpoRate and 
Consolidation gRoup6

 $m  $m  $m  $m  $m 

tier 1
Ordinary share capital - - -  12,717  12,717 
Subsidiary share capital 1  8,016  3,012  2,225  (13,253) -
Reserves and non-controlling interests  (69)  (987)  241  737  (78)
Retained profits 2  (433)  941  6  533  1,047 
Preference shares -  823 -  15  838 
Insurance liabilities in excess of liability valuation  516 - - -  516 
Less:

Goodwill and brands  (5,263)  (264)  (702)  5  (6,224)
Software assets  (5) -  (7)  (74)  (86)
Other intangible assets -  (47) - -  (47)
Deferred tax asset -  (143) -  34  (109)
Other required deductions 3  (6) - - (1)  (7)

Total Tier 1 capital  2,756  3,335  1,763  713  8,567 

tier 2
Preference shares not included in tier 1 -  15 -  (15) -
APRA general reserve for credit losses -  248 - -  248 
Asset revaluation reserves -  17 - -  17 
Subordinated notes  769  1,053 - -  1,822 
Total Tier 2 capital  769  1,333 -  (15)  2,087 
total capital base  3,525  4,668  1,763  698  10,654 

represented by:
Capital in regulated entities  3,458  4,606  1,738 -  9,802 
Capital in unregulated entities  67  62  25  698  852 

 3,525  4,668  1,763  698  10,654 
target capital base 4  3,059  4,296  1,686  368  9,409 

Notes: 1 Eliminated upon consolidation.

   2  For Banking and domestic General Insurance, this represents the business line retained profits determined using the APRA calculation.  
New Zealand General Insurance retained profits are on a statutory basis. APRA requires accrual of expected dividends in the Bank and  
General Insurance current year profits. To allow for consistency across the Group, expected dividends are also included for Life. 

   3 Other required deductions include surpluses in defined benefit funds and funding transactions of a capital nature.

   4 APRA requires entities to have internal capital targets.

   5 Amounts disclosed represent the business area. They do not align with the regulatory reporting group used in the Banking capital adequacy.

   6 Represents the Suncorp Group position net of all consolidation eliminations.
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24. noteS to the ConSoliDateD Statement oF CaSh FloWS 
24.1 ReConCiliation of Cash flows fRom opeRating aCtivities 
ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

 $m  $m 

Profit for the financial year  728  457 
non-cash items
Amortisation of share-based payments  11  10 
Change in fair value of trading securities  (49)  3 
Change in fair value of investments securities  (304)  (217)
Change in fair value of investment property  10  7 
Change in fair value of subordinated debt  7  (20)
Write-off for liability adequacy test deficiency  21  35 
Impairment expenses on Banking loans, advances and other receivables  405  325 
Depreciation and amortisation  251  280 
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries -  105 
(Profit) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (69)  3 
Share of profits of associates and joint ventures  (7)  (4)
Dividends received from associates and joint ventures  5  2 
Change in assets and liabilities
Net movement in tax balances  (76)  69 
Decrease (increase) in other assets  266  (3,635)
Decrease in trading securities  216  3,278 
(Increase) decrease in Banking loans, advances and other receivables  (920)  2,194 
Increase in deposits and short-term borrowings  1,850  4,760 
Increase in payables and other liabilities  328  75 
(Decrease) increase in General Insurance and Life liabilities  (393)  3,327 
net cash from operating activities  2,280  11,054 
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25. Fair valueS oF FinanCial inStrumentS
25.1  CompaRison of faiR value  

to CaRRying amounts
The following financial assets and liabilities are recognised and 
measured at fair value and therefore their carrying value equates 
to their fair value. The basis for determining their fair values is 
described in note 25.2.

•	 	financial assets at fair value through profit or loss including 
trading securities

•	 	available-for-sale financial assets

•	 	certain General Insurance assets and Life assets that are 
financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss

•	 	certain short-term offshore borrowings designated as financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

•	 	derivatives; and

•	 	managed funds units on issue.

24. noteS to the ConSoliDateD Statement oF CaSh FloWS (ContinueD)
24.2 ReConCiliation of Cash and Cash equivalents to the Consolidated statement of Cash flows
ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

$m $m

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year  
in the statement of cash flows is represented by:
Cash and cash equivalents  866  1,271 
Receivables due from other banks  154  226 
Payables due to other banks  (41)  (31)

 979  1,466 

24.3 finanCing aRRangements
ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

pRogRam limit unused pRogRam limit unused

 $m  $m  $m  $m 

The Suncorp Group had the following debt programs 
outstanding at end of the financial year:

USD $5 billion covered bond program  4,914  3,314 - -
USD $15 billion program  14,743  9,245  13,968  7,141 
USD $5 billion program  4,914  2,509  4,656  2,561 
US144a MTN program  14,743  12,618  13,968  11,844 
AUD TCD program  5,000  1,180  5,000  180 

 44,314  28,866  37,592  21,726 
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Significant assumptions and estimates used to determine  
the fair values:

FINANCIAL ASSETS

As cash and cash equivalents and receivables due from other 
banks are short-term in nature or are receivable on demand, their 
carrying value approximates their fair value. 

Fair value of held-to-maturity securities are determined based on 
quoted market price where available. Where quoted prices are 
not available, alternative valuation techniques are used.

The carrying value of Banking loans, advances and other 
receivables is net of specific and collective provisions for 
impairment. For variable rate loans, excluding impaired loans, 
the carrying amount is considered a reasonable estimate of fair 
value. The fair value for fixed rate loans is calculated by utilising 
discounted cash flow models to determine the net present value 
of the portfolio future principal and interest cash flows, based on 
the interest rate repricing of the loans. The discount rates applied 
were based on the rates offered by Banking on current products 
with similar maturity dates.

For all other financial assets, the carrying value (amortised cost) 
is considered to be a reasonable estimate of fair value.

The table below discloses the fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are not recognised and measured at fair value, together with 
the carrying amounts shown in the consolidated financial statements. 

ConSoliDateD NOTE 2012 2011
CaRRying value faiR value CaRRying value faiR value

 $m  $m  $m  $m 

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents  866  866  1,271  1,271 
Receivables due from other banks  154  154  226  226 
Held-to-maturity investments 15.2  3,772  3,757  -  - 
Banking loans, advances  
and other receivables

7.4  49,180  49,401  48,639  48,855 

General Insurance assets 1 6.5  145  145  34  34 
Life assets 1 8.5  176  176  211  211 

Financial liabilities
Deposits and  
short-term borrowings 2

7.6  36,993  36,824  35,018  35,047 

Payables due to other banks  41  41  31  31 
Payables and other liabilities 3 19  2,227  2,227  1,922  1,922 
Securitisation liabilities 7.7  3,800  3,800  3,532  3,682 
Debt issues 7.8  9,569  9,614  10,031  10,213 
Subordinated notes 20  1,374  1,395  1,524  1,536 
Preference shares 7.10  762  750  830  850 

Notes: 1 Only includes General Insurance assets and Life assets that are classified as financial assets at amortised cost.

   2 Excludes short-term offshore borrowings designated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

   3 Only includes components of payables and other liabilities that are classified as financial liabilities.
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25.  Fair valueS oF FinanCial inStrumentS 
(ContinueD)

25.1  CompaRison of faiR value to CaRRying 
amounts (Continued)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The carrying value of non-interest-bearing, call and variable rate 
deposits, and fixed rate deposits repricing within six months 
approximate their fair value. Discounted cash flow models are 
used to calculate the fair value of other term deposits based upon 
deposit type and related maturities. As the payables due to other 
banks are short-term in nature, their carrying value approximates 
fair value. 

The fair value of debt issues, subordinated notes and preference 
shares are calculated based on either the quoted market prices at 
balance date or, where quoted market prices were not available, a 
discounted cash flow model using a yield curve appropriate to the 
remaining maturity of the instrument.

For all other financial liabilities which are short-term in nature, the 
carrying value (amortised cost) is considered to be a reasonable 
estimate of fair value. For longer term liabilities, fair values have 
been estimated using the rates currently offered by Banking for 
similar liabilities with similar remaining maturities.

25.2 faiR value hieRaRChy
Financial assets and liabilities that are recognised and measured 
at fair value are categorised by a hierarchy which identifies the 
most significant input used in the valuation methodology:

•	 	Level 1 – derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 
markets for identical financial instruments

•	 	Level 2 – derived from other than quoted prices included 
within Level 1 that are observable for the financial 
instruments, either directly or indirectly; or

•	 	Level 3 – fair value measurement is not based on observable 
market data.

There have been no significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the 2011 and 2012 financial year. Level 3 investment 
securities consist of interest-bearing securities and holdings in unlisted unit trusts which have suspended daily redemptions. The 
valuation methodology used for these Level 3 investment securities is based on the discount rate determined by the relative trading 
value to face value for interest-bearing securities and the latest available redemption price published by the external manager for the 
unlisted unit trusts.

Level 3 managed funds on issue consist of a property trust with the significant input being the valuation of property. 

Level 3 derivatives relate to long-dated interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps in relation to the Apollo securitisation trusts where 
a significant input is the amortisation profile of the mortgage portfolio. The valuation methodology for derivative financial instruments 
classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy is based on market data using observable quoted rights for actively traded tenor 
points. Where interpolation is used to value an instrument for the correct time period observable inputs such as bank bill swap rate 
(BBSW), yield curve and swap curve rates are used.

The Suncorp Group’s exposure to Level 3 financial instruments is restricted to an insignificant component of the portfolios to which 
they belong, such that any change in the assumptions used to value the instruments to a reasonably possible alternative do not have a 
material effect on the portfolio balance or the Suncorp Group’s results.

ConSoliDateD 2012 2011
level 1 level 2 level 3 total level 1 level 2 level 3 total

 $m  $m  $m  $m  $m  $m  $m  $m 

Financial assets
Trading securities -  4,787 -  4,787  -  4,952  -  4,952 
Investment securities  4,343  16,739  27  21,109  3,375  20,601  38  24,014 
Derivatives  5  292  96  393  3  128  35  166 

 4,348  21,818  123  26,289  3,378  25,681  73  29,132 

Financial liabilities
Deposits and short-term borrowings 1  -  (3,715) -  (3,715)  -  (3,840)  -  (3,840)
Derivatives (1)  (2,183)  (222)  (2,406)  (3)  (2,413)  (164)  (2,580)
Managed funds units on issue  -  - (1) (1)  (26)  (672)  (3)  (701)

(1)  (5,898)  (223)  (6,122)  (29)  (6,925)  (167)  (7,121)

Note: 1 Only includes short-term offshore borrowings designated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
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The following table discloses the movements in financial instruments classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy: 

ConSoliDateD 2012 2011
asset liability asset liability

investment 
seCuRities deRivatives deRivatives

managed funds 
units on issue

investment 
seCuRities deRivatives deRivatives

managed funds 
units on issue

 $m  $m  $m  $m  $m  $m  $m  $m 

Balance at the beginning of the financial year  38  35  164  3  67  48  168  3 
Total gains or losses included in profit or 
loss for the financial year1:
Investment revenue  (3)  62  58  (2)  1  (13)  (17) -
Change in fair value recognised in other 
comprehensive income  (3) -  4 -  -  -  13  - 
Transfers in - - - -  4  -  -  - 
Transfer out to Level 2 (1) - - -  (4)  -  -  - 
Purchases  20 - - -  -  -  -  - 
Sales  (24) (1)  (4) -  (30)  -  -  - 
Issues - - - -  -  -  -  - 
Balance at the end of the financial year  27  96  222  1  38  35  164  3 

Note: 1 All gains/losses included in the profit or loss relate to assets and liabilities held at the end of the financial year (i.e. unrealised).

26. tranSFerS oF FinanCial aSSetS
The Suncorp Group has entered into repurchase agreements involving the sale of interest-bearing securities in exchange for cash and 
simultaneously agreeing to buy back the interest-bearing securities at a pre-agreed price on a future date. 

In accordance with the agreements, the Suncorp Group retains the rights to cash flows and credit risk associated with the transferred 
interest-bearing securities.  As substantially all the risks and rewards of these interest-bearing securities remain with the Suncorp Group, 
they continue to be recognised as a financial asset and the obligation to repurchase recognised as a financial liability.
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27.1 ultimate paRent entity (Continued)
CAPITAL AND EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS

There are no parent entity capital and expenditure commitments 
for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The parent entity has provided a written undertaking to a  
wholly-owned subsidiary to provide financial support by way of 
injecting capital of up to $34 million (2011: $34 million) where 
necessary, subject to the financial condition of the subsidiary.

PARENT ENTITy GUARANTEES

There are no parent entity guarantees in relation to the debts  
of its subsidiaries.

26. tranSFerS oF FinanCial aSSetS (ContinueD)
The following table sets out the carrying amount of the transferred interest-bearing securities and the associated liability at the balance date:

ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

$m  $m 

Carrying amount of transferred interest-bearing securities:
Trading securities -  301 

Carrying amount of associated financial liability:
Deposits and short-term borrowings -  (301)

For those liabilities that have recourse only to the transferred assets:
Fair value of transferred interest-bearing securities -  301 
Fair value of associated deposit and short-term borrowings -  (301)
net position - -

27. Parent entity anD SuBSiDiarieS
27.1 ultimate paRent entity
As the Suncorp Group has applied amendments to the Corporations Act 2001 that remove the requirement for the Suncorp Group to 
include parent entity financial statements, financial details of the parent entity are included below.

As the Company was incorporated on 25 August 2010, profit of the Company for the 2011 financial year comparatives are presented  
for the period from 25 August 2010 to 30 June 2011. 

ComPany 2012 2011

$m $m

results of the parent entity
Profit for the financial year  724  534 
total comprehensive income for the financial year  724  534 

Financial position of parent entity at the end of the financial year
Current assets  1,186  832 
Total assets  14,913  14,260 
Current liabilities  582  151 
Total liabilities  582  151 

total equity of the parent entity consists of:
Share capital  12,792  12,780 
Common control reserve  987  987 
Retained earnings  552  342 
total equity  14,331  14,109 
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Notes: 1  The indentation of entities represents a summarised legal entity hierarchy of 
the Suncorp Group as at 30 June 2012. 

   2  Non-operating and immaterial operating subsidiaries are excluded from the 
above list. 

   3 Also registered as an overseas company in New Zealand.

   4  The Suncorp Group has nine (2011: none) wholly-owned unregistered 
managed investment schemes. They are consolidated by the Suncorp Group 
subsidiary, which has control of the managed investment scheme (when the 
controlling subsidiary is assessed as a separate entity). On consolidation, the 
non-controlling interest recognised by the controlling subsidiary is eliminated 
against other subsidiaries’ holdings in the managed investment schemes. 

   5  Vero Insurance Limited (VIL) increased its interest in Australian Surety 
Corporation Pty Ltd (ASC) from 50.5% interest to 100% interest on 31 March 
2011. ASC was a subsidiary of VIL prior to this transaction and remains a 
subsidiary after this transaction.

   6  These trusts are special purpose entities (SPEs) created as part of the  
Suncorp Group’s loan securitisation program. As at 30 June 2012, the Suncorp 
Group held interests in 10 trusts (2011: 10). Refer to note 34.1.1 for the basis 
of consolidation.

27.2 mateRial subsidiaRies of the sunCoRp gRoup
ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

Class of shaRes
CountRy of 
inCoRpoRation

equity holding

mateRial subsidiaRies of sunCoRp gRoup limited inClude 1,2 % %

general insurance
Suncorp Insurance Holdings Limited Ordinary Australia 100 100

Suncorp Insurance Services Limited 3 Ordinary Australia 100 100
Suncorp Group Holdings Pty Limited Ordinary Australia 100 100

Vero Insurance New Zealand Limited Ordinary New Zealand 100 100
Vero Insurance Limited 4,5 Ordinary Australia 100 100

Australian Alliance Insurance Company Limited Ordinary Australia 100 100
Australian Associated Motor Insurers Limited Ordinary Australia 100 100
Suncorp Insurance Funding 2007 Limited Ordinary Australia 100 100
Suncorp Metway Insurance Ltd Ordinary Australia 100 100

GIO General Limited Ordinary Australia 100 100
Terri Scheer Insurance Pty Ltd Ordinary Australia 100 100

Banking
SBGH Limited Ordinary Australia 100 100

Suncorp-Metway Limited Ordinary Australia 100 100
APOLLO Series Trusts (various) 6 Units Australia 100 100
Suncorp Covered Bond Trust Units Australia 100  - 
Suncorp Metway Advances Corporation Pty Ltd Ordinary Australia 100 100
SME Management Pty Limited Ordinary Australia 100 100

life
Suncorp Life Holdings Limited 4 Ordinary Australia 100 100

Asteron Life Limited Ordinary Australia 100 100
Guardian Financial Planning Pty Limited Ordinary Australia 100 100
Prominvest Pty Limited Ordinary Australia 100 100

Asteron Life Limited Ordinary New Zealand 100 100
Suncorp Mortgage Company NZ Limited Ordinary New Zealand 100 100

SIS Super Pty Ltd Ordinary Australia 100 100
Suncorp Custodian Services Pty Ltd Ordinary Australia 100 100
Suncorp Funds Pty Ltd Ordinary Australia 100  - 
Suncorp Life & Superannuation Limited 4 Ordinary Australia 100 100
Suncorp Portfolio Services Limited Ordinary Australia 100 100

Corporate
Suncorp Staff Pty Ltd Ordinary Australia 100 100
Suncorp Corporate Services Pty Ltd Ordinary Australia 100 100
Suncorp Group Limited Executive Performance Share Plan Trust Units Australia 100 100



114   SUNCORP GROUP LIMITED

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the financial year ended 30 June 2012 (continued)

28. FiDuCiary aCtivitieS
The Suncorp Group conducts fiduciary activities as trustee or 
custodian for various investment funds and trusts, approved deposit 
funds, superannuation funds, and wholesale and retail unit trusts. 
These activities result in the holding or placing of assets on behalf 
of individuals, trusts, retirement benefit plans and other institutions. 
These assets are not the property of the Suncorp Group and are not 
included in the consolidated financial statements.

Where subsidiaries, as single responsible entities or trustees, 
incur liabilities in respect of these activities, a right of indemnity 
exists against the assets of the applicable trusts. As these assets 
are sufficient to cover liabilities, and it is not probable that the 
subsidiaries will be required to settle them, the liabilities are not 
included in the consolidated financial statements.  

29. ChangeS in the ComPoSition oF the SunCorP grouP
29.1 subsidiaRies
29.1.1 aCquisitions
The Suncorp Group did not acquire any material subsidiaries during the current or prior financial year.

29.1.2 disposals
The Suncorp Group did not dispose of any investment in subsidiaries during the financial year ended 30 June 2012. During the prior 
financial year, the Suncorp Group disposed of the following investment in subsidiaries:

ConSoliDateD 2011

new Zealand 
guaRdian tRust

tyndall 
investment 

management 
new Zealand 

limited

tyndall 
investment 

management 
limited

$m $m $m

Carrying value of assets and liabilities disposed
Cash and cash equivalents  1  1  14 
Other assets  5  2  9 
Goodwill and intangible assets  80  4  96 
Payables and other liabilities  (1)  (2)  (9)
total carrying value of assets and liabilities deconsolidated  85  5  110 

reconciliation of cash movement
Total consideration  32  17  69 
Less consideration receivable  (16) -  (4)
Less cash deconsolidated  (1)  (1)  (14)
net cash inflow  15  16  51 
Profit (loss) on sale before tax  (55)  11  (64)

Disposal date 14 March 2011 1 March 2011 1 March 2011
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29.2 assoCiates and joint ventuRe entities
The Suncorp Group did not acquire nor dispose of any material 
interests in associates or joint venture entities in the current or 
prior financial year. 

30. Key management PerSonnel DiSCloSureS
The Suncorp Group has applied the exemption under AASB 
124 Related Party Disclosures which exempts listed companies 
from providing remuneration disclosure in relation to their key 
management personnel in the notes to the financial statements 
where this information is disclosed in the Directors’ Report. 
Information regarding key management personnel remuneration 
and some equity instruments disclosure is included in the 
Remuneration Report section of the Directors’ Report.

30.1 key management peRsonnel Compensation
The key management personnel compensation included in ‘Staff expenses’ (refer note 10) are as follows:

ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

$000 $000

Short-term employee benefits 17,484 16,566 
Long-term employee benefits 5,553 3,011 
Post-employment benefits 318 1,311 
Share-based payments 5,199 4,787 
Termination benefits 241 1,318 

28,795 26,993 

30.2 loans to key management peRsonnel and theiR Related paRties
Loans to key management personnel and their related parties are secured housing loans and asset lines provided in the ordinary course 
of the Banking business. All loans have normal commercial terms, which may include staff discounts at the same terms available to all 
employees of the Suncorp Group. The loans may have offset facilities, in which case the interest charged is after the offset. No amounts 
have been written down or recorded as provisions, as the balances are considered fully collectable.
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30. Key management PerSonnel DiSCloSureS (ContinueD)
30.2 loans to key management peRsonnel and theiR Related paRties (Continued)
Details regarding loans outstanding at the reporting date to key management personnel and their related parties, where the individual’s aggregate loan balance exceeded $100,000 at any time during the 
reporting period, are as follows:

ConSoliDateD 2012 2011
balanCe at 

1 july 2011
balanCe at 
30 june 2012

inteRest ChaRged 
duRing the yeaR

highest balanCe 
duRing the yeaR

balanCe at 
1 july 2010

balanCe at 
30 june 2011

inteRest ChaRged 
duRing the yeaR

highest balanCe 
duRing the yeaR

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Directors
C Herbert 1,2 - - - - - -  12  344 

Senior executives
M Milliner  1,355  1,089  75  1,399  1,849  1,355  99  1,897 
A Revis -  1,475  59  3,755 - - - -
J Smith  900  900  54  900  900  900  59  900 
R Stribling -  3,008  8  3,008 - - - -

Notes: 1 Interest charged in the above table reflects the amount charged during the period in which individuals were considered key management personnel.

   2 Mr Herbert was a director of Suncorp Group Limited for the period from incorporation until 22 December 2010. During this period, the Company was dormant.

New loan facilities made to key management personnel and their related parties during the year were $6,950 thousand (2011: $nil).

Details regarding the aggregate of loans made, guaranteed or secured by any entity in the Suncorp Group to key management personnel and their related parties, and the number of individuals in each group, 
are as follows:

ConSoliDateD 2012 2011
key management 

peRsonnel
otheR Related 

paRties
key management 

peRsonnel
otheR Related 

paRties

$000 $000 $000 $000

Opening balance  2,255 -  2,749 -
Closing balance  6,472 -  2,255 -
Interest charged  196 -  170 -

 number  number  Number  Number 

Number of individuals at 30 June  4 -  2 -
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30.3 movement in shaRes
Directors and executives of the Company and their related parties received normal distributions on these shares. Details of the directors’ 
shareholdings in the Company at the date of signing this financial report are set out in the Directors’ Report.

The movement during the reporting period in the number of ordinary shares in the Company and Suncorp-Metway Limited (prior to the 
Suncorp Group restructure on 7 January 2011) held, directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each key management personnel, including their 
related parties, is as follows:

BalanCe 1 July 2011 1 July 2011 – 30 June 2012 BalanCe 30 June 2012
oRdinaRy 

shaRes
peRfoRmanCe 

Rights 1
ReCeived as 

Compensation 2
puRChases 

(sales)
otheR 

Changes
oRdinaRy 

shaRes
peRfoRmanCe 

Rights 1

number number number number number number number

Directors
Executive director
P Snowball  66,123  900,000 -  21,210 -  87,333  900,000 
Non-executive directors
Dr Z Switkowski  201,599 - - - -  201,599 -
I Atlas - - -  6,370 -  6,370 -
W Bartlett  26,968 - - - -  26,968 -
M Cameron 3 - - - - - - -
P Dwyer 4  20,000 - - -  (20,000) - -
A Exel 5 - - - - - - -
S Grimshaw 6  24,314 - - -  (24,314) - -
E Kulk  20,173 - - - -  20,173 -
Dr D McTaggart 3 - - -  (3,922)  3,922 - -
G Ricketts  23,654 - -  1,196 -  24,850 -
J Story 7  138,803 - - -  (138,803) - -

Senior executives
A Day  377  112,063  47,161  19 -  396  159,224 
G Dransfield -  39,078  31,441 - - -  70,519 
D Foster  25,542  279,936  47,161 -  (23,883)  25,542  303,214 
M Milliner  68,026  302,060  49,047  11,543  (33,037)  79,569  318,070 
J Nesbitt -  401,121  52,317 - - -  453,438 
A Revis  5,093  58,920  33,641  257 -  5,350  92,561 
J Smith  116,513  282,339  49,047  618 -  117,131  331,386 
R Stribling  10,000  66,079  37,729 - -  10,000  103,808 
G Summerhayes -  203,801  43,262 - - -  247,063 

Notes: 1  The number of performance rights disclosed for the executive director and 
senior executives represents performance rights held by the trustee of the 
EPSP and therefore beneficial entitlement to some of those shares remains 
subject to satisfaction of specified performance hurdles. 

   2  For the executive director and senior executives, compensation includes 
shares held under the EPSP. These shares are recorded in the Company’s share 
register in the name of the EPSP trustee and vest only when performance 
hurdles are met. No shares vested during the 2012 financial year. 

   3  Appointed 16 April 2012.

   4  Left office on 28 February 2012. Shares held upon retirement are shown  
in ‘Other changes’.

   5 Appointed 27 June 2012.

   6  Left office on 23 August 2011. Shares held upon retirement are shown  
in ‘Other changes’.

   7  Left office on 27 October 2011. Shares held upon retirement are shown  
in ‘Other changes’.
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30. Key management PerSonnel DiSCloSureS (ContinueD)
30.3 movement in shaRes (Continued)

BALANCE 1 JULy 2010 1 JULy 2010 – 30 JUNE 2011 BALANCE 30 JUNE 2011
oRdinaRy 

shaRes
peRfoRmanCe 

Rights 1
ReCeived as 

Compensation 2
puRChases 

(sales)
otheR 

Changes
oRdinaRy 

shaRes
peRfoRmanCe 

Rights 1

Number Number Number Number Number Number Number

Directors
Executive director
P Snowball  66,123  900,000 - - -  66,123  900,000 
Director
C Herbert 3 - -  19,823 -  (19,823) - -
Non-executive directors
J Story  138,803 - - - -  138,803 -
I Atlas 4 - - - - - - -
W Bartlett  19,968 - -  7,000 -  26,968 -
Dr I Blackburne 5  36,640 - - -  (36,640) - -
P Dwyer  20,000 - - - -  20,000 -
S Grimshaw  23,350 - -  964 -  24,314 -
E Kulk  20,173 - - - -  20,173 -
G Ricketts  22,716 - -  938 -  23,654 -
Dr Z Switkowski  61,599 - -  140,000 -  201,599 -

Senior executives
R Bell 6  83,999  196,921  71,585 -  (352,505) - -
A Day  362  40,478  71,585  15 -  377  112,063 
G Dransfield 7 - - - -  39,078 -  39,078 
D Foster  25,542  202,844  77,092 - -  25,542  279,936 
M Milliner  68,026  219,461  82,599 - -  68,026  302,060 
J Nesbitt -  313,016  88,105 - - -  401,121 
A Revis 8 - -  58,920  5,093 -  5,093  58,920 
J Smith  115,962  199,740  82,599  551 -  116,513  282,339 
R Stribling  10,000 -  66,079 - -  10,000  66,079 
G Summerhayes -  134,969  68,832 - - -  203,801 

Notes: 1  The number of performance rights disclosed for executive directors and senior 
executives represents performance rights held by the trustee of the EPSP and 
therefore beneficial entitlement to some of those shares remains subject to 
satisfaction of specified performance hurdles. 

   2  For the executive director and senior executives, compensation includes 
shares held under the EPSP. These shares are recorded in the Company’s share 
register in the name of the EPSP trustee and vest only when performance 
hurdles are met. No shares vested during the 2011 financial year. 

   3  Mr Herbert was a director of Suncorp Group Limited for the period from 
incorporation until 22 December 2010. During this period, the Company was 
dormant. Of the 111,529 shares and performance rights held at the date of 
appointment 94,244 performance rights remained subject to performance 
hurdles. Of the 131,352 shares and performance rights held on leaving office, 
114,067 performance rights remained subject to performance hurdles.

   4 Appointed 1 January 2011.

   5  Left office on 31 August 2010. Shares held upon retirement are shown  
in ‘Other changes’.

   6  Left office on 22 May 2011. Shares and performance rights held upon 
retirement are shown in ‘Other changes’. Of the shares and performance  
rights held on leaving office, 268,506 performance rights remained subject  
to performance hurdles.

   7 Appointed 23 May 2011. 

   8 Appointed 16 August 2010.
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Movements in the number of Convertible Preference Shares held directly, indirectly or beneficially by each key management personnel, 
including their related parties, are noted in the table below:

2012 2011

number Number

Senior executives
D Foster 1  90  90 

Note: 1 There were no movements during the 2011 and 2012 financial years.

30.4 otheR key management peRsonnel tRansaCtions 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT TRANSACTIONS

Financial instrument transactions (other than loans and shares disclosed within this report) between the Suncorp Group and directors, 
executives and their related parties during the financial year were in the nature of normal personal banking, investment and deposit 
transactions. These transactions were on commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those given to other employees or 
customers and are trivial or domestic in nature.

TRANSACTIONS OTHER THAN FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT TRANSACTIONS

No director has entered into a material contract with the Company or the Suncorp Group since the end of the previous financial year 
and there were no material contracts involving directors’ interests existing at year end. Other transactions with directors, executives 
and their related parties are conducted on arm’s length terms and conditions, and are deemed trivial or domestic in nature. These 
transactions are in the nature of personal investment, general insurance and life insurance policies.

31. other relateD Party DiSCloSureS
31.1 identity of Related paRties
The Suncorp Group has a related party relationship with its associates and joint venture entities (see note 17.2) and its key management 
personnel (see note 30).  
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ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

$000 $000

The aggregate amounts included in the determination of profit  
before tax that resulted from transactions with related parties are:

Other income received or due and receivable:
Associates  19  57 
Joint ventures  8,310  9,397 

Other expenses paid or due and payable
Joint ventures  5,246  5,074 

Aggregate amounts receivable from, and payable to, each class of related parties at balance date:
Receivables:

Associates  2 -
Joint ventures  5,438  85,030 

32. CommitmentS
In the ordinary course of business, various types of contracts are entered into relating to the financing needs of customers. Commitments 
to extend credit, letters of credit, guarantees, warranties and indemnities are classed as financial instruments and attract fees in line 
with market prices for similar arrangements and reflect the probability of default. They are not sold or traded. They are not recorded in 
the statement of financial position but are disclosed in the financial statements. The Suncorp Group uses the same credit policies and 
assessment criteria in making these commitments and conditional obligations as it does for on-balance sheet instruments.

32.1 CRedit Commitments
Detailed below are the notional amounts of credit commitments together with their credit equivalent amounts determined in accordance 
with the capital adequacy guidelines set out by APRA:

ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

$m $m

notional amounts
Guarantees entered into in the normal course of business  161  165 
Commitments to provide loans and advances  6,122  6,062 

 6,283  6,227 

Credit equivalent amounts
Guarantees entered into in the normal course of business  152  164 
Commitments to provide loans and advances  1,366  1,252 

 1,518  1,416 

31.  other relateD Party DiSCloSureS 
(ContinueD)

31.2  Related paRty tRansaCtions with 
assoCiates and joint ventuRe entities

Transactions between the Suncorp Group and associates and 
joint venture entities consisted of fees received and paid for 
information technology services, investment management 
services, overseas management services, property development 
finance facilities and reinsurance arrangements. All these 
transactions were on a normal commercial basis.
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32.2 opeRating lease expendituRe Commitments
ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

$m $m

Aggregate non-cancellable operating lease rental  
payable but not provided in the financial statements:

Less than one year  175  156 
Between one and five years  414  404 
More than five years  72  115 

 661  675 

The Suncorp Group leases property under operating leases expiring from 1-12 years. Leases generally provide the Suncorp Group with 
a right of renewal at which time all terms are renegotiated. Lease payments comprise a base amount plus an incremental contingent 
rental. Contingent rentals are based on either movements in the Consumer Price Index or operating criteria. Some of the leased 
properties are sub-let by the Suncorp Group. Total future minimum rental receivable under non-cancellable sub-leases not provided for in 
the consolidated financial statements was $6 million (2011: $4 million).

32.3 opeRating lease Revenue Commitments
ConSoliDateD 2012 2011

$m $m

Minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable  
operating leases relating to investment properties:

Less than one year  7  11 
Between one and five years  20  37 
More than five years  1  3 

 28  51 

32.4 Capital and expendituRe Commitments
Expenditure for the acquisition of plant and equipment and other 
expenditure contracted for but not provided in the consolidated 
financial statements was $71 million (2011: $101 million).

33. Contingent aSSetS anD liaBilitieS
33.1 Contingent assets
There are claims and possible claims made by the Suncorp Group 
against external parties, the aggregate amount of which cannot 
be readily quantified. Where considered appropriate, legal advice 
has been obtained. The Suncorp Group does not consider that the 
outcome of any such claims known to exist at the date of this report, 
either individually or in aggregate, are likely to have a material effect 
on its operations or financial position. The directors are of the opinion 
that receivables are not required in respect of these matters, as it is 
not virtually certain that future economic benefits will eventuate or 
the amount is not capable of reliable measurement.

33.2 Contingent liabilities
There are outstanding court proceedings, potential fines, claims 
and possible claims against the Suncorp Group, the aggregate 
amount of which cannot be readily quantified. Where considered 
appropriate, legal advice has been obtained. The Suncorp Group 
does not consider that the outcome of any such claims known to 
exist at the date of this report, either individually or in aggregate, 
are likely to have a material effect on its operations or financial 
position. The directors are of the opinion that provisions are not 
required in respect of these matters, as it is not probable that 
a future sacrifice of economic benefits will be required or the 
amount is not capable of reliable measurement.
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33.  Contingent aSSetS anD liaBilitieS 
(ContinueD)

33.2 Contingent liabilities (Continued)
Contingent liabilities for which no provisions are included in these 
financial statements are as follows:

•	 	The Suncorp Group has given guarantees and undertakings in 
the ordinary course of business in respect to credit facilities and 
rental obligations. Note 32 sets out details of these guarantees.

•	 	Certain subsidiaries act as trustee for various trusts. In this 
capacity, the subsidiaries are liable for the debts of the trusts 
and are entitled to be indemnified out of the trust assets for 
all liabilities incurred on behalf of the trusts.

•	 	In the ordinary course of business the Suncorp Group enters 
into various types of investment contracts that can give rise 
to contingent liabilities. It is not expected that any significant 
liability will arise from these types of transactions as any 
losses or gains are offset by corresponding gains or losses on 
the underlying exposures.

•	 	Certain subsidiaries are potentially exposed to the Buyer of 
Last Resort (BOLR) clauses in certain advisor contracts. For the 
BOLR to be exercised, the following key conditions should be 
met by the advisor: (i) must retire from the industry, (ii) must 
have good compliance histories and reasonable systems and 
processes relative to business scale to get a full multiple, and 
(iii) must have tried to sell externally for a period of six months 
or more. The maximum potential commitments (all BOLR 
exercised at once) would be $45 million (2011: $31 million). 

34. SigniFiCant aCCounting PoliCieS
The Suncorp Group’s significant accounting policies set out below 
have been consistently applied by all Suncorp Group entities to all 
periods presented in these consolidated financial statements. 

The Suncorp Group’s significant accounting policies are presented 
as follows:

•	 	Note 34.1 describes the significant accounting policies 
applicable to all Suncorp Group entities (including Banking)

•	 	Note 34.2 describes the significant accounting policies 
specifically applicable to General Insurance

•	 	Note 34.3 describes the significant accounting policies 
specifically applicable to Life; and

•	 	Note 34.4 details the new accounting standards and 
interpretation not yet adopted.

34.1  signifiCant aCCounting poliCies 
appliCable to all gRoup entities

The following significant accounting policies are applicable to all 
Suncorp Group entities.

34.1.1 basis of Consolidation 
The Suncorp Group’s consolidated financial statements are 
financial statements of the Company and all its subsidiaries 
presented as those of a single economic entity. Intra-group 
transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation.

(A) SUBSIDIARIES

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Suncorp Group which 
includes companies, managed funds and trusts. Subsidiaries 
are consolidated from the date when control commences until 
the date when control ceases. Control is the power, directly or 
indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an 
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

(B) SPECIAL PURPOSE ENTITIES

Special purpose entities (SPEs) are entities that are created to 
accomplish a narrow and well-defined objective such as the 
securitisation of particular assets, or the execution of a specific 
borrowing or lending transaction. Critical judgements are applied 
in determining whether an SPE is controlled and consolidated 
by the Suncorp Group. An SPE is consolidated if, based on an 
evaluation of the substance of its relationship with the Suncorp 
Group and the SPE’s risks and rewards, the Suncorp Group 
concludes that it controls the SPE.

The main types of SPEs established by the Suncorp Group 
are securitisation vehicles and the covered bond vehicle. The 
securitisation vehicles and the covered bond special purpose 
vehicle are controlled by the Suncorp Group and they are 
consolidated in the consolidated financial statements.

SECURITISATION VEHICLES

The Suncorp Group conducts a loan securitisation program 
whereby housing mortgage loans are packaged and sold to 
securitisation vehicles known as the Apollo Trusts. The Suncorp 
Group is entitled to the residual income of the program after all 
payments due to investors and associated costs of the program 
have been met. Further details can be found in note 7.7.

COVERED BOND VEHICLE

The covered bond vehicle beneficially owns the covered pool of 
assets that are secured against the covered bonds issued by the 
Suncorp Group. Further details can be found in note 7.8.

(C) STATUTORy INSURANCE FUNDS

The Suncorp Group’s General Insurance entities are licensed 
to maintain statutory insurance funds for external clients. The 
application of the statutory funds by the licensed entities is 
restricted to the collection of premiums and the payment of 
claims, related expenses and other payments authorised under 
the relevant Acts. The licensed entities are not liable for any 
deficiency in the funds, or entitled to any surplus. For these 
reasons, the directors are of the opinion that the subsidiaries do 
not have control nor have the capacity to control the statutory 
funds. Therefore, the statutory funds are not consolidated into the 
Suncorp Group’s financial statements.

(D)  NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS AND MANAGED FUNDS 
UNITS ON ISSUE

Non-controlling interests and managed funds units on issue are 
recognised when the Suncorp Group does not hold 100% of the 
shares or units in a subsidiary. They represent the external equity 
or liability interests in non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the 
Suncorp Group. Where shares or units issued are classified as 
equity in the subsidiary, non-controlling interests are recognised 
as equity. Where shares or units issued are classified as a liability 
in the subsidiary (e.g. investment trusts), managed funds units on 
issue are recognised as a liability. 
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(E)  ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURE ENTITIES  
(EQUITy ACCOUNTED INVESTEES)

Associates are those entities in which the Suncorp Group has 
significant influence, but not control, over the financial and 
operating policies. Joint venture entities are those entities 
over which the Suncorp Group has joint control, established by 
contractual agreement and requiring unanimous consent for 
strategic financial and operating decisions. 

These investments are accounted for using the equity method. 
Interests are initially recognised at cost and adjusted to recognise 
the Suncorp Group’s share of the profit or loss after the date of 
acquisition. For investments in associates, if the Suncorp Group’s 
share of losses exceeds its investment, the carrying amount is 
reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued. 

Investments in equity accounted investees are assessed for 
impairment each reporting date and are carried at the lower of the 
equity-accounted amount and recoverable amount.

(F) JOINTLy CONTROLLED ASSETS

Jointly controlled assets are those assets in which the Suncorp 
Group has joint control. The Suncorp Group’s interests are 
accounted for by including the Suncorp Group’s share of the jointly 
controlled assets (classified according to the nature of the assets 
rather than as an investment), liabilities and expenses incurred, 
and income from the sale or use of jointly controlled assets.

(G) JOINT VENTURE OPERATIONS

Joint venture operations are those operations in which the 
Suncorp Group has joint control. They are brought to account by 
recognising the assets the Suncorp Group controls, the liabilities 
that it incurs, the expenses it incurs and its share of income that is 
earned by the joint venture operations. 

34.1.2 business Combinations
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for 
business combinations by the Suncorp Group. 

The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets 
transferred, liabilities incurred, and equity instruments issued by 
the Suncorp Group at the acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs 
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Where equity 
instruments are issued in an acquisition, their value is the published 
market price at the acquisition date. Transaction costs arising on the 
issue of equity instruments are recognised directly in equity. 

The acquiree’s identifiable assets acquired, liabilities assumed, 
contingent liabilities, and any non-controlling interests are 
measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. If the 
consideration transferred and any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree is greater than the fair value of the net amounts of the 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, the excess 
is recorded as goodwill; otherwise, the difference is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss after a reassessment of the 
identification and measurement of the net assets acquired.

(A)  BUSINESS COMBINATION OF ENTITIES UNDER  
COMMON CONTROL 

In a business combination arising from transfers of interests in entities 
that are under the control of the ultimate parent entity, the assets and 
liabilities are acquired at the carrying amounts recognised previously 
in the Suncorp Group’s consolidated financial statements.

34.1.3 foReign CuRRenCy
(A) FOREIGN CURRENCy TRANSACTIONS

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into 
the functional currency of the operation using the spot exchange rates 
at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary assets and 
liabilities at balance date are translated into the functional currency 
using the spot rates of exchange current on that date. The resulting 
differences on monetary items are recognised as exchange gains or 
losses in the financial year in which the exchange rates difference 
arises. Foreign currency non-monetary assets and liabilities that are 
measured in terms of historical cost are translated using the exchange 
rates at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency non-monetary 
assets and liabilities that are stated at fair value are translated using 
exchange rates at the dates the fair value was determined. Where 
a non-monetary asset is classified as an available-for-sale financial 
asset, the gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. 

Where a foreign currency transaction is part of a hedge 
relationship, it is accounted for as above, subject to the hedge 
accounting rules set out in note 34.1.12.

(B) FINANCIAL REPORTS OF FOREIGN OPERATIONS

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated 
to Australian dollars at exchange rates at the reporting date. 
The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated 
at rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the 
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange differences arising 
on translation are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
presented in the foreign currency translation reserve.

34.1.4 Revenue and expense ReCognition
(A) INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSE

Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss using 
the effective interest method.

(B) DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTION INCOME

Dividends and distribution income are recognised when the right 
to receive income is established. 

(C) FAIR VALUE GAINS AND LOSSES 

Fair value gains and losses from financial assets and liabilities at 
fair value through profit and loss are recognised as they occur.

(D) FEES AND COMMISSIONS

Fees and commission income and expense (e.g. lending fees) that 
are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or 
liability are included in the measurement of the effective interest 
rate. Banking non-yield related application and activation lending 
fee revenue is recognised when the loan is disbursed or the 
commitment to lend expires.

Service fees that represent the recoupment of the costs of 
providing service, for example maintaining and administering 
existing facilities, insurance portfolio fund management services 
income, and asset management services, are recognised on an 
accrual basis when the service is provided.
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34. SigniFiCant aCCounting PoliCieS (ContinueD)
34.1.5 shaRe-based payments
The Suncorp Group operates several share-based payment 
transactions with its non-executive directors and employees which 
may be equity-settled or equity-settled with cash settlement 
alternative (Company’s choice).

For equity-settled transactions, the fair value is recognised as an 
expense on a straight line basis over the vesting period, with a 
corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is calculated as the 
fair value of each share granted multiplied by the expected number 
of shares to eventually vest. The fair value of each share granted is 
measured on grant date and does not change throughout the vesting 
period unless the terms and conditions of the grant are modified. 
The fair value of the share-based payments is based on the market 
price of the shares, dividend entitlements, and market vesting 
conditions (e.g. performance criteria) upon which the shares were 
granted. Non-market vesting conditions (e.g. service conditions) are 
taken into account by adjusting the number of shares which will 
eventually vest and are not taken into account in the determination 
of the grant date fair value. On a cumulative basis, no expense is 
recognised for shares granted that do not vest due to a non-market 
vesting condition not being satisfied.

Cash-settled transactions are recognised as a liability at fair value. 
Until the liability is settled, the fair value of the liability is remeasured 
at each reporting date, and at the date of settlement, with the 
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss for the period.

Equity-settled transactions with cash settlement alternative 
(Company’s choice) are accounted for as a cash-settled share-
based payment transaction to the extent that the Company has a 
present obligation to settle in cash. Otherwise, the transaction is 
accounted for as an equity-settled arrangement.

34.1.6 inCome tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax and is 
recognised in the profit or loss except to the extent it relates to 
items recognised in equity or in other comprehensive income. 

Current tax consists of the expected tax payable on the taxable 
income for the year, after any adjustments in respect of previous 
years, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the 
reporting date.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 
Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have 
been enacted or substantially enacted by the reporting date and 
are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is 
realised or the deferred tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised where it is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which the temporary 
differences can be utilised. The tax effect of income tax losses 
available for carry forward are recognised as an asset when it is 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
these losses can be utilised.

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the 
Suncorp Group takes into account the impact of uncertain tax 
positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. 
The Suncorp Group believes that its accruals for tax liabilities 
are adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment 
of many factors, including interpretation of tax laws and prior 
experience. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions 
and may involve a series of judgements about future events. New 
information may become available that causes the Suncorp Group 
to change its judgements regarding the adequacy of existing tax 
liabilities. Such changes to tax liabilities may impact tax expense 
in the financial period that such a determination is made.

For presentation purposes, deferred tax assets and deferred tax 
liabilities have been offset if there is a legally enforceable right to 
offset current tax assets and liabilities and where they relate to 
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on the same 
taxable entity or entities within the Suncorp Group. 

AASB 1038 Life Insurance Contracts requires shareholder and 
policyowner tax to be included in income tax expense in the profit or 
loss. The majority of life insurance tax is allocated to policy liabilities 
and does not affect profit attributable to owners of the Company.

TAX CONSOLIDATION

The Company is the head entity in the tax-consolidated group 
comprising all the Australian wholly-owned subsidiaries. 
Consequently, all members of the tax-consolidated group are 
taxed as a single entity.

34.1.7 goods and seRviCes tax (gst) 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of GST, 
except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable. In 
these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or the amount of expense.  

Receivables, payables and the provision for outstanding claims are 
stated with the amount of GST included. 

34.1.8 Cash and Cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, cash at 
branches, cash on deposit, balances with the Reserve Bank of 
Australia (RBA), highly liquid short-term investments and money 
at short call. Receivables due from other banks are classified as 
cash equivalents for cash flow purposes. They are measured at 
face value or the gross value of the outstanding balance which 
is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value. Bank 
overdrafts are shown within financial liabilities unless there is a 
right of offset. 

34.1.9  ReCeivables due fRom and payables  
due to otheR banks

Receivable due from and payables due to other banks include 
nostro balances and settlement account balances. They are 
carried at the gross value of the outstanding balance.

34.1.10 non-deRivative finanCial assets 
(A) FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are classified 
as either held for trading or are designated as such upon initial 
recognition. Financial assets are designated at fair value through 
profit or loss if the Suncorp Group manages such investments 
and makes purchase and sale decisions based on their fair 
value in accordance with the Suncorp Group’s documented risk 
management or investment strategy. They are initially recognised 
on the trade date at which the Suncorp Group becomes a party 
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to the contractual provisions of the instrument and are initially 
measured at fair value. Transaction costs are recognised in the 
profit or loss as incurred. The assets are measured at fair value 
each reporting date based on the quoted market price where 
available. Where quoted prices are not available, alternative 
valuation techniques are used. Movements in the fair value are 
taken immediately to the profit or loss. The Suncorp Group’s 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include trading 
securities and investment securities.

(B) HELD-TO-MATURITy INVESTMENTS

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the 
Suncorp Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to 
maturity. They are initially recognised on trade date at fair value 
plus any directly attributable transaction costs and are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method at each 
reporting date. If the investments no longer qualify as held-to-
maturity investments, any remaining held-to-maturity investments 
are reclassified as available-for-sale financial assets. 

When reclassifying available-for-sale financial assets to held-
to-maturity investments, the fair value carrying amount of the 
available-for-sale financial assets on the date of reclassification 
becomes the new amortised cost of the held-to-maturity 
investments. Any previous gain or loss on these investments 
recognised in other comprehensive income is amortised to 
profit or loss over the remaining life of the investments. Any 
difference between the new amortised cost and maturity amount 
is amortised over the remaining life of the investment using the 
effective interest method.

(C) LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Loans and other receivables are financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
These include all forms of lending and direct finance provided to 
Banking customers. They are initially recognised on the date that 
they originated. For Banking loans, this would be when cash is 
advanced to customers. They are initially recognised at fair value 
plus any directly attributable transaction costs and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
less any impairment losses. 

(D) AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Available-for-sale financial assets consist of debt and equity 
securities which are intended to be held for an indefinite period 
of time, but which may be sold in response to a need for liquidity 
or changes in interest rates or exchange rates. They are initially 
recognised on trade date at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs and are measured at fair value at each reporting 
date. Fair value gains and losses, other than foreign exchange 
gains and losses on debt securities, are recognised directly in 
other comprehensive income until impaired or derecognised, 
whereupon the cumulative gains and losses previously recognised 
in other comprehensive income are transferred to profit or 
loss. Foreign exchange gains and losses on debt securities are 
recognised in profit or loss. The Suncorp Group’s available-for-sale 
financial assets include investment securities.

(E) DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive 
future cash flows from the assets have expired, or have been 
transferred, and the Suncorp Group has transferred substantially 
all risk and rewards of ownership.

(F) REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS

When the Suncorp Group sells a financial asset and 
simultaneously enters into an agreement to repurchase the 
asset at a fixed price on a future date (repurchase agreement), 
the financial assets sold under such agreements continue to be 
recognised as a financial asset and the obligation to repurchase 
recognised as a liability.

34.1.11 deRivative finanCial instRuments 
The Suncorp Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge 
the Suncorp Group’s assets and liabilities or as part of the Suncorp 
Group’s trading and investment activities. Derivatives include 
foreign exchange contracts, forward rate agreements and interest 
rate, currency and equity futures.

All derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on trade 
date and transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as 
incurred. Fair values are determined from quoted market prices 
where available; where quoted market prices are not available, 
discounted cash flow models, broker and dealer price quotations 
or option pricing models are used as appropriate. Derivatives are 
classified and accounted for as held for trading financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss (note 34.1.10 (a)) unless they 
qualify as a hedging instrument in an effective hedge relationship 
under hedge accounting (note 34.1.12).  

EMBEDDED DERIVATIVES

Where a derivative is embedded in another financial instrument, 
the economic characteristics and risks of the derivative are not 
closely related to those of the host contract and the host contract 
is not carried at fair value, the embedded derivative is separated 
from the host contract and carried at fair value through profit or 
loss. Otherwise, the embedded derivative is accounted for on the 
same basis as the host contract.

34.1.12 hedge aCCounting
The Suncorp Group applies hedge accounting to offset the 
effects on profit or loss of changes in the fair values of the 
hedging instrument and the hedged item. On entering into a 
hedging relationship, the Suncorp Group formally designates 
and documents the hedge relationship and the risk management 
objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. The 
documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, 
the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being 
hedged and how the Suncorp Group will assess the hedging 
instrument’s effectiveness. On an ongoing basis, hedges are 
assessed for whether they are highly effective in achieving 
offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items. A 
hedge is considered highly effective when the actual results of the 
hedge are within a range of 80–125%.
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34. SigniFiCant aCCounting PoliCieS (ContinueD)
34.1.12 hedge aCCounting (Continued)
(A) CASH FLOW HEDGES

A cash flow hedge is a hedge of the exposure to variability of cash 
flows that:

•	 	is attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised 
asset or liability (such as future interest payments on variable 
rate debt) or a highly probable forecast transaction; and

•	 	could affect profit or loss.

Changes in the fair value associated with the effective portion 
of a hedging instrument designated as a cash flow hedge are 
recognised in the hedging reserve within equity as the lesser of 
the cumulative fair value gain or loss on the hedging instrument 
and the cumulative change in fair value on the hedged item from 
the inception of the hedge. Ineffective portions are immediately 
recognised in the profit or loss.

If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for 
hedge accounting, expires or is sold, terminated or exercised 
or, the hedge relationship is revoked, then hedge accounting is 
discontinued prospectively. The cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised in equity remains there until the forecast transaction 
affects profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer 
expected to occur, the amounts accumulated in equity are released 
to profit or loss immediately. In other cases the cumulative gain or 
loss previously recognised in equity is transferred to profit or loss 
in the same period that the hedged item affects profit or loss.

(B) FAIR VALUE HEDGES

A fair value hedge is a hedge of the exposure to changes in fair 
value of:

•	 	a recognised asset or liability

•	 	an unrecognised firm commitment; or

•	 	an identified portion of such an asset, liability or firm commitment,

that is attributable to a particular risk and could affect profit and loss.

Where an effective hedge relationship is established, fair value 
gains or losses on the hedging instrument are recognised in profit 
or loss. The hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is carried 
at fair value with the gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.

When a hedge relationship no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, the hedged item is accounted for under the effective 
interest method from that point and any accumulated adjustment 
to the carrying value of the hedged item from when it was 
effective is released to profit or loss over the period to when the 
hedged item will mature. 

34.1.13  assets and liabilities Classified  
as held foR sale 

These are non-current assets and liabilities that are expected to be 
recovered primarily through sale rather than continuing use. Once 
classified, the assets and liabilities are measured at the lower of 
their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. Impairment 
losses on initial classification and subsequent gains or losses on 
re-measurement are recognised in the profit or loss. Gains are not 
recognised in excess of any cumulative impairment loss. 

34.1.14 pRopeRty, plant and equipment
(A) RECOGNITION AND INITIAL MEASUREMENT

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost 
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition. 

Property, plant and equipment are derecognised upon disposal 
or where no future economic benefits are expected from its use. 
The resulting gain or loss is recognised and calculated as the 
difference between the carrying amount of the asset at the time of 
disposal and the net proceeds. 

(B) DEPRECIATION

The depreciable value of the asset, which is the cost of an asset 
less any residual value, is depreciated over the asset’s useful life. 
The straight-line method of depreciation is used with assets being 
depreciated from the date they become available for use.

Useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed at each 
annual reporting period. Residual values, if significant, are 
reassessed annually. The depreciation rates used for the current 
and comparative periods are as follows:

ClaSS BuilDingS
leaSeholD 

imProvementS
Plant anD 
equiPment

Depreciation rate 2.5% 10% to 20% 10% to 50%

34.1.15 intangible assets
(A) INITIAL RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Intangible assets are recognised at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Where an 
intangible asset is acquired in a business combination, the cost of 
that asset is its fair value at acquisition date.

Goodwill is recognised at cost from business combinations as 
described in note 34.1.2 and is subsequently measured at cost 
less accumulated impairment loss. Goodwill on equity accounted 
investments is included in the carrying value of the investment. 

INTERNALLy GENERATED INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Internally generated intangible assets such as software are 
recorded at cost, which comprises all directly attributable costs 
necessary to purchase, create, produce, and prepare the asset to 
be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 

All other expenditure, including expenditure on software 
maintenance, research costs and brands is recognised as an 
expense as incurred. 
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(B) AMORTISATION

Amortisation is recognised in a manner that reflects the pattern in which the asset’s future economic benefits are expected to be 
consumed over the estimated useful lives of finite intangible assets, from the date the assets are available for use. The amortisation 
method and useful lives are reviewed annually. The estimated useful lives of intangible assets are as follows:

Category BranDS

CuStomer ContraCtS  
anD other 
relationShiPS

outStanDing ClaimS 
liaBilitieS intangiBle SoFtWare

useful life 1-50 years 1-30 years 20 years 3-7 years

Intangible assets deemed to have an indefinite useful life are not amortised but are tested for impairment at least annually.

34.1.16 impaiRment
(A) FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets, other than those measured at fair value through 
profit and loss, are assessed each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any objective evidence of impairment. If 
impairment has occurred, the carrying amount of the asset is 
written down to its estimated recoverable amount.

LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

An impairment loss is recognised in respect of financial assets 
measured at amortised cost when the carrying amount of the 
asset exceeds the present value of its estimated discounted future 
cash flows calculated based on the asset’s original effective 
interest rate. When impairment losses are recognised, the carrying 
amount of the relevant asset or group of assets is reduced by 
the balance of the provision for impairment. If a subsequent 
event causes the amount of the impairment loss to decrease, the 
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

The amount necessary to bring the impairment provisions to their 
assessed levels, after write-offs, is charged to profit or loss. All 
known bad debts are written off in the period in which they are 
identified. Where not previously provided for, they are written off 
directly to profit or loss.

The unwinding of the discount from initial recognition of 
impairment through to recovery of the written down amount is 
recognised through interest income. 

In relation to provision for impairment of Banking loans and advances, 
two categories of provisions are recognised: specific provisions and 
collective provisions. Specific impairment provisions are recognised 

for all loans where there is objective evidence that an individual loan 
is impaired. Specific impairment provisions are based on the carrying 
amount of the loan and the present value of expected future cash flows. 

A collective provision is established for loan portfolios which 
are not specifically provisioned. Collective provisions are held 
for potential credit losses which have been incurred but not 
yet specifically identified, and can be in the performing or non 
performing portfolios. For business banking exposures, a ratings 
based approach is applied using estimates of probability of default 
and loss given default, at a customer level. For portfolio managed 
exposures, the portfolios are split into pools with homogenous risk 
profiles and pool estimates of probability of default and loss given 
default are used to calculate the collective provision.

The difference between the Bank’s term expected loss and the 
collective provision raised is recognised in the equity reserve for 
credit losses.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

An impairment loss is recognised in respect of available-for-sale 
financial assets where there is evidence of a decrease in fair value 
below cost. Cumulative losses are transferred from the available-
for-sale reserve in equity to the profit or loss. When subsequent 
events cause the amount of the impairment loss to decrease, a 
reversal of the impairment is recognised in profit or loss for debt 
securities and in equity for equity securities. 

(B) NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Non-financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at 
each reporting date. Indicators include both internal and external 
factors. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable 
amount is estimated.  

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  For the purposes of 
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels 
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash 
generating units) – this may be an individual asset or a group 
of assets. For the purpose of assessing impairment of goodwill, 
goodwill is allocated to cash generating units representing the 
Suncorp Group’s investment in each of its business lines, which 
are its operating segments.

The recoverable amount of non-financial assets is the greater of 
their fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. After the 
recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation (amortisation) 
charge for the asset is adjusted in future periods to allocate the 
asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual value (if any), on 
a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

Impairment losses, if any, recognised in respect of cash generating 
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill allocated to cash-generating units and then to reduce the 
carrying amount of the other assets in the unit on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed. An 
impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is reversed in 
following periods if there are indications that the impairment 
loss previously recognised no longer exists or has decreased. An 
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined, net of depreciation and amortisation, if no 
impairment loss had been recognised.
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34. SigniFiCant aCCounting PoliCieS (ContinueD)
34.1.17 non-deRivative finanCial liabilities
(A)  FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

These liabilities are classified as either held for trading or those that are 
designated upon initial recognition. Liabilities are initially recognised 
on trade date at fair value with any directly attributable transaction 
costs recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Fair value is determined 
using the offer price where available. Movements in the fair value are 
recognised in the profit or loss. The Suncorp Group designates certain 
short-term offshore borrowings as being at fair value through profit or 
loss when they are managed on a fair value basis.

(B) FINANCIAL LIABILITIES CARRIED AT AMORTISED COST

Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost are initially measured 
at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. 
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. The Suncorp Group’s financial liabilities 
at amortised cost includes payables due to other financial 
institutions and deposits and short-term borrowings, debt issues, 
subordinated notes and preference shares.

(C) DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

Non-derivative financial liabilities are derecognised when the 
contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired.

(D) PREFERENCE SHARES

Reset Preference Shares (RPS) and Convertible Preference Shares 
(CPS) are recognised as financial liabilities at amortised cost. The 
capital is initially recognised at fair value plus directly attributable 
transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost. 
Dividends are charged as an interest expense as accrued.

RPS are exchangeable on specific dates at the option of the holder. 
Once an exchange request is received, the Suncorp Group can elect 
to exchange the RPS for cash or a variable number of SML ordinary 
shares, exhibiting characteristics of a financial liability. 

CPS are convertible to a variable number of the Company’s 
ordinary shares on mandatory conversion dates and hence exhibit 
characteristics of a financial liability. 

Further details on the RPS and CPS can be found in note 7.10.

34.1.18 leases
A distinction is made between finance leases (which effectively 
transfer substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to 
ownership of leased non-current assets from the lessor to the 
lessee) and operating leases under which the lessor effectively 
retains substantially all such risks and benefits.

(A) FINANCE LEASES

Finance leases, where the Suncorp Group is the lessor, are recognised 
as loans, advances and other receivables on the commencement of 
the lease, and measured at the net investment in the lease, being the 
present value of the minimum lease payments receivable and any 
unguaranteed residual value, plus any initial direct costs.

The revenue attributable to finance leases is brought to account 
in profit or loss based on a constant periodic rate of return on the 
Suncorp Group’s net investment in the finance lease.  

(B) OPERATING LEASES

Payments made under operating leases are expensed on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the lease, except where an 
alternative basis is more representative of the time pattern of 
benefits to be derived from the leased asset.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period 
has expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor by 
way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which 
termination takes place.

SURPLUS LEASED PREMISES

A provision is recognised for surplus leased premises where it is 
determined that no material benefit will be obtained by the Suncorp 
Group from its occupancy. This arises where premises are leased 
under non-cancellable operating leases and the Suncorp Group either:

•	 	currently does not occupy the premises and does not expect to 
occupy them in the future

•	 	sublets the premises for lower rentals than it is presently 
obliged to pay under the original lease; or

•	 	currently occupies the premises which have been assessed to 
be of no material benefit beyond a known future date.

The provision is calculated on the basis of net future cash outflows.

34.1.19 employee entitlements
(A) SUPERANNUATION

The Suncorp Group contributes to both defined contribution and 
defined benefit superannuation schemes. Contributions made 
to defined contribution plans are charged to the profit or loss as 
the obligation to pay is incurred. The defined contribution plans 
receive fixed contributions and the Suncorp Group’s legal or 
constructive obligation is limited to these contributions. 

A defined benefit liability is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of financial position as a net total of the present value 
of the defined benefit obligation at the balance date less the fair 
value of plan assets, together with adjustments for unrecognised 
actuarial gains or losses and past service costs. 

If the defined benefit liability resulted in negative balance, a 
defined benefit asset is recognised as the lower of the negative 
defined benefit liability and the total of cumulative unrecognised 
net actuarial losses and past service costs and the present value 
of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the 
plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

Actuarial gains or losses arising from experience adjustments and 
changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised directly in equity. 
Past service costs are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

(B) SHORT-TERM EMPLOyEE BENEFITS

Liabilities for employee benefits are those due to be paid within 
12 months of providing service and are measured at their 
nominal amounts using pay rates expected to be effective when 
the liability is to be paid. Related on-costs such as workers’ 
compensation and payroll tax are also included in the liability.

A liability is recognised for short-term bonus plans when there is a 
constructive obligation to pay this amount and the amount can be 
reliably estimated. 

(C) LONG SERVICE LEAVE 

A liability for long service leave is recognised as the present value 
of expected future payments to be made in respect of services 
provided by employees up to the reporting date. Consideration 
is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience 
of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future 
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payments are discounted using Commonwealth Government bond 
rates with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows. Related on-costs such as workers’ 
compensation and payroll tax are also included in the liability. 

(D) TERMINATION BENEFITS 

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated 
before the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee 
accepts a voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. 
The Suncorp Group recognises termination benefits when it is 
demonstrably committed to either terminating the employment 
of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without 
possibility of withdrawal; or providing termination benefits as a 
result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. 

34.1.20 shaRe Capital
(A) REPURCHASE OF SHARE CAPITAL

When share capital is repurchased, the amount of the 
consideration paid, including directly attributable costs, is 
recognised as a deduction from total equity.

(B) TREASURy SHARES

Ordinary shares of the Company that are acquired by subsidiaries 
including share-based remuneration trusts and controlled unit 
trusts are referred to as treasury shares. They are deducted from 
consolidated equity at the amount of the consideration paid. No 
gain or loss on treasury shares is recognised.

(C) TRANSACTION COSTS

Transaction costs of an equity transaction are accounted for 
as a deduction from equity, net of any related income tax 
benefit. Transaction costs in excess of the proceeds of the 
equity instruments issued, or where no proceeds are raised, are 
recognised as an expense. 

34.1.21  Contingent liabilities  
and Contingent assets

Contingent liabilities are not recognised but are disclosed in the 
financial report, unless the possibility of settlement is remote, in 
which case no disclosure is made. If settlement becomes probable 
and the amount can be reliably estimated, a provision is recognised.

Contingent assets are not recognised but are disclosed in the 
financial report when inflows are probable. If inflows become 
virtually certain, an asset is recognised.

The amount disclosed as a contingent liability or contingent asset 
is the best estimate of the settlement or inflow.

34.2  signifiCant aCCounting poliCies speCifiCally 
appliCable to geneRal insuRanCe 

34.2.1  geneRal insuRanCe Revenue and  
expense ReCognition

(A) PREMIUM REVENUE

Premium revenue comprises amounts charged to policyowners and 
includes applicable levies and charges such as fire service levies 
but excludes stamp duty and taxes collected on behalf of third 
parties such as GST.

Premiums are recognised as revenue in accordance with 
the pattern of the underlying risk exposure from the date of 
attachment over the period of the insurance policy, which is 
usually one year. 

Premiums on unclosed business are brought to account by 
reference to the prior year’s experience and information that has 
become available between the reporting date and the date of 
completing the financial report.

(B) MANAGED FUNDS INCOME 

The Suncorp Group manages statutory insurance funds for 
external clients and earns income from the provision of services 
such as premium collection and claims processing (base fee) as 
well as an incentive fee based on performance results. Income for 
the base fee is recognised as the service is provided and for the 
incentive fee, as the income is earned. 

Fees receivables are based on management’s best estimate 
of the likely fee at balance date. There is a significant amount 
of judgement involved in the estimation process of the fees 
receivable which may not be finalised for a number of years.

The statutory authorities allocate the base fee to each authorised 
agent based on factors such as market share and service capability. 
The performance fee is allocated to each authorised agent based on 
performance components set by each statutory authority.

(C) CLAIMS EXPENSE

Claims expense represents payments for claims and the 
movement in outstanding claims liabilities. Claims represent the 
benefits paid or payable to the policyowner on the occurrence of 
an event giving rise to a loss or accident according to the terms 
of the policy. Claims expenses are recognised in profit or loss as 
losses are incurred, which is usually the point in time when the 
event giving rise to the claim occurs. 

(D) OUTWARDS REINSURANCE EXPENSE

Premiums ceded to reinsurers are recognised as an expense 
from the attachment date over the period of indemnity of the 
reinsurance contract in accordance with the expected pattern of 
the incidence of risk. 

34.2.2  finanCial assets baCking geneRal 
insuRanCe liabilities

The Suncorp Group has designated financial assets held in 
portfolios that match the average duration of a corresponding 
insurance liability as assets backing General Insurance liabilities. 
These financial assets are designated as fair value through profit 
or loss as they are managed and their performance is evaluated on 
a fair value basis for internal and external reporting in accordance 
with the investment strategy. These financial assets include 
investment securities, premiums outstanding and reinsurance and 
other recoveries. 

All investment securities held to back general insurance liabilities 
and held for trading are highly liquid securities. Despite some of 
these securities having maturity dates beyond the next 12 months, 
as they are highly liquid in nature and are actively traded, they 
have been classified as current.

Receivables are valued at fair value which is approximated by 
taking the initially recognised amount and reducing it for credit 
risk and time value of money as appropriate. Short duration 
receivables with no stated interest rate are normally measured at 
the original invoice amount which approximates fair value.
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34. SigniFiCant aCCounting PoliCieS (ContinueD)
34.2.3  finanCial assets not baCking geneRal 

insuRanCe liabilities
Financial assets that do not back General Insurance liabilities 
include investment securities and receivables. Investment 
securities have been designated as fair value through profit or loss 
as they are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair 
value basis.

34.2.4  ReinsuRanCe and otheR  
ReCoveRies ReCeivables

Reinsurance and other recoveries are measured as the present 
value of the expected future receipts, calculated on the same 
basis as the liability for outstanding claims. 

34.2.5 defeRRed insuRanCe assets
(A) DEFERRED ACQUISITION COSTS

Acquisition costs are deferred and recognised as assets where 
they can be reliably measured and where it is probable that they 
will give rise to premium revenue that will be recognised in profit 
or loss in subsequent reporting periods.

Deferred acquisition costs are amortised systematically in 
accordance with the expected pattern of the incidence of risk 
under the general insurance contracts to which they relate. This 
pattern of amortisation corresponds to the earning pattern of the 
corresponding premium revenue.  

Deferred acquisition costs are recognised as assets to the extent 
that the related unearned premiums exceed the sum of the 
deferred acquisition costs and the present value of both future 
expected claims and settlement costs, including an appropriate 
risk margin. Where there is a shortfall, the deferred acquisition 
costs asset is written down and if insufficient, an unexpired risk 
liability is recognised.

(B) DEFERRED REINSURANCE PREMIUMS

Reinsurance premiums are deferred and recognised as an asset where 
there are future economic benefits to be received from reinsurance 
premiums. The amortisation of deferred reinsurance premiums is in 
accordance with the pattern of reinsurance service received. 

34.2.6 uneaRned pRemium liability  
Premium revenue received and receivable but not earned is 
recognised as an unearned premium liability. 

The carrying value of the unearned premium liability is assessed 
at each reporting date by carrying out a liability adequacy test 
(LAT). This test assesses whether the net unearned premium 
liability less any deferred acquisition costs is sufficient to cover 
future claims costs for in-force insurance contracts. Future claims 
costs are calculated as the present value of the expected cash 
flows relating to future claims, and include a risk margin to reflect 
the inherent uncertainty in the central estimate. The assessment 
is carried out on a portfolio of contracts basis. If a LAT deficiency 
occurs, it is recognised in the profit or loss with a corresponding 
write down of related deferred acquisition costs. Any remaining 
balance would be recognised as an unexpired risk liability on the 
statement of financial position.

The LAT test is based on prospective information and so is heavily 
dependent on assumptions and judgements which are explained 
in note 6.6.2.

34.2.7 outstanding Claims liabilities 
The liability is measured as the central estimate of the present 
value of expected future payments relating to claims incurred at 
the reporting date with an additional risk margin to allow for the 
inherent uncertainty of the central estimate. Standard actuarial 
methods are applied to determine the net central estimate of 
outstanding claims liabilities. Outstanding claims liability is 
heavily dependent on assumptions and judgements. The details 
of actuarial assumptions and the process for determining the risk 
margins are set out in note 6.6.2. 

34.3  signifiCant aCCounting poliCies 
speCifiCally appliCable to life 

Under the Life Act, Life business is conducted within one or more 
separate statutory funds, which are distinguished from each 
other and from the shareholder funds. The financial reports of the 
Australian life companies prepared in accordance with AASB 1038 
Life Insurance Contracts (and which are lodged with the relevant 
Australian regulators) show all major components of the financial 
statements disaggregated between the various life insurance 
statutory funds and their shareholder funds, as well as between 
investment-linked business and those relating to non-investment-
linked businesses.

The assets of the Life business are allocated between the 
policyowner and shareholder funds with all assets, liabilities, 
revenues and expenses recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements, irrespective of whether they are policyowner or 
shareholder owned. 

The shareholder’s entitlement to monies held in the statutory funds 
is subject to the distribution and transfer restrictions and other 
requirements of the Life Act and the relevant company’s constitution. 
The main restrictions are that the assets in a fund can only be used to 
meet the liabilities and expenses of that fund, to acquire investments 
to further the business of the fund, or as distributions. 

Participating policyowners can receive a distribution when solvency 
requirements are met, while shareholders can only receive a 
distribution when the higher level of capital adequacy requirements 
are met (refer note 8.8). Participating policyowners and shareholders 
in Asteron Life Ltd (New Zealand) can only receive a distribution 
when the prudential reserving requirement is met. 
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34.3.1 life Revenue and expense ReCognition
(A) PREMIUM REVENUE

Premium recorded as revenue relates to risk-bearing life 
insurance contracts. The components of premium that relate to 
life investment contracts are in the nature of deposits and are 
recognised as a movement in policy liabilities. 

Life insurance premiums with no due date are recognised as 
revenue on a cash received basis. Premiums with a regular due 
date are recognised on an accruals basis. 

(B) FEES AND OTHER REVENUE

Fee revenue is recognised as services are provided. The entry fee 
in relation to life investment contracts is deferred and recognised 
over the average expected life of the investment contract. The 
revenue that can be attributed to the origination service is 
recognised at inception.

(C) CLAIMS EXPENSE

Insurance claims are recognised when the liability to the 
policyowner under the policy contract has been established or upon 
notification of the insured event, depending on the type of claim. 

The component of a life insurance contract claim that relates 
to the bearing of risks is treated as a claim expense. Other life 
insurance claim amounts and all life investment contract amounts 
paid to policyowners are in the nature of withdrawals and are 
recognised as a decrease in policy liabilities. 

(D) OUTWARDS REINSURANCE EXPENSE

Premium ceded to reinsurers is recognised as outwards 
reinsurance premium expense in profit or loss from the attachment 
date over the period of indemnity of the reinsurance contract in 
accordance with the expected pattern of the incidence of risk. 
A portion of outwards reinsurance premium is recognised as a 
deferred reinsurance asset at reporting date. 

(E) BASIS OF EXPENSE APPORTIONMENT

Life insurance expenditure has been apportioned to the different 
classes of business in accordance with Division 2 of Part 6 of 
the Life Act. The expense apportionment basis is in line with the 
principles set out in LPS 1.04 Valuation of Policy Liabilities and 
New Zealand Society of Actuaries Professional Standard Number 
3 Determination of Life Insurance Policy Liabilities.

Expenses excluding investment management fees, which are 
directly identifiable, have been apportioned between policy 
acquisition and policy maintenance on the basis of the objective 
when incurring each expense, and the outcome achieved. Where 
allocation is not feasible between the disclosure categories, 
expenses have been allocated as maintenance expenses. 
Expenses directly attributable to an individual policy or product 
are allocated directly to the statutory fund within which the class 
of business to which that policy or product belongs. All indirect 
expenses charged to profit or loss are equitably apportioned to 
each class of business.  

Statistics such as policy counts, annual premiums, funds under 
management and claims payments are used to apportion the 
expenses to individual life insurance and life investment products. 

34.3.2  finanCial assets baCking life insuRanCe 
and life investment liabilities

The Suncorp Group has determined that all financial assets within 
its statutory funds are assets backing policy liabilities. These 
financial assets are designated as fair value through profit or 
loss as they are measured on a basis that is consistent with the 
measurement of the liabilities. These financial assets include 
investment securities and receivables.

34.3.3  finanCial assets not baCking life 
insuRanCe and life investment liabilities

Financial assets held within the shareholder funds do not back 
life insurance liabilities or life investment liabilities and include 
investment securities and receivables. Investment securities 
are designated as fair value through profit or loss as they are 
managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis for 
internal and external reporting in accordance with the investment 
strategy. Receivables are measured at amortised cost less 
accumulated impairment losses.

34.3.4 defeRRed aCquisition Costs
Life insurance contracts – deferred acquisition costs include 
the fixed and variable costs of acquiring new business and 
include commissions, certain advertising and underwriting costs. 
These costs are implicitly deferred through Margin on Service 
accounting. The amount deferred is subject to an overall limit such 
that the value of future profits at inception cannot be negative.

Life investment contracts – deferred acquisition costs include the 
variable costs of acquiring new business and include commission 
costs. They are amortised in accordance with the expected 
earning pattern of the associated revenue. 

All other acquisition costs are expensed as incurred.

34.3.5 poliCy liabilities 
(A) LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACTS

Life insurance contract liabilities are calculated using the 
Margin on Services (MoS) methodology. Under MoS, the excess 
of premium received over expected claims and expenses is 
recognised over the life of the contract in a manner that reflects 
the pattern of risk accepted from the policyowner. 

The projection method is generally used to determine life 
insurance contract liabilities. The net present value of projected 
cash flows is calculated using best estimate assumptions about 
the future. When the benefits under the life insurance contract are 
linked to the assets backing it, the discount rate applied is based 
on the expected future earnings rate of those assets. Otherwise,  
a risk-free discount rate is used. 
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34. SigniFiCant aCCounting PoliCieS (ContinueD)
34.3.5 poliCy liabilities (Continued)
(A) LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACTS (CONTINUED)

An accumulation method has been used for some risk business, 
where the liability is based on an unearned premium reserve, less 
an explicit allowance for deferred acquisition costs, and a reserve 
for incurred but not reported claims.  

Participating policies are entitled to share in the profits that arise 
from participating business. This profit sharing is governed by the 
Life Act and the Life companies’ constitutions. The participating 
policyowner profit sharing entitlement is treated as an expense in 
the profit or loss. 

The operating profit arising from discretionary participating 
contracts is allocated between shareholders and participating 
policyowners by applying the MoS principles in accordance 
with the Life Act and the New Zealand Society of Actuaries 
Professional Standard Number 3 Determination of Life Insurance 
Policy Liabilities. 

Profit allocated to participating policyowners is recognised as an 
increase in policy liabilities. Both the element of this profit that 
has not yet been allocated to specific policyowners (i.e. unvested) 
and that which has been allocated to specific policyowners by 
way of bonus distributions (i.e. vested) are included within life 
insurance contract liabilities.   

(B) LIFE INVESTMENT CONTRACTS

A life investment contract involves both the origination of a 
financial instrument and the provision of investment management 
services. Policy liabilities are measured at the fair value of the 
financial instrument component of the contract (designated as 
fair value through profit or loss) plus the liability in respect of 
the management services element. The management services 
element, including associated acquisition costs, is recognised as 
revenue as services are performed. 

For investment-linked products, the life investment contract 
liability is directly linked to the performance and value of the 
assets that back them and is determined as the fair value of 
those assets after tax. For fixed income policies, the liability is 
determined as the net present value of expected cash flows, 
subject to a minimum of current surrender value.

(C) LIABILITy ADEQUACy TEST

The adequacy of the life insurance liabilities is evaluated each 
year. The liability adequacy test considers current estimates of 
all contractual and related cash flows. If it is determined, using 
best estimate assumptions, that a shortfall exists, the shortfall is 
immediately recognised in the profit or loss.

34.4  new aCCounting standaRds and 
inteRpRetations not yet adopted 

The following standards, amendments to standards and 
interpretations are relevant to current operations. They are 
available for early adoption but have not been applied by the 
Suncorp Group in this financial report:

•	 	AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, when it 
becomes mandatory for the Suncorp Group’s 30 June 2014 
financial statements, will supersede AASB 127 Consolidated 
and Separate Financial Statements and Interpretation 112 
Consolidation – Special Purposes Entities. It introduces a new 
single control model to assess whether to consolidate an 
investee. Adoption of this standard will have an immaterial 
effect to the Suncorp Group.

•	 	AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement provides a definition of 
the term, fair value, and introduces additional disclosure 
requirements. This is applicable for all assets and liabilities 
measured at fair value, including non-financial assets and 
liabilities. This standard becomes mandatory for the Suncorp 
Group’s 30 June 2014 financial statements. The potential effects 
on adoption of the amendments are yet to be determined.

•	 	AASB 119 Employee Benefits is amended for changes in 
accounting and disclosures on defined benefit superannuation 
plans; definitions of short-term and other long-term employee 
benefits affecting the measurement of the obligations; 
and the timing for recognition of termination benefits. The 
amendments become mandatory for the Suncorp Group’s 
30 June 2014 financial statements with specific transitional 
requirements. The potential effects on adoption of the 
amendments are yet to be determined.

•	 	AASB 9 Financial Instruments was issued and introduces 
changes in the classification and measurement of financial 
assets and financial liabilities. This standard becomes 
mandatory for the Suncorp Group’s 30 June 2016 financial 
statements. The potential effects on adoption of the 
amendments are yet to be determined.

35. grouP riSK management 
35.1  gRoup Risk management objeCtives  

and stRuCtuRe
The Board and management recognise that effective risk 
management is considered to be critical to the achievement of 
the Suncorp Group’s objectives. The Board Risk Committee has 
delegated authority from the Board to oversee the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the risk management frameworks and processes 
within the Suncorp Group. 

An Enterprise Risk Management Framework (ERMF) is in place for 
the Suncorp Group. It is subject to an annual review, updated for 
material changes as they occur and is approved by the Board Risk 
Committee. The ERMF comprises:

•	 	the Suncorp Group’s risk appetite framework and its link to 
strategic business and capital plans

•	 	accountabilities and governance arrangements for the 
management of risk within the Three Lines of Defence model

•	 	the Suncorp Group’s Policy and Compliance frameworks; and

•	 	the risk management process.
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The Three Lines of Defence model of accountability involves:

line oF DeFenCe reSPonSiBility oF aCCountaBle For

First – Manage risk and  
comply with Suncorp Group 
frameworks, policies and  
risk appetite

All business areas  
(and staff)

•		Identifying and managing the risks inherent in their operations
•		Ensuring compliance with all legal and regulatory requirements and 

Suncorp Group policies; and 
•		Promptly escalating any significant actual and emerging risks for 

management attention.
Second – Independent  
functions own and monitor the 
application of risk frameworks, 
and measure and report on risk 
performance and compliance

All risk functions (Suncorp Group 
and Line of Business)

•		Design, implement and manage the ongoing maintenance of Suncorp 
Group risk frameworks and related policies

•		Advise and partner with the business in design and execution of risk 
frameworks and practices; develop, apply and execute Line of Business 
risk frameworks that are consistent with Suncorp Group for the respective 
business areas; and 

•		Facilitate the reporting of the appropriateness and quality  
of risk management.

third – Independent  
assurance over internal controls and 
risk management practices

Board Audit Committee, internal 
and external auditors

•		Decides the level and extent of independent testing required to verify  
the efficacy of internal controls

•		Validates the overall risk framework; and 
•		Provides assurance that the risk management practices are  

functioning as intended.

The Board has delegated authorities and limits to the Group 
Chief Executive Officer (Group CEO) to manage the business. 
Management recommends to the Board, and the Board has 
approved, various frameworks, policies and limits relating to key 
categories of risk faced by the Suncorp Group within the Group 
CEO’s authorities and limits.

The Senior Leadership Team, comprising the Group CEO, Line 
of Business CEOs and all Group Executives, provides executive 
oversight and direction-setting across the Suncorp Group, taking 
risk considerations into account. The Group Chief Risk Officer, 
a member of the Senior Leadership Team, is charged with the 
overall accountability for the Risk Management Framework and 
overall risk management capability.

The Suncorp Group has in place a number of Management Risk 
Committees, each with its own charter, to execute specified 
responsibilities in the risk framework. Management asset and 
liability committees are in place to provide effective governance 
over aspects of the risk framework designed to optimise the long-
term returns achieved by asset portfolios within the risk appetite 
or parameters established by the Board. 

APRA-regulated entities, subject to APRA regulation, prepare 
Risk Management Strategies (RMS) approved by the Board and 
submit to APRA annually. The RMS describe the strategy adopted 
by the Board and management for managing risk within these 
entities, including risk appetite, policies, procedures, management 
responsibilities and controls.
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35.2 gRoup insuRanCe Risk management 
35.2.1 poliCies foR mitigating insuRanCe Risk
The risk management activities include prudent underwriting, 
pricing, acceptance and management of risk, together with claims 
management and reserving.

The key policies in place to mitigate insurance risk include  
the following:

•	 	the setting and adherence to underwriting guidelines that 
determine policies and procedures for acceptance of risk

•	 	the setting of formal claims acceptance limits and the regular 
review and updating of claims experience data

•	 	the reduction in the concentration of insurance risk  
through diversification

•	 	entering into reinsurance and ceding arrangements to preserve 
capital and manage earnings volatility from large individual or 
catastrophic claims

•	 	the maintenance of appropriate actuarial reserves including 
reserves to cover claims incurred but not yet reported

•	 	the identification and consistent monitoring against budget 
projections derived from the actuarial projection models  
of external variables which impact claims cash flow such  
as mortality and morbidity experience, claims frequency  
and persistency

•	 	managing of risk exposures using various analysis and 
valuation techniques, including stochastic modelling, to 
calculate the capital required under adverse risk scenarios

•	 	the monitoring of natural disasters such as floods, storms, 
earthquakes and other catastrophes. Exposures to such risks 
are monitored using catastrophe models.

In addition, the Board receives Financial Condition Reports from 
the Appointed Actuary who also provides advice in relation to 
premium, issuing of new policies and reinsurance arrangements 
in accordance with APRA Prudential Standards. The Appointed 
Actuary for Asteron Life Limited (New Zealand) (ALLNZ) provides a 
Financial Condition Report and similar advice to the ALLNZ Board.

35. grouP riSK management (ContinueD)
35.1  gRoup Risk management objeCtives and stRuCtuRe (Continued)
The key risks addressed by the ERMF are defined below.

Key riSKS DeFinition

Counterparty risk (Credit risk) The risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations in accordance with agreed terms.
Liquidity risk The risk that the Suncorp Group will be unable to service its cash flow obligations today or in the future.
Market risk The risk of unfavourable changes in foreign exchange rates, interest rates, equity prices, credit spreads, commodity 

prices, and market volatilities.
Asset and liability risk The risk to earnings and capital from mismatches between assets and liabilities with varying maturity and repricing 

profiles and from mismatches in term.
Insurance risk The risk of financial loss and the inability to meet liabilities due to inadequate or inappropriate insurance product 

design, pricing, underwriting, concentration risk, reserving, claims management and/or reinsurance management.
Operational risk The risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from external events.
Compliance risk The risk of legal or regulatory sanctions, financial loss, or loss to reputation which the Suncorp Group may suffer as 

a result of its failure to comply with all applicable regulations, codes of conduct and good practice standards.
Strategic risk The risk of loss arising from uncertainty about the future operating environment, including reputation, industry, 

economic and regulatory environment, branding, crisis management, and partners and suppliers.

The Suncorp Group is exposed to mainly the following categories of market risks:

CategorieS oF marKet riSK DeFinition

Foreign exchange (FX) risk The risk of an asset or liability’s value changing unfavourably due to changes in currency exchange rates.
Interest rate risk The risk of loss of current and future earnings and unfavourable movements in the value of interest-bearing assets 

and liabilities from changes in interest rates.
Equity risk The risk of loss in current and future earnings and unfavourable movement in the value of investment in equity 

instruments from adverse movements in equity prices.
Credit spread risk Credit spread is the difference in yield due to difference in credit quality. This is the risk of loss in current and future 

earnings and unfavourable movement in the value of investments from changes in the credit spread as determined 
by capital market sentiment or factors affecting all issuers in the market and not necessarily due to factors specific 
to an individual issuer.

Further discussions on the application of the Suncorp Group’s risk management practices are presented in the following sections: 

•	 	Note 35.2 Group insurance risk management

•	 	Notes 35.3 to 35.6 Risk management for financial instruments: credit, liquidity and market risks applied by each of the Suncorp 
Group’s business areas

•	 	Note 35.7 Derivative financial instruments and hedging.
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Concentration of insurance risk is mitigated through diversification 
over classes of insurance business, industry segments, geographical 
segments (Australia and New Zealand), the use of reinsurer coverage 
and ensuring there is an appropriate mixture of individual and group 
insurance business split between mortality, morbidity and annuity 
benefit payments. Catastrophe insurance is also purchased to ensure 
that any accumulation of losses from one area is protected.

Exposure to risk of large claims for individual lives is managed 
through the use of surplus reinsurance arrangements whereby 
the Suncorp Group’s maximum exposure to any individual life 
is capped. Concentrations of risk by product type are managed 
through monitoring of the Suncorp Group’s in-force life insurance 
business and the mix of new business written each year.

A product pricing and re-rating process ensures that any cross subsidies 
between insurance rates for groups of policyowners of different sex and 
age are minimised such that profitability is not materially impacted 
by changes to the age and sex profile of the in-force business. 

35.2.2 teRms and Conditions of  
insuRanCe business
(A) GENERAL INSURANCE

The majority of direct insurance contracts written are entered 
into on a standard form basis. Insurance contracts are generally 
entered into on an annual basis and at the time of entering into 
a contract all terms and conditions are negotiable or, in the case 
of renewals, renegotiable. Non-standard and long-term policies 
may only be written if expressly approved by a relevant delegated 
authority. There are no special terms and conditions in any non-
standard contracts that would have a material impact on the 
financial statements. There are no embedded derivatives that are 
separately recognised from a host insurance contract.

(B) LIFE BUSINESS

The nature and terms of the insurance contracts written is such that certain external variables can be identified on which related cash 
flows for claim payments depend.

The following table provides an overview of the key variables upon which the timing and uncertainty of future cash flows of the various 
life insurance and investment contracts issued by the Suncorp Group depend.

tyPe oF ContraCt DetailS oF ContraCt WorKingS nature oF ComPenSation For ClaimS

Key variaBleS aFFeCting the 
timing anD unCertainty oF 
Future CaSh FloWS

Long-term non-
participating insurance 
contracts with fixed and 
guaranteed terms (Term 
Life and Disability)

Guaranteed benefits paid on death, ill health 
or maturity which are fixed and are not at the 
discretion of the issuer.

Benefits, defined by the insurance 
contract, are not directly affected by the 
performance of underlying assets or the 
performance of the contracts as whole.

Mortality, morbidity, lapses, 
expenses and market earning 
rates on the assets backing the 
liabilities.

Conventional life 
insurance contracts 
with discretionary 
participating benefits 
(Endowment and Whole 
of Life)

These policies combine life insurance and 
savings. The policyowner pays a regular 
premium and receives the specified sum 
assured plus any accruing bonuses on death 
or maturity. The sum insured is specified 
at inception and guaranteed. Reversionary 
bonuses are added annually, which once 
added (vested) are guaranteed. A further 
terminal bonus may be added on surrender, 
death or maturity.

Operating profit arising from these 
contracts is allocated 80:20 between 
the policyowners and shareholders in 
accordance with the Life Act. The  
amount allocated to policyowners is  
held as an unvested policy liability until 
it is distributed to specific policyowners 
as bonuses.

Mortality, surrenders, expenses 
and market earning rates on the 
assets backing the liabilities.

Investment account 
contracts with 
discretionary 
participating features

The gross value of premiums received is 
invested in the investment account with fees 
and premiums for any associated insurance 
cover being deducted from the account 
balance. Interest is credited regularly.

The payment of the account balance is 
guaranteed. Operating profit arising from 
these contracts is allocated between 
the policyowners and shareholders in 
accordance with the Life Act. The amount 
allocated to policyowners is held as 
an unvested policy liability until it is 
distributed to specific policyowners as 
interest credits.

Surrenders, expenses and 
market earning rates on the 
assets backing the liabilities.

Unit linked investment 
contracts

The gross value of premiums received 
is invested in units and the policyowner 
investment account is the value of the units. 
Investment management fees are deducted 
from policyowners annually based on the 
average value of funds under management. 

The investment return is equal to 
the earnings on assets backing the 
investment contracts less any applicable 
management fees.

Market risk, expenses and 
withdrawals. 

Lifetime annuity In exchange for an initial single premium, 
these policies provide a guaranteed regular 
income for the life of the insured.

The amount of guaranteed regular income 
is set at inception of the policy, including 
any indexation.

Longevity, expenses and market 
earning rates on assets backing 
liabilities.
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35. grouP riSK management (ContinueD)
35.3  geneRal insuRanCe Risk management  

foR finanCial instRuments
35.3.1 CRedit Risk
General Insurance is exposed to and manages the following key 
sources of credit risk.

Key SourCeS  
oF CreDit riSK hoW theSe are manageD

Premiums 
receivable

Outstanding premiums on policies which are 
generally paid on a monthly instalment basis. Late 
payments will result in the cancellation of the 
insurance contract with the policyowner, eliminating 
both the credit risk and insurance risk for the unpaid 
balance.

Investments 
in financial 
instruments

Investments in financial instruments in the 
investment portfolios are held in accordance with 
the investment mandates. Credit limits have been 
established within these guidelines to ensure 
counterparties have appropriate credit ratings.

Reinsurance 
recoveries

Reinsurance arrangements are monitored and 
managed internally and by specialised reinsurance 
brokers operating in the international reinsurance 
market. Concentration of credit risk is mitigated 
by placement of cover with a number of reinsurers 
with Standard & Poor’s (or equivalent) credit 
ratings of A– or better, with participation limits and 
minimum security requirements imposed.

The carrying amount of the relevant asset classes in the statement 
of financial position represents the maximum amount of credit 
exposures as at the end of the financial year, except for derivatives. 
The fair value of derivatives recognised in the statement of financial 
position represents the current risk exposure, but not the maximum 
risk exposure. The notional value and fair value of derivatives are 
illustrated in note 6.3.

The following table provides information regarding credit risk exposure of General Insurance financial assets, classified according to 
Standard & Poor’s counterparty credit ratings. AAA is the highest possible rating. Rated assets falling outside the range of AAA to BBB 
are classified as non-investment grade. 

general inSuranCe
CRedit Rating

not Rated total aaa aa a bbb

non-
investment 

gRade

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m

2012
Cash and cash equivalents -  53  49  11 - -  113 

Investment securities  4,040  4,071  1,766  153 -  908  10,938 
Derivatives -  22  28 - - -  50 
General Insurance assets 1  549  1,346  1,500  1  1  2,780  6,177 
Other  26  55  33  2 - -  116 

 4,615  5,547  3,376  167  1  3,688  17,394 

2011
Cash and cash equivalents -  98  96  1 - -  195 
Investment securities  4,976  4,409  1,234  145  18 -  10,782 
Derivatives -  9  14 - - -  23 
General Insurance assets 1  415  1,224  2,754  1 -  2,522  6,916 
Other  37  62  21  2 - -  122 

 5,428  5,802  4,119  149  18  2,522  18,038 

Note: 1 Only includes components of General Insurance assets that are classified as financial assets.
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All General Insurance financial assets are neither past due nor impaired at balance date except for those included in the following table. 
An amount is considered past due when a contractual payment falls overdue by one or more days. When an amount is classified as past 
due, the entire balance is disclosed in the past due analysis presented.

general inSuranCe
neitheR past 

due noR 
impaiRed

past due but not impaiRed

impaiRed total 0-3 mths 3-6 mths 6-12 mths > 12 mths

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m

2012
Premiums outstanding  2,038  28  49  10  4  8  2,137 
Other receivables designated  
at fair value through profit or loss

 209  28 -  1  1 -  239 

 2,247  56  49  11  5  8  2,376 

2011
Premiums outstanding  1,786  26  32  8  7  5  1,864 
Other receivables designated  
at fair value through profit or loss

 327  25  3  1 -  2  358 

 2,113  51  35  9  7  7  2,222 

Receivables neither past due nor impaired in the above table are not rated according to the Standard & Poor’s counterparty credit ratings. 
General Insurance does not expect any counter parties to fail to meet their obligations given their credit ratings and therefore does not 
require collateral or other security to support credit risk exposures.

35.3.2 liquidity Risk
To ensure payments are made when they fall due, General 
Insurance has the following key facilities and arrangements in 
place to mitigate liquidity risks:

•	 	investment portfolio mandates provide sufficient cash deposits 
to meet day-to-day obligations

•	 	investment funds set aside within the portfolio can be realised 
to meet significant claims payment obligations

•	 	in the event of a major catastrophe, immediate cash access is 
available under the terms of reinsurance arrangements; and

•	 	mandated liquidity limits imposed to each General Insurance 
legal entity.
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35. grouP riSK management (ContinueD)
35.3.2 liquidity Risk (Continued)
The following table summarises the maturity profile of General Insurance financial liabilities based on the remaining undiscounted contractual obligations. It also includes the maturity profile for outstanding 
general insurance claims liabilities based on the discounted estimated timing of net cash outflows. 

general inSuranCe
CaRRying amount 1 yeaR oR less 1 to 5 yeaRs oveR 5 yeaRs total Cash flows

$m $m $m $m $m

2012
Payables and other liabilities 1  1,345  1,251  93  1  1,345 
Unearned premiums liabilities  4,226  4,212  14 -  4,226 
Net discounted outstanding claims liabilities  6,953  2,431  3,243  1,279  6,953 
Subordinated notes  708  40  776 -  816 
Managed funds units on issue  15  15 - -  15 

 13,247  7,949  4,126  1,280  13,355 
Gross settled derivatives
Amounts receivable -  (12)  (233) -  (245)
Amounts payable  72  12  342 -  354 

 72 -  109 -  109 

2011
Payables and other liabilities 1  1,029  1,004  31  3  1,038 
Unearned premiums liabilities  3,854  3,846  8 -  3,854 
Net discounted outstanding claims liabilities  6,317  2,028  3,163  1,126  6,317 
Subordinated notes  678  42  520  294  856 
Managed funds units on issue  16  16 - -  16 

 11,894  6,936  3,722  1,423  12,081 
Gross settled derivatives
Amounts receivable -  (12)  (45)  (11)  (68)
Amounts payable  88  17  75  20  112 

 88  5  30  9  44 

Note: 1 Only includes components of payables and other liabilities that are classified as financial liabilities.
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35.3.3 maRket Risk
(A) FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

General Insurance is exposed to foreign exchange risk through its outstanding claims liability from previously written offshore reinsurance business, predominantly denominated in United States dollars (USD). 
This exposure is managed using USD forward exchange contracts. General Insurance is also exposed to foreign exchange risk through investments in foreign securities which is managed via the use of cross-
currency swaps. A sensitivity analysis showing the impact on profit or loss for changes in foreign exchange rates for exposure as at the balance date with all other variables including interest rates remaining 
constant is shown in the table below. There is no impact on equity reserves.

general inSuranCe 2012 2011

exposuRe at 30 june Change in fx Rate
pRofit (loss) 

afteR tax exposuRe at 30 june Change in fx Rate
pRofit (loss) 

afteR tax 

$m % $m $m % $m

Euro  38  + 15  4 - + 15 -
 – 15  (5) - – 15 -

GBP  22  + 15  2 - + 15 -
 – 15  (3) - – 15 -

JPy  25  + 15  2 - + 15 -
 – 15  (3) - – 15 -

USD  116  + 15  10  (11) + 15 (1)
 – 15  (15) - – 15  1 

(B) INTEREST RATE RISK

Interest rate risk exposure arises mainly from investment in interest-bearing securities and from ongoing valuation of insurance liabilities. The investment portfolios hold significant interest-bearing securities 
in support of corresponding outstanding claims liabilities and are invested in a manner consistent with the expected duration of claims payments. Interest rate risk is also managed by the controlled use of 
interest rate derivative instruments. The sensitivity of profit and loss after tax to movements in interest rates in relation to interest-bearing financial assets held at the balance date is shown in the table 
below. There is no impact on equity reserves. It is assumed that all residual exposures for the shareholder after tax are included in the sensitivity analysis, that the percentage point change occurs at the 
balance date and there are concurrent movements in interest rates and parallel shifts in the yield curves. The movements in interest rate used in the sensitivity analysis for 2012 have been revised to reflect an 
updated assessment of the reasonable possible changes in interest rate over the next 12 months given renewed observations and experience in the investment markets during the financial year.

general inSuranCe 2012 2011
exposuRe 
at 30 june

Change in 
inteRest Rate

pRofit (loss)
afteR tax

exposuRe 
at 30 june

Change in 
inteRest Rate

pRofit (loss)
afteR tax

$m bp $m $m bp $m

Interest-bearing investment securities (including derivative financial instruments)
 10,988  + 150  (293)  10,696  + 150  (272)

 – 100  196  – 60  108 

Other financial liabilities 
 (620)  + 150  (6)  (596)  + 150  (6)

 – 100  3  – 60  3 
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35. grouP riSK management (ContinueD)
35.3.3 maRket Risk (Continued)
(C) EQUITy RISK

The General Insurance business has exposure to equity risk through its investments in international and domestic equity trusts. The table 
below presents a sensitivity analysis showing the impact on profit or loss for price movements for exposures as at the balance date with 
all other variables remaining constant. There is no impact on equity reserves. 

general inSuranCe 2012 2011
exposuRe 
at 30 june

Change 
in pRiCes

pRofit (loss) 
afteR tax

exposuRe 
at 30 june

Change 
in pRiCes

pRofit (loss) 
afteR tax 

$m % $m $m % $m

Australian equities  233  + 20  33  -  + 20  -  
 – 20  (33)  – 20  -  

International equities
 306  + 20  43 86  + 20  12 

 – 20  (43)  – 20  (12)

(D) CREDIT SPREAD RISK

General Insurance is exposed to credit spread risk through its investments in interest-bearing securities. This risk is mitigated by 
incorporating a diversified investment portfolio, establishing maximum exposure limits for counterparties and minimum limits on credit 
ratings. The table below presents a sensitivity analysis on how credit spread movements could affect profit or loss for its exposure as 
at the balance date. There is no impact on equity reserves. The movements in credit spread used in the sensitivity analysis for 2012 
have been revised to reflect an updated assessment of the reasonable possible changes in credit spread over the next 12 months given 
renewed observations and experience in the investment markets during the financial year. 

general inSuranCe 2012 2011
exposuRe 
at 30 june

Change in 
CRedit spRead

pRofit (loss) 
afteR tax

exposuRe 
at 30 june

Change in 
CRedit spRead

pRofit (loss) 
afteR tax 

$m bp $m $m bp $m

Credit exposure (excluding semi-government)  5,318  + 100  (96)  6,337  + 60  (60)
 – 75  72  – 30  30 

Credit exposure (semi-government)
 1,419  + 40  (25)  1,277  + 20  (9)

 – 40  25  – 10  4 

35.4  banking Risk management foR  
finanCial instRuments

35.4.1 CRedit Risk
Banking is exposed to credit risk from traditional lending to 
customers and receivables from inter-bank, treasury, international 
trade and capital market activities.

Credit risk is managed on a structured basis with approval 
decisions being taken within credit approval authorities delegated 
by the Board. The acceptance and management of credit risk 
is performed independently as is the setting and maintaining 
of detailed credit policies and standards. The Bank Credit Risk 
Committee and the Bank Chief Risk Officer have responsibility for 
the independent management of credit functions to monitor trends 
impacting the credit quality of lending portfolios, developing and 
maintaining risk grading and automated risk assessment systems 
and managing troublesome and impaired assets.

Credit risk involves a wide spectrum of customers ranging 
from individuals to large institutions and as such credit risk 
management is divided into two distinct categories: a statistically 
managed portfolio and risk-graded portfolio.

The statistically managed portfolio covers consumer business 
(personal loans and housing loans) and automated credit scoring 
is widely used to determine customer creditworthiness. Credit 
scoring is embedded within the Bank’s end-to-end automated 
workflow system that also enforces credit policies and certain 
business rules. These exposures are generally not reviewed 
individually unless arrears occur when all collections and recovery 
actions are managed by a centralised team.

The risk-graded portfolio includes business and corporate 
exposures. Within this portfolio, exposures are individually assessed 
and an internal risk grade assigned depending on discrete analysis 
of each customer or group of related customers’ risk profile. 
Exposures within this portfolio are generally subject to annual (or 
more frequent) review, including a reassessment of the assigned 
internal risk grade. In the event of default, collections and recovery 
activity is managed within a well-defined structure. This process 
involves initial follow-up by the client manager including regular 
performance monitoring, reporting and, if required, transfer to a 
central intensive management or Credit Recovery Unit.
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BanKing
 ReCeivables 

due fRom 
otheR banks 

 tRading 
seCuRities 

investment 
seCuRities 

loans, advanCes 
and otheR 

ReCeivables 
CRedit 

Commitments 1 deRivatives 1  total Risk 

 individually 
pRovisioned 

impaiRed assets  

past due 
> 90 days but 
not impaiRed  

Remaining 
assets 2 and 

not impaiRed 

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

2012
Agribusiness - - -  3,644  124 -  3,768  202  24  3,542 
Construction - - -  2,345  77 -  2,422  1,264  26  1,132 
Financial services  154  4,787  6,308  2,290  35  512  14,086 - -  14,086 
Hospitality - - -  1,093  35 -  1,128  117  4  1,007 
Manufacturing - - -  453  25 -  478  14 -  464 
Professional services - - -  286  10 -  296  4  4  288 
Property investment - - -  3,129  62 -  3,191  369  6  2,816 
Real estate – Mortgage - - -  34,029  1,053 -  35,082  26  233  34,823 
Personal - - -  393  7 -  400 -  4  396 
Government and public authorities - - -  1 - -  1 - -  1 
Other commercial and industrial - - -  2,084  90 -  2,174  94  19  2,061 
total gross credit risk  154  4,787  6,308  49,747  1,518  512  63,026  2,090  320  60,616 
Impairment provisions  (537)  (392)  (39)  (106)

 62,489  1,698  281  60,510 

Notes: 1 Credit commitments and derivative instruments represent the credit equivalent amount of the Bank’s off balance sheet exposures calculated in accordance with APS 112.

   2 Not past due or past due ≤ 90 days.

A credit inspection process is in place to review the acceptance 
and management of credit risk in accordance with the approved 
risk management framework. 

The Bank manages its exposure to credit losses on derivative 
contracts by entering into master netting arrangements with 
counterparties with which it undertakes a significant volume of 
transactions. The International Swaps and Derivatives Association 
(ISDA) Master Agreement provides a contractual framework for 
derivatives dealing across a full range of over-the-counter products. 
This agreement contractually binds both parties to apply close out 
netting across all outstanding transactions covered by an agreement 
if either party defaults or other pre-agreed termination events occur.

The carrying amount of the relevant asset classes in the 
statement of financial position represents the maximum amount 
of credit exposures as at the end of the financial year, except 
for derivatives. The fair value of derivatives recognised in the 
statement of financial position represents the current risk 
exposure, but not the maximum risk exposure. The notional value 
and fair value of derivatives are illustrated in note 7.3.

The table below details the Bank’s exposure to credit risk from its 
financial assets and credit commitments as at the balance date. It 
is prepared on the following basis:

•	 	No adjustments made for any collateral held or  
credit enhancements

•	 	Impaired loans are those for which the Bank has determined 
that it is probable that it will be unable to collect all principal 
and interest due according to the contractual terms of the 
loan agreements. This includes loans that are individually 
impaired and those forming the group of homogeneous assets 
in respect of which a collective impairment provision has 
been calculated. In relation to loans for business purposes, 
all relevant circumstances surrounding the customer are 
considered before a loan is considered impaired; and

•	 	An asset is considered past due when any payment under the 
strict contractual terms have been missed or received late. The 
amount included as past due is the entire contractual balance, 
not just the overdue portion.
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35. grouP riSK management (ContinueD)
35.4.1 CRedit Risk (Continued)
BanKing

 ReCeivables 
due fRom 

otheR banks 
 tRading 

seCuRities 
investment 

seCuRities 

loans, advanCes 
and otheR 

ReCeivables 
CRedit 

Commitments 1 deRivatives 1  total Risk 

 individually 
pRovisioned 

impaiRed assets  

past due 
> 90 days but 
not impaiRed  

Remaining 
assets 2 and 

not impaiRed 

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

2011
Agribusiness - - -  3,387  15 -  3,402  216  33  3,153 
Construction - - -  3,123  126 -  3,249  1,421  91  1,737 
Financial services  226  4,952  5,742  4,632  30  503  16,085 - -  16,085 
Hospitality - - -  1,143 - -  1,143  49  7  1,087 
Manufacturing - - -  568 - -  568  15  2  551 
Professional services - - -  363 - -  363  5  2  356 
Property investment - - -  4,003 - -  4,003  538  51  3,414 
Real estate – Mortgage - - -  29,332  1,150 -  30,482  21  293  30,168 
Personal - - -  354 - -  354 -  6  348 
Government and public authorities - - -  3 - -  3 - -  3 
Other commercial and industrial - - -  2,350  95 -  2,445  116  26  2,303 
total gross credit risk  226  4,952  5,742  49,258  1,416  503  62,097  2,381  511  59,205 
Impairment provisions  (564)  (387)  (47)  (130)

 61,533  1,994  464  59,075 

Notes: 1 Credit commitments and derivative instruments represent the credit equivalent amount of the Bank’s off balance sheet exposures calculated in accordance with APS 112.

   2 Not past due or past due ≤ 90 days.

(A) CREDIT QUALITy

The following table provides information regarding the credit quality of the Bank’s loans, advances and receivables. Performing loans represent 
loans that are neither past due nor impaired. Non-performing loans represent loans that are past due and not past due but impaired.

PaSt Due > 90 DayS not PaSt Due or PaSt Due  90 DayS

Impaired NON-PERFORMING LOANS
Not impaired PERFORMING LOANS
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(A) CREDIT QUALITy (CONTINUED)

BanKing 2012 2011

$m $m

Performing loans
Loans, advances and receivables  47,321  46,363 
Loans, advances and receivables with renegotiated terms  16  3 
Collective provision for impairment  (106)  (130)

 47,231  46,236 
Non-performing loans – not impaired
Non-performing – not impaired  320  511 
Collective provision for impairment  (39)  (47)

 281  464 
Non-performing loans – impaired
Individually impaired  2,090  2,381 
Specific provision for impairment  (392)  (387)

 1,698  1,994 
total Banking loans, advances and receivables  49,210  48,694 

Ageing of past due but not impaired financial assets is used by Banking to measure and manage emerging credit risks. A summary of the ageing of past due but not impaired loans and advances and other 
receivables is noted below. The balances of financial assets other than loans, advances and other receivables are all neither past due nor impaired.

BanKing PaSt Due But not imPaireD
0-30 days 30-60 days 60-90 days 90-180 days > 180 days total 

$m $m $m $m $m $m

2012
Loans and advances 
Retail banking  877  256  114  103  134  1,484 
Business banking  138  25  222  74  9  468 

 1,015  281  336  177  143  1,952 

2011
Loans and advances 
Retail banking  886  301  143  180  119  1,629 
Business banking  134  109  45  201  11  500 

 1,020  410  188  381  130  2,129 
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35. grouP riSK management (ContinueD)
35.4.1 CRedit Risk (Continued)
(B) COLLATERAL MANAGEMENT

Collateral is used to mitigate credit risk as the secondary source of 
repayment in case the counterparty cannot meet their contractual 
repayment commitments.

The Bank evaluates each customer’s creditworthiness on a 
case-by-case basis. The amount of collateral obtained, if deemed 
necessary by the Suncorp Group upon extension of credit, is based 
on management’s credit evaluation of the counterparty. 

The Bank holds collateral against loans and advances to customers 
in the form of mortgage interests over property, other registered 
securities over assets and guarantees. With more than 60% (2011: 
50%) of the Bank’s lending being consumer in nature and 98% 
(2011: 98%) of that secured by residential property, the Bank’s 
exposures are ultimately linked to factors impacting employment 
and residential property values. 

The greatest risk in credit quality is in commercial property markets 
and deterioration in this sector may lead to increased defaults and 
write offs.

In the event of customer default, the Bank can take possession of 
any security held as collateral against the outstanding claim. Any 
loan security is usually held as mortgagee in possession while the 
Bank seeks to realise its value through the sale of the property. 
Therefore, the Bank does not hold any real estate or other assets 
acquired through the repossession of collateral.

It is the Bank’s policy to dispose of repossessed properties in an 
orderly fashion. The proceeds are used to reduce or repay the 
outstanding claim.

Collateral and other credit enhancements held by the Bank 
mitigates the maximum exposure to credit risk as detailed by the 
concentration on credit risk in note 35.4.1(c).

(C) CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

Concentration of credit risk is managed by client/counterparty and industry sector. Portfolios are actively monitored and frequently reviewed 
to identify, assess and guard against unacceptable risk concentrations.

Details of the aggregate number of the Bank’s corporate exposures (including direct and contingent exposures) which individually were 
greater than 5% of the Bank’s capital resources (Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital) are as follows: 

BanKing 2012 2011

numBer NUMBER

25 percent and greater  4  3 
20 percent to less than 25 percent  1 -
15 percent to less than 20 percent -  2 
10 percent to less than 15 percent - -
5 percent to less than 10 percent  5  4 

A structure of industry concentration limits has been developed to monitor exposure levels within the risk-graded portfolio. These are tactical 
limits upon which business planning and developmental activity is based but also act as guidelines for portfolio concentration purposes.

35.4.2 liquidity Risk
The Bank’s liquidity risk is managed using a framework that includes going concern, name crisis scenario, liquidity coverage ratio and 
net stable funding ratio analysis, minimum high quality liquid asset ratios, minimum liquid asset ratios, liquidity concentration limits and 
other supplementary management trigger limits.   

Funding risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to refinance itself to fund its business operations and growth plans. The Bank’s funding 
risk is managed through the sourcing of retail deposits and long-term funding to provide the majority of core asset portfolio. Funding for 
the non-core portfolio are managed in line with the management run-off profile expectations to ensure a suitable commensurate run-off 
profile. Funding capacity is monitored and diversity in our funding portfolio is managed with a consideration for product, tenor, geography 
and customer concentrations.

The Board Risk Committee approves liquidity policies and reviews relevant risk limits. Liquidity and funding policies are also subject 
to APRA review. Executive management of liquidity risk is delegated to the Bank Asset and Liability Committee, which reviews risk 
measures and limits, endorses and monitors the overall Bank funding and liquidity strategy. Operational management of liquidity risk is 
delegated to the Balance Sheet Management section of the Bank Treasury. Liquidity risk is independently monitored against approved 
policies on a daily basis by the Market Risk division and reported to the Bank Chief Risk Officer.
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(A) CONCENTRATIONS OF DEPOSITS AND BORROWINGS

Details of the concentration of financial liabilities used by the Bank to raise funds are as follows:

BanKing 2012 2011

$m $m

australian funding sources
Retail deposits  29,588  27,698 
Wholesale funding  8,698  8,341 
Covered bonds  1,598  - 
AUD domestic program  3,836  4,988 
Securitisation  3,386  3,014 

 47,106  44,041 

overseas wholesale funding sources
Foreign exchange retail deposits  305  198 
European commercial paper and medium-term note market  5,924  7,049 
Subordinated note program  496  676 
United States 144a medium-term note market  2,125  2,124 
Securitisation  453  620 

 9,303  10,667 
 56,409  54,708 

Comprised of the following:
Deposits from other banks  -  301 
Other money market deposits  5,371  3,752 
Amounts owed to other depositors  24,907  24,293 
Certificates of deposits  7,466  6,995 
Promissory notes and other liabilities evidenced by paper  3,715  3,840 
Debt issues  9,598  10,151 
Other borrowed funds  5,352  5,376 

 56,409  54,708 

(B) MATURITy ANALySIS

The following table summarises the maturity profile of Bank’s 
financial liabilities based on the remaining undiscounted 
contractual obligations.

The cash flows for subordinated notes have been included at their 
next call date. The total cash flows include both principal and 
associated future interest payments. Interest is calculated based 
on liabilities held at balance date, without taking account of future 
issuance. Floating rate interest is estimated using estimated 
forward rates at the balance date. 

Derivatives (other than those designated in a hedging relationship) 
and trading portfolio liabilities are included in the less than three 
months column at their fair value. Liquidity risk on these items 
is not managed on the basis of contractual maturity, since they 
are not held for settlement according to such maturity and will 
frequently be settled in the short-term at fair value. Derivatives 
designated in a hedging relationship are included according to 
their contractual maturity.  

The Bank does not use this contractual maturity information as 
presented in the liquidity management of the balance sheet. 
Additional factors as described above are considered when 
managing the maturity profiles of the business.
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35. grouP riSK management (ContinueD)
35.4.2 liquidity Risk (Continued)
(B) MATURITy ANALySIS (CONTINUED)

BanKing
 CaRRying amount  at Call 0 to 3 months  3 to 12 months  1 to 5 yeaRs  oveR 5 yeaRs  total Cash flows 

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m

2012
Deposits and short-term borrowings  41,544  10,051  23,075  8,038  973  1  42,138 
Payables due to other banks  41  41 - - - -  41 
Payables and other liabilities  634 -  634 - - -  634 
Derivative financial instruments (trading)  356 -  356 - - -  356 
Securitisation liabilities  3,839 -  284  925  2,425  757  4,391 
Debt issues  9,598 -  1,518  1,938  6,922 -  10,378 
Subordinated notes  666 -  2  512  216 -  730 
Preference shares  762 -  9  767  36 -  812 

 57,440  10,092  25,878  12,180  10,572  758  59,480 
Derivative financial instruments (hedging relationship)

Contractual amounts payable -  198  387  698 -  1,283 
Contractual amounts receivable -  (79)  (322)  (559) -  (960)

 2,013 -  119  65  139 -  323 
Off-balance sheet positions

Guarantees entered into in the normal course of business -  161 - - - -  161 
Commitments to provide loans and advances -  6,122 - - - -  6,122 

-  6,283 - - - -  6,283 

2011
Deposits and short-term borrowings  39,247  10,134  22,097  7,116  1,401  1  40,749 
Payables due to other banks  31  31 - - - -  31 
Payables and other liabilities  669 -  669 - - -  669 
Derivative financial instruments (trading)  277 -  277 - - -  277 
Securitisation liabilities  3,634 -  352  772  2,564  466  4,154 
Debt issues  10,151 -  580  2,384  8,141 -  11,105 
Subordinated notes  846 -  180  37  700 -  917 
Preference shares  830 -  115  31  774 -  920 

 55,685  10,165  24,270  10,340  13,580  467  58,822 
Derivative financial instruments (hedging relationship)

Contractual amounts payable -  292  654  651 -  1,597 
Contractual amounts receivable -  (150)  (409)  (362) -  (921)

 2,306 -  142  245  289 -  676 
Off-balance sheet positions

Guarantees entered into in the normal course of business -  165 - - - -  165 
Commitments to provide loans and advances -  6,062 - - - -  6,062 

-  6,227 - - - -  6,227 
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(B) NON-TRADED INTEREST RATE RISK 

Non-traded interest rate risk in the banking book (irrBB) is 
defined as all on balance sheet items and off balance sheet items 
that create an interest rate risk exposure within the Bank. It does 
not apply to market risk associated with trading book activities 
within the Bank (refer note 35.4.3(a)).

Interest rate risk arises from changes in interest rates that expose 
the Bank to the risk of loss in terms of earnings and/or economic 
value. There are several sources of IRRBB which includes:

•	 	repricing risk: the risk of loss of earnings and/or economic 
value as a result of changes in the overall levels of interest 
rates. This risk arises from mismatches in the interest rate 
repricing dates of banking book items; 

•	 	yield curve risk: the risk of loss of earnings and/or economic 
value as a result of changes in the relative levels of interest 
rates at different tenors of the yield curve (that is a change 
in the slope or shape of the yield curve). This risk arises from 
mismatches in the interest rate repricing dates of banking 
book items; 

•	 	Basis risk: the risk of loss of earnings and/or economic value 
as a result of differences between the actual and expected 
interest margins on banking book items, where ‘margin’ 
means the difference between the customer interest rate on 
the items and the implied cost of funds for those items; and

•	 	optionality risk: the risk of loss of earnings and/or economic 
value as the result of the existence of stand-alone or 
embedded options, to the extent that the potential for those 
losses is not included in the measurement of repricing, yield 
curve or basis risks. 

35.4.3 maRket Risk
The Bank is exposed to mainly two sources of market risk, being interest rate and foreign exchange (FX) risks. For the purposes of market 
risk management, these are further broken down into traded and non-traded market risks.

(A) TRADED MARKET RISK 

The Bank trades a range of on-balance sheet interest, foreign exchange and derivative products. Income is earned from spreads achieved 
through market making and effective trading within the established risk management framework.

Traded interest rate and foreign exchange risks are managed using a framework that includes value at risk (VaR) limits, stress testing, 
scenario analysis, sensitivity limits and stop loss limits. No one risk metric provides a single sufficient overview of risk and as such VaR 
forms only a part of the risk framework. Supplementary risk measures, such as stress tests, sensitivity analysis and scenario analysis are 
undertaken to ensure a more complete overview of traded market risk for risk management. These measures are monitored and reported 
to the Bank Chief Risk Officer and Bank Asset and Liability Committee for management oversight.

VaR is a statistical estimate of potential loss using historically observed market volatility and correlations between different markets.  The 
VaR model, based on a Monte Carlo simulation methodology, takes into account correlations between different positions and the potential 
for movements to offset one another within the individual portfolios. This method involves multiple revaluations of the trading books using 
the most recent two years of historical pricing shifts. The Suncorp Group measures VaR at a 99% confidence level which implies that for 
every 100 days, the loss should not exceed the VaR on 99 of those days. The model assumes a one day holding period for all positions.

The VaR for the Bank’s exposure to traded interest rate and foreign exchange risks for the financial year are as follows:

BanKing 2012 2011

tRaded maRket Risk
inteRest 
Rate Risk fx Risk

Combined 
Risk1

inteRest 
Rate Risk fx Risk

Combined 
Risk1

$m $m $m $m $m $m

VaR at end of the financial year 1.02 0.20 1.03 0.60 0.45 0.82 
Maximum VaR during the financial year 1.34 0.94 1.32 1.47 0.80 1.60 
Minimum VaR during the financial year 0.12 0.04 0.20 0.41 0.04 0.43 
Average VaR during the financial year 0.36 0.42 0.58 0.75 0.33 0.91 

Note: 1  VaR for combined risk is the total trading interest rate and foreign exchange risks, taking into account correlations between different positions in both the interest rate and 
foreign exchange trading portfolios.
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35. grouP riSK management (ContinueD)
35.4.3 maRket Risk (Continued)
(B) NON-TRADED INTEREST RATE RISK (CONTINUED)

The main objective of IRRBB management is to maximise and 
stabilise net interest income in the long-term. The IRRBB framework 
was substantially enhanced in January 2012 as part of the transition 
to Basel II internal model accreditation. As a result, the methodology 
for measuring non-traded interest rate sensitivity has been amended. 
The sensitivity analyses presented below are prepared based on the 
IRRBB framework applicable to the respective financial periods:

•	 	For the financial year ended 30 June 2011 and for the six months 
ended 31 December 2011 – Risk appetite was set at a Bank 
level (cash flows inclusive of customer margins), excluding the 
capital benchmark, and based on contractual pricing information 
irrespective of the behavioural profile of a position; and

•	 	For the six months ended 30 June 2012 – Risk appetite 
is defined in terms of risk that can be taken inclusive of 
the capital benchmark at a transfer priced level.  The risk 
management framework also incorporated behavioural 
modelling where contractual modelling was not appropriate, 
optionality risk and basis risk.

IRRBB – NET INTEREST INCOME SENSITIVITy (NIIS)

IRRBB exposures are generated by using underlying reconciled 
financial position data to generate cash flows using relevant 
interest rate curves, and a static balance sheet assumption. 
Contractual cash flows are generated except for products where 
expected behavioural cash flow modelling is more appropriate, 
and they are modelled with a profile and at a term that can be 
statistically supported.

As a measure of shorter term sensitivity, NIIS measures the sensitivity of the banking book earnings over the next 12 months to an 
instantaneous parallel and non-parallel shock to the yield curve.

For all financial periods presented below, NIIS is measured using a 2% parallel and non-parallel shock to the yield curve to determine 
the potential adverse change in net interest income in the ensuing 12 month period. In previous financial reports, the sensitivity analysis 
was prepared using a 1% parallel shock to the yield curve. This assumption is revised as part of the transition to Basel II internal model 
accreditation.

The results are prepared based on the IRRBB framework applicable to the respective financial period.

BanKing 2012 2011
six months ended yeaR ended 

30 june 1130 june 12 31 deC 11

$m $m $m

irrBB niiS (over 12 months) to an adverse 2% parallel  
or non-parallel instantaneous shock to the yield curve
Exposure at end of the financial period (21) (69) (26)
Average monthly exposure during the financial period (23) (53) (31)
High month exposure during the financial period (38) (69) (41)
Low month exposure during the financial period (10) (29) (18)

PRESENT VALUE SENSITIVITy (PVS)

As a measure of longer term sensitivity, PVS measures the sensitivity of the present value of the net interest income at risk of all known 
future cash flows in the banking book, to an instantaneous parallel and non-parallel shock to the yield curve.  All exposures have their 
known future cash flows present valued from relevant interest rate curves.

The following table indicates the potential adverse change in PVS of the Bank’s statement of financial position. For all financial periods 
presented below, the change in PVS is based on an adverse 2% parallel or non-parallel instantaneous shock to the yield curve.  In 
previous financial reports, the sensitivity analysis was prepared using a 1% adverse shock. This assumption is revised as part of the 
transition to Basel II internal model accreditation.

The results are prepared based on the IRRBB framework applicable to the respective financial period.
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(C) NON-TRADED FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Non-traded foreign exchange risk can arise from having non-AUD 
items in the banking book, thereby exposing current and future 
earnings to movements in foreign exchange rates. The objective 
of foreign currency exchange risk management is to minimise the 
impact on earnings of any such movements. The policy is to fully 
hedge any such exposure and accordingly minimise exposure to the 
risk. All offshore borrowing facilities arranged as part of the overall 
funding diversification process have been economically hedged in 
respect of their potential foreign exchange risk through the use of 
financial derivatives (refer note 35.7).

BanKing 2012 2011
six months ended yeaR ended 

30 june 1130 june 12 31 deC 11

$m $m $m

irrBB PvS to an adverse 2% parallel or non-parallel  
instantaneous shock to the yield curve
Exposure at end of the financial period (51) (14) (20)
Average monthly exposure during the financial period (47) (13) (17)
High month exposure during the financial period (57) (14) (25)
Low month exposure during the financial period (29) (12) (4)

PRESENT VALUE SENSITIVITy INCLUDING OFF BALANCE SHEET POSITIONS

The Bank also periodically prepares a value at risk type analysis to value asset, liability and off-balance sheet positions under a range of 
possible interest rate scenarios. Value at risk provides information on the potential adverse change that could occur to the present value 
of the banking book under a range of possible interest rate scenarios.  The interest rate scenarios are derived from historical analysis of 
interest rates using a one month holding period, and the most adverse of either a 3 month or 2 year history set, at a 97.5% confidence 
level. A static balance sheet assumption is used.

The results are prepared based on the IRRBB framework applicable to the respective financial period.

BanKing 2012 2011
six months ended yeaR ended 

30 june 1130 june 12 31 deC 11

$m $m $m

irrBB - var - 1 month holding period, 97.5% confidence interval
Exposure at end of the financial period (17) (3) (6)
Average monthly exposure during the financial period (15) (5) (8)
High month exposure during the financial period (19) (11) (16)
Low month exposure during the financial period  (10)  (3) (1)
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35. grouP riSK management (ContinueD)
35.5  life Risk management foR  

finanCial instRuments
35.5.1 CRedit Risk
Life is exposed to and manages the following key sources  
of credit risk.

Key SourCeS 
oF CreDit riSK hoW are theSe manageD

Investments 
in financial 
instruments

Financial instruments are only dealt on recognised 
exchanges and over-the-counter contracts. The 
counterparties to over-the-counter contracts are 
limited to companies with primarily investment grade 
credit ratings from a recognised credit rating agency 
and are normally banks operating in Australia. Credit 
management (credit rating and credit limit controls), 
and counterparty diversification policies are in 
place to limit exposure to any one counterparty as a 
proportion of the investment portfolio.

Reinsurance 
recoveries

Credit risk with respect to reinsurance programs is 
minimised by placement of cover with a number of 
reinsurers with strong credit ratings.

The carrying amount of the relevant asset classes in the 
statement of financial position represents the maximum amount 
of credit exposures as at the end of the financial year, except 
for derivatives. The fair value of derivatives recognised in the 
statement of financial position represents the current risk 
exposure, but not the maximum risk exposure. The notional value 
and fair value of derivatives are illustrated in note 8.3.

The following table provides information regarding credit risk 
exposure of Life financial assets, classified according to Standard 
& Poor’s counterparty credit ratings. AAA is the highest possible 
rating. Rated assets falling outside the range of AAA to BBB are 
classified as non-investment grade.

liFe
CRedit Rating 

otheR not 
Rated

investment 
linked 

business 1 total aaa aa a bbb

non-
investment 

gRade

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

2012
Cash and cash equivalents -  177  210  9 - -  432  828 
Investment securities  1,250  1,071  358  62  6  25  499  3,271 
Life assets -  435 - -  2  218  51  706 
Derivatives -  10 - - - - -  10 

 1,250  1,693  568  71  8  243  982  4,815 

2011
Cash and cash equivalents  77  150  128 - - -  310  665 
Investment securities  1,823  725  232  27  1  32  615  3,455 
Life assets -  210  97 - -  346 -  653 
Derivatives - - - - -  1  3  4 

 1,900  1,085  457  27  1  379  928  4,777 

Note: 1  For investment-linked business, the liability to policyowners is linked to the performance and value of the assets that back those liabilities. Life has no direct exposure to any 
credit risk in those assets. 

All Life financial assets are neither past due nor impaired at balance date except for those included in the following table. An amount 
is considered past due when a contractual payment falls overdue by one or more days. When an amount is classified as past due, the 
entire balance is disclosed in the past due analysis below. For investment-linked business, the liability to policyowners is linked to the 
performance and value of the assets that back those liabilities. Life has no direct exposure to any credit risk in those assets and the table 
below does not include any financial assets backing investment-linked business.

liFe
neitheR past 

due noR 
impaiRed

past due but not impaiRed

impaiRed total 0-3 mths 3-6 mths 6-12 mths > 12 mths

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m

2012
Premiums outstanding -  14 - - - -  14 
Reinsurance recoveries receivable  56  11  1  1  2 -  71 
Other receivables  152  5  3 - -  16  176 

 208  30  4  1  2  16  261 

2011
Premiums outstanding  4  16 - - - -  20 
Reinsurance recoveries receivable  62  14  4  3 - -  83 
Other receivables  162  4  2  2  3  38  211 

 228  34  6  5  3  38  314 
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35.5.3 maRket Risk
Market risk in Life arises from mismatches between asset returns 
and guaranteed liability returns, adverse movements in market 
prices affecting fee income on investment-linked policies and from 
returns obtained from the investment of shareholders’ capital held 
in each life company.

Management of market risk is most critical for products which 
involve the investment of significant amounts of money to meet 
future liabilities and where the returns on those assets either 
accrue to the shareholder or are not necessarily able to be passed 
on to policyowners in a timely manner. This includes, for example, 
assets backing disability income reserves for open claims and 
participating business. For some non-participating insurance 
products, such as unit-linked products, market risks are passed 
on to the policyowner, although as noted, the shareholder’s fee 
revenue may be adversely affected by market falls.

(A) FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK 

The statutory funds of the Suncorp Group’s Life business invest in 
overseas assets. In the investment-linked funds any investment 
returns, whether positive or negative, are passed on to the 
policyowners. Various guarantees are provided by the non-
investment-linked statutory funds, principally in relation to capital 
and declared interest. The relevant statutory funds maintain 
reserves in accordance with APRA Prudential Standards (local 
actuarial Professional Standards for New Zealand) to meet the 
risk associated with diminution of value associated with foreign 
exchange risk.

The Life companies invest a portion of investment assets in global 
equities with foreign currency exposure managed by entering 
into forward foreign exchange and futures contracts. The Life 
companies also invest in several Suncorp Group related trusts who 
enter into forward foreign exchange and future contracts to aim to 
provide capital appreciation. 

Receivables neither past due nor impaired in the above table are not rated according to the Standard & Poor’s counterparty credit ratings. 
Life does not expect any counterparties to fail to meet their obligations given their credit ratings and therefore does not require collateral 
or other security to support credit risk exposures.

35.5.2 liquidity Risk
To ensure payments are made when they fall due, Life has the following key facilities and arrangements in place to mitigate liquidity risks:

•	 	investment portfolio mandates provide sufficient cash deposits to meet day-to-day obligations

•	 	regularity of premiums received provides substantial liquidity to meet claims payments and associated expenses as they arise; and

•	 	flexibility in investment strategies implemented for investment management to provide sufficient liquidity to meet claims payment as 
they fall due, based on actuarial assessments.

The following table summarises the maturity profile of Life financial liabilities based on the remaining undiscounted contractual 
obligations. It also includes the maturity profile for life insurance and life investment contract policy liabilities based on the discounted 
estimated timing of net cash outflows. 

 
liFe

CaRRying 
amount 1 yeaR oR less 1 to 5 yeaRs oveR 5 yeaRs no teRm 

investment 
linked 1

total Cash 
flows  

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m

2012
Payables and other liabilties 2  216  207 -  4  4  1  216 
Outstanding claims liabilities  186  129 - -  57 -  186 
Net Life policy liabilities  4,781  128  593  690 -  3,370  4,781 
Unvested policyowner benefits  366 - - -  366 -  366 
Managed funds units on issue  1,608  1,608 - - - -  1,608 

 7,157  2,072  593  694  427  3,371  7,157 

2011
Payables and other liabilties 2  253  251 - - -  2  253 
Outstanding claims liabilities  167  123 - -  44 -  167 
Net Life policy liabilities  5,282  297  739  586 -  3,660  5,282 
Unvested policyowner benefits  383  3 - -  380 -  383 
Managed funds units on issue  673  673 - - - -  673 

 6,758  1,347  739  586  424  3,662  6,758 

Note: 1  For investment-linked business, the liability to policyowners is linked to the performance and value of the assets that back those liabilities. Life has no direct exposure to 
liquidity risk in those liabilities. 

   2 Only includes components of payables and other liabilities that are classified as financial liabilities.
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35. grouP riSK management (ContinueD)
35.5.3 maRket Risk (Continued)
(A) FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK (CONTINUED)

A sensitivity analysis showing the impact on profit or loss for changes in foreign exchange rates for exposure as at the balance date with all 
other variables including interest rates remaining constant is shown in the table below. There is no impact on equity reserves.

liFe 2012 2011
exposuRe 
at 30 june

Change in 
fx Rate

pRofit (loss) 
afteR tax 

exposuRe 
at 30 june

Change in 
fx Rate

pRofit (loss) 
afteR tax 

$m % $m $m % $m

USD
 141  + 15  13  129  + 15  12 

 – 15  (17)  – 15  (16)

Other 1 
 86  + 15  8  102  + 15  9 

 – 15  (11)  – 15  (13)

Note: 1 Includes EUR, GBP and JPy.

(B) INTEREST RATE RISK

For Life, interest rate risk exposure arises mainly from investment in interest-bearing securities. Interest rate risk arises in respect of 
financial assets held in the shareholders’ funds and the Life statutory funds over liabilities. This is combined with an economic mismatch 
between the timing of payments to life insurance and life investment contract holders and the duration of the assets held in the statutory 
funds to back these liabilities. Where the liability to the investment contract holder is directly linked to the value of assets held to back 
that liability there is no residual interest rate exposure to the shareholder. Accordingly, investment-linked business is excluded from the 
analysis below.

The sensitivity of profit and loss after tax to movements in interest rates in relation to interest-bearing financial assets held at the 
balance date is shown in the table below. It is assumed that all residual exposures for the shareholder after tax are included in the 
sensitivity analysis, that the percentage point change occurs at the balance date and that there are concurrent movements in interest 
rates and parallel shifts in the yield curves. The movements in interest rate used in the sensitivity analysis for 2012 have been revised to 
reflect updated assessment of the reasonable possible changes in interest rate over the next 12 months given renewed observations and 
experience in the investment markets during the financial year. There is no impact on equity reserves.

liFe 2012 2011
exposuRe 
at 30 june

Change in 
inteRest Rate

pRofit (loss) 
afteR tax 

exposuRe 
at 30 june

Change in 
inteRest Rate

pRofit (loss) 
afteR tax 

$m bp $m $m bp $m

Interest-bearing investment 
securities (including derivative 
financial instruments) 1

 2,786  +150  (60)  2,590  +150  (60)

 – 60  40  – 60  25 

Note: 1  Excludes interest-bearing investment securities held for investment-linked business as the shareholder has no direct interest rate risk exposure from these investment securities.

(C) EQUITy RISK

Life has exposure to equity risk from equity investments in its 
investment portfolios. Equity risk is managed by incorporating 
a diverse holding of Australian and overseas equities (whether 
direct or through unitised vehicles) and through the controlled 
use of derivative financial instruments. The table below presents 
a sensitivity analysis showing the impact on profit or loss for 
listed equity price movements as at the balance date with all 
other variables remaining constant. The price risk in relation to 
unlisted securities is immaterial in terms of the possible impact 
on profit or loss and equity reserves and has not been included 
in the sensitivity analysis. After tax impact on profit (loss) uses 
a corporate tax rate of 30%. Actual after tax impact for Life 
business may differ. There is no impact on equity reserves.
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liFe 2012 2011
exposuRe at 

30 june
Change in 

equity pRiCes
pRofit (loss) 

afteR tax 
exposuRe at 

30 june
Change in 

equity pRiCes
pRofit (loss) 

afteR tax 

$m % $m $m % $m

Listed Australian equities  
and unit trusts

 890  + 20  124  720  + 20  139 
 – 20  (124)  – 20  (139)

Listed international equities  
and unit trusts

 551  + 20  78  371  + 20  57 
 – 20  (78)  – 20  (57)

(D) CREDIT SPREAD RISK

Life is exposed to credit spread risk through its investments in interest-bearing securities. This risk is mitigated by incorporating a 
diversified investment portfolio, establishing maximum exposure limits for counterparties and minimum limits on credit ratings. The table 
below presents a sensitivity analysis on how credit spread movements could affect profit or loss for its exposure in direct investment 
holdings as at the balance date. There is no impact on equity reserves. The movements in credit spread used in the sensitivity analysis 
for 2012 have been revised to reflect an updated assessment of the reasonable possible changes in credit spread over the next 12 
months given renewed observations and experience in the investment markets during the financial year. 

liFe 2012 2011
exposuRe 
at 30 june

Change in 
CRedit spRead

pRofit (loss) 
afteR tax

exposuRe at 
30 june

Change in 
CRedit spRead

pRofit (loss) 
afteR tax 

$m bp $m $m bp $m

Credit exposure  
(excluding semi-government)

 243  + 100  (4)  65  + 60  - 
 – 75  3  – 30  - 

Credit exposure  
(semi-government)

 737  + 40  (12)  154  + 20  (2)
 – 40  12  – 10  1 

35.6  CoRpoRate Risk management  
foR finanCial instRuments

35.6.1 CRedit Risk
Corporate is exposed to credit risk primarily through its investment 
in financial instruments. To mitigate this risk, financial instruments 
are only dealt on recognised exchanges and over-the-counter 
contracts. The counterparties to over-the-counter contracts are 
limited to companies with primarily investment grade credit ratings 
from a recognised credit rating agency and are normally banks 
operating in Australia. Credit management (credit rating and credit 
limit controls) and counterparty diversification policies are in place 
to limit exposure to any one counterparty as a proportion of the 
investment portfolio. No collateral or other credit enhancements are 
held to mitigate Corporate’s exposure to credit risk.

The carrying amount of the relevant asset classes in the  
statement of financial position represents the maximum amount  
of credit exposures.

The following table provides information regarding credit risk 
exposure of Corporate financial assets, classified according to 
Standard & Poor’s counterparty credit ratings. AAA is the highest 
possible rating. Rated assets falling outside the range of AAA to 
BBB are classified as non-investment grade.
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35. grouP riSK management (ContinueD)
35.6.1 CRedit Risk (Continued)
CorPorate

CRedit Rating 

not Rated total aaa aa a bbb

non-
investment 

gRade

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m

2012
Cash and cash equivalents - -  202  10 - -  212 
Investment securities  86  109  148  34 -  228  605 
Accrued interest -  2  2 - - -  4 

 86  111  352  44 -  228  821 

2011
Cash and cash equivalents -  54  18 - - -  72 
Investment securities  121  334  114  2 - -  571 
Accrued interest  1  3  2 - - -  6 

 122  391  134  2 - -  649 

All Corporate financial assets are neither past due nor impaired as at 30 June 2012 (2011: nil). 

35.6.2 liquidity Risk
To ensure payments are made when they fall due, the Corporate investment portfolio mandates provide sufficient cash deposits to meet 
day-to-day obligations.

The following table summarises the maturity profile of Corporate financial liabilities based on the remaining undiscounted contractual obligations. 

CorPorate
CaRRying 

amount 1 yeaR oR less 1 to 5 yeaRs oveR 5 yeaRs
total 

Cash flows

$m $m $m $m $m

2012
Payables and other liabilities 1  110  89  21 -  110 

2011
Payables and other liabilities 1  56  56 - -  56 

Note: 1 Only include components of payables and other liabilities that are classified as financial liabilities.

35.6.3 maRket Risk
(A) INTEREST RATE RISK

For Corporate, interest rate risk exposure arises mainly from 
investment in interest-bearing securities. Interest rate risk is 
managed by maintaining a diversified portfolio to protect the value 
of the underlying assets in the portfolio from large movements. 
The sensitivity of profit and loss after tax to movements in interest 
rates in relation to interest-bearing financial assets held at the 
balance date is shown in the table below. It is assumed that all 
residual exposures for the shareholder after tax are included in 
the sensitivity analysis, that the percentage point change occurs 
at the balance date and that there are concurrent movements in 
interest rates and parallel shifts in the yield curves. There is no 
impact on equity reserves. 
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CorPorate 2012 2011
exposuRe 
at 30 june 

Change in 
inteRest Rate

pRofit (loss) 
afteR tax 

exposuRe 
at 30 june 

Change in 
inteRest Rate

pRofit (loss) 
afteR tax 

$m bp $m $m bp $m

Interest-bearing investment securities
 605  + 150  (2)  571  + 150  (5)

 – 100  2  – 60  2 

(B) CREDIT SPREAD RISK

Corporate is exposed to credit spread risk through its investments in interest-bearing securities. This risk is mitigated by incorporating a 
diversified investment portfolio, establishing maximum exposure limits for counterparties and minimum limits on credit ratings. The table 
below presents a sensitivity analysis on how credit spread movements could affect Corporate’s profit or loss for its exposure as at the 
balance date. There is no impact on equity reserves.

CorPorate 2012 2011
exposuRe 
at 30 june

Change in 
CRedit spRead

pRofit (loss) 
afteR tax

exposuRe 
at 30 june

Change in 
CRedit spRead

pRofit (loss) 
afteR tax

$m bp $m $m bp $m

Credit exposure (excluding semi-government)
 320  + 100  (3)  571  + 60  (3)

 – 75  2  – 30  (2)

HEDGING OF FLUCTUATIONS IN INTEREST RATES

Banking seeks to minimise volatility in net interest income through 
use of interest rate derivatives, primarily vanilla interest rate 
swaps. The swaps are managed over a three-year period which is 
approximately the average loan life.

At balance date, Banking had one (2011: one) swap designated 
as a fair value hedge of a fixed rate note issue and 13 (2011: one) 
swaps designated as fair value hedges of fixed rate bonds held. 
All other interest rate swaps designated as hedges are cash flow 
hedges. The swaps designated as cash flow hedges are hedges of 
either variable rate mortgages or variable rate short-term debt.

HEDGING OF FLUCTUATIONS IN FOREIGN CURRENCy RATES

Banking hedges its exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange 
rates through the use of derivatives in the foreign exchange 
market. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily US 
Dollars, Euro and Pounds Sterling.

Banking hedges its offshore debt issues using cross currency 
interest rate swaps and foreign exchange swaps. In respect of other 
financial assets and liabilities held in currencies other than AUD, 
Banking ensures that the net exposure is kept to an acceptable level 
through participation in the spot and forward markets. 

All cross currency interest rate swaps entered into by the Suncorp 
Group are designated as hedges using the split approach. Under this 
approach the benchmark rate component of the swap is accounted 
for as a fair value hedge and the margin component as a cash 
flow hedge. Banking has elected to fair value its Euro Commercial 
Paper portfolio through the profit or loss on the basis that it is 
economically hedged by forward foreign exchange contracts. Both 
the changes in the fair value of the forward contracts and the debt 
issue are recognised. The fair value of forward foreign exchange 
contracts used as economic hedges of monetary liabilities in foreign 
currencies where hedge accounting is not applied as at 30 June 
2012 was $70 million (2011: $39 million). 

General Insurance has forward foreign exchange contracts in 
relation to the overseas liabilities portfolio. Under the contracts, 
General Insurance agrees to exchange specified amounts of 
United States dollars at an agreed future date, at a specified 
exchange rate.

35.7 deRivative finanCial instRuments  
and hedging 
The Suncorp Group operates in multiple currencies and is 
a significant borrower and investor in the global markets. 
Derivatives are used by each business area to mitigate interest 
rate, foreign exchange and equity price risks. Derivatives used 
include exchange-traded bills and bond futures, equity index 
futures, over-the-counter (OTC) forward foreign exchange 
contracts, interest rate swaps and currency interest rate swaps.

To prevent derivatives being used as a source of gearing, all 
derivatives have to be wholly or partly cash covered depending on 
the type of risk undertaken. The investment mandates specifically 
prohibit the use of derivatives for leveraged trading. Leverage here 
is defined as creating a portfolio which would have sensitivity to 
an underlying economic or financial variable which is greater than 
could be achieved using only physical securities.

The use of derivatives exposes the Suncorp Group to credit risk. 
Exposure limits have been established with respect to the various 
asset classes. Within each asset class, derivative exposure limits 
are identified in the investment mandates and limits have been 
established on daily transaction levels. For OTC derivatives, 
authorised counterparties must have a minimum credit rating 
equivalent to a Standard & Poor’s rating of ‘A’.

The investment manager is responsible for monitoring these 
positions to ensure they do not exceed the authorities established 
in the investment mandate. 

INVESTMENTS

To a limited extent, derivatives are used within the investment 
portfolios where it is more efficient to use derivatives rather than 
physical securities. The use of derivatives is consistent with the 
objectives of the overall investment strategies and is one of the 
means by which these strategies are implemented.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the financial year ended 30 June 2012 (continued)

35. grouP riSK management (ContinueD)
35.7 deRivative finanCial instRuments and hedging (Continued)
The following table details the derivatives used in the hedging of fluctuations in interest rates and foreign exchange rates.

ConSoliDateD 2012 2011
faiR value 

hedges
Cash flow 

hedges
faiR value 

hedges
Cash flow 

hedges

$m $m $m $m

hedging of fluctuations in interest rates
Notional value of interest rate swaps designated as hedges  1,179  11,276  379  14,105 

Fair value:
net receive interest rate swaps  24  24  8  12 
net pay interest rate swaps  (58)  (133)  (1)  (102)

 (34)  (109)  7  (90)

split appRoaCh split appRoaCh

$m $m

hedging of fluctuations in foreign exchange rates
Notional value of cross currency swaps designated as hedges  6,688  9,144 

Fair value:
net pay cross currency swaps  (1,822)  (2,306)

Banking also hedges against the foreign currency exposure which 
results from the Commonwealth government guarantee expense. 
The underlying exposure is calculated as the present value of the 
1% fee charged to Banking for those selected offshore liabilities, 
over the term of the liabilities. The hedge is a cash flow hedge 
using foreign currency positions with foreign currency translation 
movements deferred to equity, and released to profit or loss as 
the fee expense is incurred. As at 30 June 2012 the unrealised 
loss from foreign currency fluctuation deferred to equity was 
$14 million (2011: $37 million) for government guarantee fee 
hedges. During the current financial year, Banking deferred to 
equity $2 million, and released $21 million of foreign currency 
loss previously deferred to equity to profit or loss (2011: deferred 
to equity $25 million and released $18 million of foreign currency 
loss previously deferred to equity to profit or loss). 
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Cash flows relating to the cash flow hedges are expected to impact the profit or loss in the following periods: 

ConSoliDateD

0 to 12 months 1 to 5 yeaRs  oveR 5 yeaRs 
total expeCted 

Cash flows  

$m $m $m $m

2012
Forecast receivable cash flows  282  329 -  611 
Forecast payable cash flows  (339)  (378) -  (717)

 (57)  (49) -  (106)

2011
Forecast receivable cash flows  468  209 -  677 
Forecast payable cash flows  (535)  (211) -  (746)

 (67)  (2) -  (69)

Consolidated losses of $74 million (2011: losses of $36 million) on derivatives held in qualifying fair value hedging relationships, and 
gains of $74 million (2011: gains of $35 million) representing changes in the fair value of the hedged items attributable to the hedged risk 
are recognised in profit or loss. 

36. auDitorS’ remuneration 
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

kpmg austRalia oveRseas kpmg fiRms otheR auditoRs

 $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000 

audit and review services
Audit and review  
of financial reports

 5,467  5,040  1,457  1,412  29  61 

Other regulatory audits  1,621  1,286  13  25 - -
 7,088  6,326  1,470  1,437  29  61 

other services
In relation to other assurance, 
actuarial, taxation and other  
non-audit services

 1,266  1,495  73  39  -  - 

Total Auditors’ remuneration  8,354 7,821  1,543 1,476  29 61 

37. SuBSequent eventS
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any other item, transaction or 
event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, to affect significantly the operations of the 
Suncorp Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Suncorp Group in future financial years.
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Directors’ declaration

1  In the opinion of the directors of Suncorp Group Limited (the Company):

 (a)  the financial statements and notes, and the Remuneration Report in the Directors’ Report, set out on pages 11 to 157, 
are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

  (i)  giving a true and fair view of the Suncorp Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2012 and of its performance 
for the financial year ended on that date; and

  (ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the 
Corporations Regulations 2001

 (b)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 
due and payable.

2  The directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the Group 
Chief Executive Officer and Group Chief Financial Officer for the financial year ended 30 June 2012.

3  The directors draw attention to note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, which includes a statement of 
compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

Dr Zygmunt e Switkowski    Patrick J r Snowball
Chairman         Managing Director 
           and Group CEO

22 August 2012
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rePort on the FinanCial rePort 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Suncorp 
Group Limited (the Company), which comprises the Consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2012, and 
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income, Consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and Consolidated statement 
of cash flows for the year ended on that date, notes 1 to 37 
comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information and the Directors’ declaration of 
the Suncorp Group comprising the Company and the entities 
it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the 
financial year.

diReCtoRs’ Responsibility foR the  
finanCial RepoRt 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation 
of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 
2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is 
free from material misstatement whether due to fraud or error. In 
note 2.1, the directors also state, in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial 
Statements, that the financial statements of the Suncorp Group 
comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.

auditoR’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report 
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require 
that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to 
audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from 
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 
view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 

We performed the procedures to assess whether in all material 
respects the financial report presents fairly, in accordance with 
the Corporations Act 2001 and Australian Accounting Standards, 
a true and fair view which is consistent with our understanding of 
the Suncorp Group’s financial position and of its performance. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

independenCe
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. 

auDitor’S oPinion
In our opinion:

(a) the financial report of the Suncorp Group is in accordance with 
the Corporations Act 2001, including:  

 (i)  giving a true and fair view of the Suncorp Group’s financial 
position as at 30 June 2012 and of its performance for the 
year ended on that date; and 

 (ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the 
Corporations Regulations 2001.

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 2.1. 

rePort on the remuneration rePort
We have audited sections 2 and 3 of the Remuneration Report 
included on pages 14 to 29 of the Directors’ Report for the 
year ended 30 June 2012 that are described as audited. The 
directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and 
presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with 
Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our 
audit conducted in accordance with auditing standards.

auDitor’S oPinion
In our opinion, the information set out in the Remuneration Report 
of Suncorp Group Limited for the year ended 30 June 2012, 
that is described as audited, complies with Section 300A of the 
Corporations Act 2001.

KPmg

Paul reid 
Partner 
Brisbane

22 August 2012

kPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the kPMG network  
of independent member firms affiliated with kPMG International Cooperative 
(“kPMG International”), a Swiss entity.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Suncorp Group Limited
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Company name: Suncorp Group Limited

asx Code: SUN (Ordinary shares)

RegisteRed offiCe:  
Level 18, Suncorp Centre, 36 Wickham Terrace,  
Brisbane Qld 4000 Australia 

Ph 07 3362 1222 
Fax 07 3135 2940 
website: www.suncorpgroup.com.au

auDitorS
KPMG, Level 16, Riparian Plaza, 71 Eagle Street,  
Brisbane Qld 4000 Australia 

annual general meeting
Date: Thursday 25 October 2012

time: 2.30pm 

venue: Great Hall, Brisbane Convention & Exhibition Centre, 
Corner Merivale and Glenelg Streets, South Brisbane, Qld 4101

FinanCial CalenDar oF eventS  
anD Key DiviDenD DateS*
Full year results lodged with ASX and final dividend  
announcement 22 August 2012
Ex dividend date for final dividend 27 August 2012
Record date 31 August 2012
Annual Report mailing 25 September 2012
Dividend payment 1 October 2012
Annual General Meeting 25 October 2012
Half-year results announcement 20 February 2013
Ex dividend date for interim dividend 25 February 2013 
Interim dividend record date 1 March 2013
Interim dividend payment 2 April 2013
Financial year end 30 June 2013 

* The financial calendar may be updated from time to time throughout the year. Please 
refer to the website www.suncorpgroup.com.au for up-to-date details. Dates for 
dividends may be subject to change.

DiviDenDS
The Company encourages shareholders to have cash dividends 
credited directly to their bank/building society/credit union 
account. This is more cost-effective, convenient and secure.

dividend histoRy*
2012 interim 20c; final 20c; special 15c
2011 interim 15c; final 20c
2010 interim 15c; final 20c
2009 interim 20c; final 20c
2008 interim 52c; final 55c

*  Following a restructure in January 2011 Suncorp Group Limited replaced  
Suncorp-Metway Limited as the Suncorp Group’s listed holding company. 

dividend Reinvestment plan
The Company has a dividend reinvestment plan for shareholders 
to reinvest all or part of their dividends in the Company’s shares, 
with no brokerage or transaction costs. Shareholders who have 
already elected to join this plan will automatically have their 
dividend paid to them in this form. Shareholders wishing to join 
the plan for future dividends should advise Link by the record date 
of each dividend payment. 

Shareholders may vary their participation or withdraw from the 
dividend reinvestment plan at any time. Further information is 
available on the Suncorp Group website or by contacting Link. 

SeCuritieS inFormation
The Company’s securities listed on the ASX as at 17 August 2012 are:

ClaSS oF SeCurity aSx CoDe numBer

Ordinary shares SUN 1,286,600,980

Financial calendar 
and other shareholder information

Changing ShareholDer DetailS #

The Company’s share registry is  
Link Market Services Limited (link). 

Shareholders can go to Link’s website to:

•	 	view details of their holdings

•	 	change their details 

•	 	view notices of shareholder meetings,  
annual reports and other communications

•	 	register an email address for dividend advices 

•	 	obtain and complete forms to have dividends  
paid directly to their bank, building society or  
credit union account.

ContaCt details
Link Market Services Limited  
Ph 1300 882 012  
+61 2 8280 7450 (from overseas)

mailing address 
PO Box A50 Sydney South NSW 1235 Australia

email 
suncorp@linkmarketservices.com.au

online 
www.linkmarketservices.com.au 
www.suncorpgroup.com.au

# Shareholders will need their securityholder reference number or holder 
identification number to change their details. 

 Issuer-sponsored holders can change their address via Link’s website (some 
conditions apply), or by notifying Link.

Shareholders who are sponsored by a broker (CHESS) should advise their 
broker of their change of address. 



VotING RIGhtS 
Fully paid ordinary shareholders are entitled to vote at any meeting of members of the Company and their voting rights are:

• on a show of hands – one vote per shareholder
• on a poll – one vote per fully paid ordinary share.

SubStantial ShareholderS
As at 17 August 2012 there were no substantial shareholdings recorded in the Company’s register of substantial shareholdings. 

ShARehoLDeR ANALySIS AS At 17 AuGuSt 2012
top 20 ShareholderS
NAme totAL uNItS % ISSueD CApItAL

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 264,104,729 20.53
J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 229,872,037 17.87
National Nominees Limited 195,551,131 15.20
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 66,200,378 5.15
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited <Colonial First State Inv A/C> 26,789,380 2.08
JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited <Cash Income A/C> 22,292,384 1.73
BNP Paribas Noms Pty Ltd <Master Cust DRP> 21,257,594 1.65
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited <NT-Comnwlth Super Corp A/C> 13,081,731 1.02
AMP Life Limited 12,603,307 0.98
CPU Share Plans Pty Limited <EPSP Share Plan A/C> 7,952,469 0.62
Queensland Investment Corporation 7,711,303 0.60
BNP Paribas Noms Pty Ltd <SMP Accounts DRP > 6,347,550 0.49
BNP Paribas Noms Pty Ltd <DRP> 6,138,953 0.48
Argo Investments Limited 3,510,894 0.27
Milton Corporation Limited 2,832,882 0.22
UBS Wealth Management Australia Nominees Pty Ltd 2,652,807 0.21
RBC Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited <MBA A/C> 2,515,753 0.20
UBS Nominees Pty Ltd 2,375,000 0.18
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited – GSCO ECA 1,740,023 0.14
CPU Share Plans Pty Limited <Def Employee Share Plan A/C> 1,653,897 0.13

diStribution of ShareholdingS 

RANGeS INVeStoRS SeCuRItIeS
% ISSueD 

CApItAL

1 to 1,000 97,288 48,951,001 3.80

1,001 to 5,000 60,532 130,045,927 10.11

5,001 to 10,000 8,916 62,423,035 4.85

10,001 to 100,000 5,081 105,713,722 8.22

100,001 and over 167 939,467,295 73.02

total 171,984 1,286,600,980 100.00

The number of security investors holding less than a marketable 
parcel of 57 securities ($8.79 on 17 August 2012) is 4,252 and they 
hold 102,615 securities.

StAy up to DAte oNLINe
Changes in legislation have removed the obligation to mail an 
annual report to shareholders. Companies can now publish their 
annual report on their website or distribute it electronically. 
Shareholders may also opt to receive a printed copy. To change 
an election, or to receive communications electronically, please 
contact Link. 

This Annual Report is complemented by a range of online 
information and resources. The Suncorp Group’s corporate website 
is www.suncorpgroup.com.au. Key sections include Investors, 
Media and Careers. 

The banking and insurance website is www.suncorp.com.au. 

For shareholder information or to give feedback on the Annual 
Report, please contact investor.relations@suncorp.com.au.
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